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CORPORATE PROFILE
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China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”; stock code: 2319) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group” or “Mengniu”) manufacture and distribute quality dairy products in China. It is one of the
leading dairy product manufacturers in China, with MENGNIU as its core brand. Mengniu’s diversified
products include liquid milk (such as UHT milk, milk beverages and yogurt), ice cream, milk formula
and other products (such as plant protein beverage and cheese). As of December 2017, the Group’s
annual production capacity reached 9.22 million tons. In March 2014, Mengniu became a Hang Seng
Index constituent, making it the first blue chip Chinese dairy product manufacturer.
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HIGHLIGHTS
=S

2017 2016

—E—t5F S ANCS

RMB Million RMB Million

For the Year Ended 31 December BE+-A=+—HILEE ARMEBET IR

Revenue WA 60,156 53,779

Gross Profit ES| 21,183 17,635

Profit/(Loss) Attributable to Owners RARHEB AEETIE, (Eig) 2,048 (751)

of the Company

Net cash flows from operating activities B E L FIRESTRE 5,505 4,513
Earnings/(Loss) per Share (RMB) FER, (EE)(ARET)

- Basic —HK 0.526 (0.193)

— Diluted —EE 0.526 (0.193)

o Mengniu was included in the “Global Dairy Top 20" list o SABENFNEEHEAERITEMHMOI 2
published by Rabobank for the ninth consecutive year. In PRELE208 | W ZZE—+HFEHINE AR
2017, for the first time, Mengniu climbed into the top 10, T RIFERERILENEES o
attaining a new height in the global dairy industry ranking.

e Mengniu has fully implemented its new business division o FAFEBXEIAHEEEM @ REMEHEZD

system and the Group’s four major business divisions, BER KR - I - ORI R EEES
namely room temperature, chilled, milk formula and ice E—FRAMRERE BRAA -  2EEE
cream products, have been established based on product WENMEREE -

categories. This has translated into greater synergies
for development, better resources utilization, and higher
operational and management efficiency, as well as enhanced
product quality.

. Mengniu focuses on its dominant brands, strengthens brand o S4BREESRE > B{IREBEBRMNEDRE

communication and product innovation, as well as sales o WHRBCHEENTH - EMNRELHRE
execution. While strengthening traditional channels, it also QE’UHH—r Kﬁfﬂ?*%ﬁ%ft“fﬁ&%ﬁf ES
vigorously develops digital marketing and new retail channels, C B EIRTHIHEMEAERGE S -

S0 as to enhance sales and profitability in multiple dimensions.

e Mengniu’s liquid milk maintained its market leadership, while o  SARAETRIFTIFLELMAL - BRI RE

the overall sales of room temperature dairy products have BEERN  MBRARTHMEES HF -
been favorable, and chilled dairy products achieved a steady E—PEEHEEBEMISMHEESE L -

increase in market share, strengthening its top position
nationwide based on market share.

o Mengniu continued its upstream resources deployment by o  FHEHEME FHEAR - HiBEEREIRA

increasing its stake in China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. IR AR AT ([ PEIIRAHZE | Hﬁ{ﬁ
(“China Modern Dairy”; stock code: 1117) to ensure stable REE - 1117) - E§1%1§E§Hﬁm%}tf
supply of high quality raw milk sources. At the same time, B By A& 1R TE /8 SN R JY R D, {EEI@R\WJ
it has actively expanded its raw milk sources overseas to TR o

enhance its international milk sources deployment.

e Mengniu is moving towards a new milestone in international e A4 7E GBI L H EER EE - B ET

brand building. It is cooperating with world famous brands like AAMZRENESBaLTREERRAIEHERE
Shanghai Disney Resort in its promotion efforts; becoming Sh s B AL RIRIEREE HIL RGN
the official dairy products partner of Universal Beijing Resort; BIERLE jﬁ%fﬁj]ll"%i&ﬁi$ﬁﬂNBA%$

sponsoring international events such as NBA matches, Boao BEmMHE  cHEREE  —T—+F
Forum for Asia and BRICS Summit; and at the end of 2017, JfErttm%zms FIFAt REBEEZIREFE

becoming the Official 2018 FIFA World Cup™ Sponsor. BhEg o
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PLANT MAP
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MAJOR AWARDS AND ACHIEVEMENTS

EBRIBRIKE

The Group and its Management
e Made “Global Dairy Top 20” list published by Rabobank and
ranked among the top 10 for the first time

e Awarded “2017 Leading Enterprise of China’s Dairy Industry” by
China Dairy Industry Association

e Conferred the title of “Strategic Partner of China’s Aerospace
Program” by the China Space Foundation

e Received the “Case Prize of the Belt & Road Initiative in 2017”
at the Media Cooperation Forum on Belt and Road organized
by the People’s Daily

e Awarded the “Poverty Alleviation Award of China Social
Responsibility 2017” by xinhuanet.com and Corporate Social
Responsibility Research Center of the Chinese Academy of
Social Sciences

e Named “Leading Enterprise of Corporate Social Responsibility
under China’s New Normal” by Chinadevelopment.com.cn

e Mr. Lu Minfang, Chief Executive Officer, named “2017 Food
Leader” by xinhuanet.com at the 2017 China Food Development
Conference

Mengniu’s Brands
e One of the “Interbrand Best Chinese Brands 2017”

e Among the top 20 in the BrandZ™ 2017 list of the most
valuable Chinese brands

e Yogurt and probiotics drinks topped the “2017 China Brand
Power Index (C-BPI)” list published by the Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology of the PRC

e One of the “TOP 10 most effective brands” named at the “2017
Greater China Effie Awards”

Mengniu’s Products
e Milk Deluxe Organic Milk garnered the “Gold Award” at the 11th
BioFach China

e Champion Oats and the Red product series were named
“Outstanding Chinese New Dairy Products” by the China Dairy
Industry Association

e Ruipuen garnered “Gold Prize — Quality Award” from the China
Dairy Industry Association and also “Excellent Reputation
Award” at the China Children and Woman Industry Expo in
2017
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CEO’S STATEMENT
eSS

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang LU
ERBEE

Chief Executive Officer
L

For Mengniu, 2017 was a year of change and advancement.
During the year, Mengniu adhered to its core values of quality
and innovation, following diligently the strategy of “Focusing
on Development and Gathering Strengths” in developing the
independent businesses under its new business division system,
keeping its eyes on star brands and consolidating advantageous
resources, so as to ensure the balanced development of all
product categories. It also endeavored to unleash the “wolf spirit”
in members of the Mengniu team, building a team of superb quality
and high efficiency, a team that by working hand-in-hand saw the
Group make the “Global Dairy Top 10” list for the first time.

In this first year of implementation of the new business division
setup, the four major businesses namely room temperature, chilled,
milk formula and ice cream products, have been established based
on product categories. Responding to consumption structure
upgrade in the country, consumers wanting more diverse choices
and the still largely untapped chilled product market, Mengniu was
able to effectively apply its proprietary technologies and quality
milk source to develop mid-range to high-end products and
introduce new products under its various star brands, plus step up
development of chilled yogurt products to seize share in the mid-
range to high-end markets.

STAY TRUE TO OUR
INITIAL GOAL, TRIUMPH
TOGETHER, AND BUILD

A HUNDRED-BILLION YUAN
REVENUE INTERNATIONAL
DAIRY ENTERPRISE AT

“MENGNIU SPEED”

AN - KBRBEE -
URFRE
ETRREERIE

T EEERFNEE  BECF RFEST
HE gL BREEIRE  B¥ R
O B JBESERE  REABHMEXIITES
VEBRR  BREREREREAEBER - R
BEEmErE 8RR TASBERESA
RN I fTERERRNRTEE @ BF
EAREEE BT 2RI E R -

R BERFEITOE —F  KFREMBRS
DRER R - I - KM KREZE - fE
HENEEERBTR  HBETAZTENBE R
EREMMBEANTRER  RFERAMAB
BRMBEENR - BRAZDRWELER -
WHHESBRERETHMER  YANBERER
BINER  BETEmRMISNE



In 2017, Mengniu has achieved an outstanding performance in
brand internationalization. In March, Mengniu signed a strategic
agreement with the Universal Beijing Resort and became the
resort’s exclusive official dairy and ice cream products partner. At
that, the Group is now a partner of two major theme parks, one in
Shanghai and the other in Beijing, and hence the first dairy brand
to own cooperation rights with both Disneyland and the Universal
Studio in one same country. Around the end of the year, Mengniu’s
international standard quality again gained endorsement. It became
the Official 2018 FIFA World Cup™ Sponsor. It is not only the first
dairy brand to make it among global official sponsors of the FIFA,
but also the first Chinese food and beverage brand to make that
list, marking a new milestone on its path to building an international
brand. Innovation is what provides Mengniu the new energy to
develop, and with strong and effective execution capability, the
Group boasts the “Mengniu Speed” never seen before in the
industry — updates on all online and offline advertisements for
different product brands were completed in only 12 days after the
global sponsorship was announced and in just 18 days the first
product in World Cup-themed packaging hit the market, followed
subsequently by 161 products under 27 brands. A World Cup
Russia “all-star team” has born.

CEO’S STATEMENT #& & 2k &t

—TtF A ERBERETEREGT 28
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CEQ’S STATEMENT & &3

Quality has always been the core value of Mengniu and innovation
is its core competitive strength, and the new normal for Mengniu’s
development is to pursue international standards and use the most
stringent of those standards as benchmark to transform itself into
a world-class Chinese dairy enterprise. Together with strategic
partners like Danone Group and Arla Foods, Mengniu has led
the pack in deploying its global value chain following international
standards and, in doing so, has helped the Chinese dairy
industry improve its overall quality. It has kept putting the latest
technological achievements to use and adopting the most rigorous
quality requirements throughout its industrial chain to help it explore
and exploit the potential-rich “blue ocean” of new products. Its
innovative and quality products are not only widely recognized by
consumers in China, but also those overseas as reflected in its
sales overseas rapidly growing. During the period of the BRICS
summit, Mengniu’s products namely Milk Deluxe, Just Yoghurt,
Champion, Pure Milk and Deluxe ice cream were the designated
dairy products for the BRICS leaders’ meeting held in Xiamen,
showing to the world the leading quality of Mengniu products.

On top of consistently improving dairy product quality and striving
for development which is in sync with the industrial chain, Mengniu is
also dedicated to being an outstanding corporate citizen, promoting
charitable activities, driving development of local communities
and helping its employees learn and grow, so that Mengniu can
become a leading sustainable enterprise. During the year, Mengniu
mounted the “Mengniu Inclusive Nutrition Plan” for pupils in rural
schools in 157 districts and counties in 24 provinces, cities and
autonomous regions in the PRC, spreading the warmth and care
from Mengniu to the next generation. At the same time, sparing
no efforts in nurturing industry specialists, Mengniu continued to,
via such projects as the “Golden Key of Milk Cow” technology
workshops, the “Star Ranchers” advanced learning platform and
the “University of Ranchers”, establish a sustainable dairy industry
ecosystem and enhance the competitiveness of the Chinese dairy
industry. Mengniu’s effort to lead corporations in the PRC in fulfilling
their social responsibility are well-recognized by the community.
During the year, the Group was awarded “Leading Enterprise of
Corporate Social Responsibility under China’s New Normal” by
chinadevelopment.com.cn.

Mengniu, together with its three major shareholders and international
leading partners, will continue to apply world-class advanced
resources and platforms and bring in leading technologies and
management modes, with the aim of building Mengniu into a world-
class dairy enterprise. By deploying a global industrial chain and
drawing on overseas resources to fortify its advantages in the
industry, Mengniu will continue to facilitate the building of a global
“Dairy Community”, pinpointing especially countries along the “Belt
and Road”.

SERRIRE EEAROBER - EaIF1EAZ
DEREN  BRBREZEEABRRNERE AR
REIZEITEHRAMPEIAERE -  JFEF
Danonef: & K Arla FoodsS Bk S 21 - RALFHE
PHILEMD  ArEEXEEERYZEBRZE
PhHTEIETEESHY  RETEESSEH
BN REMBEREERBELELE FNER -
FESBINTGMISES - 8l¥ - BENER
TEESBEREEERT  BINMEEERIEE
EA-ELERRESHE  REETNEHR
B AE - Eas AN E B EEEE K
AeEEREEAEMAESENETAZR @ At
ARTTREEMMELEE -

ERERASERNIESEE  RELELR
BEOAE  SETBOKAESHLEAR -
B NRES  BP S HE WREETBD
RE  RELRATSERECEN MG - B4
REREFE2AES - T BAR - & %157
EYTor enE e Tl LXTE S NN By
—RBEEH AT LN RERBE - AF - R
TESHIEEERES - BE TS BL B
FEEE [E4AISHBBTARHKEEA
B SIEE - BT A 8 A R R IR T
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CEEEHEERT  AEERNFRETRERY
I R St Gt TR

SEBEERTF =ABRRLBEREAELENGER
o MBAEREENERETE - SIAKENK
MAEREN - ITEERENIREE - BBE
EXFNERCTR RSN ERERTEE
g REBEEHESR  FRIRI—F K g
RERM[FL KRR MR -



With rising consumer confidence, the younger consumer
population and their demand for diverse product choices growing,
commanding upgrade of the mid-range to high-end consumption
structure, Mengniu is open to new development opportunities. We
believe, in the coming future, the dairy industry in China will venture
into a “golden decade” and see rapid growth. Adhering to its
emphasis on “Quality, Innovation and Internationalization”, Mengniu
will insist on upholding the core value of quality, maintaining its
excellence via innovation, enhancing the efficiency of research
and development, closely following the trend of consumption
upgrade, in its march towards the mid to high-end of the value
chain. At the same time, Mengniu will further its effort in brand
internationalization. Leveraging the 2018 FIFA World Cup™, the
most influential sports event in the world, Mengniu will let the world
see the top Chinese dairy product enterprise that it is and present
to consumers its natural, nutritious and delicious products.

Mengniu celebrated its 18th birthday in 2017. The next decade
will see the Group grow from 19 years of age to 28, which is also
the golden 10 years for a person. This golden 10 years of Mengniu
match perfectly with that of the industry. This is a rare development
opportunity for Mengniu and all Mengniu staff members are ready
to devote their best 10 years in life to embrace the advent of the
golden 10 years of the dairy industry in China.

We will stay true to our initial goal when we started up our business
as we begin a new journey. We will continue to foster development
of our business with innovation and to provide green, healthy
and high quality dairy products to consumers and better satisfy
people’s desire for a good life. Remaining loyal to the spirit of
“No Compromise on Product, Quality, Execution and Values” and
returning to the work culture that emphasizes the “wolf spirit”
characterized by strength in execution and with the determination
to “winning and win-win”, we aim to build Mengniu into a hundred-
year enterprise, a champion in the dairy industry and a forerunner in
the global dairy industry. Mengniu will speed up realizing its “2020
Goal”, which is to achieve its objective to become a hundred-billion
yuan revenue international dairy enterprise by 2020.

Jeffrey, Minfang LU
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 March 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERESmR DM

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2017, China, as the world’s second largest economy, developed
steadily in positive strides with GDP growing at 6.9%. The rebound
of domestic consumer confidence index and the increase in the
country’s per capita disposable income pushed up consumption
demand and in turn drove the upgrade of consumption structure,
all developments conducive to the growth of the country’s dairy
industry.

Phenomena including emergence of the middle class, the growing
population of new-generation consumers and the aging population
have seen more consumers earnest in pursuing healthy and green
lifestyle, and choosing premium, healthy and fresh products.
As a result, product offerings in the market have become more
diversified. During the year, fast-moving consumer goods industry
maintained steady growth with the focus of competition shifting
from pricing to product innovation and channel transformation,
bringing to the foreground the importance of having corporate
brand advantage. As for the dairy product industry, it has been
recovering at a faster pace against the backdrop of stable supply
and pricing of raw milk. Measures such as product upgrade and
innovation and introducing differentiated premium dairy products
have become the main boosters of sustainable profitability
improvement for dairy enterprises.

In spite of growing demand, product quality remains crucial in
helping China’s dairy industry enhance competitiveness. During the
year, the state continued to strengthen monitoring of food safety
and endeavored to improve the quality of dairy products. The
Ministry of Agriculture has vowed to invigorate the country’s dairy
product industry and for that has drawn up plans for “Five Major
Actions”, aiming to speed up modernization of the industry and
enhance the quality of the entire industry chain, thereby ensuring
sustainable development of the industry. In 2017, among the major
food product types sampled by the national regulatory authorities,
the passing rates of dairy products and infant milk formula are as
high as 99.2% and 99.5% respectively, which is proof of China’s
dairy products leading the food industry and having made a
sustainable improvement in quality, helping to boost the confidence
of consumers in domestic dairy products.

Looking forward, with dairy product consumption still in the stage
of steady growth in China, the dairy product industry is expected to
maintain relatively fast growth in the next 5 to 10 years at the push
of product innovation and capacity upgrade. Room temperature
product business will trend up steadily, while the business of chilled
products will maintain rapid growth, with new product segments
such as fresh milk and cheese expected to stand out. As for milk

TEERE
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powder business, with the two-child policy starting to bear result
and the national infant milk formula registration system to take
effect in 2018, which will raise the industry barrier, hasten the
consolidation of the industry and optimize the industry structure,
the milk powder industry is expected to develop healthily in the
long run. In the changing market and with consumers becoming
more sophisticated in taste, leading dairy product enterprises with
good reputation, outstanding quality, strong innovative capability,
and sales channels that reach wide and deep will be well-poised to
reinforce their leadership in the consolidating industry.

As China assumes growing importance on the international stage,
her dairy industry is also advancing in strides on the path of
internationalization. Dairy product enterprises have been aligning
production with international standards, perking up production
techniques and research capability and improving overall product
quality, and actively pushing to “go global” by expanding their
overseas markets and building a global supply chain to help them
achieve stronger brand recognition and reputation internationally.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2017, Mengniu introduced a new business division system,
achieving integrated management of production, supply and sales,
manpower, finance and assets as well as accountability, power
and incentives. After implementation of the new organizational
structure, four major business divisions, namely room temperature,
chilled, milk formula and ice cream products, have been established
based on product categories, resulting in greater synergies for
development, better resources utilization, and operational and
management efficiency, as well as enhanced product quality.

To keep up with the domestic consumption upgrade and
diversification of consumption behavior, Mengniu has kept focusing
effort on product research, development and innovation, with
providing premium and ever more nutritious and healthier products
as the purpose of product upgrade. Mengniu has set its sight on
capturing market share in mid-range and high-end markets by
using its proprietary technology and quality milk sources efficiently
to develop products for these markets. To fortify the dominance
of Mengniu’s star brands and products, the Group has not only
introduced many new products under its star brands, but has also
strived for continuous technological breakthroughs aiming to best
and quickly “lock up freshness”. Adopting Quick Response (QR)
code technology, Mengniu has made it possible for consumers to
trace the milk sources and manufacturing process, letting them
know that the products are fresh, healthy, high-quality and safe to
enjoy.
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Using digital technology and Big Data in management, the
Group has built itself into a smart dairy enterprise by adopting a
management and tracing system that covers the entire industrial
chain, enabling it to realize continuous innovation in product quality
management and marketing methods. During the year, the Group
set up the e-commerce division to start deploying its new retail
model, optimizing sales channels and nurturing new growth drivers.
Mengniu also beefed up marketing efforts, enhancing flexibility and
employing diverse marketing means. By making use of platforms
such as social media and synchronizing online and offline efforts, it
was able to infuse its brand proposition into marketing processes,
thus achieving optimal communication effect.

During the year, Mengniu’s liquid milk maintained its market
leadership, while the overall sales of room temperature product
business continued to improve. Milk Deluxe achieved double digit
growth in sales and scaled a new height. Star products such as
Just Yoghurt and Fruit Milk Drink reported high growth in sales and
sales of chilled products were growing significantly faster than the
entire industry. With market shares climbing steadily, the Group has
strengthened its top position in the nationwide chilled fresh dairy
product market. Milk formula business gradually made adjustments
on channel deployment, product structure and branding, which
laid a solid foundation for it to compete in a market skewing
towards high-end and differentiated products. To date, Yashili has
completed registration of 39 formulas in 13 series and Junlebao
has completed registration of 18 formulas in 6 series to prepare for
seizing business opportunities arising in the gradually recovering
milk formula market. For ice cream business, upgrade efforts were
made on multi dimensions including branding, product, packaging
and marketing communication. 42 new products were launched to
market and achieved satisfactory sales growth.

The brand influence of Mengniu also made new heights. Not
only was it included on the “Global Dairy Top 20” list published
by Rabobank in 2017 for the ninth consecutive year, but it also
earned a spot among the top 10 for the first time, a record for
Mengniu in global ranking of dairy companies. During the same
period, Mengniu was again named by Interbrand as one of the Best
China Brands in 2017 and also made it among the top 20 in the
BrandZ™ list of the most valuable Chinese brands for three years
in a row. In the “2017 China Brand Power Index (C-BPI)” published
by the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the
PRC, Mengniu’s yogurt products and Yoyi C made the top C-BPI
rankings in the yogurt and probiotics drinks industries respectively,
whereas its yogurt products retained the top position for seven
years in a row and was crowned the “Golden Brand” title.
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The Group was relentless in building Mengniu into a reputed
international dairy product brand during the year via cooperating
with world famous brands in promotion and sponsoring international
events. Apart from being the official partner of NBA in China, the
sole official dairy products provider of the Boao Forum for Asia,
the official dairy products partner of the Shanghai Disney Resort,
the exclusive dairy and ice cream provider of the Universal Beijing
Resort and the “Strategic Partner of China’s Aerospace Program”,
Mengniu products were also chosen as the official products for
the meeting of BRICS leaders in Xiamen during the BRICS Summit
in 2017. In the year end, Mengniu has become an Official 2018
FIFA World Cup™ Sponsor. Mengniu is not just the first dairy
brand among the global official sponsors of FIFA, but also the first
Chinese food and beverage brand to be a global official sponsor
of the World Cup, taking Mengniu towards a new milestone in
international brand building.

To realize a more integrated up- and down-stream cooperating
system and unleash greater synergies, in 2017, Mengniu acquired
additional shares in China Modern Dairy through a series of
transactions, increasing its shareholdings in China Modern Dairy
to approximately 60.77%. China Modern Dairy is the largest dairy
farming company in China and also the first in the industry to obtain
the national High-quality Milk Project accreditation for its UHT milk
and pasteurized milk. After increasing its shareholdings in China
Modern Dairy, the Group has been continuously enhancing its
synergy with China Modern Dairy for its upstream and downstream
businesses. On the upstream, Mengniu has made better use of
the quality milk supply and nationwide ranch resources of China
Modern Dairy, thereby securing stable supply of raw milk to support
the development of low temperature yogurt business and business
deployment of low temperature fresh milk. As for downstream
business, in July 2017, the Group, applying its professional brand
operation experience, launched together with China Modern Dairy
the crossover brand Xianyu room temperature pure milk, with
“freshness” and “vitality” as its appeals. On the manufacturing and
operation front, the Group signed an agreement to acquire 50%
equity interests in two dairy plants of China Modern Dairy in January
2018, such that China Modern Dairy will focus on rearing of milk
cattle and supplying raw milk, whereas Mengniu will integrate the
production capacities of the factories and use its well-established
sales channels to drive sales of brand products.
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Business Division Performance

Room Temperature Product Business

The Group continued to boost the room temperature product
business through product upgrade and innovation, launching
more high-end, diversified and healthy products that match the
trend of consumption upgrade. Leveraging increased branding
and marketing efforts, overall sales of room temperature product
business continued to improve. Of which, Milk Deluxe, the hottest
milk product in China, recorded double-digit growth with a sales
amount of over RMB10 billion during the year. Room temperature
yogurt Just Yoghurt and fruit dairy drink Fruit Milk Drink also
reported satisfactory growth.

As for UTH milk, Milk Deluxe has speeded up deployment for
moving high-end and delivering personalized consumption
experience. It has launched the super high-end M-PLUS High
Protein Milk, the first milk product tailored for sports enthusiasts in
China, and Milk Supreme, a gift-grade super high-end milk product.
To meet consumers’ growing demand for fresh products and
tapping the raw milk resources of China Modern Dairy, Mengniu
joint hands with China Modern Dairy to introduce Xianyu Pure Milk,
using the production technique that can complete the processes
“from milking to processing in two hours” to retain bioactive
substances, thus the freshness of and nutrients in the milk, and as
such has opened the room temperature fresh milk niche between
the room temperature milk and fresh milk markets. With respect to
dairy beverages, heeding consumption psychology and the topics
of interest of the new-generation consumers, and engaging the
celebrity Li Yifeng as the product ambassador, Mengniu launched
the blueberry flavor Fruit Milk Drink which recorded outstanding
sales growth. As for Just Yoghurt, brand promotion was carried out
via the strong alliance with the Hollywood hit “Transformers: The
Last Knight” and bundling with “Go Fighting! Season 3”, with Zhang
Yixing endorsing the product. These successful brand promotion
activities have contributed to the record breaking sales.

Chilled Product Business

During the year, the chilled product division of Mengniu strived to
maximize organizational and management efficiency. With “Refining
Product Mix Deployment and Striving for Product Innovation and
Leadership” as its core mission, the division adjusted the structure
of its marketing department and optimized its brand management
system, thereby achieving highly efficient and synergistic
manufacturing, cost saving and improved cost effectiveness
of marketing spending. It also tightened cooperation on chilled
product business with Danone S.A., the second largest strategic
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shareholder of Mengniu, and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as “Danone Group”). Drawing on Danone Group’s world-class
chilled product research and development technology, it actively
pursued regional product research and development and launched
many new chilled products which gave sales a strong push to
grow. In addition, on top of making all-out effort to expand modern
trade channels, increase the number of sales points and increase
its market penetration, the business division also strived to develop
such emerging channels as e-commerce platforms and catering
channel to create new sales growth drivers. The above measures
helped Mengniu’s chilled products maintain industry leadership and
achieved a steadily increased market share in 2017.

In 2017, the chilled business division of Mengniu embarked on
product research and development and production technology
upgrades to align with practices of Danone Group, building together
world-leading production facilities. The division launched six new
product series during the year supported by comprehensive value
marketing. For instance, in April 2017, Mengniu used for the first
time the exclusive patented Ystral smoothening technique from
Danone Group, combined with patented bacteria from the US and
the raw milk from quality ranches in China to introduce super high-
end Milk Deluxe Yogurt of plain and durian flavors. Yoyi C also
launched the functional product LC-37, a new probiotics product
made using powerful concentration technology with authorized
use of exclusive bacteria and an innovative product revolutionizing
probiotics product offerings. Under LC-37, an upgraded low-
sugar enzyme-rich product was also launched to meet consumers’
growing demand for healthier product choices. For Champion,
active product structure upgrade was carried out and the new
BB12 product series namely Jianzihao, Mailaoru and Xianlaoru
were introduced to strengthen the brand’s “professional and
functional” positioning in the yogurt market. To continue to enhance
the competitiveness of basic chilled products, their packaging and
taste were also upgraded.

Milk Formula Business

As for the milk formula business, Yashili International Holdings Ltd
(“Yashili”, stock code: 1230), in which the Group held approximately
51% shares, has completed the registration of 39 formulas in 13
product series to date in response to the implementation of China’s
milk formula registration system. Yashili had the highest number
of registered formulas in the first batch list announced, which
has clearly demonstrated its professional strength to the industry
and consumers alike. The Group’s another milk formula brand,
Junlebao, has also completed registrations of 18 formulas in 6
product series as of now.
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During the year, Yashili gradually rolled out its differentiated
business model and brand deployment, with Yashily and Dumex
focusing on provision of basic nutritional cow milk fomula; Arla and
Reeborne focused on comprehensive penetration of the organic
market; and Doraler’s goat milk formula was introduced to develop
the goat milk formula market. Yashili positioned Yashily and Dumex
as medium to high-end brands, Reeborne and Doraler as high-end
brands, and Arla Baby & Me as super high-end brand. Through
a more delicate brand matrix, Yashili achieved full coverage of
different tiers of the market. Yashili made strategic plan and
spent its brand promotion costs effectively by reaching its target
customers with Big Data. Yashili put strong emphasis on digital
marketing, closer communication with consumers and their mouth
of words and offline activities, aiming at approaching mothers to
achieve cost effectiveness, thus realizing the dual targets of brand
growth and corporate profits.

Yashili has made all-out effort in channel transformation and
business innovation and the corporate structure has transformed
into the channel-oriented and brand-oriented core business unit
(“CBU”) structure, including “Mother-and-baby CBU’, “High-end
mother-and-baby CBU”, “Modern Trade CBU” and “Innovation
CBU”. Hence, the proportion of mother-and-baby channel is further
increased and the growth of e-commerce business is stimulated.
During the year, “Mother-and-baby CBU” has accelerated the
exploration of mother-and-baby chain stores through partnership
and pushing a money-based incentive mechanism; “High-end
Mother-and-baby CBU” strictly controlled costs in the supermarket
channel and stabilized sales volume through strengthening the
expansion of mother-and-baby store chain channels; “Modern
Trade CBU’” has reduced losses by KAs significantly through the
partial transformation by expediting direct supply to mother-and-
baby stores; “Innovation CBU” has developed the online business
layout in full based on its existing e-commerce network, while
pushing forward community marketing and consolidating internal
marketing resources.

Ice Cream Business

In 2017, the ice cream business division adhered to its high-end
and product diversification strategy. With a deep understanding of
market trends, it targeted young consumers and appealed to them
via online promotions, and also mounted large-scale marketing
activities to widen coverage of different consumer groups, resulting
in notably enhanced brand influence. With traditional channels as
the main focus, Mengniu increased the number of sales points. Its
dedicated team also worked hard to rally more key accounts (KAs),
expand catering channels, operate trial image stores and expand
e-commerce business to boost the sales of ice-cream products.
Moreover, effort was made on improving management of freezers
so as to lift utilization efficiency. All such efforts together contributed
to the satisfactory year-on-year sales growth of the business.
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During the year, Mengniu introduced 42 new ice cream products
and pursued upgrade on multiple dimensions including branding,
product, packaging and marketing communications. Under the
Suibian brand, the SuiXinGuo product series recorded outstanding
results in 2017. With innovative products tailored to meet the
demand of today’s consumers and the support of marketing
content that consumers like, SuiXinGuo’s annual sales surpassed
the RMB100 million mark. Among all the new ice cream products,
the Russian Milk Ice Cream won the most acclaims among
consumers for its mouth feel and was the best-selling product
during the year. The high-end ice cream brand Deluxe displayed
its brand-new packaging at the Shanghai Disney Resort and also
sponsored the BRICS country leaders’ meeting during the BRICS
summit in Xiamen in 2017, striving to become an internationally
renowned high-end ice cream brand.

Other Products

Mengniu has set up a joint venture with WhiteWave Foods
Company (“WhiteWave”) to engage in plant-based nutrition product
business. The two parties hold 51% and 49% interests in the joint
venture respectively. In April 2017, Danone Group, one of the
strategic shareholders of Mengniu, announced the completion
of acquisition of WhiteWave, meaning Mengniu’s plant protein
beverage business will access to more supportive resources. With
plant-based nutrition products gaining prominence as a food and
beverage category in the global market, the Group can strengthen
its long-term competitiveness by upgrading its plant-based protein
drinks business to complement the animal protein drinks business.

During the year, after adjusting and optimizing its product
positioning, the plant-based protein beverage business under
the ZhiPuMoFang brand ventured into the soy milk market.
Emphasizing fresh grinding of soybean and capitalizing on the 8
seconds VTIS freshness preservation technology plus quality US
brand assurance, the brand introduced Silk Americano Soymilk,
featuring the original taste soy milk and almond flavor soy milk.
Leveraging the channel resources of Mengniu’s room temperature
products and focusing on regional markets, the business was able
to reap enhanced synergies with Mengniu’s core business.

Quality Management

Adhering to the principle of delivering the highest quality products
with meticulous attention to detail, Mengniu has strived to provide
products of “aeronautic quality” to give consumers the perfect
product experience. 2017 was the first year Mengniu implemented
the new business division system, and accordingly the quality
accountability system by business division followed suit, resulting
in improvement of core quality indicators from end-to-end of
its industrial chain against those of last year. During the year,
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Mengniu continued to upgrade its quality management system in
compliance with the country’s “Food Safety Law” and advanced
international standards. It was able to meet the requirements of
various standards and certifications by integrating them into the
management process of the new business division system. It has
launched a three-tier — “Group-Business Division-Factory” — food
safety risks monitoring and prevention system, which can ensure
safety of products throughout the entire industrial chain, from
milk source to the market, with stringent entry barriers in place,
adopting automated inspection, real-time management and control,
and permitting whole-process traceability.

At group level, Mengniu provides comprehensive, intelligent and
systematic quality assurance to the entire industry chain by the
extensive application and highly efficient synergistic operation
of Laboratory Information Management System (“LIMS”) and
SAP system, with combination of its own comprehensive quality
management and laboratory management systems. The integrated
and collaborative operation of LIMS and SAP systems enables
Mengniu to track information forward and backward at all quality
control points on its industrial chain. On the basis of the LIMS and
SAP information system and employing tools such as Business
Intelligence (“Bl”), Mengniu established the “Quality Cloud”
management platform for real-time management and monitoring
of key quality data at crucial points of operation in the ranches,
factories and the market.

Mengniu’s milk source quality management covers risk control
and management, production base upgrade and nurturing of
professionals and specialists to upgrade the quality of milk and
reduce food safety risk. Efforts are also made in promoting the
management techniques of milk suppliers to actively respond
to higher national requirements. During the year, milk suppliers
of Mengniu’s various business divisions passed 100% of the
tests conducted by inspection organizations on samples of raw
milk. Meanwhile, Mengniu continued to promote its ranch food
safety management and assessment system. On the success of
cooperating with core strategic farming partners, the system was
promoted to and adopted by more leading farming groups in China
during the year. As at the end of 2017, Mengniu’s tailored food
safety protection standard for ranches was adopted by a total of 47
ranches, helping them effectively guarantee food safety.
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Mengniu continued to align the food safety standards of its
factories with Danone Group’s Food Safety Item (“FSI”), focusing
on high risk areas of food safety management to improve food
safety management indexes. To prevent and control the risk of
contamination by microorganisms in the environment, Mengniu
joined hands with 3M, a leading global microorganism inspection
company, and led the cold drink industry in implementing
environmental microorganism inspection pinpointing procedures
exposed to high contamination risks.

Under the new business division framework, the original production
and manufacturing system quality center of Mengniu was divided
into room temperature, chilled and ice cream products quality
management departments, each with redefined duties and
responsibilities to guarantee product quality and safety, which
enabled the smooth transition of quality management works and
improved the level of satisfaction of consumers in a comprehensive
manner. During the year, the room temperature product quality
management department took the lead in establishing and
standardizing the tasting, examination and certification procedures
of raw dairy products and put strenuous efforts in improving the
drinking straws of Just Yoghurt to enhance consumer experience.
With the help of Big Data analysis, Mengniu has laid down its
requirements and established a clear risk assessment mechanism,
enabling it to carry out lifecycle management and tracing of new
products to lower their quality risks.

To ensure comprehensive monitoring of all processes of the student
milk business operation, the Group integrates the best resources
available and directs various departments to build an independent
student milk control and management system with emphasis on
upgrading its operational and management level. During the year,
there was no safety incident in relation to student milk products.

During 2017, the chilled business division aligned with Danone
Group's FSI in 14 factories to carry out the Neptune cleansing
certification, risk control on mold and listings of quality defects,
dealing with three aspects regarding the incompatible equipment,
food safety equipment and potential risks for food safety, in order
to continuously enhance the quality control and perfection of
products while meticulously manufacturing quality yogurt. During
the year, management of front-end fruit products supply base and
suppliers was imposed to guarantee product quality and safety
from the source. Chilled and cold chain management was carried
out abiding by the new “Food Safety Law” with key risks and critical
control points in the operation chain identified and sorted out. At
the same time, a cold chain improvement project team was set up
by chilled product quality management department together with
the chilled product business division to create sample markets and
promote establishment of the cold chain at the retail-end.
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As far as the quality management of milk formula products is
concerned, all products from the plants of Yashili and Junlebao
passed the respective national standards in their internal inspection
during the year. In the stringent external samplings by government
authorities, Yashily, Mengniu, Dumex, Scient and Junlebao all
achieved 100% passing rate in samplings on brand products.

During the year, Mengniu’s ice cream quality management
department represented the Group to participate in works in
relation to the planning of 2018 National Frozen Drinks Sample
Tests, formulation of risk control and monitoring plans and the
amendment of the frozen drinks inspection rules. Mengniu also led
the industry in developing risk control and inspection of Listeria
monocytogenes. Through managing and control of risks in design,
procedure and management change, the ice cream division
ensured its operations meet all food safety inspection standards of
the nation, the Group and the business division itself.

Cheese business implemented ISO9001 quality management
and FSSC22000 food safety systems, and obtained national dual
system certifications in October 2017. Besides, the business
developed different technical standards for new cheese products
according to their characteristics and implemented quality tests
and tasting procedures accordingly, assuring that the new products
have passed all the standards designed for them. In 2017, five new
products have been successfully put into the market.

Development of Milk Sources

In 2017, Mengniu adjusted its milk source management regime in
accordance with its new business division system, transforming
from a raw milk purchase department into a comprehensive
business operation unit to serve the room temperature, chilled and
ice cream product business divisions.

Mengniu’s efforts in developing milk source continue to focus on
the integration and optimization of supply, which entails increasing
the proportion of self-control milk source and standardized ranches.
Mengniu implements centralized management of raw milk and milk
powder to close the gap between supply and demand in peak and
low seasons. At the same time, the Group also establishes milk
source economic zones that are demand driven and with factories
in the centers. Four major milk source economic zones, namely the
Inner Mongolia Helin base, Northeast China, Northern and Eastern
China and North West-Southern China, were formed according
to the positioning of different regions and their complementary
relations to optimize matching and deployment of supply and
demand. To expand overseas milk source, Mengniu has extended
its milk source access to countries famed for their rich milk supply,
such as Denmark, Australia and New Zealand, further enhancing its
overseas industrial chain.
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During the year, Mengniu established the “Excellent Milk Source
Operation and Management Model” to carry out systematic
planning of works in relation to milk source, focusing on five major
themes — “upgrading quality, reducing cost, optimizing structure,
rationalizing pace and adjusting deployment” — to help the Group
improve overall performance. During the year, Mengniu was able
to improve quality management, matching of supply and demand,
staff techniques and ranch efficiency, thus achieving lean and
excellent milk source operation as well as synergistic upstream
and downstream development, with the aim to speeding up
construction of the “2020 Sustainable Ecosystem of Milk Sources”
and promoting sustainable development of China’s dairy industry.
During the period, the percentage of milk sources provided by
standardized ranches and scaled farms of Mengniu was maintained
at 100%.

Learning from Arla Garden’s century-long ranch management
experience and Arla Foods’ advanced Standard Operational
Procedure (“SOP”), the “Mengniu Ranch Quality and Safety
Management System” achieved 100% coverage of all ranches and
milk source practitioners during the year. The system matches
the standards of Arla Foods in nutrition for dairy cattle, quality,
safety, animal welfare and rearing environment, and implements
in the greatest depth the most stringent international food safety
standard for ranches — the New Zealand AsureQuality food safety
and management standard, combined with ISO9000 standards
to achieve overall improvement from ranch construction, raw
milk production and transportation to procurement and overall
management. At the same time, efforts were made to align with
over 200 domestic regulations and standards in relation to dairy
farming, and ranch management standards and key control
areas were 100% adopted. “Mengniu Ranch Quality and Safety
Management System” enables cooperating ranches to strengthen
standardized set-up and self-management, and enhance their
refined technical management capability, which in turn helps
Mengniu speed up construction of modernized milk source bases
and better guarantee food safety at the source, evidencing the
improvement in quality and safety management achieved by the
dairy industry in China.

Information Management system

Mengniu has adopted the SAP system since 2013. After three
years of intensive construction, Mengniu’s information system
management structure built with SAP as the core system is
basically in shape, and the SAP and LIMS systems, Wei Sales
Platform (“WSP”) and Bl projects are gradually coming together
in bringing synergy, providing digital, intelligent and systematic
management assurance to Mengniu.
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To further enhance safety of the corporate production process,
Mengniu initiated the “Safety Cloud” management system in
June 2017, which can automatically collect data and implement
real-time monitoring in key safety control points and important
equipment and infrastructure by using Internet of Things
technology, to conduct highly effective information integration
platform management. The system can also issue early warning
on discovery of abnormal information and fully control safety risks.
During the year, the system was used in five Mengniu plants,
namely Helin, Tai’an, Jinhua, Sugian and Hengshui. Mengniu Dairy
(Hengshui) Co., Ltd. and Inner Mongolia Mengniu Hi-tech Dairy Co.,
Ltd. earned the national honor of “First Class Enterprise in Safety
Production Standardization”.

Construction of the southern and northern data centers, which took
two years, was completed during the year. The Group’s information
system has been transferred into the two centers deemed as
the “Digitalized Heart” of Mengniu, which is more reliable and
secure. From design to construction, the southern and northern
data centers followed the Tier 4 standards, the highest level in the
industry, and Cloud-based structure solution to reduce the total
cost and enhance utilization rate of the corporate’s information
system. In the future, the two data centers will continue to push
forward integration with such core systems as SAP. Using the self-
owned “Mengniu Cloud” model, the Group will also provide its
different business divisions with fast and reliable shared information
technology infrastructure service, which guarantees the steady
development of Mengniu in the “Internet+” era.

To build an efficient, centralized and integrated supplier and
procurement information management platform, and to boost
economies of scale in procurement and strengthen its management
standard, core competitiveness and risk resistance capability,
Mengniu commenced the second phase of the Supplier
Relationship Management (“SRM”) project in June 2017, aiming to
refine the function of the platform. It also completed the roll-out of
the platform nationwide during the year, allowing it to implement
whole life-cycle management of suppliers and communicate and
work with suppliers more efficiently and with greater transparency.
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With the core systems, such as SAP and WSP, in application, to
better bring out value of data and achieve effective data-based
management, the sales Bl project was launched during the year
to integrate all sales-related Bl systems and group them under the
regional Bl systems. Using the same management language and
same data source, the system provides managers at different levels
access to reliable and consistent management information, thereby
facilitating smooth flow of information between the head office and
major operational regions. The project has boosted the Group’s
capability in data tracking and carrying out operational analysis,
as well as formulating specific action plans, enabling the Group to
implement its “digitalization” strategy on the sales front.

Sales management

Under the Group’s new business division system, the four major
divisions, namely room temperature, chilled, milk formula and ice
cream products, are responsible for managing their own marketing
efforts and sales, with the aim of enhancing synergies for business
development, operational efficiency and management standard.
The new system also commanded transformation of Mengniu’s
e-commerce team, which focused on online sales before, into a
business division performing multiple functions, including Big Data-
aided marketing and development of proprietary business tools.

During the year, the room temperature product business division
put in place the Total Marketing Solution (“TMS”) management
model, allowing it to refine and rationalize mechanisms, evaluation
systems as well as the transportation cost management system,
thereby helping sales companies enhance sales and profitability.
Enhancing its channel penetration is one of the major goals of the
channel strategy of the room temperature product business division.
In 2017, by taking actions in six areas, namely “segmentation,
point-of-sales, investment, promotion, personnel and image”, in
other words, “better market differentiation, investment in points-of-
sales, promotion at fairs, increasing sales personnel at town level
and building better signage image for stores in villages and towns”,
it was able to effectively increase market penetration in counties,
towns and villages.
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Chilled product business division established 14 major sales
management regions. By focusing on star products and
implementing value marketing, new products saw satisfactory
sales volume growth; by adding more number of sales points and
enhancing execution at the sales points, all channels realized sales
volume growth higher than the industry; by implementing route-to-
market measures, including direct operation in counties and direct
control of sales points to drive channel penetration, satisfactory
sales volume growth in lower-tier cities was also achieved. At the
same time, the division has been exploring the use of emerging
new channels, vertically expanding fresh foods e-commerce and
focusing on core catering points-of-sales, creating new sales
growth drivers.

Milk formula business shifted its organization structure from the
original independent subsidiaries to the CBU structure categorized
by channels and brands, in which “Mother-and-baby CBU” followed
the strategic target of brand upgrade and channel transformation;
“Modern Trade CBU” was devoted to tackle the problem regarding
“channel penetration, product categories and price declines”;
“High-end mother-and-baby CBU” was committed to bring Dumex
back among the four largest foreign-owned brands and enable
Arla to top the brand pyramid; while “Innovation CBU” expanded
the community marketing and consolidated its internal market
resources based on existing e-commerce channels.

On top of enhancing traditional sales channels, the ice cream
business division has also strengthened development of KAs
and embarked on exploring catering channels, developing soft-
serve ice cream, putting up pilot experience stores and expanding
e-commerce, among other new channels, which have pushed up
sales amount.

To capitalize on the development of Big Data, Mengniu developed
the marketing Bl analytical platform during the year. The convenient
mobile data analytical platform links up and presents visual sales
and financial data, relating precise and timely information to
different sales units to help them enhance offline sales performance.
Moreover, Mengniu’s E-commerce division has built a consumer
Data Management Platform (“DMP”) and optimized Database
Intelligence (“DBI”) of the Group, starting with monitoring the source
of information to achieve link up of sales data and customize a
labeling system exclusive for Mengniu, fully utilizing DMP to gain
a deeper understanding of consumers and achieve precision
marketing.
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During the year, via fully exploiting digital marketing, optimizing
product mix, improving the structure and proportion of traffic-
generating and profit-contributing products, the e-commerce
division of Mengniu had achieved increase in sales volume and
profit, while ensuring prices of different products remain stable.
Also, with the help of online consumption Big Data in relation to
new product categories, Mengniu quickly seized market shares by
launching products including chilled and ice cream products on
online channels to capture untapped niches.

Mengniu also signed a strategic cooperation agreement with
Alibaba on pursuing Big Data analysis for the purpose of formulating
precise marketing and sales initiatives, and also to jointly explore
new retail modes, such as smart shelves and un-manned
convenience stores, carrying trials in selected markets. The plan is
to take advantage of the data and efficiency boosting strengths of
new retail channels to foster channel penetration, enlarge point-of-
sales network, and ultimately quickly replicate the model within the
Group.

Furthermore, Mengniu continued to cooperate with e-commerce
platforms, such as Tmall, JD.com, Suning.com and Womai.
com, and changed its focus from pure sales to brand promotion,
conducting integrated marketing and content marketing, which
resulted in stellar performance in significant promotional periods.
During the year, Mengniu and JD.com jointly launched the movie
“Treasure Story in JD”, with Tianxiaohai, a room temperature
yoghurt introduced by Mengniu for online consumers, playing a
role in the movie, demonstrating precision in product placement
marketing. With the use of multiple marketing means, such as live
show, cooperation with Key Opinion Leaders, videos and movies to
provide quality marketing content and communication, Mengniu’s
E-commerce sales was boosted successfully. In the “Double 11”
period in 2017, Mengniu for the third year in a row took the top
spot in dairy product sales on online sales platforms as a whole.

Agreeing with the changed marketing trend in the dairy industry,
Mengniu used channels like new media and Internet+ to develop
fine management of the entire supply chain enabled by digital
and intelligent technologies, thereby satisfying more sophisticated
consumer needs. Mengniu and JD.com together launched
the Sugian Ranch Pure Milk and with the support of JD.com’s
Blockchain technology, consumers are given access to specific
information, tracing back to operations at the dairy cattle ranch,
raw milk warehouse and production and processing, promoting
interaction with consumers and boosting consumer confidence in
Mengniu’s products.
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As for the overseas business, apart from continuing to adopt the
domestic export model, with room temperature products covering
markets in Southeast Asia, Hong Kong and Macau, and chilled
products focusing on Hong Kong and Macau, Mengniu also built
a new business model in 2018, with Singapore as its regional
head office. Investment and sales efforts are made from Singapore
pinpointing Southeast Asia, and gradually covering Southeast Asia
region.

Branding Strategy

During the year, adhering to its “A Little Happiness Matters” brand
concept, by keeping its finger on the pulse of the market and with
the support of Big Data, Mengniu fully exploited the Internet and
social media, integrated on- and off-line marketing, and forged
strategic partnership with leading global brands as guided by its
strategy for developing into an international brand. Mengniu was
able to enhance its brand value and influence for achieving the
goal of building Mengniu into a world-class Chinese brand and
continued to bring care and happiness to consumers.

With respect to cooperation with theme parks, Mengniu is the
official dairy product partner of Shanghai Disney Resort and, in
March 2017, Mengniu signed a strategic agreement with Universal
Beijing Resort and became the sole official dairy product and ice
cream product supplier. As for sponsoring top international sports
competitions, Mengniu has been the official strategic partner of
NBA China for many years. And, in late 2017, it became an Official
2018 FIFA World Cup™ Sponsor. Four categories comprising a
total of 161 products under 27 brands of the Group have been
awarded the titles of “Official Drinkable Yogurt of the 2018 FIFA
World Cup™”, “Official Pre-packaged Ice Cream of the 2018 FIFA
World Cup™” and “Official Milk of the 2018 FIFA World Cup™ (for
Greater China)”, and “Official Powdered Milk of the 2018 FIFA
World Cup™ (for Greater China)”. Mengniu is the first dairy product
brand to cooperate with FIFA as a global sponsor and also the first
food and beverage brand in China to be a global sponsor of the
World Cup, marking a big step forward made by Mengniu onto the
international stage.
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Mengniu has cooperated with Chinese aeronautic sector for 14
years and has been awarded the title of “Strategic Partner of
China’s Aerospace Program” by the China Space Foundation.
Mengniu held a press conference with “aeronautic quality, healthy
China” as theme of the year to kick off promotion of basic pure milk
and Champion products, taking advantage of the fervor created
by the launch of space cargo ship “Tianzhou 17, in its bid to deliver
products of aeronautic quality to every family.

Mengniu also became the sponsor of international leaders’
conference showing the international standing of its brands.
Products including Pure Milk, Champion, Just Yoghurt, Deluxe Ice
Cream and Milk Deluxe were the designated dairy products for
national leaders’ meeting during the BRICS Summit held in Xiamen,
a testament to the world of the leading quality of Mengniu products.

The four major business divisions of Mengniu introduced brand
promotion programs based on the characteristics of different sub-
brand products and their target consumer groups. Milk Deluxe,
in the room temperature business, for the 11th consecutive year
sponsored the Boao Forum for Asia as the event’s sole official dairy
product supplier, continuing to draw limelight onto the high-end
image of the brand. And, by upgrading the organic milk series and
actively developing new products, the brand has strengthened the
supremacy of its expertise-embedded products. During the year,
M-PLUS High Protein Milk, the first milk product created for sports
enthusiasts in China, was launched under the Milk Deluxe brand.
At the support of combined online and offline resources, integrated
promotion and interactive marketing for the product, Mengniu has
opened a new professional milk market. Milk Deluxe sponsored the
2017 Beijing Marathon as the sole dairy product supplier. It also
sponsored the 2017 China Open tennis tournament to promote
the brand concept of “a self-discipline person like you deserves
better” of M-PLUS High Protein Milk. Moreover, Milk Deluxe
cooperated with high-end fitness center chains in five core cities
to launch the “M-PLUS-21 Days Good Health Nutrition program”
and, together with WeChat and Weibo promotion, creating buzz in
the market. Milk Deluxe also launched the super high-end product
Milk Supreme. Riding on the superior identity of Milk Deluxe, efforts
were made to upgrade Milk Supreme’s product quality and a gift
box packaging was introduced to strengthen the supremacy of the
Milk Deluxe brand.
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As for Just Yoghurt, it succeeded in enhancing its brand influence
and sales by actively boosting brand promotion and carrying out
marketing projects in association with popular films and television
programs. During the year, Just Yoghurt cooperated with the
Hollywood movie “Transformers: The Last Knight”, with its products
seamlessly placed in the movie, and in association launched the
Transformer special edition of Just Yoghurt, with the support of
online publicity platforms like maoyan.com and Tmall and offline
cinema promotion activities, achieving all-round publicity for the
brand. In addition, Just Yoghurt partnered with Shanghai Dragon
Television and sponsored the popular program “Go Fighting!
Season 3”. Six new packaging designs were introduced matching
the image of Go Fighting brothers. Moreover, by leveraging the
influence of brand ambassador Zhang Yixing plus media like
WeChat and Weibo, a multi-dimensional publicity campaign was
mounted. Just Yoghurt was also the title sponsor of Jiangsu
Television’s “Our Challenge”. By implanting brand elements into the
program and rallying the support of fans of the TV stars, consumer
awareness of the brand was markedly enhanced. Besides, Just
Yoghurt was the sole cooperation partner of Jack Ma’s first movie
“Gong Shou Dao”. At the “Double 11” evening premiere party, Just
Yoghurt blended martial arts moves into the promotion of its brand
concept of “A taste of Just Yoghurt, a taste of pure and true” that
echoes with advocacy of “Balance” of the movie, thus helped boost
consumers’ understanding of Just Yoghurt.

To promote the upgraded product formula of the Future Star
product series, the first milk product series professionally tailored
for kids in China, the brand cooperated with Shanghai Disney
Resort during the year, having its first brand activity in the Walt
Disney Grand Theatre, complemented by the launch of a limited-
edition Shanghai Disney Resort themed packaging and lucky draw
promotion making use of “one barcode per pack” technology. The
promotion campaign was a great success. Moreover, working with
Jiangsu Television, the brand incorporated its brand elements into
the “Wings of Song” singing competition for children. The online
recruitment of participants went viral on the Internet, making the
event a hot topic in the community.
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Fruit Milk Drink kicked off an integrated marketing project called
“Blue Friend” for a new blueberry flavor product, aiming to create
a unique brand image, with celebrity Li Yifeng as the product
ambassador and by linking the product with the Internet catchword
“Blue Friend” to aid emotional marketing. The project received
wide market acclaims, which had helped enhance product sales
volume and market penetration and share of the brand. Fruit Milk
Drink’s “Blue Friend” integrated marketing campaign was granted
the “Brand Building Award” of “China Great-wall Advertiser Awards
2017”.

As for the chilled product business, Yoyi C launched LC-37 that
caters particularly the professional probiotics beverage market.
LC-37 secured pop star Kris Wu as the brand ambassador to help
deliver the brand concept of “This is a small but powerful bottle of
Yoyi C”, with the aim of grabbing a share of the young consumer
market. To boost product sales, Yoyi C hosted the integrated digital
marketing activity “Global Food Festival” to convey to consumers
the core proposition of “Healthy Intestines Keep You Young” of the
brand. In addition, boasting brand advantage, Milk Deluxe launched
the super high-end Milk Deluxe Yogurt, and by sponsoring the
sports hall-of-fame award “China Top Ten Benefitting Lawreus
Sport for Good Award”, the product became the sole official dairy
product of the event. A Michelin star chef was also engaged to
promote the superb image of the brand and effectively conveyed
the brand spirit of “Not all yogurts are Milk Deluxe”.
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As for the milk formula business, Yashili actively participated in
the charity event “Droplets New Special Foundation” to boost its
brand image. It also carried out the “Parent-child NBA Contest”
with online and offline promotion activities, which helped to
enhance consumption experience and attract new customers.
Reeborne joined hands with Henan TV City Channel to hold the
event “Caring for Nursing Mothers”, under which “Reeborne
Organic Nursery Rooms” were created. Moreover, advertisements
and soft interaction marketing were carried out via platforms like
iQiYi, Moments, Babytree, mama.cn for core regional markets.
Dumex and Arla launched the national contests for mothers with
overwhelming success, and thus fostered the recognition and
confidence of consumers towards their products and brands.
Furthermore, Arla initiated infant-raising internet variety shows
“Parenting Tips” and “Sweet Cafe”, which attracted active
participation of mothers.

During the year, Mengniu’s ice cream business started the
nationwide “Scan the code, Shake the red packet, Win a phone”
promotion for its key products. Commercials were placed in
the NBA and CBA television programs and broadcasted online,
and an ice cream shake-shake song was created to stimulate
conversation. More than 2,000 promotional activities at key sales
points were conducted, which had helped in raising consumer
awareness and preference of Mengniu’s ice cream brands and
in turn sales volume of products. In addition, Mengniu focused
on promoting the high-end ice cream brand Deluxe, pursuing
upgrade on multiple fronts including branding, product, packaging
and marketing communications. A new packaging of the product
made its debut at Disney, starting the “Taste the Chinese high-end
ice cream, enjoy your time at Shanghai Disney” promotion and at
the same time the H5 scan code interactive activity was launched
online, creating a craze among consumers.

Capitalizing on its brand image built over the years and dedication
to product quality, Mengniu’s brand status is well recognized by
the industry and the public. In the 2017 China Brand Power Index
(C-BPI) ranking compiled by the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology, Mengniu was the C-BPI Top Brand in both the yogurt
and probiotics beverages industries and its yogurt product was
crowned the “Golden Brand” title for staying in the top spot for
seven consecutive years. Mengniu also once again made it among
Interbrand Best China Brands 2017. For three years in a row,
Mengniu was among the BrandZ™ list of top 20 most valuable
Chinese brands. Besides, Mengniu was one of the “TOP 10 Most
Effective Brands” and “TOP 10 Most Effective Advertisers” at the
“2017 Greater China Effie Awards”, being the only dairy enterprise
honored at the event.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Exertion in product innovation, active branding and marketing
efforts and remarkable sales execution saw Mengniu’s room
temperature and chilled products achieve satisfactory sales growth.
The Group’s total revenue for 2017 was RMB60,155.6 million (2016:
RMB53,779.3 million), representing an increase of 11.9% year-on-
year. Products that contributed the most to the Group’s revenue
growth were Milk Deluxe, Just Yoghurt, Fruit Milk Drink, Mengniu
Pure Milk, Champion and Yoyi C.

Gross profit

With raw milk price staying relatively low and product mix constantly
improving, gross profit of the Group for the year increased to
RMB21,182.7 million (2016: RMB17,635.4 million) and gross profit
margin increased by 2.4 percentage points to 35.2% as compared
with last year (2016: 32.8%).

Operating expenses

The Group implemented proactive channel expansion and brand
promotion strategies. As such, its operating expenses were
RMB18,548.5 million (2016:RMB18,757.3 million), or 30.8% (2016:
34.9%) of the Group’s revenue. In the previous year, the Group
recognized an impairment provision on goodwill of RMB2,253.8
million for its milk powder business. Excluding the impairment
of goodwill, the operating expenses in 2016 were RMB16,503.5
million, representing 30.7% of the Group’s revenue for that year.

Selling and distribution expenses for the year increased by 10.7%
to RMB14,868.8 million (2016: RMB13,435.2 million), representing
a decrease of 0.3 percentage point to 24.7% (2016: 25.0%) of the
Group’s revenue.

Advertising and promotion expenses for the year decreased by 4.7%
to RMB5,083.1 million (2016: RMB5,333.7 million), or decreased to
8.4% (2016: 9.9%) of the Group’s revenue.

During the year, administrative and other operating expenses
increased 19.9% to RMB3,679.7 million (2016: RMB3,068.2 million,
excluding impairment of goodwill), or increased to 6.1% (2016:
5.7%) of the Group’s revenue, mainly due to foreign exchange loss
and the losses on deemed disposal of partial interests in associates
incurred during the year.
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Profit from operating activities and net profit KEEBRFERFRE

Although financial performance attributable to the Group from an
associate recorded a relatively significant loss during the year,
thanks to the Group’s significant increase in revenue and gross
profit, plus product optimization, the Group’s EBITDA increased
to RMB4,144.7 million (2016: RMB956.0 million, or RMB3,209.8
million excluding impairment of goodwill) and EBITDA margin was
6.9% (2016: 1.8%, or 6.0% excluding impairment of goodwill).

Profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
RMB2,047.8 million (2016: loss of RMB751.2 million, or profit
of RMB1,502.6 million excluding impairment of goodwill). Basic
earnings per share was RMB0.526 (basic loss per share in 2016:
RMBO0.193).

Income tax expense

Income tax expense of the Group in 2017 was RMB594.3 million
(2016: RMB351.4 million), up by 69.1% year-on-year. Effective
income tax rate was 22.6% (2016: 19.6%, excluding impairment
of goodwill), up by 3.0 percentage points year-on-year, mainly due
to the loss contribution from a major associate to the Group and
the accounting losses on deemed disposal of partial interests in
associates by the Group.

Capital expenditure

For the year ended 31 December 2017, capital expenditure of the
Group was RMB6,650.9 million (2016: RMB4,352.5 million), up by
52.8% year-on-year. Of the total, RMB2,151.9 million was spent on
building new production facilities and modifying existing ones and
related investments, RMB249.2 million on purchasing biological
assets and RMB4,249.8 million were invested in equities (mainly
including acquisition of additional equity interests in China Modern

Dairy).
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Working capital, financial resources and capital structure

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s net cash inflow
from operating activities increased to RMB5,505.4 million (2016:
RMB4,512.9 million), primarily due to continuous optimization
of product structure, cost control and enhanced working capital
management.

As at 31 December 2017, outstanding interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of the Group increased to RMB13,950.1 million (31
December 2016: RMB8,587.6 million), including interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings repayable within one year in the amount
of RMB7,935.0 million (31 December 2016: RMB3,045.4 million).
More than 40% of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
bore fixed interests. The increase in interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings was mainly due to increase in equity investments during
the year.

Net borrowings (total amount of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings net of cash and bank balances) of the Group as at 31
December 2017 were RMB7,991.2 million (31 December 2016:
RMB2,517.5 million).

The Group’s total equity as at 31 December 2017 was
RMB27,107.1 million (31 December 2016: RMB25,503.7 million).
Debt-to-equity ratio (total amount of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings over total equity) was 51.5% (31 December 2016:
33.7%).

Finance costs of the Group in 2017 were RMB399.9 million (2016:
RMB293.7 million), representing approximately 0.7% of the total
revenue (2016: 0.5%).

PRODUCT

In 2017, Mengniu continued to innovate and actively pursue
product research and development to promote continuous
improvement of the enterprise. Heeding the trend of consumers
craving for diverse, high-end and healthy products, it launched
differentiated and market-oriented new products. All-out efforts
were also made to upgrade products in terms of variety, flavor and
packaging, so as to create better consumption experience of dairy
products for consumers. Mengniu also achieved huge success in
brand promotion, marketing and sales by using new media and Big
Data flexibly.
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The main products of the Group are liquid milk, ice cream, milk ZAEBEERFTEH ARBEL ~ AKEM « i RE
formula and other products. Their performances during the year fthZEM * BIEAFRRIBHO T :
under review are outlined in the table below:

Product

category Financial performance Highlights

EmRE BBRE i)

Liquid milk Revenue amounted to RMB53,015.0 million (2016: RMB48,102.9 million), accounting for 88.1% of the Group’s total revenue (2016:

A 89.4%).
WABARB530.150(8T (T —1F : AR¥481.02067T) - (AAKERRALBS.1%(ZF—7~F : 89.4%) °

UHT milk Revenue amounted to RMB25,689.2 million (2016: - Milk Deluxe upgraded its organic milk product series, continuing to boost

UHT RMB23,851.9 million), accounting for 48.5% of the its image as a high-end product brand and promote its brand spirit of “New
liquid milk segment revenue (2016: 49.6%). Nutritional Level Makes a Better Life”. During the period, super high-end
WARBARK256.802ET(ZF— 15 ARE Milk Deluxe M-PLUS High Protein Milk was launched, which is the first
238.519(87T) + (HREEIUMIA48.5%(ZF—RF : milk product created for sports enthusiasts in China. In addition, Mengniu
49.6%) ° also launched the super high-end Milk Supreme that comes in specially

designed gift packaging.

- HRFRRAGRERD BERARFNERRRY  E-FE5
[BENRE  KREHAL I ORERE - BRFmFELBRRER
M-PLUSEZREY - TEFEBREHHEPDAR ERFNER @ b
o RETMELEUBR RE R REn—865 7 «

jhesy

MILK DELIE
%

- Future Star Kid Growth Milk undertook innovative research and
development on its formula, and launched Future Star Kid Organic Milk
during the year, which is produced using Milk Deluxe organic milk source
and under the banner of “Natural Nutrition and Focus on Growth”. It also
introduced Future Star A28 Casein Pure Milk, made with premium milk in
limited supply from meticulously selected designated ranches.
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Product

category Financial performance Highlights

EmmR MBRR B

- Prime Ranch Pure Milk in fresh packaging was launched to market.
Using QR code and implementing “One Pack, One Code”, product batch
numbers can be traced with ease and production processes are more
transparent.

- BEUSHLTRREZFAE LT 2EEN -8B REZEER
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- Mengniu joined hands with China Modern Dairy to introduce Xianyu Pure
Milk. It has opened a niche - the room temperature fresh milk market - in
between the room temperature milk and fresh milk markets.

- SYEGERRHEEFRLAZALT ERRGFNNEFHH5L
A - R SRS o

The upgraded packaging of Mengniu Pure Milk carries an aerospace-
themed label to highlight the brand proposition of “Let’s Enjoy Aeronautic
Quality Milk”.

- FHEEIRBRENG  ENBREEEE  RHIGRE AR
ZMmiEF % -
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Key products:

- Mik Deluxe

- Mengniu Pure Milk

- Prime Ranch Pure Milk

- Future Star Kid Growth Milk
- Xianyu Pure Milk

- XinYangDao

- Awakening Youth Milk
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Product
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EmmE MEBRR B

Milk beverages  Revenue amounted to RMB9,879.8 million (2016:

Yoyi C launched LC-37 that targets the professional probiotics beverage

A8 RMB9,380.2 million), accounting for 18.6% of the market. Every 100 ml of the product contains 50 billion active bacteria
liquid milk segment revenue (2016: 19.5%). C, 500 times the national standard. It also has an exclusive 37°C highly
WARAREIRT98ET(ZE—7F : AK3.802 active bacterial strain, overcoming the technical bottleneck faced by the
B70)  hRETRA18.6%(ZF—7F 1 19.5%) low temperature probiotics industry and becoming an innovative product

which revolutionizes probiotics product offerings. In May 2017, under LC-
37, an upgraded low-sugar enzyme-rich product was launched.

- EmCHEERRIRRMSENLC-37 - B1002AEE500FEMEN
CH - ®REREE0005 - EREBRIT CRBMMERENE - THRT
ERIABRTENHMAE - KRR ARRRANENER =%
—tERALC-I7EE— AR ERRERORG o

- Fruit Milk Drink focused on the new blueberry flavored product, and
mounted a promotional campaign themed “Bring Your Blue Friend Home”,
50 as to capture share in the young consumer market.

- ERNERRNEEWHG WEERLEX | RERTRE  RIEFEHR

3001ZiE8

BEEMHINE o
Key products:
- - - YoyiC
- Fruit Milk Drink
- Suan Suan Ru
BHEm:
- ##C
- EEM
- BE7
Yogurt Revenue amounted to RMB17,446.0 million (2016: -  During the year, 15 new products of chilled yogurt under 6 series were
B RMB14,870.8 million), accounting for 32.9% of the introduced to the market, targeting at higher market share of the high-end
liquid milk segment revenue (2016: 30.9%). yogurt market.
WABARET4460B T (25— 15 : AEH - RERLETEEER R SRERRMIER - KAhBERHOED
148.708f87L) * 1ERAETMA32.9%(ZF—R%F : 5 o
30.9%) ©

- Building on the strong brand advantage of Milk Deluxe, Milk Deluxe Yogurt
was launched. The product combines patented bacteria from the US,
Danone’s exclusive craftsmanship from France and premium ingredients
from all over the world, speaking truly to the brand spirit of “Not all
yogurts are Milk Deluxe”. The Group’s yogurt business has advanced on
the high-end trend.

- UEmANRRED  RERLARFEY  UXBENRE EEER
BREIZREHREBERMECRE TRIMBRNBRA A miER
W E— SRR RRENER o
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Highlights

B

Key

Just Yoghurt and the Hollywood movie “Transformers: The Last Knight”
jointly launched the Transformers special edition packaging. Brand
promotion revolved around “Go Fighting! Season 3", with the Go Fighting
brothers featuring in six new packaging designs.

AFRFFTEEAEN RS - RENBL)SERLET 2RIBHIES
BE  MIERKBSETREER - HABRABTREHOHHE

# o

Champion focused on optimizing product structure and introduced a
series of products, namely Jianzihao, Mailaoru and Xianlaoru. Making the
best of its core asset - the “BB-12” bacteria, Champion has strengthened
its positioning as a “professional and functional” yogurt.

BaA BERIERGE BLEFH  £F87 487 -F)ER
BREROEEIBB-12 |88 - BRI EXEM BRINENL -

Bio introduced Kaquzi Grain Mix Flavored Yogurt, with its positioning as a
food replacement boosting the best mix of natural ingredients among the
domestic yogurt market, containing American almonds and cranberries,
Australian oats and pumpkin seeds.

BRI SBEENEL AR ER  YETRE  REXERIC -8
HEY RNRE  BERNN  REARNTSAARNEEREEN

ey
IWE

products;

Just Yoghurt

Milk Deluxe Yogurt
Champion

Inner Mongolia Solid Yogurt
European Charcoal Yogurt
Bio
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Product

category Financial performance Highlights

EmmE MEBRR B

Ice Cream Revenue amounted to RMB2,513.1 million (2016: RMB2,179.9 million), accounting for 4.2% of the Group’s total revenue (2016: 4.1%).
TKCEH WABARESANETL(ZE—RF - ARE21.799ET) - EAKEBYAL2%(ZF—RF  4.1%)

- Mengniu's newly launched Russian Milk Ice Cream brings back the
original flavor of Russian ice cream. With high milk content, rich milk flavor
and a smooth texture, the product has been well received by the market.

Ewy N P A . .
== - BERERRATIEALE  BEREHOLIE  ADEE - %
HItBa RE - AR - HELAATE -
AGHMK
" CE CREAM - SuiXinGuo product series under Suibian continued to lead the trend of

matching delicious cheese with fruit jam and ice cream. During the year,
two brand-new products, blueberry cheese crunchy cone ice cream and
mango cheese crunchy cone ice cream, were launched.

- BEBLRZVEREESIFRRS TRERERKDINTR - RER
RERHIS - EBEZ THRANRSENTRE THEORSH -

- Mood for Green launched the sticky rice red bean ice cream, adopting
unique technique in the industry to make sure the sticky rice dumplings
are evenly set and pleasantly chewy, which earned great market acclaims.

- AEOBRNRARLZTEN  RBTREIE  REFKETHIH
SIRQEMRRE - EEMIHLTA o

- Deluxe carried out upgrade on multiple fronts from branding, product,
packaging to marketing and communication. Two new ice cream gift box
packagings were introduced.

- FREZHRE En BEREHEESSEEAR - HHMZKCER

SRR - .
N 2S o

Key products:

- Deluxe

- Russian Milk lce Cream
- Suibian

- Mood for Green
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category Financial performance Highlights

EmmR MBRR L)

Milk Formula  Revenue amounted to RMB4,042.1 million (2016: RMB3,150.9 million), accounting for 6.7% of the Group’s total revenue (2016: 5.9%).
ik} WABAREA0421ET(ZF -5 : AR¥S1.509ETT) - EASEBKAG.7%(ZF—71F : 5.9%) °

- Yashily emphasizes the provision of basic nutrients. Originally canned and
imported from New Zealand, Yashily Super a-Golden Stage (renamed as
Yashily Jingpo upon implementation of the national infant milk formula

registration system) targets the medium-to-high end market and owns

@ E;E’;;;M the patented INFAT™ active energy system, which promotes probiotics
growth in intestines of infants and toddlers.

- BEIARBAIZERER  AhHERRBENNELFER -2 (H
RENZ MBI M EREEEARELFER) BT IHEL
minm - BEERINFATVEREENAS  RABHZHEHERER -

- Qinyou series and organic series of Reeborne completed the upgrade of

aer their packaging and formula, and made increasing efforts in penetrating
Bnl— the organic market, while taking advantage of online and offline advertising
&hILECH B ' : : :
12— 6F) % JEB exposures and soft interactive marketing with target customers to
L T i enhance brand exposure and recognition.
LEllSe . pRenmcRIREREIRNAERESHE  LENRIARTS
e W2E  ARERR LRI TAETESBXREEEHANEY R
I’a , P—u._,,;,,.._ e & E‘I:EHE%%E&%D%E °
< “i’iﬂﬁ', - Dumex is committed to building professional formula series to satisfy
/i) R TSR babies’ special nutritional needs. Its three major product series cover
12—36HR3E products for allergies, digestion and under-weight new born babies.
: - ZEHBNRREPRORREERTR  RRYRRUEZRE S RIIE
> 3 m ZARIERBEBRERS B RIIRERERZT -
[
i xal:m']

- Arla Baby & Me organic formula is originated from Denmark, highlighting
its royal origination and aiming at super high-end market.

- AERAZERINRENE  AIEZHRMEINEE  TLBERK
g -
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Highlights

B

Key

B

Yashili launched Doraler, its first high-end imported goat milk formula
brand, in last November, which is originally canned and imported from
Australia. 100% made of pure goat milk protein, the new product has a
smooth and creamy texture and is easy to be absorbed.
BTFREE+— AL EERmE D F I mERL ) F - BERFIE
REEED - 100%AF7ES - RNARE SR -

products:

Yashily Super a- Golden Stage (Currently known as Yashili Jingpo)
Reeborne

Dumex Diamor

Arla Baby & Me

Doraler

Yashily a- Golden Stage
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Other Products Revenue amounted to RMB585.4 million (2016: RMB345.6 million), accounting for 1.0% of the Group’s total revenue (2016: 0.6%).
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WARARKS.804BTL(ZF—AF « ARB345657)  (HAKEAMAL.0%(ZF—RF : 0.6%) «

The plant-based protein beverage ZhiPuMoFang, a joint creation of
Mengniu and WhiteWave, underwent product adjustment and upgrade.
Heeding future market trend, Silk Americano Soymilk series featuring two
flavors - original and aimond - was launched.

S EWhteWave XRAI LB EA R mmSEREY - HERENTT
HEMAR - BERRTZERBIRLSKER ZHRTER - BRK
REEARREAK -

products:
Silk Americano Soymilk
Lao Qu Bei

Em:
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PRODUCTION

Mengniu deploys its production capacity heeding market potential
and its own product strategy. As of December 2017, Mengniu
had 38 production bases in China and one in New Zealand, which
together had a total production capacity of 9.22 million tons
(December 2016: 9.21 million tons).

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

With fulfilling the mission of “Focus on nutrition and health, deliver a
drop of happiness for every moment and every day to more people”
as its guide, Mengniu had drawn up its strategies for sustainable
development 2030 to contribute its strength to help the society.
In addition to constantly improving the quality of the Group’s dairy
products and pushing to grow with the industrial chain, Mengniu
is also committed to supporting charitable causes, fostering
development of local communities as well as supporting learning
and growth of employees to make Mengniu an example to emulate
in sustainable development.

Supporting to the “Healthy China 2030 Planning Outline” issued
by the State Council and the “Milk Sponsorship Charity Program”
jointly initiated by the Ministry of Agriculture and the Dairy Association
of China, in 2017, Mengniu introduced the “Mengniu Inclusion
Nutrition Plan” in rural schools in a total of 157 regions and counties
in 24 provinces, cities and municipalities in China. The program
covered 209 schools and 40,000 students and over 250,000
cases of milk were donated. Schools in state-level targeted poverty
alleviation counties, such as Foping County, Shaanxi and Lushi
County, Sanmenxia were covered in the program that deprived
students in those areas were able to feel the warm and loving care
of Mengniu and grow up healthily.
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Mengniu spares no effort in nurturing talent for the industry and
is committed to creating a sustainable dairy industry ecosystem
and enhancing the competitiveness of China’s dairy industry.
During the year under review, Mengniu set up the “Golden Key of
Milk Cow” technology demonstration sites in China’s key “Grain
to Fodder” regions. Experts were invited to introduce the latest
breeding and rearing technology to a total of 1,500 participants
from about 800 ranches in 15 provinces and 29 cities in China,
which translated into economic benefit. Mengniu established the
high-end learning platform “Star Ranchers” and gathered top-notch
professionals from around the world to give lectures on practical
ranch management and industry-leading technology through video
and satellite links, allowing real-time interaction between them
and approximately 1,500 dairy farmers. Mengniu also launched
the “Increasing Efficiency Program” and adopted the “Theoretical
Training plus Practical Application” and “Assessment-Reporting-
Interpreting-Improvement-Re-assessment” models to improve the
skills of ranch employees and efficiency of ranches.

In addition, Mengniu organized the 8" and 9" Training Seminars
for talents of modern dairy farms with China Agricultural University
under the “University of Ranchers” program, which provided training
to over 1,000 ranch owners and its own staff at various levels.
Mengniu also strived to improve the quality of upstream milk source
and offered financial support to 100 medium to small family ranches
via the “Mengniu + Bank + Ranch” tri-party financing model.
Comprehensive guidance was offered to family ranches to help
them build their own ranches and achieve sustainable development.
At the same time, Mengniu also had ranch owners signed the
“Code of Social Responsibility of Ranch Owners” to enhance their
awareness of dairy cattle welfare and environmental protection,
thereby realizing Mengniu’s value — giving equal emphasis to social
responsibility and scientific breeding — in its practice.
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Mengniu’s role in leading Chinese enterprises in honoring
social responsibility is fully recognized by different parties in
the community. The Group was awarded “Leading Enterprise
of Corporate Social Responsibility under China’s New Normal”
by chinadevelopment.com.cn and its chief executive officer Mr.
Lu Minfang received the “2017 Asian Social Caring Leadership
Award” at the “Nobel Laureates Series: the 5" Social Caring Pledge
Scheme Award Presentation Ceremony”. The Group, thanks to its
“University of Ranchers” project, also clinched the “2017 China’s
QOutstanding Corporate Citizenship Award” by China Association of
Social Workers.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had a total of about
41,141 employees in China and Hong Kong, including about
2,313 employees of Yashili. During the year, total staff costs
(including salaries of directors and senior executives) amounted to
approximately RMB5,133.8 million (2016: RMB4,479.5 million).

In 2017, Mengniu completed the establishment of its new business
division organizational structure, grouping its businesses into
four major divisions, namely room temperature products, chilled
products, milk formula and ice cream, to raise the Group’s
overall operational efficiency. The “Build up a leaner and stronger
headquarters” project it launched was designed to set the
functional positioning of its headquarters according to three
major principles, which are strategic orientation, clear role and
responsibility, and competence and efficiency. The project helped
improve the efficiency of decision making, whereas a new position
and grading system was established and evaluation of various
management positions of the Group as well as the adjustment of
rankings of staff members were completed.

During the year under review, Mengniu continued to optimize
and implement its unique talent nurturing system that entails job
orientation, training of general core capabilities, and professional
and leadership skills. To match the time for learning of employees,
the Group combines resources online and offline for training its
people. It rebuilt the four-in-one Internet learning platform “Zhi De”
to offer training and support to employees anytime, anywhere. The
platform supports mobile data sharing and access, allowing more
employees to receive training while lowering training cost.
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In addition, through establishing systems and carrying out
leadership development program, the Group strengthened its
leadership pool and enhanced the capability of managers at
all levels. At the same time, Mengniu continued to increase
employees’ knowledge and awareness of its culture, putting
particular emphasis on promoting the proactive and aggressive “Wolf
Culture”. During the year, the different business divisions embraced
a host of corporate cultural activities such as “Mighty Mengniu
Rises to Challenges”, “The Journey to Gobi Desert” and the “The
Journey to Jinggang Mountain”.

To strengthen the determination of the management team to
achieve Mengniu’s 2020 strategy and enhance the team’s
commitment to and confidence in continuously growing the Group’s
business, Mengniu implemented the retention plan for core staff,
with the award of restricted shares as an incentive, to encourage
and retain core staff in key positions at level four and above. During
the year under review, 6,998,575 shares were granted under
the share award scheme and 10,930,005 share options were
granted under the share option scheme, based on the individual
performance of the management.

OUTLOOK

Along with the continuous deepening of the supply side reform
of the dairy industry and the full implementation of the infant milk
formula registration system in 2018, the recovery of consumer
confidence, the complete roll out of China’s two-child policy
and the trend of skewing towards younger consumers and more
diversified demands, the industry is looking at a revival of sales of
liquid milk and milk powder, opportunities arising from upgrade of
the middle to high-end consumption structure and adjustment of
the competitive landscape, and all these are presenting Mengniu
with new development opportunities.

Looking forward, on the basis of “Focusing on Development
and Gathering Strengths”, Mengniu’s new business divisions will
develop different product categories by focusing on resource
advantages, and enhancing cost saving, efficiency and the value of
different brands. With “Quality, Innovation and Internationalization”
at heart, Mengniu will insist on its quality as core competitiveness,
with the spirit of the “Craftsman of Milk”, ensuring the safety and
high quality of every drop of milk it offers. Mengniu will continue to
align with and also strive to surpass international standards, and
enhance its efforts in innovation, and research and development. It
will endeavor to develop milk source to guarantee the quality and
stability of supply that it may provide products of “Golden BRICS
quality” and “aeronautic quality”.
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Mengniu will follow closely the trend of consumption upgrade and
move toward the middle and higher end of the value chain. Through
actively promoting the development of chilled and ice cream
products and accelerating launch of new products, Mengniu will
be offering more nutritious and healthy products for consumers to
enjoy. At the same time, Mengniu will continue to push forward with
digitalization, by using its own “Mengniu Cloud” platform and online
sales penetration and brand building, in cooperation with partners
such as Alibaba and JD.com in full embrace of the Big Data era.

Mengniu will continue to join hands with its three major
shareholders, namely COFCO Group, Danone Group and Arla
Foods, and international leading partners such as WhiteWave and
UC Davis from the US to establish a world-class dairy enterprise
by bringing in advanced technologies and management methods
via introducing world-leading resources and platforms. With a
value chain well-deployed internationally, it will leverage overseas
resources to consolidate its industry strengths. Mengniu will
continue to promote construction of a global “Dairy Community”,
pinpointing especially countries along the “Belt and Road”.

To further brand internationalization, Mengniu for the first time
sponsored overseas sports events, becoming the Official 2018 FIFA
World Cup™ Sponsor with 161 products of 27 brands under its four
major product categories selected as the designated products of
World Cup, which represents a significant breakthrough of Mengniu
in promoting soccer and sports marketing effort. At the same time,
Mengniu is also the first dairy brand partnering with FIFA as a global
sponsor and the first Chinese food and beverage brand to become
a global sponsor of the World Cup. Mengniu is set to present itself
to the world as China’s top dairy enterprise and letting consumers
around the world know about Mengniu’s natural, nutritious and
delicious products at the most prominent sports event in 2018,
thereby achieving another breakthrough in gaining influence both in
China and overseas.

The Mengniu team will embrace its original “Wolf Culture”, uphold
the pure heart it has from day one building the Group’s business
and hasten the pace of the Group in scaling new heights in the
industry. Mengniu will continue to improve the quality and the brand
reputation of its products, keeping in mind its original intention of
“Cows of Inner Mongolia, Cows of China and Cows of the world”
and determination to “must-win and win-win”, that it may stand firm
on the forefront of the global dairy industry as it pushes ahead with
its “2020 Goal” to achieve sales of RMB100 billion in 2020, putting
its best effort into becoming a world class dairy enterprise.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Lu Minfang, aged 49, was appointed as an executive director
and the chief executive officer of the Company in September 2016.
Mr. Lu is the chairman and a non-executive director of Yashili
International Holdings Ltd (“Yashili”), a subsidiary of the Company
listed in Hong Kong and the chairman and a non-executive director
of China Modern Dairy, an associate of the Company listed in Hong
Kong. He was the chief executive officer and an executive director
of Yashili before his appointment as chairman of the board of
directors of Yashili. Mr. Lu was also a director of each of following
subsidiaries of Yashili, namely Yashili International Ltd., Yashili
International Group Limited, Newou Hong Kong International Co.,
Limited and Scient International Group Limited. Mr. Lu has been
the Vice President (Greater China) of Danone Early Life Nutrition
Greater China and had been with Danone Group and Dumex Baby
Food Co. Ltd. for over 10 years. During his tenure at Danone
Group, he demonstrated strong strategic business and market
planning capabilities. With strong leadership, management skills
and in-depth knowledge of markets, Mr. Lu contributed significantly
to the success of Danone Group’s baby nutrition business in China.
Prior to joining Danone Group, Mr. Lu spent 9 years with Johnson &
Johnson (China) Company Limited and almost 4 years with General
Electric Company (China). Mr. Lu has over 18 years of experience
in sales and marketing and has been serving in general manager or
senior executive level roles for over 7 years. Mr. Lu has extensive
experience in the management of fast moving consumer products
and dairy companies and has an excellent grasp and the in-depth
knowledge of the PRC market. Mr. Lu obtained his Bachelor’s
degree from Fudan University in Shanghai.
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Ms. Wu Wenting, aged 54, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company in September 2016. Ms. Wu was the executive
deputy general manager and the chief financial officer of China
Foods Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, until September
2016. Ms. Wu joined COFCO Group in 1992 and was the director
of the Audit and Discipline Department of COFCO Corporation from
2006 to March 2014. Ms. Wu also held various positions in COFCO
Group, including the deputy general manager of the Finance
Department of China Liang Feng Grains Import & Export Company
from 1994 to 2000 and the general manager of the Finance
Department of COFCO Oils & Grains Co., Ltd. from 2000 to 2006.
Ms. Wu holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in economics from Beijing
Technology and Business University and a Master of Arts degree
in professional accounting from Central University of Finance and
Economics and has extensive experience in financial management
and auditing.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Ma Jianping, aged 54, was appointed as a non-executive
director and the chairman of the board of directors of the Company
in February 2016. Mr. Ma joined COFCO Corporation and/or its
subsidiaries (“COFCQ”) in 1986 and is currently a vice president of
COFCO Corporation. Mr. Ma holds several directorships in certain
subsidiaries of COFCO. Mr. Ma is also the chairman of the board
and a non-executive director of China Foods Limited, a company
listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Ma was a director of COFCO Property
(Group) Co., Ltd., a company listed in Shenzhen, up to December
2016. He was also a non-executive director of Joy City Property
Limited up to January 2017 and was the chairman of the board and
a non-executive director of COFCO Meat Holdings Limited up to
January 2018, both companies listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Ma was
also a non-executive director of the Company during the period
from August 2009 to March 2014.

Mr. Ma graduated from University of International Business and
Economics in China in July 1986 and subsequently received
an Executive Master of Business Administration from the same
university in December 2005, and he has extensive experience in
strategic planning, corporate finance, investment and merger and
acquisition, and business management.
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Mr. Niu Gensheng, aged 60, is a non-executive director of the
Company, one of the members in the team founding Yili Group,
the founder of Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company
Limited and the founder of Laoniu Foundation. Mr. Niu graduated
from Inner Mongolia University with a degree in Administration
and Management and obtained a Master’'s degree in Enterprise
Management from the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences
Graduate School. With his extensive experience and insights in
China’s dairy industry, Mr. Niu enjoys a high reputation in the
industry. In 2007, Mr. Niu was elected as one of “China’s Most
Influential Business Leaders” for the fifth consecutive year, and
was honoured the “2007 Hong Kong Bauhinia Award.” Mr. Niu
is devoted to charity. He was on the list of “China’s Top 10
Philanthropists” published by the Ministry of Civil Affairs of the
PRC in 2007 and ranked third in the “2007 Hurun Top 10 for
Charity”, and received the first and only “Lifetime Achievement in
Philanthropy Award” presented by the “China Philanthropists List”
in 2010.

Mr. Tim Orting Jorgensen, aged 53, was appointed as a non-
executive director of the Company in April 2016. He was a non-
executive director of the Company during the period from July 2012
to September 2013. Mr. Jorgensen graduated from Copenhagen
Business School in 1991 with a Master of Economics degree,
specialising in international strategy and marketing. He joined Arla
Foods amba (“Arla”) in 1991 and has held several management
positions within Arla’s international business group, including a
three year position in the Middle East and a three-year position in
Brazil. In 2005, he became the business group director for Arla’s
Danish division and in 2007, he was appointed as executive vice
president, with the overall responsibility for Arla’s international
activities outside Scandinavia and the United Kingdom. In 2012,
he was appointed to lead Arla’s newly established German/
Dutch business group, with the clear objective of establishing
Arla as a leading dairy company in Germany through mergers and
acquisitions. Throughout his 27 years in Arla, Mr. Jergensen has
acquired extensive management experience within international
sales, brand building, supply chain efficiency and general
management. Mr. Jorgensen has especially been focused on
growing the business significantly both organically and through
acquisitions.
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Mr. Pascal De Petrini, aged 58, was appointed as a non-
executive director of the Company in December 2017. He is
currently Senior Vice President and Non-Executive Chairman Asia
at Danone. Mr. De Petrini has been working as senior management
in the food and beverage industry for more than 30 years. His
experience covers the full range of businesses, including sales and
purchase, factory management, supply chain, among others. Mr.
De Petrini joined Danone in 1984 and worked in France in the areas
of project management, factory demand and supply planning, and
sales as business development director and strategic committee
member. From 1998 to 2002, Mr. De Petrini was the general
manager of Danone’s biscuits business in China. Mr. De Petrini
returned to Paris in 2002 to work in the headquarters of Danone
as General Manager of Themis (global SAP program roll-out) until
2004. From 2004 to 2007, Mr. De Petrini worked in Indonesia as
general manager of Aqua, a bottled water company of Danone.
From 2007 to 2008, Mr. De Petrini worked as vice president of
Danone’s water business in Asia Pacific and was responsible
for the water and beverage business in China, Indonesia and
New Zealand. From 2008 to 2011, Mr. De Petrini worked as vice
president of Danone’s early life nutrition business in Asia Pacific
and was responsible for ten countries in the region, including
China. In 2011, Mr. De Petrini joined Fraser & Neave Ltd, a listed
company engaged in the food and beverage business across the
Asia Pacific region, as Chief Executive Officer until 2013, when he
joined the Fonterra Cooperative Group Ltd as managing director of
its businesses in Asia Pacific, Middle East & Africa. In 2015, Mr. De
Petrini returned to Danone as Executive Vice President of Strategic
Resource Cycles until shifting to his current role in 2017. He is
also the chairman of Danone Ecosystem Fund and the board of
Livelihood Fund for Family Farming, two important social innovation
funds created by Danone. Mr. De Petrini graduated from Ecole
Nationale Supérieure des Mines de Nancy in France with a Master
of Science in Engineering degree in 1981 and obtained a Master of
Science in Management degree from ESSEC Business School in
France in 1983.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), aged 52, was appointed as a
non-executive director of the Company in February 2004 and is a
vice-chairman of the board of directors of the Company. Mr. Jiao
was redesignated from a non-executive director of the Company to
an independent non-executive director of the Company with effect
from 12 April 2012. Mr. Jiao joined the Group in September 2002
and is currently a director and managing partner of CDH China
Management Company Limited. Mr. Jiao received a bachelor’s
degree in mathematics from Shandong University and a master’s
degree in engineering from the No. 2 Research Institute of Ministry
of Aeronautics and Astronautics. Currently, Mr. Jiao also serves as
a non-executive director and deputy chairman of WH Group Limited
and an independent non-executive director of China Southern
Airlines Company Limited, both companies listed in Hong Kong,
a director of Joyoung Company Limited and a director of Henan
Shuanghui Investment & Development Co., Ltd., both companies
listed in Shenzhen. Mr. Jiao was a non-executive director of China
Shanshui Cement Group Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong,
from 30 November 2005 to 16 May 2014.

Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt, aged 44, was appointed as a non-
executive director of the Company in January 2006 and was
redesignated from a non-executive director of the Company to
an independent non-executive director of the Company with
effect from 12 April 2012. Mr. Wolhardt is currently the chief
executive officer of DCP Advisors, Limited focusing on private
equity transactions in the Greater China region. Mr. Wolhardt was
previously a partner at KKR Asia Limited and Morgan Stanley
responsible for private equity business in China. Mr. Wolhardt is a
certified public accountant and certified management accountant
and received a Bachelor’s degree in accounting from the University
of lllinois (Urbana-Champaign) in the United States. Mr. Wolhardt
currently serves as a non-executive director of China Modern Dairy
and a non-executive director of COFCO Meat Holdings Limited,
both companies listed in Hong Kong. He was an independent non-
executive director of China Cord Blood Corporation, a company
listed on the New York Stock Exchange, from April 2012 to May
2015.
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Mr. Zhang Xiaoya, aged 55, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company in May 2009. Mr.
Zhang is a graduate of the Shandong University and the school
of management at the Beijing University of Aeronautics and
Astronautics and is a senior engineer. He is currently the chairman
of Zhong Ding United Dairy Farming Co., Ltd (h SIS MR DB
fR /A 7A]), as well as the chairman of Beijing Xindajiading Investment
Company Limited (Gt R{EEZRIKEBR A A, an independent
non-executive director of New Focus Auto Tech Holdings Limited,
a company listed in Hong Kong and an independent director of
Guangzhou Zhujiang Digital Group (E/NERT S £ ). Mr. Zhang
previously served as a director and president of AirMedia Group
Inc., a company listed on NASDAQ and the chairman of Unibank
Media (R EBEHEEE).

Mr. Yau Ka Chi, aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company in October 2016. Mr. Yau has
over 30 years of professional accounting experience including
20 years in serving China enterprises. He had worked for Ernst
& Young for over 20 years in its Hong Kong, Toronto and Beijing
offices with primary focus in providing professional services
in accounting and audit, initial public offering, and corporate
restructuring before retiring in September 2015. During his
professional career with Ernst & Young, Mr. Yau was appointed as
the Professional Practice Director of Greater China from July 2007
to June 2009, the Assurance Leader for Northern China Region
from July 2010 to June 2014, the Oil & Gas Industry Leader of
Greater China from May 2012 to June 2015 and the Assurance
Leader of the Energy & Resources Markets Segment of Greater
China from July 2013 to June 2015. Mr. Yau is currently an
independent non-executive director of Yihai International Holding
Ltd. and China Power International Development Limited, both
companies listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Yau holds a professional
diploma in company secretaryship and administration from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) and is a member of the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, the lllinois Certified Public Accountants Society
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Yau also holds a certified public accountant license issued by the
lllinois Department of Financial and Professional Regulation, the
United States.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhang Ping, aged 53, graduated from Beijing Information
Science and Technology University with a Master’s degree in
Management Engineering. Mr. Zhang, who joined the Group in
2014, is currently the chief financial officer of the Group. He has
over 24 years of experience in the fast-moving consumer goods
industry, specializing in the management of operation, finance and
audit as well as risk control. Mr. Zhang worked in Swire Beverages
group companies as the manager of the internal audit and system
development, the finance director, the general manager of its
bottler manufacturing company and the chief executive officer of
Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing Holdings Limited. Mr. Zhang is
also a non-executive director of Yashili and China Modern Dairy,
both companies listed in Hong Kong.

Mr. Liu Shengli, aged 53, is a vice president of the Group. Mr.
Liu graduated from Dalian Fisheries University, and obtained a
Master degree in Light Industry Technology and Engineering
from Hubei University of Technology, then a Master’s degree in
business administration from China Europe International Business
School. Mr. Liu joined the Group in 2002. He served as the general
manager of the marketing department of UHT milk division,
the general manager of ice cream division, the assistant to the
president and the vice president of the Group. He is currently
responsible for the chilled products and the business development
of the Group. He has been working in the dairy industry for almost
20 years and has extensive management experience and advanced
management concepts in the dairy industry. Mr. Liu was honored as
a “Labour Model of Hohhot” of Inner Mongolia in 2010.

Mr. Gao Fei, aged 41, is a vice president of the Group. Mr. Gao
joined the Group in 1999, and successively held the positions of
regional manager, center manager, sales director and general
manager of the sales department and contributed to the rapid
growth of the market share of Mengniu. Mr. Gao has abundant
practical experience in the sales, marketing and promotion of dairy
products. In 2016, he was appointed as the assistant vice president
of the UHT business division. He is currently responsible for the
operation and management of the core business of the Group.
Mr. Gao obtained a Bachelor's degree from Shandong University,
then an Executive Master in Business Administration degree from
Tsinghua University.
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Mr. Shi Dongwei, aged 53, joined the Group in 2017 as vice
president and is responsible for public affairs of the Group. Mr. Shi
worked for the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the PRC from 1989 to
2001. He then served as the director of global government affairs in
China region of Lucent Technologies, Inc. in the United States, the
vice president in China region of Agilent Technologies in the United
States, the vice president of Starbucks Coffee Company and
Alibaba Group. Mr. Shi has over 16 years of experience in public
affairs. He graduated from the department of diplomacy in China
Foreign Affairs University and received a bachelor’s degree in laws.
He then obtained a master’s degree in diplomacy and trade from
Monash University in Australia. He is also the part-time professor
in the department of public administration of Chinese Academy of
Governance.

Mr. Luo Yan, aged 56, joined the Group in November 2017 and is
now serving as a vice president of the new business division. Mr.
Luo graduated from China Textile University and Fudan University,
and obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Textile Engineering and a
Master’'s Degree in Business Administration respectively. Mr. Luo
joined General Mills China as national sales director in 1999; he
held the position of vice president (Greater China) in 2008 and was
responsible for overseeing Wanchai Ferry Business Department in
the Greater China region and sales in China region. In 2013, Mr.
Luo took up the role as the global business director of Haagen-
Dazs at General Mills Minnesota Headquarters. He continued to be
the vice president (Greater China) of General Mills in 2014, and was
responsible for the sales in China Region as well as the retail and
food and beverage business department of Haagen-Dazs.

Mr. Wen Yongping, aged 43, joined the Group in 1999 and is
currently a vice president of the Group and the general manager
of the milk sources business department. Mr. Wen graduated
from Inner Mongolia Agricultural University and obtained a Master
Degree of Food Engineering. Mr. Wen once served as the general
manager of production direction centre, operations assistant vice
president and milk sources vice president in the Group, and is
experienced in production and operations management and milk
sources management. Mr. Wen is also a non-executive director of
China Modern Dairy, a company listed in Hong Kong.
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Mr. Zhang Zhaoxu, aged 44, joined the Group in July 2017, and
is now serving as vice president of human resources. He graduated
from Southeast University and Tianjin University and obtained
a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering and a Master’s Degree in
management respectively. Mr. Zhang joined various enterprises in
the Fortune Global 500 between 1996 and 2012, and assumed
management role in human resources. In 2013, he joined China
Fortune Land Development Co., Ltd as the general manager of
human resources centre of City Developments Group. He joined
Glaxosmithkline (China) Investment Co. Ltd as human resources
director of consumer healthcare products business (China region)
in 2015.

Mr. Yu Weizu, aged 51, joined the Group in June 2017, and
is now serving as vice president in research and development
and innovation. He graduated from the University of Minnesota
and Seton Hall University in the United States, and obtained a
Doctoral Degree in Food Science and Master’s Degree in Business
Administration respectively. Mr. Yu joined the Shanghai Institute
of Botany of the Chinese Academy of Sciences after graduation
from Fudan University in 1986; and he worked as a scientist and
research and development director in companies like PepsiCo
Group, Dupont, Kraft, etc. in the United States from 1994 to 2009;
he joined BIMBO as vice president of research and development in
2009; he was selected as the distinguished expert of the Thousand
Talents Plan and joined COFCO as chief scientist of Nutrition Health
Research Institute in 2012; he joined Ingredion Group as the vice
president of research and development in 2014.

Mr. Yang Zhigang, aged 45, joined the Group in June 2017, and
is now serving as vice president of safety and quality management.
He graduated from Huazhong Agricultural University and Central
China Normal University, and obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Food
Technology and Engineering and a Master’s Degree in Economics
respectively. Mr. Yang joined Hubei Entry-Exit Inspection and
Quarantine Bureau as deputy section manager, section manager
and deputy director of the office in 1995; and he joined the
registration and administration department of Certification and
Accreditation Administration of the People’s Republic of China as
researcher, department head and vice inspector in 2002; he joined
COFCO as general manager and vice director of the quality and
safety management department, vice director of the audit and legal
risk control department in 2013.
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Mr. Zhang Yong, aged 41, joined the Group in September 2017,
and is now serving as vice president of strategic management. Mr.
Zhang graduated from Nanjing University and Duke University in the
United States and obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Biology and a
Master’s Degree in Business Administration respectively. Mr. Zhang
joined P&G company as assistant brand manager of marketing
department in 1996; he joined Reckitt Benckiser (China) Co. Ltd. as
marketing manager in 2000 while joining Boston Consulting Group
as project manager in 2006; in 2010, he worked as the strategic
executive director of Greater China region upon joining Starbucks
Corporate Management Company Limited and he joined Booz &
Company in 2010 as director in Greater China region; he joined
McKinsey & Company as global vice managing partner in 2014; in
2015, he joined Sanpower Group as vice president.

Mr. Kwok Wai Cheong, Chris, aged 45, the Financial Controller
and Company Secretary of the Company, joined the Group in
May 2007. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Kwok was the financial
controller of a Hong Kong listed company and he also served in
an international accounting firm. Mr. Kwok graduated from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a Bachelor’s degree in
Accountancy. Mr. Kwok is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXELORS

The Company is dedicated to ensuring high standards of
corporate governance with an emphasis on a diligent board of
directors, sound internal control, and increasing transparency and
accountability to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).
The Board acknowledges that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are beneficial to the Group and its
shareholders. The Company is committed to improving those
practices and maintaining its ethical corporate culture.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its
own code of corporate governance practices.

Throughout the year, the board of directors of the Company (the
“Board”) has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
practices and is satisfied that the Company has been in compliance
with all applicable code provisions of the CG Code, save as
disclosed in the section headed “Nomination Committee” regarding
the composition of the Nomination Committee.

THE BOARD

As at 31 December 2017, the Board comprised ten Directors,
including two executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lu Minfang and
Ms. Wu Wenting, four non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ma
Jianping, Mr. Niu Gensheng, Mr. Tim Qrting Jorgensen and Mr.
Pascal De Petrini and four independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt,
Mr. Zhang Xiaoya and Mr. Yau Ka Chi. The Chairman of the Board is
Mr. Ma Jianping and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company is
Mr. Lu Minfang. Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) is a Vice-Chairman
of the Board.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and management of the
Company. Key responsibilities of the Board comprise formulation of
the Group’s overall strategies and policies, setting of performance
and management targets, evaluation of business performance
and supervision of management’s performance. The management
is delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board
for the management and operations of the Group. The role of
the management is to implement the strategies and directions
determined by the Board and to work within the framework of any
written procedures and instructions laid down by the Board. In
addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to
the board committees of the Company (the “Board Committees”) as
detailed in this report.

Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 52 to 57 of the
annual report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise,
experience and qualifications of the Directors. There is no other
material financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among the Directors.
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Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors
The independent non-executive Directors possess appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Their role is to provide independent and
objective opinions to the Board for its consideration and decisions.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board has
assessed their independence and concluded that all independent
non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with the
definition of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for determining the policies for corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules (Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report).

During the year, the Board has performed the corporate
governance functions by reviewing the Company’s corporate
governance practices.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAININGS

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations.
The Company Secretary also provides Directors with updates on
latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Company has provided the Directors with reading
materials with appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and
duties of the Directors. A summary of trainings received by the
Directors during the year according to the records provided by the
Directors is as follows:

Directors
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Type of trainings

= kbl

Executive Directors BITES
Lu Minfang & B A B, C
Wu Wenting RX B A C
Bai Ying (resigned on 31 August 2017) BR(RZZE—tFN\A=+—HFT) C
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ma Jianping BT A B, C
Niu Gensheng FRAE A C
Tim @rting Jergensen Tim @rting Jergensen ABC
Pascal De Petrini Pascal De Petrini

(appointed on 20 December 2017) (RZZE—tF T+ A= +HEZE) A, C
Filip Kegels (resigned on 20 December 2017) Filip Kegels

(R=ZZE—+tF+=—A=+HEI) A, C

Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHITES
Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) ERE(XBERE) A, B, C
Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt A B C
Zhang Xiaoya sREEdR A C
Yau Ka Chi e A C

A: attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums relevant to the
business or directors’ duties

B: giving talks at seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

C: reading materials relating to directors’ duties and responsibilities and
regulatory updates
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BOARD PROCEEDINGS

The Board meets at least four times a year and additional
operational meetings are also held, when required. The Company
Secretary is responsible for preparing agenda and notices for the
meetings. Senior management of the Group also provides the
Directors with relevant information on a timely basis regarding
key business developments of the Group and issues affecting
the Group. Agenda and other information packages are normally
delivered to the Directors before the meetings. The Directors also
have independent access to the senior management in respect
of operational issues. The Directors may take independent
professional advice where appropriate to discharge their duties, at
the Company’s expenses.

The Board held six meetings during the year ended 31 December
2017 and one further meeting since 1 January 2018 up to the date
of this report. Details of the Directors’ attendance at the Board and
Board Committee meetings, the annual general meeting (the “AGM”)
and the extraordinary general meetings of the Company held in
2017 are set out in the following table.

Board
Meetings*
Ezeed

Directors

Audit Remuneration
Committee
EhZEE

EESRBEERER
EXe8FROBTHRERE  YEAFBERD
SRTHMEK SR AN EAERESTES
BMRE AEESHEREERnERRM
BFRAREXIZXBERNMTEAKERTENE
Be—RMNE  #ENEBENSERTIHMN
RREF EFHAUNLEFEENESRERE
ERM BEFAAEERATHABYIEXE
R UBETRE  ERAARREE-

EXgHE T tHF+T-_A=T—"HILFEE
ATAREE IR _FT—NF—A—HBEELR
SEMBERTT -ReH BEFHER-F
—tEFRETNEZTENEEREEEH  UEK
REABRBAFAS([RBFAEG ) REHBRER
RENBERAFBEHNTE -

Strategy
and
Development

Annual Extraordinary
General General
Meeting Meeting

RRBEAE RARRAS

Committee
BEL
¥EZEe

Nomination
Committee
R%ZEE

Committee
§MzEe

Executive Directors #irEs
Lu Minfang B8 6/6 22 1 22
Wu Wenting RXE 516 33 01 112
Bai Ying (resigned on 31 August 2017) BRR=E-tENA=T—H&T) 24 01 112
Non-executive Directors FTES
Ma Jianping SET 6/6 22 212 111 212
Niu Gensheng Rt 506 112 01 0/2
Tim @rting Jorgensen Tim @rting Jorgensen 4l 22 22 0 02
Pascal De Petrini Pascal De Petrini

(appointed on 20 December 2017) (MZE—+E+-A-tHEZE) 000 000 000 000 000
Fiip Kegels (resigned on 20 December 2017)  Filip Kegels

(A=E—tF+-A=TRED) 2/6 12 12 01 072
Independent Non-executive Directors BUkHTES
Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) EHE(NAEE) 5/6 33 01 112
Julian Juul Wolharot Julian Juul Wolharat 3/6 33 33 112 il 12
Zhang Xiaoya 4] 6/6 33 0A 12
Yau Ka Chi il 6/6 313 1 2/
* During the year, the Company held four quarterly meetings and two ~ * AARNERNBITTORAEEEZELMAEME

other meetings to handle operational-level and investment matters.
According to the Company’s articles of association, the quorum for
convening a Board meeting is two members.
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Minutes of meetings of the Board and Board Committees are
kept by the Company Secretary of the Company and are not only
open for inspection by the Directors but also sent to the Directors
for their records. All Directors have access to the Company
Secretary of the Company, who is responsible for ensuring that the
Board procedures are complied with and advising the Board on
compliance matters.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief
Executive Officer to ensure a balance of power and authority. The
Chairman is responsible for overseeing the functioning of the Board
while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for managing the
Group’s business. For the financial year ended 31 December 2017,
the Chairman of the Board is Mr. Ma Jianping, a non-executive
Director, and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company is Mr. Lu
Minfang, an executive Director.

The Chairman shall ensure that Board meetings are planned and
conducted effectively and all Directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board meetings. He is also responsible for ensuring that
the Directors receive adequate information in a timely manner,
which must be accurate, clear, complete and reliable. The Chairman
shall also ensure the Board works effectively and discharges its
responsibilities; all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the
Board in a timely manner; good corporate governance practices
and procedures are established; and appropriate steps are taken to
provide effective communication with Shareholders and that views
of Shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Each Director (for the avoidance of doubt, including the
independent non-executive Directors) has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years. The
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
each annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with
article 112 of the Company’s articles of association. Directors
appointed as an addition to the Board or to fill a casual vacancy on
the Board will be subject to re-election by the Shareholders at the
next following annual general meeting or the next following general
meeting of the Company respectively after the appointment.
Also, when an independent non-executive Director proposed for
re-election has served the Company for more than nine years, his
or her re-election will be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved at the AGM.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and to
assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Company has
established four Board Committees under the Board, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Strategy and Development Committee, each
of which is governed by specific terms of reference approved by
the Board, covering its functions, duties and powers. The terms
of reference of the respective Board Committees have complied
with the CG Code provisions and are disclosed on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange and are available for public
inspection at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2017, the Remuneration Committee comprised
three members, two of whom are independent non-executive
Directors (Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt and Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao
Zhen)) and the remaining one member is an executive Director (Ms.
Wu Wenting). The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Julian
Juul Wolhardt.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review annually
and recommend to the Board the overall remuneration policy and
structure for the directors and senior management to ensure that
the level of remuneration is linked to their level of responsibilities
undertaken. These shall include making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment. The Remuneration Committee shall also evaluate
annually the performance of the directors and the senior
management and recommend to the Board specific adjustments in
their remuneration and/or reward payments.

The Company’s policy on remuneration is to maintain fair and
competitive packages based on business needs and industry
practice. For determining the level of fees paid to members of
the Board, market rates and factors such as each director’s
workload and required commitment will be taken into account.
In addition, factors comprising economic and market situations,
individual contributions to the Group’s results and development as
well as individual potential are considered when determining the
remuneration packages of executive Directors.
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The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2017. During the year, the Remuneration
Committee had performed the following:

— assessed the performance of the Directors and senior
management;

— reviewed and approved the remuneration for the Directors
and senior management including terms of the letters of
appointment;

—  reviewed the remuneration policy and made recommendations
to the Board;

-  reviewed the proposal of granting share options according
to the Company’s share option scheme, and made
recommendations to the Board; and

—  reviewed the proposal of granting shares according to the
Company’s share award scheme, and made recommendations
to the Board.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2017 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (RMB)

AR (AR%T)

0-1,000,000
1,000,001-2,000,000
2,000,001-3,000,000
3,000,001-4,000,000
5,000,001-6,000,000
12,000,001-13,000,000
13,000,001-14,000,000
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Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 9 and 10 to
the financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2017, the Nomination Committee comprised
four members, one of whom is an independent non-executive
Director (Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt) and the remaining three
members are non-executive Directors (Mr. Ma Jianping, Mr. Tim
@rting Jorgensen and Mr. Pascal De Petrini). The Nomination
Committee is chaired by Mr. Ma Jianping.

Code Provision A.5.1 of the Corporate Governance Code provides
that an issuer should establish a nomination committee which
is chaired by the chairman of the board or an independent
non-executive director and comprises a majority of independent
non-executive directors. Less than half of the members of
Nomination Committee are independent non-executive Directors
during the year of 2017. The Directors are of the view that each
of Mr. Tim @rting Jorgensen, Mr. Filip Kegels (who has been
a member of the Nomination Committee until 20 December
2017) and Mr. Pascal De Petrini (who has been a member of the
Nomination Committee since 20 December 2017) is able to carry
out his responsibilities as a member of the Nomination Committee
in the best interest of the Shareholders notwithstanding that he is
not an independent non-executive director as required under Code
Provision A.5.1.

The responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to determine
the nomination policy, review the structure, size and composition,
including the skills, knowledge and experiences of the Board and
make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes. The Nomination Committee is also responsible for
identifying and nominating suitable candidates qualified to become
Board members, in particular, candidates who can add value
to the management through their contributions in the relevant
strategic business areas and which appointments will result in the
constitution of a stronger and more diverse Board, and makes
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment or re-appointment of Directors if necessary and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman and
the chief executive of the Company. In the selection process of a
candidate to act as a Director, the Nomination Committee makes
reference to criteria including, inter alia, reputation for integrity,
accomplishment and experience in the dairy industry, professional
and educational background, and commitment in respect of
available time and assesses the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors. The Board had also approved the
adoption of the board diversity policy in August 2013. Under such
policy, board appointments will be based on merits and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefit of diversity on the Board. The selection of candidates on
the Board is based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity,
professional or industry experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. The Company will also take into account other factors
based on its own business model and specific business needs
from time to time. The Nomination Committee will continue to
give adequate consideration to these measurable objectives when
making recommendation of candidates for appointment to the
Board.
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The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2017 to discuss the new appointments
and resignations of Directors during the year and to assess the
independence of the independent non-executive directors of
the Company and to review the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board, etc.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2017, the Audit Committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt,
Mr. Zhang Xiaoya and Mr. Yau Ka Chi) in which two possess the
relevant professional qualifications required under the Listing Rules.
The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Yau Ka Chi.

The Audit Committee serves as a focal point for communication
between other Directors, the external auditors, and the
management as their duties relate to financial and other reporting,
risk management, internal controls and auditing. The Audit
Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by
providing an independent review of financial reporting and by
satisfying itself as to the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
controls and as to the efficiency of the audits.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended
31 December 2017. During the year, the Audit Committee has
performed the following:

met with the external auditors to discuss the general scope
and findings of their audit and interim review works;

- reviewed external auditors’ management letter and
management’s response;

- reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval of the
external auditors’ remuneration;

- made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment
of the external auditors;

- reviewed the external auditors’ independence, objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process;

- reviewed and monitored the integrity of financial statements,
annual and interim reports, and annual and interim results
announcements of the Company;
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- reported to the Board on matters relating to the Audit
Committee under the CG Code;

- reviewed the Group’s financial controls, internal control and
risk management systems;

- discussed auditing, internal control, risk management and
financial reporting matters before recommending them to the
Board for approval; and

- reviewed the arrangements that employees of the Company and
those who deal with the Company can use, in confidence, to
raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal controls or other matters.

All issues raised by the external auditors and the Audit Committee
have been addressed by the senior management. The work and
findings of the Audit Committee have been reported to the Board.
During the year, no issues brought to the attention of the senior
management and the Board were of sufficient significance for
disclosure in the annual report.

Other than the reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditors
(please refer to the independent auditors’ report set out on pages
101 to 108), the Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Group which give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position as at 31
December 2017 and the consolidated financial performance and
cash flows of the Group for the year then ended.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems and for
reviewing their effectiveness. The objectives of the risk management
and internal control of the Group are: to rationally establish a
comprehensive risk management system in a scientific manner
and to apply the concepts, philosophies, procedures, methods
and tools of risk management throughout the establishment and
implementation of strategies for effectively managing the risks
while reasonably ensuring the realization of the Group’s strategic
objectives and operation objectives and propelling the sustainable
development of the enterprise. Such risk management and internal
control systems are designed for managing risks rather than
eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.
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The Group has set up a comprehensive risk management and
internal control system, forming a scientific and effective system
for segregation of duties and three lines of defense in risk
management, with the first line being each of the business units;
the second line being the Risk and Internal Control Management
Committee (hereinafter referred to as “Risk Control Committee”),
risk management department and each of the function supervision
departments while the third line being the internal audit and
disciplinary review function.

Risk Management

The Group has set up a risk management framework comprising
Risk Control Committee, the risk management department and
the risk management commissioners of each business unit, and
has clearly outlined the responsibilities of each risk management
unit. The Group, through complying with the risk management
framework under COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
of the Treadway Commission) and by ways of introducing external
consultation bodies for providing guidance and training on risk
management and advocating the culture of risk management,
etc., has gradually enhanced the professional standard of the risk
management staff.

The Group has established a comprehensive framework for risk
management, with a fundamental standard of risk management
basically formulated, adopting a rotational management method
of risk identification, risk evaluation, risk responses, risk control
and risk reporting to commence the work on risk management,
where the Audit Committee, the risk management committee of the
management and the risk management department of the Group
are responsible for the supervision and implementation of such
measures. The risk management department of the Group follows
the principle of “building the concepts of risk management and
implementing the risk management policies” and through annual
full-scale identification and evaluation by each of the business and
function units on the risks in seven aspects, namely, the Group’s
strategies, market, finance, operation, law and compliance, quality
and food safety as well as sustainable development, it focuses
on the control over the significant risks at the Group level, the
business system level and the business operation level. Based on
the principle of managing risks in different categories and ranks,
it adopts a rotational management method in the process of risk
identification, risk evaluation, risk responses, risk control and risk
reporting. Based on such an initiative, it has formulated appropriate
risk response strategies to effectively reduce and avoid the adverse
impact brought by such significant risks to the Group’s strategic
objectives, operation objectives and sustainable development.
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In 2017, the Group adopted a management principle of different
levels and ranks, with significant risks against different levels and
ranks assigned to the responsible departments and personnel for
the formulation of appropriate strategies and measures on risk
responses. The risk management department of the Group and
the risk management commissioner of each of the business units
performed follow-up supervision on the process and results of the
risk responses, with an aim to recognise any outstanding risks
and enhance the first line of defense with a supplement to perfect
the measures on risk responses in order to deal with the material
adverse factors which affect the realisation of the corporate’s
strategic and operation objectives.

The chief executive officer of the Group and the Party secretary of
the Group who is in charge of risk control and auditing business
serve as the chairman and the executive deputy chairman of
the Risk Control Committee respectively while the committee
members comprise the head of the major business management
systems. The Risk Control Committee has set up a specialized
risk management department which will be responsible for day-
to-day management and the risk management department will
report to the Risk Control Committee regularly on their works in
risk management. Meanwhile, the Risk Control Committee and the
risk management department will report at least twice a year to the
Audit Committee on their works in risk management and the Audit
Committee will evaluate and supervise the work of the Risk Control
Committee.

Internal Control

The Board is responsible for maintaining an established and
effective internal control system, to safeguard the assets of
the Group and the interest of shareholders, and for reviewing
its effectiveness regularly. Aiming at strengthening the risk
management culture of the Group and minimizing the impacts of
the major risks on the business and earnings of the Group, the
senior management of the Group meets to actively evaluate and
review the significant risks to which the Group is exposed to and
reports to the Board on a regular basis. The Group also appoints
external consultants, when considered appropriate, to review the
Group’s internal control, working systems and workflows, as well
as the management systems, and to make suggestions on system
enhancement.
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The Board has reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 and
considered them to be effective and adequate.

Apart from strict implementation of a performance assessment
system and training programs for its staff, the Group has in
place a series of written working systems in respect of business,
production, finance, legal compliance and administration aspects,
to ensure the significant risks, to which the Group is exposed, are
contained:

- Control environment — The Group has established defined
organizational structures. Authority to operate various
business functions is delegated to respective management
within limits set by senior management of the headquarters
or the executive Directors. The senior management meets on
a regular basis to discuss and approve business strategies,
plans and budgets prepared by individual business units.
The performance of the Group is reported to the Board on a
regular basis.

- Risk assessment — The Group identifies, assesses and ranks
the risks that are most relevant to the Group’s business
according to their likelihood, and their financial consequence
and reputational impact on the Group.

- Control activities — Policies and procedures are set for
each business function, in which approvals, authorization,
verification, recommendations, performance reviews, asset
security and segregation of duties are included.

- Information and communication — The Group’s working
systems document operational procedures of all business
units, as well as authorization and approval procedures for
significant decision making.

- Monitoring — The Group adopts a control and risk self-
assessment methodology, continuously assessing and
managing its business risks by way of assessment by the
headquarters of the Group and each business unit on a
regular basis, and communication of key control procedures
to employees.
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Internal Audit

The Group has set up an independent internal audit department
which will directly report to the Party secretary of the Group
who is in charge of risk control and auditing business and the
Audit Committee. In addition to maintaining objectivity and
independency, the internal audit department also adheres to
the management philosophy of “focusing on significant risks,
prompting the improvement in management and increasing the
value of the enterprise”, and the standard of “objectivity, integrity,
capability and confidentiality”, with a view to constantly raising the
quality of internal audit, adopting scientific and systematic ways to
evaluate the effectiveness of the Group in corporate governance,
risk management and control, procuring consistent improvement
thereon, enhancing the value of the enterprise and reasonably
ensuring the realization of corporate strategies and operation
objectives.

In 2017, the internal audit department has completed the
formulation of annual audit plan and the layout of audit requirements
of the management approved by the management and the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee has also monitored and reviewed
the effectiveness and result of the work of internal audit. Based on
the risk assessment and the needs of the management, the internal
audit department conducted internal audit and project audit in the
risks areas that were significant to the Company and attached
great importance to the follow-up and rectification in relation to the
audit findings, which promoted the effective coping of significant
operational risks and the improvement in management. Meanwhile,
a practical guide on internal audit and CSA (Control Self Assessment)
standard has been formulated in 2017 to improve the internal
control system, enhances the awareness of internal control of
business units and their self-management capability.

The internal audit department attends the Audit Committee
meeting and reports the works on internal audit at least twice a
year. Significant audit findings can be directly and freely reported
to the Audit Committee. Resources such as the annual budget
on management fee, staffing of the internal audit department and
competence are guaranteed to be taken into consideration by the
Audit Committee and necessary support will be provided. This is to
ensure that sufficient audit resources are allocated to the internal
audit department for effective fulfilment of annual work objectives
and responsibilities.

R EPEFET

AEBEDRIABBH L MHAEHT - BE
AAEESERZEEEANEEREZECNESL
ZEEER ARHFIBRIZEEZRAKR - #lL
EIENE  EMEREEINERRE  REFE
- BIERA - ERIFE - WE - BE K
ZINRE  FERSAMELTEE RAMER
FAETEAEREARDRE - RBRERFE
FHEEABIEL R H BN E - REEIENE
B AERRIBLEHBANLEEFNER -

—E—+tF APBAHPIETREEEREMN
EREZEEHANFERT IIFFTENEEED
Fi®m K SEAFLEARERKROLRE
REEBEMEENEZ - REBHEFT PR T
HAERETRKNER F YrESEENRKE
BT T NI R B MEEE - WEERE
FITEEMREEN  RETEZLERBHAE N
EEHMEBHNE - R - 2017FEY T AEE
sFEEIER « CSA (Control Self Assessment)Z
% EETRIIEHBER b EKEMNRE
ERMRAEBREENRES

NBEH BT E L NE SRR RS
TRBABIIE  HEABIHBRATZREM
MERZEEREEER - BB BHOFEE
BEAEE - ABRBRBIENSERRES
BERERROMINTS - BEABES B
W5 7 R B ARG MR EE TR B
TRE -



78 China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited RE 43 2GR A T

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (¥ &85

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Group has formulated an internal Code on Information
Disclosure to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and
timeliness of information disclosure of the Group in accordance
with the requirements of the SFO and the Listing Rules. The Internal
Code provides for detailed rules in the following areas.

- basic principles of information disclosure

- information that needs to be disclosed and the criteria thereof
- duties of the parties responsible for information disclosure
review and disclosure of

- procedures for the circulation,
information

- confidentiality of the undisclosed information

- information communication system with investors, securities
analysts and the media, etc.

- accountability and handling measures

Disciplinary Inspection and Reporting Channels

The Group has set up a specific disciplinary inspection department,
which is responsible for investigating and handling reported matters
on breach of disciplines or rules, misconducts and corruptions.
This is to demonstrate openly to our business partners and staff on
the channels and methods of reporting. The channels and methods
of reporting were published on the Company’s website. Such
measures would have a deterrent and preventive effect on matters
related to breach of disciplines or rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Audit Committee
carried out review and evaluation on the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems and reporting channels, the resources,
the staff qualification and experience for audit functions and the
effectiveness of the work undertaken and there were no significant
areas of concerns identified during the evaluation of the risk
management and internal control systems and reporting channels.
The Board had examined the risk management and internal control
systems including financial, operational and compliance controls
and reviewed the evaluation performed by the Audit Committee,
the management and internal and external auditors, on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and considered them effective and adequate. No
significant areas of concerns were identified.
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The Board also reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions and their training programmes and
budget and considered that they are adequate.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Group’s independent external auditors are Ernst & Young. The
Audit Committee is responsible for the appointment of the external
auditors and reviewing the non-audit functions performed by the
external auditors for the Group. In particular, the Audit Committee
will, prior to the execution of contract with external auditor and the
commencement of their duties, consider whether the non-audit
functions will result in any potential material conflict of interest.

Details of fees paid or payable to Ernst & Young for the year ended
31 December 2017 are as follows:

REH IR

Services rendered
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2017
S i
RMB’000
ARMF T

2016
—F—RF
RMB’000
ARETTT

Annual audit FEE: 4,100 4,100
Interim review R HEAZE R 700 700
Other audit services E AR 2,400 1,950

Non-audit service FEREETARTS
Review on continuing connected transactions EHFHERBER 50 45
Other professional services* E{ﬂ?}%ﬁﬁ%* 2,150 900
9,400 7,695

*

Other professional services include agreed-upon procedures services,
options incentives scheme consultation service and IT consultation
service, etc.

In addition to the above fees paid or payable to the auditors,
Yashili, a subsidiary of the Group listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, has an amount of RMB2,726,000 (2016:
RMB3,190,000) paid/payable as auditors’ remuneration during
the year.

The Board is satisfied with the audit fees, process and effectiveness
of Ernst & Young and has recommended their reappointment as
the Company’s external auditors at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
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STRATEGY AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
The Company has established a Strategy and Development
Committee on 27 August 2009. As at 31 December 2017, the
Strategy and Development Committee comprised one executive
Director, Mr. Lu Minfang, four non-executive Directors, Mr. Ma
Jianping, Mr. Niu Gensheng, Mr. Tim Qrting Jorgensen and Mr.
Pascal De Petrini. The Strategy and Development Committee is
chaired by Mr. Ma Jianping.

The principal duties of the Strategy and Development Committee
include drawing up long-term development strategies and
significant investments on financing plans of the Company,
proposing significant capital investment for operation projects, and
conducting studies and making recommendations on important
matters that would affect the development of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The
Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board
process, as well as communication among Board members, with
Shareholders and management. For the year ended 31 December
2017, the Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, there is no significant change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted, in terms no less exacting than, the
standard required by the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules as the Company’s code of conduct and rules governing
dealings by all the Directors in the securities of the Company (the
“Model Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors,
the Company confirms that, during the year ended 31 December
2017, all the Directors have strictly complied with the Model Code.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATIONS

The Company adopts a proactive policy in promoting investor
relations and communications. Regular meetings are held with
institutional investors and financial analysts to ensure two-way
communications on the Company’s performance and development.
When the Company announces its interim and annual results,
briefings are conducted to apprise investors, analysts and the press
of the Group’s operating results as well as business strategies and
outlook. Investor relations website is updated on a timely basis to
ensure that investors are able to have access to the Company’s
information, latest news and reports.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings for each
substantially separate issue, including election of Directors. Poll
voting has been adopted for decision-making at shareholders’
meeting. Details of poll voting procedures were included in the
circular dispatched to the Shareholders. The circular also included
relevant details of proposed resolutions and biographies of the
Directors standing for election.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by Shareholders

According to the articles of association of the Company, any two or
more Shareholders or any one Shareholder which is a recognized
clearing house (or its nominee(s)) holding as at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall have the right, by written requisition, to
convene an extraordinary general meeting by depositing the written
requisition at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong at
32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary, specifying
the objects of the meeting, the name(s) and contact details of the
requisitionist(s) and signed by the requisitionist(s).

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within
a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner as
that in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided
that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.
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Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

For enquiries to the Board, the Shareholders may contact the
Company Secretary at the Hong Kong office of the Company at
32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong or by email to info@mengniuir.com. The Company
will endeavor to respond to their queries in a timely manner.
Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Directors at the
general meetings of the Company.

In addition, the Shareholders can contact Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, the share registrar of the Company
in Hong Kong, if they have any enquiries about their shareholdings
and entitlements to dividend.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by Shareholders

A Shareholder may, during the period commencing no earlier than
the day after the despatch of the notice of any general meeting and
ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such general
meeting, give a notice in writing to the Nomination Committee of
the Company of his/her intention to propose any person (other than
himself/herself) for election to the office of a Director and a notice in
writing signed by the person to be proposed of his/her willingness
to be elected. Such notices shall be sent to 32nd Floor, COFCO
Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong, for
the attention of the Company Secretary, specifying the name and
contact details of the shareholder putting forward the proposal for
election of Director and the name and contact details of the person
proposed to be elected.

Other than the above concerning a proposal of a person for
election as a Director, Shareholders may follow the procedures
set out above to convene an extraordinary general meeting for any
business specified in such written requisition.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ESETHRS

The Board presents its report together with the audited financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017. The business review of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2017 is set out in the sections headed “CEQ’s
Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate
Governance Report” of this Annual Report. The discussions therein
form part of this Report of the Directors.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and distribution
of quality dairy products including liquid milk (such as UHT milk,
milk beverages and yogurt), ice cream, milk formula and other
products (such as plant protein beverage and cheese) in China.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year under review.

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to
the financial statements.

The Group’s revenue is derived principally from business activities
in China. An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year
ended 31 December 2017 by business segments is set out in note
4 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group including a fair review of
the Group’s business, a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group, particulars of important events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial
year, an indication of likely future development in the Group’s
business, key performance indicators, environmental policies and
performance, and the Group’s key relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers and others that have a significant impact
on the Group and on which the Group’s success depends is set
out in the sections of this annual report headed “CEQ’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and in the notes to the
financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s main operations are carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC while the Company itself is listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Group’s operations are regulated
by Hong Kong and PRC laws. During the year ended 31 December
2017 and up to the date of this report, the Board was not aware
of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Company.

Please refer to the discussions in this report and the “Corporate
Governance Report” for further details on the Group’s compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations.
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RESULTS AND DISTRIBUTION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 109.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of RMBO0.12 (2016: RMBO0.089) per share, amounting to
approximately RMB471,283,000 (2016: RMB349,327,000) in total,
to Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
on Thursday, 10 May 2018.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 114 to 115 and note
583 to the financial statements. The Company’s distributable
reserves, calculated in accordance with statutory provisions
applicable in the Company’s place of incorporation, amounted to
approximately RMB11,575,796,000 as at 31 December 2017 (2016:
RMB13,222,061,000).

DONATIONS
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during
the year amounted to approximately RMB20,555,000 (2016:
RMB13,209,000).

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

During the year, the Company issued 2,333,946 ordinary
shares (2016: 7,165,736 ordinary shares), fully paid, for a total
consideration of RMB23.9 million (2016: RMB76.5 million) as a
result of the exercise of share options under the share option
scheme of the Company.

Details of movement in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 38 and 41 to the
financial statements.

EERDIK
rEEHE_Z—tF+_A=+—HLEFEHN
REEHNF109EEAERE -

ExeEan_T- N \FRATH(EHM)
ZHBRRLEMOBREGTERZEFRARE
012 (=ZZE—RNF : AR®0.0897T) + &
HANREEA71,283,000L (—E—RF : AR
349,327,0007T) °

ME - - BENRRE
REBAFEDE BMERKENESFBHR
B Rz M5 -

s
REBRARARFANFBELBFIBEHNE114E
EFE1ARAE=EHR MU BRI FESS -
ARAFTR-_E—+E+-"A=+—BWFHIE
54 ORAB AR A B 5 M B S7 30 2638 PR 800 T 16305 T
) A ANRME11,575,796,0007T (=T — /< 4F ¢
AR#13,222,061,0007T) °

B
KEBRFRNIBEIH AR 20,555,000 ( = F
— 7N AR#13,209,00070 ) EAZEE KR H 015

Eon
/N

i 7 K% f B i

FR - AREEREAR ) ERETBITTERER
i E172,333,946 B B E MR (=T —RF -
7,165,736 Ei@AR) - BREAARK23.9E8
T(ZZE—RF  ART765EHET) ©

RAFFEARA N EREZEESNF BN B R
RMIEE38 K41 o



DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2017 were:

Executive Directors

Lu Minfang

Wu Wenting

Bai Ying (resigned on 31 August 2017)

Non-executive Directors

Ma Jianping

Niu Gensheng

Tim Qrting Jergensen

Pascal De Petrini (appointed on 20 December 2017)

Filip Kegels (resigned on 20 December 2017)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen)

Julian Juul Wolhardt

Zhang Xiaoya

Yau Ka Chi

In accordance with Article 112 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Ma Jianping, Mr. Niu Gensheng and Mr. Julian Juul
Wolhardt will retire by rotation and Mr. Pascal De Petrini will also
retire in accordance with the Company’s articles of association and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting as at the date of this report.

The Company considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent pursuant to the criteria set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and that a confirmation of independence has
been received from each of them.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management are set out on pages 52 to 61.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s
board of directors with reference to directors’ duties and
responsibilities in the Group and the prevailing market rate.

Annual Report 2017 —Z—t &5 85

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE &%

E
RBE-FT—tF+-A=+BLEERN &
EWT

BITES

E R

RXE

ABE(R-T—tF N\A=+—HEE)

FHITES

B

1R A4

Tim @rting Jorgensen

Pascal De Petrini
(R=ZE—tF+-A=+HEZT)

Filip Kegels(R=F—+F+=- A=+ HEHT)

BUKHITES
ERB(NAEE)
Julian Juul Wolhardt
sREE TR

e

HEAREAS  REAQAFEBRERMAE
1121 - BEF L E - 4R 4 % £ KJdulian Juul
Wolhardtft £ &g A5 R - MPascal De Petrini
TAETGIRBEARR BB ERMAET  HR
EFEERKEERERREBF NGB RET -

R E TR BIESAGAAEHER] - RRARR
BYFATEEFHRBIAL  WEKIEFH
B NEHRERE

EERSREBAEEREFRE

EEZNeAEEAEBHERRFBHNERES
F618 °

EENHRBEL
BREERUBFASRE ERNE FHM L
DA A MAR AR —F AR HECEER
FERRIN) F AR LEBRB AL -

E=HM

EEHNeARBRRRSLRRIE - HBeg
SEEENAKENRE REERBRITHISH M
IKFEBRARBEESERE



86 China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEIZE4 I 2GR A T

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE &%

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every
Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director or other
officer of the Company in defending any proceedings, whether civil
or criminal. In addition, the Company has maintained appropriate
insurance in respect of potential legal actions against the Directors
and its officers.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS, LONG AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2017, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company and their respective
associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQ”) (the “Associated Corporations”) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as
follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company or any of the
Associated Corporations (not including options granted under the
Company’s share option scheme):

Nature of Interest

EEME

Name of Director

EENR

Lu Minfang Personal Interest
E &N B AR
Wu Wenting Personal Interest
RX & B AR
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70,300 (L) 0.002%




(1) It represents shares granted to Mr. Lu Minfang and Ms. Wu Wenting
under the restricted share award scheme of the Company.

2) The calculation is based on the number of shares as a percentage of
the total number of issued shares of the Company (i.e. 3,927,361,132
shares) as at 31 December 2017.

L) Indicates a long position.

Certain Directors have been granted options and shares under the
Company’s share option scheme and share award scheme, details
of which are set out in the sections headed “Share Option Scheme”
and “Share Award Scheme”, respectively below.

Save as disclosed above and as set out in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” below, as at 31 December 2017, none
of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company and their
respective associates had any interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of the Associated Corporations as recorded in the register of the
Company required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’ Interests,
Long and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” above and “Share Option Scheme” and “Share Award
Scheme” below, at no time during the year were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate granted to any Director,
or his or her respective spouse or minor children, or were any
such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in
the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
As at 31 December 2017, the interests or short positions of
substantial shareholders of the Company, other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company whose interests and short
positions in the shares of the Company and of the Associated
Corporations are set out above, in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
maintained under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

FERRERS

R-ZFE—tEF+-A=1—0 REZFIHE
DI £ 3361 EFENE LML - ARFH
TERR(RAR R LABEEE SR A
RS MABER EXEHINARABESTREEIT
BA BERIMNRA R R R ABREIR ) R E =X
KRR

Percentage of
the Company’s

Issued

Number of Share Capital®
Ordinary Shares HARATE BT

Name of Substantial Shareholder FERRUS BB REFDHD
COFCO Corporation hREEERAA] 1,234,500,758 (L) 31.43%
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited HREE(HEB)BRAR 1,233,700,758 (L) @ 31.41%
China Foods (Holdings) Limited PERSGER)BRAR 1,233,700,758 (L) ©® 31.41%
Farwill Limited LHRERAT 1,233,700,758 (L) @ 31.41%
Colour Spring Limited FRBRAA 1,233,700,758 (L)@ 31.41%
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited PIEFLEIERBER AR 1,233,700,758 (L) @4 31.41%
COFCQ Dairy Investments Limited hiEZLEREGR AR 1,233,700,758 (L) @© 31.41%
Prominent Achiever Limited BERR AR 1,233,700,758 (L) @® 31.41%
Arla Foods amba Arla Foods amba 1,238,700,758 (L)@ 31.41%
Danone SA Danone SA 1,238,700,758 (L) © 31.41%
Danone Asia Pte Ltd Danone Asia Pte Ltd 1,238,700,758 (L)@ 31.41%
Commonwealth Bank of Australia Commonwealth Bank of Australia 234,896,000 (L) 5.98%
JP Morgan Chase & Co JP Morgan Chase & Co 233,850,876 (L) 5.95%
3,341,689 (S) 0.09%
211,595,293 (P) 5.39%
FIL Limited FIL Limited 203,164,000 (L) 5.17%

Notes: MI5E -

(1)  COFCO Corporation is deemed interested in an aggregate of (1)

1,234,500,758 shares in the Company, comprising (a) 1,233,700,758
shares in the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO
(Hong Kong) Limited and (b) 800,000 shares in the Company through
another of its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO (BVI) Limited. COFCO
(BVI) Limited is deemed interested in 800,000 shares in the Company
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO (BVI) No. 9 Limited.

(2)  COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited, Farwill Limited, Colour Spring Limited, 2)
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited, COFCO Dairy Investments Limited,
Prominent Achiever Limited, Arla Foods amba, Danone Asia Pte Ltd
are deemed interested in an aggregate of 1,233,700,758 shares in
the Company under section 317 of the SFO.

FTREEBBERAFAERAENREARAAE 2
1,234,500,758f& kP H#EE % - B BEIE(QFE
BESEFRARAPREE(EB)ERATNAR
7]1,233,700, 758 R (b)FBES—2EFA
FJCOFCO (BVI) Limited# 72 &800,000% f% 17
AR - COFCO (BVI) Limited iR AiF idE
2&F/AFICOFCO (BVI) No. 9 Limited AR &
800,000% f& {7 H % B #Ezx ©

/1

BEESENLBEEEMNESI7E  PREER(ES)
BRAR - ERERAF - URBERAR - FiE
FLEIERARAR - PIRILEREBRAR B
EABBR AT - Arla Foods amba + Danone Asia Pte
Ltd ¥ 48 AR AR 74 $£1,233,700,758 8% J& 17
W -



(8)  China Foods (Holdings) Limited (previously known as COFCO (BVI)
No. 108 Limited) is deemed interested in 1,233,700,758 shares in the
Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Farwill Limited.

(4)  COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited is deemed interested in 1,233,700,758
shares in the Company through its subsidiary, COFCO Dairy
Investments Limited.

5) COFCO Dairy Investments Limited is deemed interested in
296,028,044 shares in the Company through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Prominent Achiever Limited.

(6) Danone SA is deemed interested in 1,233,700,758 shares in the
Company through its subsidiary, Danone Asia Pte Ltd.

(7)  The total issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2017
was 3,927,361,132.

(S)  Indicates a short position.
L Indicates a long position.

(P)  Indicates a put position.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, no other
interests or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company were recorded in the register maintained under Section
336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The sale and purchase agreement in relation to the
disposal of shares in China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
On 5 August 2017, the Company and COFCO Dairy Investments
Limited (the “Purchaser”) entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to which
the Company agreed to sell and the Purchaser agreed to purchase
30,000,000 shares of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (“CMD”) for
a consideration of HK$41.4 million, payable in cash (the “Disposal”).
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 6 August
2017 for further details.
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The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
are of the view that the Disposal will benefit the Company and
its Shareholders as a whole as: (a) the Disposal would further
optimise the shareholding structure of CMD and enhance the
corporate governance of CMD; (b) the Disposal would also
promote cooperation between CMD on the one hand, and COFCO,
Danone and Arla Foods on the other, in areas including technology
development and operational management, thereby further
improving the technology standard and operational efficiency of
CMD; and (c) in light of the above, the benefits of the Disposal in
enhancing the shareholder value of CMD and the Group would
outweigh the one-off unaudited loss incurred by the Group as a
result of the Disposal.

The Disposal was completed on 29 August 2017 in accordance
with the Sale and Purchase Agreement.

CMD is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability, and the shares of CMD have been listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange since 2010. The CMD group is the largest
dairy farming company in terms of herd size as well as the largest
raw milk producer in China. It is headquartered in China’s eastern
province of Anhui, and its primary business is raising dairy cows
and selling raw milk to branded dairy companies for processing into
consumer dairy products.

As at the date of the signing of the Sale and Purchase Agreement,
the Purchaser holds approximately 31.42% of the issued share
capital of the Company. Therefore, the Purchaser is a connected
person of the Company under the Listing Rules. The Disposal and
the issuance of the zero-coupon exchangeable bonds due 2022
in the principal amount of US$194,800,000 by the Company are
transactions which are aggregated for the purpose of Rule 14.22
of the Listing Rule. In addition it is the intention of the Company
that CMD not be a subsidiary of the Company, accordingly, the
highest applicable percentage ratio calculated in accordance with
the Listing Rules in respect of the Disposal is more than 25% but
less than 75%, and therefore (i) the Disposal constitutes a major
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules
and is subject to the reporting, announcement and shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules;
and (i) the Disposal also constitutes a connected transaction of
the Company and is subject to the reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

EZ(REBLIINTES)RALESZEES

NAINHEBERERYR  RFEA: @iiEFES
#— S E(ERARE 2 IR LRE R ANsR IR %
ZEEEE OHESEITSHIBRRBEER
—JFH {2 £ - Danone K Arla Foods{E & E
M ZEERRERNEERLEETESHENS
1B HME—PRESERNRERRIZEREE
MR R(C)ERLA LR - HEBBBHRERIES
BRBERAEBZ BREEZ BEGBBAE
ERPESFEMES Y — R MEREEZESSE -

HEEBEOR _Z—tFENA-TNBEREES

Wk TERK

ARBRERERERESEMAINBERAR - M
BREEBRME T -—TFERBIMERE
Mo BRMEEERTESANFREARAE
BREE) REXRBNEER - BABMENRS
NRERZYE  TEXBR/REPFTRHEER
BHL T MAFLERRAMIBOEBIL R M

BERIEEWAAY  BEFRAARARFN
31.42% B #ITHAR » Et - RIBEETRAY - B

BARAMBEEAL - HEFHERARRBEITZ
T —FR|H - AREEEA194,800,000K T2 E B
ARBEEAR ETRAF14 2268082
S o AN BARRZER c ARIBARBEILIE
KRARIMBAR - BRE MR L EEE
FEZERERESLESR25%EENT5%
BRMOEEEEREEARFTRE ETHEAE14
EZEERS  BABTITRAFE14EEHE
W] NERBEIENETE 0 &i)HEFEIE
MARRZERS - BABST EMRAE14AE
ERFRER - AERBIBRRIENRE



CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 31 December 2014, the Company entered into a new master
sale and purchase agreement (the “2014 Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement”) with COFCO Corporation (“COFCO”) to renew the
existing Master Sale and Purchase Agreement pursuant to which
the Group will continue to, subject to the Group’s regular review
and at the Group’s option, purchase white sugar, edible oil, other
raw materials and related products (including packaging materials)
from COFCO, its subsidiaries and certain associated companies
(collectively “COFCO Corporation Group Companies”) for a term of
three years commencing from 1 January 2015 and ending on 31
December 2017, which may be extended at the Company’s option,
for a further period of not more than three continuous years, subject
to compliance with any relevant requirement under the Listing
Rules. The annual transaction amount under the 2014 Master
Sale and Purchase Agreement for each of the three years ended
31 December 2015, 2016 and 2017 was not expected to exceed
RMB800,000,000, RMB800,000,000 and RMB1,000,000,000
respectively.

As COFCO, being a substantial shareholder of the Company, is
a connected person of the Company, the transactions under the
2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the total amount paid/
payable by the Group to COFCO Corporation Group Companies
for the purchase of white sugar, edible oil, other raw materials and
related products (including packaging materials) was approximately
RMB798,045,000.

CMD has purchased feedstuffs and other related materials from
COFCO Corporation Group Companies (the “CMD Transactions”)
during the year ended 31 December 2017. The transaction amount
under the CMD Transactions for the year ended 31 December
2017 which consitute continuing connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules was not expected
to exceed RMB200,000,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the total amount paid/
payable by CMD to COFCO Corporation Group Companies for
the CMD Transactions which consitute continuing connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
was approximately RMB170,579,000.
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In view of the anticipated expiration of the term of the 2014
Master Sale and Purchase Agreement on 31 December 2017,
the Company has delivered an extension notice (the “Extension
Notice”) to COFCO to exercise its right to extend the term of the
2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement for a further three
years. The Company received a confirmation from COFCO on 27
December 2017 acknowledging receipt of the Extension Notice.
Following the extension of the term of the 2014 Master Sale and
Purchase Agreement, the Group will continue to purchase (subject
to the Group’s regular review and at the Group’s option) white
sugar, edible oil, other raw materials and related products (including
packaging materials) from COFCO Corporation Group Companies
for a term commencing from 1 January 2018 and ending on 31
December 2020. The annual transaction amount under the 2014
Master Sale and Purchase Agreement for each of the three years
ending 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020 is not expected to
exceed RMB1,500,000,000.

As COFCO, being a substantial shareholder of the Company, is
a connected person of the Company, the transactions under the
2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement (as extended by the
Extension Notice) constituted continuing connected transactions of
the Group.

As the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the transaction
value under the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement
(as extended by the Extension Notice) are on an annual basis
more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the continuing connected
transactions under the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement
(as extended by the Extension Notice) are subject to the reporting,
announcement and annual review requirements but are exempt
from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CMD has purchased feedstuffs and other related materials from
COFCO Corporation Group Companies in the past and will continue
to purchase feedstuffs and other related materials from COFCO
Corporation Group Companies commencing from 1 January 2018.
The annual transaction amount under the CMD Transactions for
each of the three years ending 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020
is not expected to exceed RMB500,000,000. The aggregated
annual transaction amount (i) under the 2014 Master Sale and
Purchase Agreement (as extended by the Extension Notice) and
(i) of the CMD Transactions for each of the three years ending
31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020 is not expected to exceed
RMBZ2,000,000,000. The applicable percentage ratios in respect
of the aggregated transaction value (i) under the 2014 Master Sale
and Purchase Agreement (as extended by the Extension Notice)
and (i) of the CMD Transactions for each of the three years ending
31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020 are on an annual basis more
than 0.1% but less than 5%.

For further details about the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement and the extension of its term, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 31 December 2014 and 28
December 2017.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions set out above
and have confirmed that these continuing connected transactions
were entered into () in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (i) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders
as a whole. The Company confirms that it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report
on the Group’s continuing connected transactions and the CMD
Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference
to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young
have issued their unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed above by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been provided
by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Annual Report 2017 —Z—t & 5% 93

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE &%

BAKREBTRPEREBRQRBANKEMSE
YR BA-E - N\F—A—HEBBEERT
BEENRRERHEEMBEEDE BEZZT
—NF ZE-NER_E_ZFE+_A=+—
HIE=EFE  RANEXFIBETILFERS®
B 78 HA T B 1B A R %500,000,0007T © B ZE - F
—NF - ZE-NFRZZETFF_A=+—
AIF=E%E  @G() —Z—NFEEENTS (K
ERBMER)ETNRNERRESSGZHAERE
R B e EEIEHATEBBEARE2 000,000,000 © &
EZFE-N\F ZE-NEFRZZTZZTF+=A
—t—HAE=EFE  B@EG) T —OFEEHE
E(CLERBALER) BT RDBRBER S 2
REOBEZHARABDLERFREREESR0A%E
ER5% °

BT -—NFRBEEREMNEREGRZE—
SHE  B2EAARBHA T —NFE+ A
=t HEE—tHF+ AT NBZRA%E -

RRBBIENTEFTCEHN L XHZHER
BRG VEHRZSRHEREIS N ALE
AR —MEBBERET (VREFEEBKR
HREEERMETT » RINVRIBERE Lk 568
R IETCETT MZSKERBERATF /B - I
FEREZEBEBRNZD - ARRBREBET LT
FAB1AAZEN B TERE ©

ARRZZBED — 2K BT R PR R BRI
FRE G A S EMN BB ZEZBERIFE3000
SR BBHEYEERETTERAEFEHM U EEZ
P2 | N2 EBSHBETIONR R EE L T AT
AFFEFER Z)EEENRF ) HARRERE
ERXZRARBERZETRE - KEE
EBMERE EMRRFE14A6IKEHERER
R EFHAREUAEER EXBEBEZHE
ERXF 2 BH N iR o AREIC B RARMH
T2 EREM K2 B



94 China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEIZE4 I 2GR A T

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE &%

SHARE OPTION SCHEME iR st &l

1) 2005 Share Option Scheme 1) —“ESShFBERETE
The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2005 AR EERFNAZTN\HBHEMN—E
Share Option Scheme”) on 28 June 2005 for the purpose of B E ([ SR FEEIRETE]) - £
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who LHEB N RES A EEEKKINEBRANE
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. The BR2EE T RERREAFEN-Z
2005 Share Option Scheme expired on 27 June 2015. The —RFERNA-t++BEm - TR RBE-Z
following share options are granted under the 2005 Share TREBRETZRY  BRERTDNAER
Option Scheme and are valid and exercisable during the year. Ra] FIT{EREREN T

Number of share options

BREHE

As at

1 January As at Exercise period of

Name or category of participant

SRENEIER

2017
R
“E-tf
-B-A

Granted
during
the year

ERRi

Exercised
during
the year®

EnfEe

Lapsed
during
the year

ERER

Cancelled
during
the year

EwH

31 December
2017
W=B-t&
TZB=1-H

Date of
grant of
share options

RiiBRERH

share options

(both dates inclusive)
BRETEDE
(BEEERMR)N

Exercise
price of share
options
BRETKE
HKS

BT

Executive Director
BiTEE
Bai Ying* 963,548 - (963,548) - - - 10.10.2011 10.10.2015t09.10.2018 12.05
HE 3% “Z-AftATHZ
TE+H “Z-\E+AnA
Erployess in Aggregate 1370398 - [13703%) . . - 10402011 10.10.2015109.10.2018 1206
EEH -3—F “I-RETATHZ
TAtH —2-\Et+AnA
2,333,946 - (2,333,946 - - -

# Resignation with effect from 31 August 2017. # B —E—tFNA=Z+—HBEM -

Notes: FIEE -

(1) The exercise period of the share options granted commences (1) ZEERENTEREETEBHRIEK
after a certain vesting period and the fulfilment of certain ETRBAEREHBREDR  EEREZSE
performance targets, and ends on a date which is no later than BERENBAETERA-FEBRIL-BHA
seven years from the date of grant of such options. Further B S E — P BEEN B REN
details of the share option scheme are set out in note 41 to the 41 e
financial statements.

(2)  The weighted average closing price of the Company’s shares (2 ARAFRRMNEEBREETEBEHAOM

EEHRMEAR17.7T1ET -

immediately before the dates on which the options were
exercised was HK$17.71.
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2) 2016 Share Option Scheme 2) ZE-REBRETE

On 3 June 2016, the shareholders of the Company approved “E—RFNAZH  ARRIIREIERR
the adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2016 Share FRERETZI( 2 — N FEBARRETE]) -
Option Scheme”) in order to enable the Group to continue to DLGEAREBEEE R ESIRPEREE -
offer valuable incentive to attract and retain quality personnel ARSI W B REEMNAER RS A7)
to work to increase the value of the shares of the Company. R EE —ZT—AFEREFTEE -
The 2016 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective —ANFAAZHRBRAER  BAREAETF W
for a period of 10 years commencing from 3 June 2016 and BRZFEZRNFANAZAKRK -

will expire on 2 June 2026.

The following share options are granted under the 2016 Share TR ERERNE NIRRT T — N FERET
Option Scheme during the year. B -

Number of share options

BREYAE

As at
1 January As at Exercise period of
2017 Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled  31December  Date of share options Exercise

i during during during during 2017 grantof (both dates inclusive) price of share
Name or category of participant —Z—t%  theyear  theyear  theyear  theyear =~ WZZ—t% shareoptions BRETEHH options
SEEMH LR -B-B  ERRE  ERAE FRXR FRE#  tSR=t-H REUERERN (BREERMR) BRETHEE

HKS

BT

Executive Director
YTES
Lu Minfang - 865,000 - - - 865,000  13.7.2017 13.7.2018 to 12.7.2022 14.812
BT It St “Z-\ftAt+=AZ
+tAt+=H “ECCECATCA
Wu Wenting - 238,300 - - - 238300  13.7.2017 13.7.2018 to 12.7.2022 14.812
Ry It St “Z-\ftAt+=AZ
+tAt+=H “ECCECATCA
Employees in Aggregate - 0,826,705 - (480,790) - 9345915 13.7.2017 13.7.2018 to 12.7.2022 14.812
BB It St “Z-\ftAt+=AZ
+At+=H “ECCECATCA
- 10930005 S 80T%0) - 10449215

Note: BIsE -

(1) The exercise period of the share options granted commences after (1) ZEERENTEDAHETHEBHREX
a certain vesting period and the fulfilment of certain performance ETRREBERBEN  EEREZE
targets, and ends on a date which is no later than five years from EREDHETNBARAFEA AL - BF
the date of grant of such options. Further details of the share option BT R M — P BRI S ®ERN

scheme are set out in note 41 to the financial statements. ¥41 -
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Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or the chief executive of the Company or their
respective associates to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief
executive (including their spouses and children under the age of
18) during the year ended 31 December 2017, held any interest
in, or were granted any right to subscribe for, the securities of the
Company and its associated corporations within the meaning of the
SFO, or had exercised any such rights.

The values of share options calculated using the binomial model
are subject to certain fundamental limitations, due to the subjective
nature of and uncertainty related to a number of assumptions of
the expected future performance input to the model, and certain
inherent limitations of the model itself. Details of the valuation are
set out in note 41 to the financial statements.

The value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions. Any change to the variables used may
materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an option.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

1) Restricted Share Award Scheme
The Company operates a restricted share award scheme (the
“Restricted Share Award Scheme”) to motivate the employees
to maximize the value of and share the results with the
Company in order to achieve sustainable development of the
Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the number of
shares of the Company granted to selected participants was
6,998,575, of which 234,400 shares were granted to the
Directors, details of which are as follows:

As at
1 January Granted
2017 during
Name of Director R-ZE—tF the year
MR —A—H FRAREH
Lu Minfang - 164,100
E BN
Wu Wenting - 70,300

RXIE

B EXBEEIN  ARBHEERFRRREH
W BRI LR HE - UWEEER AR A EET
BABHESBMBEA L EREAR R SIER
Ho At R B R A7 SR (B HE R T BR R 25

BREXHBEEN BE_T—LF+_A=1—
HIEFE  SMEEMNEFAETETHRAB(BRER

FHECE R85 A N T 20) 5 A SR T I
MBI AR B R EARBOA B (E 3% 7375 R E IR
f5) IR 4 - TVEITREAEMZERER -

BRECERAZENEEREAHE  EHAER
ﬁﬁ%iﬂqmﬂéﬂﬂ@%iﬁ@x Pﬁﬁ%EE’JIEEIEE&W

FHRZE  UWEREXARGETRERS - SUtEr
%tﬁii%éﬂ%%%ﬂi%ﬂ o MEFBH N KR
FMTEE41 -

WREEERESTIBERTRERTHLD -
5 PR B (L 2 B 3 B R (3 20
HREATE -

B R T B

1) REIERRE/E
AR VRN — B IR ISR S Bt B ([ IR
MR E R E]) U SBERE AAAR

AEESEE  BARRHAZHR H #HA
%.?—I/ %Eo
BE_T—+F+_A=1t—RHLFE"

E%W%k SHEEMNAQNGREEE A
6,998,5750% + HH 234400 ik H IR T &
= HFBENWOT

As at

Vested Forfeited 31 December
during during 2017
the year theyear R=-Z—+tF
FAER FRE% +=A=t+—H
- - 164,100

- - 70,300



2) Key Management Retention Plan

The Company adopted the key management retention plan
(the “Retention Plan”) to retain and reward the Group’s key
management personnel and employees with great potential
and to drive the achievement of strategic objectives of the
Company. According to the Retention Plan, the Company will
contribute a maximum of RMB150 million for the execution of
the Retention Plan.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, no share was
granted under the Retention Plan.

Further details of the Share Award Scheme are also set out in Note
42 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to its existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2017.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme as set out on pages 94 to 96 and
the share award scheme as set out on pages 96 to 97, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed
during the year.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of purchases attributable to the five largest
suppliers of the Group combined was less than 30% of the total
purchases of the Group.

The percentage of revenue attributable to the five largest customers
of the Group combined was less than 30% of the total revenue of
the Group.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has pledged certain
investment deposits, pledged deposits, land use rights, property,
plant and equipment and dairy cows aggregating to approximately
RMB2,594,835,000 (2016: RMB1,641,618,000).

Details are set out in the respective notes to the financial
statements.

COMMITMENTS

Details of commitments are set out in note 47 to the financial
statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results for the year and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2017 and for the previous
four financial periods are set out on pages 295 to 296.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 64 to 82.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by Emst & Young. A
resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as auditors of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

By order of the Board of Directors

Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 March 2018
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Mr. LU Minfang
Ms. WU Wenting
Mr. BAI Ying
(resigned on 31 August 2017)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. MA Jianping (Chairman)
Mr. NIU Gensheng
Mr. Tim @rting JORGENSEN
Mr. Pascal DE PETRINI
(appointed on 20 December 2017)
Mr. Filip KEGELS
(resigned on 20 December 2017)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. JIAO Shuge (alias JIAO Zhen) (Vice-Chairman)
Mr. Julian Juul WOLHARDT

Mr. ZHANG Xiaoya

Mr. YAU Ka Chi

Senior Management
Mr. ZHANG Ping
Mr. LIU Shengli

Mr. GAO Fei

Mr. SHI Dongwei
Mr. LUO Yan

Mr. WEN Yongping
Mr. ZHANG Zhaoxu
Mr. YU Weizu

Mr. YANG Zhigang
Mr. ZHANG Yong

Mr. KWOK Wai Cheong, Chris (Qualified Accountant &

Company Secretary)

Stock Code
Hong Kong Stock Exchange 2319

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT
Ms. Willow WU

32nd Floor, COFCO Tower

262 Gloucester Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

Email: ir@mengniu.cn

Website: www.mengniuir.com

Annual Report 2017 —Z—t &5 99

EEg

BITES

B

R BEE

BB
(R=F—tFN\A=1+—B&T)

FHITESE

BEVEE(EE)

FIRAESTE

Tim @rting JORGENSEN% 4

Pascal DE PETRINI%: 4
(RZE—+E+-_A-+HEZF)

Filip KEGELS%t 4
(RZE—tF+Z A=+ HET)

BYFHTES
SRIE(XBER)EE(FFE)
Julian Juul WOLHARDT %4
SREEDR LA

RSG5 &

BREEE
RF L
Elllbited
=R AE
ARERE
BERLE
BKFERE
SREBSLE
AR L
eEAilbied
RESLE
HEESXE(EERSHMR L AIRE)

B A7 5%
BEBARZ 5T 2319

REEBREBBBA
KL+

B

7 &

HT1TiB2625%

PR AE3218

BIHAUE : ir@mengniu.cn
#34E + www.mengniuir.com



100 China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited F B S 43I 2GR A 7

CORPORATE INFORMATION 2 A& #

PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG EREEME

32nd Floor, COFCO Tower BB

262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay SRR 14T 1826255

Hong Kong HRERE32E

REGISTERED OFFICE APPSR

Maples Corporate Services Limited Maples Corporate Services Limited

P.O. Box 309 P.O. Box 309

Ugland House Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104 Grand Cayman KY1-1104

Cayman Islands Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR FERMPBFBERLE

SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited

Royal Bank House — 3rd Floor Royal Bank House — 3rd Floor

24 Shedden Road 24 Shedden Road

P.O. Box 1586 P.O. Box 1586

Grand Cayman KY1-1110 Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman Islands Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR EBAROBEETLTE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited BERREBEHEZLZERAT

46th Floor, Hopewell Center BB

183 Queen’s Road Fast, Wanchai B 2EABER1835

Hong Kong B D461

LEGAL ADVISORS EEEB

As to Hong Kong Law BB EE

Sullivan & Cromwell (Hong Kong) LLP BRFIX o e im B ER RN EISFT (BE)
BREEEEER

As to Cayman Islands Law St EL#E

Maples and Calder Asia Maples and Calder Asia

PRINCIPAL BANKERS FEFREIT

Agricultural Bank of China AR R IRTT

BNP Paribas EBIEERRTT

DBS Bank ERRTT

Industrial Commercial Bank of China R TERT

Rabobank I A VERTT

Standard Chartered Bank BITIRT

AUDITORS =B Am

Ernst & Young K EET R E 5 PT

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONSULTANT REEZBERER

Strategic Financial Relations (China) Limited MR ABERER (PR ARA T



Annual Report 2017 —Z—tE£F %

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB EN R S

e

Emst & Young RKETENEFEFR Tel B 37: +852 2846 9888
22/F, CITIC Tower BEBTRAREIE 15 Fax {EEL: +852 2868 4432
1 Tim Mei Avenue h{EKE 218 ey.com

Central, Hong Kong

EY zx

To the shareholders of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 109 to 294, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

MRETEE

FEREETTEE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ETBERETERARNEEL E

Impairment testing of gooadwill and trademarks with indefinite lives

BB RAERF R 1R A9 BB R

Goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives
amounting to RMB6,374,273,000 represented 11% of
the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2017. The
impairment tests performed by management regarding
various groups of cash-generating units (“CGU groups”)
involved significant judgement for the determination of
the value in use of the CGU groups. This is a key audit
matter due to the magnitude, the complexity, and the
management’s estimates involved in the impairment
testing. The accounting policies and related disclosures
are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 21 to the financial
statements.
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Our audit procedures included an assessment of the
2018 budget and the five-year projection prepared by
management and a reconciliation of the inputs used to
determine the value in use calculations in the 2018 budget
and the five-year projection. Furthermore, we involved
internal valuation specialists to assist us in evaluating
the inputs used including the weighted average costs of
capital and expected perpetual rates, and the model used.
We also focused on the adequacy of the Company’s
disclosures concerning those key assumptions included in
note 21 to the financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HREH T

EREETEEm@W

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ETHREIEEARNEESE

Impairment testing of an investment in a material associate
VNP N0k =V 0D =N

The Group’s investment in China Modern Dairy Holdings
Ltd. (“China Modern Dairy”), a material associate of the
Group, amounting to RMB6,217,336,000 represented
11% of the Group’s total assets as at 31 December
2017. The impairment test of the investment in China
Modern Dairy performed by management with the
assistance from an external valuer involved significant
judgement for the determination of the value in use of
China Modern Dairy. This is a key audit matter due to
the magnitude and the complexity of the estimates and
the uncertainty on future market circumstances. The
accounting policies and related disclosures are included
in notes 2.4, 3 and 22 to the financial statements.
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We assessed the objectivity, independence and
competence of the external valuer who performed the
value in use calculation. We assessed the 2018 budget
and the five-year projection of China Modern Dairy
prepared by management and a reconciliation of the
inputs used to evaluate the value in use calculations in the
2018 budget and the five-year projection. Furthermore,
we involved internal valuation specialist to assist us in
evaluating the inputs used, including the weighted average
costs of capital, the expected perpetual rates, and the
model used. We also focused on the adequacy of the
Company'’s disclosures concerning those key assumptions
included in note 22 to the financial statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS

FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

ST

We

ATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

aud

it findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

We
we

also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence and to communicate with them all relationships

and

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Tong Ka Yan, Augustine.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

ImRERmR

Year ended 31 December 2017 HE—Z—+F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2016
—E—RF
Notes RMB’000
FiaE ARET T
REVENUE I'PN 5 60,155,622 53,779,339
Cost of sales SHE A (38,972,927) (36,143,937)
GROSS PROFIT EF 21,182,695 17,635,402
Other income and gains E MU Rz 5 338,179 701,784
Selling and distribution expenses SHE RACHE A (14,868,755) (13,435,206)
Administrative expenses 1TEE A (2,497,212) (2,471,365)
Other expenses HithE A 6 (1,182,498) (2,850,668)
Interest income FlEU A 584,011 477,844
Finance costs BhE R AR 8 (399,872) (293,700)
Share of losses of associates FE(HEEZ A R ETIE 22 (531,587) (225,477)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BATRE(E5E) 7 2,624,961 (461,386)
Income tax expense sz 11 (594,283) (351,379)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR REFE(FE) 2,030,678 (812,765)
Attributable to: A& FEfL -
Owners of the Company ¥iN/NETEZZ =N 2,047,839 (751,155)
Non-controlling interests JEIE AR RR B A RS (17,161) (61,610)
2,030,678 (812,765)
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE AATEBRES AEWN
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BRERN (ER)
EQUITY HOLDERS OF (AR ARYTE)
THE COMPANY (EXPRESSED
IN RMB PER SHARE) 14
Basic HA
— For profit/(loss) for the year —REFE(EE) 0.526 (0.193)
Diluted E
— For profit/(loss) for the year —REFHE,(EE) 0.526 (0.193)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

fRe %ﬁ”&ﬁﬁ?ﬁ

Year ended 31 December 2017 = —

—tF+-A=T-HALEFE

2016
—T—RF
Notes RMB’000
FiEE ARET T
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR REFE(EE) 2,030,678 (812,765)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Htt 2w (FE)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) HEgBREHR»EE
to be reclassified to profit or loss BEMEM2ERES
in subsequent periods: (BB) :
Exchange differences: ME 5
Exchange differences on translation of BREBINETH)
foreign operations PE W =58 194,835 (128,597)
Cash flow hedges: REREEP :
Effective portion of changes in fair value KERFEHHT A
of hedging instruments arising during NAEZEHH
the year BREHS 34(a) 30,617 =
Share of other comprehensive income paK(ali A /NG]|
of associates Hh 2w 3,617 -
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) HEA B EH K EE
to be reclassified to profit or loss BREWHME2EWE
in subsequent periods (EE) =8 229,069 (128,597)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Ei\{éHHFﬁKQE%ﬁ R EES
not to be reclassified to profit or loss B Etemkes
in subsequent periods: (Es18)
Equity investments designated at 5 7%1%@;% EBxt28
fair value through other HE8 AEMEE
comprehensive income: HQ SRR ARG E
Changes in fair value N EEE 25(a)/(b) (270,160) 94,371
Net other comprehensive HEHMITEENI 82
income/(loss) not to be BENEMEEmKE
reclassified to profit or loss (E18) 35
in subsequent periods (270,160) 94,371
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS, Hih 2 HE1S
NET OF TAX HERBLE (41,091) (34,226)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/  S£EZ2EK:E (&8)
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR Fak ) 1,989,587 (846,991)
Attributable to: A& 75 FEfhL -
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEFEN 2,023,028 (823,053)
Non-controlling interests FEAEAR AR R (33,441) (23,938)
1,989,587 (846,991)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
o A BRI R

As at 31 December 2017 R - E—+&F+_-A=+—H

31 December 31 December
2017 2016
—E2—+tF ZE—RF
e ==l +— A=1+—H”
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENE 15 12,715,454 12,698,374
Construction in progress EEIR 16 1,363,399 1,271,844
Investment properties "EYHE 17 59,333 67,486
Land use rights T 18 1,055,968 983,794
Goodwill (AR 19 4,532,899 4,527,518
Other intangible assets HinmEEE 20 2,193,901 2,086,247
Investments in associates KL RNFMIKE 22 7,194,010 4,132,099
Deferred tax assets EIETRIEEE 23 665,364 529,123
Biological assets EMEE 24 646,143 479,386
Derivative financial instruments TTEEmIA 34 54,602 =
Other financial assets HibemEE 25 1,585,183 2,495,681
Long term prepayments RHITAER R 28 54,769 15,566
Total non-current assets BIEREN B E 32,121,025 29,287,118
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Other financial assets HEthep&EE 25 10,690,539 4,195,737
Derivative financial instruments TTESmIA 34 5,584 36,501
Inventories R 26 3,510,268 3,314,282
Trade and bills receivables JE U BR 7R N ZE R 27 2,646,834 2,340,099
Prepayments, deposits and other AR - ke R EAM
receivables e R IE 28 2,541,423 2,704,611
Pledged deposits REESTER 29 466,265 960,863
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTETF 29 5,958,877 6,070,078
25,819,790 19,622,171
Assets of a disposal group DEEREFEN
classified as held for sale REHERNEE 12 197,916 215,138

Total current assets s R E 26,017,706 19,837,309
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION #R& B #AR L &

As at 31 December 2017 R —Z—+tF+_-_A=+—H

31 December

2016
—E—RF
+=—A=+—8H
Notes RMB’000
B & ARET T
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and bills payables ERNERRRER 30 6,342,273 5,405,620
Other payables and accruals HEmpEfRELIERE R 31 7,324,223 6,510,886
Interest-bearing bank and FTRRITREMEER
other borrowings 32 7,935,027 3,045,417
Other loans HEmER 33 22,912 52,559
Derivative financial instruments TTESmIA 34 1,222 =
Deferred income PRIEW A 36 160,279 135,093
Income tax payable FERTFRSHR 231,899 145,242
Other financial liabilities HEmemasE 37 545,594 =
22,563,429 15,294,817
Liabilities directly associated with the HEABEAEEEEN
assets classified as held for sale BEEERBHNARE 12 2,864 7,852
Total current liabilities M E B S 22,566,293 15,302,669
NET CURRENT ASSETS BFRBEE 3,451,413 4,534,640
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBER
LIABILITIES 35,572,438 33,821,758
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREEE
Interest-bearing bank and FTRRITREMEER
other borrowings 32 6,015,097 5,542,163
Long term payables RHE B 35 10,894 36,914
Deferred income PRIEW A 36 739,459 533,385
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIEARE 23 70,028 62,190
Other financial liabilities EmemasE 37 1,629,837 2,143,378
Total non-current liabilities wWIEREBE 8,465,315 8,318,030
NET ASSETS BEE 27,107,123 25,508,728
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION #R& B #AR L &

As at 31 December 2017 R - E—+&F+_-A=+—H

31 December 31 December
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
TZA=1+—H0 Ry ad=]
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the KARIHR AEHER
Company
Share capital R AN 38 357,572 357,374
Treasury shares held under share REHREETEI TS
award scheme EFRGS 42 (262,929) (354,409)
Other reserves H At 39 12,716,143 12,940,822
Retained earnings REFE 9,793,487 7,901,126
22,604,273 20,844,913
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR AR R A 25 4,502,850 4,658,815
TOTAL EQUITY HERER 27,107,123 25,503,728

Jeffrey, Minfang Lu

Ma Jianping
BEY E8K
Director Director

EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RORERER

Year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—Z—+F+-_A=+—HIFE

2016
—ERE
Notes RMB’000
BisE ARBTT
Cash flows from operating activities REERELNHEERE
Profit/(loss) before tax: FATFIE(BE) 2,624,961 (461,386)
Adjustments for: EANIESEE S
Interest income FEUWA (584,011) (477,844)
Finance costs EE DN 8 399,872 293,700
Depreciation of items of property, ME - BEMRETE
plant and equipment 7 1,622,015 1,636,404
Depreciation of investment properties BEYERTE 7 2,447 2,457
Amortisation of land use rights + 3 {5 R 5 7 24,536 24,760
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hihmp Sy 7 54,852 37,903
Loss on disposal of items of property, BREMX BEX
plant and equipment &tBEE 6 28,280 20,634
Gain on disposal of a disposal group classified HENEAEESE
as held for sale RE & 48 M 5 - (29,127)
Provision for trade receivables and W BR R K
other receivables H i fe IR R 6 86,972 63,530
Write-back of provision for trade receivables O FEUR T
and other receivables Hfth fE U IR R 6 (3,079) (20,740)
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 77 &5 2= o] &35, % & 6 84,998 129,857
Provision for construction in progress RETREE 6 256 1,712
Provision for property, plant and equipment ME - BB MRERE 6 7,216 -
Impairment of goodwill BERE 6/19 - 2,253,794
Amortisation of deferred income for assets EMEEINGEER
other than biological assets I PN 35 (85,354) (32,667)
Share of losses of associates MRS AR E R 531,587 225,477
Loss on deemed disposal of partial interests BRIBEBDHEE AT
in associates a2 F5E 6 125,439 -
Loss on disposal of partial interests HEINEE N T
in an associate a2 EE 6 18,204 =
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HEFARERE 6 11,698 -
Fair value gain arising from re-measuring EBAHBRETTERY
the initial equity interest upon business HEREELEN
combination INIRIEL 6 44 - (9,489)
Fair value gain on zero coupon exchangeable —E-FRHNZEER
bonds due 2022 REH 2 AR ERE 5 (2,363) -
Gains on bargain purchase EER A 44 - 9,213)
Fair value change of biological assets EWEENRER 6/24 63,099 25,696
Foreign exchange losses/(gains), net 0 5 518, (e ) %5 5/6 202,347 (134,235)
Net fair value loss/(gain) on forward RENES DDA EEER
currency contracts (Mezs ) 558 5/6 (1,483) 2,371
Net fair value gain on a convertible B eSS
promissory note DA EREFE 8 (3,711) -
Unrealised fair value loss/(gain) of commodity ERHEAHARER
futures contracts INEL VA ) 10,544 (4,850)
Equity-settled share option arrangements PARRAD Sz 45 MO B AR M 2o Bk 41 12,582 -
Share award scheme IR EZ 8 Eh=T 2| 42 43,544 40,939
5,275,448 3,479,683
Decrease/(increase) in other financial assets — HibemBERD,/(3Em)—
entrusted loans to certain dairy farmers BYETHENERTER 47,667 (1,207)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERD,/(Em) (321,015) 1,014,334
Increase in trade and bills receivables FEURBR T S Z 4232 A0 (355,449) (649,458)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits RESTAREMPBEE
and other financial assets W,/ () (266,502) 50,272
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TBRR - Ee REMEWRRIA
deposits and other receivables wD(BE) 41,721 (570,760)
Increase in trade and bills payables FERTER TR R RIRIE N 975,059 498,557
Increase in accruals and other payables TEIRE A R E bR FRIEE N 1,107,137 1,665,190
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS ZRE&HE&RER

Year ended 31 December 2017 #Z2—Z—+F+-_A=+—HIFE

2016
—E—RF
Notes RMB’000
B et AREFT
Cash generated from operations REERELNRS 6,504,066 5,376,611
Interest paid SAF B (360,906) (312,332
Income taxes paid SANGIET (637,721) (551,335)
Net cash flows from operating activities REEBRELNFRESRE 5,505,439 4,512,944
Cash flows from investing activities RETHELENESRE
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, BREWE  BER&E
plant and equipment FTS A 111,658 100,226
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties B E R E Y E 155018 17 - 1,306
Proceeds from disposal of land use rights RE T FAREMEHRE 4,597 -
Proceeds from disposal of biological assets BEEMBEMBIE 24 19,338 7,653
Proceeds from disposal of a disposal group HENBEAREGEN
classified as held for sale REMRAEBHRIEA - 98,000
Purchase of items of property, BEMX BEMIE
plant and equipment (616,747) (1,004,187)
Purchase of construction in progress BErEIE (1,417,340) (1,976,081)
Purchase of land use rights RBE T FmE 18 (105,894) (46,285)
Purchase of other intangible assets BEAMERLEE (11,906) (10,922)
Purchase of biological assets ﬁ%%i%ﬁ? (249,194) (230,775)
Increase in investments in associates N NEIL: kg2 el (4,222,805)
Dividends received from associates H&HXH?%%’& AR B 5,973 18,555
Disposal of partial interests in an associate HeEHD ‘a‘f‘é’&ﬁ = 35,082 =
Acquisition of subsidiaries WHEF (26,963) (1,156,675)
Receipt of purchase price adjustments in %4 Hﬁ(ﬁ%—?’z} Gl
relation to acquisition of a subsidiary WEE B (EAE - 72,437
Disposal of subsidiaries HETNA] 20,683
Payment of contingent considerations FARBRR - (10,000)
Receipt of government grants for property, WERMZE - BB K& R EY
plant and equipment and biological assets é?ﬁ’]ﬂ(ﬁ?ﬁﬁj}% 225,451 291,862
Decrease/(increase) of long term time deposits RETEHETRLD,/(Em) 594,434 (25,143)
Purchase of time deposits with original maturity B8 R 8 H 7,%Jlﬂ A&
of more than three months EHER (114,892) (1,657,141)
Disposal of unit trust investments HEBEMEERE - 170,000
Purchase of investment deposits BEREER (9,193,003) (4,139,490)
Withdrawal of investment deposits WEEEEFER 4,139,490 5,049,039
Increase in other financial assets Hih e mEER N (1,065,400) -
Purchase of a convertible promissory note BEE AR A E (182,959) -
Interest received IER A 2B, 600,204 442,158
Net cash flows used in investing activities RETEFTATRERE (11,450,193) (4,005,463)




China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FHZ 43I £ E5R A A

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS &R E&RER

Year ended 31 December 2017 HE T —+F+_A=1+—HILFE
2016
—TRE
Notes RMB’000
B et ARETFT
Cash flows from financing activities METHEENELSRE
Proceeds from interest-bearing bank loans FTRRITEFAERE 19,293,595 11,002,522
Repayment of interest-bearing bank loans 1;5&a#%\$ﬂﬁﬁm (14,814,305) (13,972,904)
Proceeds from issuance of zero coupon BT B RBES
exchangeable bonds Fﬁ%ﬂﬂlﬁ 1,317,061 -
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits RITEHROIRESFR
for bank loans ,W//(i*bu) 561,995 (288,733)
Proceeds from other loans HEERFTEEUE - 8,644
Repayment of other loans EBEHMER (18,323) -
Repayment of long term payables BERBENR (59,780) (77,013)
Shares purchases for share award scheme ﬁﬁxxﬁﬁbﬁ%,ﬂﬁﬁx 42 - (16,916)
Shares issued under equity-settled share option 18 LARR {7 S+ #9 B AR A
arrangements ZHRITRN 4 23,881 76,464
Shares repurchased and cancelled AR B 0] K% o 8 - (58,142)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W S AR AR SR 2 (158,556) (137,724)
Capital injection from non-controlling interests R R R T E - 38,475
Disposal of equity interests in subsidiaries HEF R AR AE
without loss of control (MR KA H4E) 1,852 =
Dividends paid to owners of the Company BRARBEE NRMSIRE 13 (344,816) (552,697)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests ERIHERR R RS ENRE (54,336) (58,471)
Net cash flows from/(used in) METHEL(FFR)
financing activities FHERE 5,748,268 (4,036,495)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReRALEBMAFE (196,486) (3,529,014
Cash and cash equivalents FNRERESEEY
at beginning of year 29 3,355,537 6,833,608
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [EREEZE(FE) (30,687) 51,062
Cash and bank balances attributable to disposal E‘EE%E}HEE@&
groups RITHET 1,080 (119)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ERESRELZEY 29 3,129,444 3,355,537
Analysis of balances of cash and ReRBEEBUNERIN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances as stated in the iR & BSIR KRR SRR
consolidated statement of financial position B e RIRITETT 29 5,958,877 6,070,078
Time deposits with original maturity FEHBA=MANUL
more than three months B E EifF R 29 (2,829,433) (2,714,541)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the RiFEREmERPIR
consolidated statement of cash flows HNESRREZEEY 29 3,129,444 3,355,537




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEME
IR RMIEE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands. The registered
office of the Company is located at P.O. Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104, Cayman lIslands. The
Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are engaged in the manufacture and distribution
of dairy products mainly in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

Annual Report 2017 —Z—tE£F %

NTS

AAREBEER
AAmRERSHESFMKNINERRE
FRAR] o AN AIHY M 9 F R AP P.O.Box
309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-
1104, Cayman Islands ° &"A Al & —fREEE
AR MEFAREERFAEARLRM
B[R DI E B m A RS HET

RRBEZFRAFBEAT :

follows:
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and Issued/ registered equity interest attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
MR/ BB/ KAREL
3 ELET 3 BT RERDL TEXHK
Direct Indirect
Ef Rk
China Dairy Holdings (i) Cayman Islands US$214 100% - Investment holding
FEHE A4ET REBER
China Dairy (Mauritius) Limited (i) Mauritius US$100 - 100%  Investment holding
TR 100%7T REER
Start Great Holdings Limited (i) British Virgin Islands US$16,066,969 100% - Investment holding
RBRNES 16,066,969% 7T RERR
Colour Vantage Limited ) British Virgin Islands US$1 100% - Investment holding
RBERNES e RERR
Golden Stage Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% - Investment holding
(“Golden Stage’) () RERTHE 3 REER
China Mengniu International Co., Ltd. (i) British Virgin Islands HK$8,448,802,973 99.95% - Investment holding
(RERFERERAF)() RBRNES 8,448,802,973/8 T RERR
Plant Base Limited (i) Hong Kong HK$1 = 100%  Investment holding
(EANESHERAR)() Bk BT REBR
Easy Reach Investment Co., Ltd. (i Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100% - Investment holding

(BEEZRERRAA)) &E 1,000,000/7C

RERK
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt %3 & Kt 5=

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AdREBEER @)
(continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and Issued/ registered equity interest attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
Riloye BRI/ KATFELS
8 RIS EfRA REBDL TEEH
Direct Indirect
B B

Tianjin New Value Supply Chain Co., Ltd. (ijiv) ~ PRC RMB20,000,000 - 100%  Sale of dairy products
(RE@nEEERRAR) (W) i AR#20,000,0007 HEIHR

Mengniu Hi-tech Dairy Product (Maanshan) PRC RMB100,000,000 = 80%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) e AR100,000,0007 dairy products
(FHENEER(BRL)BRD A LERLEN SRR

Inner Mongolia Mengniu Danone Dairy PRC RMB250,000,000 = 80%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) HE AR #250,000,0007C dairy products
(RREFHERIERERAR)()i) FERHENHm

Mengniu Hi-tech Dairy Product (Beijing) PRC RMB87,500,000 21.36% 58.64%  Manufacture and sale of
Co.,Ltd. (i) e AR#87,500,0007 dairy products
(REBNAZRELR)BRETAE)() EERBENER

Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company ~ PRC RMB1,504,290,870 8.99% 91.01%  Manufacture and sale of
Limited (" Inner Mongolia Mengniu”) i) i AR 1,504,290,8707T dairy products
(FFAERFAR(RE)RHBRAR) EERNENHm
(TAEF4 (i)

Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy Baotou PRC RMB30,000,000 26.40% 73.60%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) H AR#30,000,0007 dairy products
(REERFAERBERETAR))i) FERHENHm

Mengniu Dairy (Luannan) Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB56,000,000 26.06% 73.94%  Manufacture and sale of
(REAE%m)BREELAD) (i) H AR #56,000,0007C dairy products

EERLEN Em

Mengniu Dairy (Tangshan) Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB70,000,000 26.05% 73.95%  Manufacture and sale of

(REAZ(BEL)BEREERR))i) HE AR#70,000,00070 dairy products
EERLEN Em

Mengniu Dairy Taian Co., Ltd. (i)ii) PRC RMB60,000,000 26.03% 7397%  Manufacture and sale of

(RHAERZBREERA))i) i AR#60,000,0007 dairy products

FERHEA SR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt # Rk K s

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AT REEEE @)

(continued)

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and Issued/ registered equity interest attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
Rilvye BT/ RAREN
28 RIS EMRA REBDL TEEH
Direct Indirect
Ef R
Mengniu Dairy (Maanshan) Co., Ltd. (i)(i) PRC RMB275,000,000 - 100%  Manufacture and sale of
(RH3E (BRI BRAR) ) il AR #275,000,0007 dalry products
EERLEN Hm
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Hi-tech Dairy Co., Ltd. (iii) PRC RMB150,000,000 - 100%  Manufacture and sale of
(NEHEFEERISLERRAA) ()i) il AE#150,000,0007 dairy products
FERLENEm
Mengniu Saibei Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) PRC US$8,994,700 26% 74%  Manufacture and sale of
(RAFZIILEBRARD) i) e 8,994,700%7T dalry products
EERLENHm
Mengniu Dairy (Qigihaer) Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB75,000,000 26% 74%  Manufacture and sale of
(REAZ(BERE)BRAR))) il AR#75,000,0007 dairy products
EEREENEm
Shijiazhuang Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB52,351,700 - 51%  Manufacture and sale of
(AREELBAEERAR)) HE AR52,351,7007 dairy products
EEREENHm
Wei'xian Leyuan Farming Co.,Ltd. ()i PRC RMB100,000,000 - 51%  Breeding dairy cows and
(BRHERBER R i AK#100,000,0007 production of milk
REAG REESD
Yashil International Holdings Ltd. (“Yashili") Cayman Islands HK$1,000,000,000 - 51.01%  Investment holding
(L MERERERARE)(THLH]) FeHS 1,000,000,000/ 7 REBER
Yashili International Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 = 51.01%  Investment holding
(ETHERERERAR) &R BT RERR
Yashili International Group Ltd. PRC RMB1,126,105,300 = 51.01%  Production and sale of dairy
(“Yashili International ") (iv) i AEKH1,126,105,3007 products
(ETFERERERAR) ([ HELHER W) EERLENHm
Yashili New Zealand Dairy Co., Ltd. New Zealand NzD287,032,059 = 51.01%  Production and sale of dairy
(Vashili New Zealand) Giril: | 287,032,059%TFE BT products
(AR XERERERAR) HERHENHm

(THEL AR ])
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt %3 & Kt 5=

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AdREBER @)
(continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and Issued/ registered equity interest attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
HMRL/ BB/ FARES
8 T RER L Rl RERAL TRER
Direct Indirect
EE R
Yashili International Baby Nourishment PRC RMB531,815,600 - 51.01%  Production and sale of
Co., Ltd. ()i T AR¥531,815,6007C dairy products
(ELFIEEEHZERRER L)) FERNENER
Dumex Baby Food Co., Ltd. (“Dumex China”) (i)  PRC RMB2,226,000,000 - 51.01%  Production and sale of
(FEERDZRRERAR) ((HRETE])[) & AR#2,226,000,0007T dairy products
FERNEARR
Plant Base (China) Limited (iv) PRC RMB600,000,000 - 51%  Investment holding
(BEES(FE)ERAR)W) T AR 600,000,0007C RERER
Aspen Foods (Zhengzhou) Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB550,000,000 - 51%  Manufacture, distribution
(BEESRA(BM)ERAR))) H AR#550,000,0007C and sale of plant-based
beverages
HE - HEREERMRE
()  Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member () AREBEBL KGR EBEATKE IR
firm of the Ernst & Young global network iEE AR B AR ET ©
(i) The subsidiaries are registered as companies with limited (i) ZHEFRIVHARBERREEZFIMAERE
liability under PRC law. (E/N=] I
(i)  The subsidiaries are registered as Sino-foreign equity joint @iy 7% AERBEREIEEEM AP INE
ventures under PRC law. =WNGIG
vy  The subsidiaries are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises vy ZEFAAHARFEIAMHZENED
established in the PRC. E 3
During 2016, Yashili, a 51.01% indirectly owned subsidiary Eé_ T —NF o AR B EEEES1.01%E

of the Company, acquired a 100% equity interest in Dumex
China from Danone Asia Pacific Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“Danone”).
Further details of the acquisition are included in note 44 to the

financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

% B9 F A 7 4= F [l Danone Asia Pacific
Holdings Pte. Ltd.([ Danone J) Y& % 327
Bl 2 AR AE o UWKEE#E — P RF IR N I S R
FMi5Ea4 -

EERRLERFIINARBTFARIERHA
%ﬁiﬁ%%%%ﬁ%%% ﬂiiﬁﬁiﬁ’%l‘é{
EFENEAID - EZRAREEGB TR
AHBEEEYHBBARIIE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # & 3% ff &

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1 RBEE

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention except for share options, certain
financial assets, derivative financial instruments and certain
other borrowings which have been measured at fair value.
Certain biological assets and agricultural produce upon
harvest are measured at fair value less costs to sell. Disposal
groups classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of
their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell as
further explained in note 2.4. These financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2017. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in

assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

HEFBREZREFEAENZES([E
REFTEAZR S EMNERY RS %
A ([ BRI 5 5 2RI |) R &7 1 AR {5 3%
BRERE - MIEMRABLNAERE
HEBkE ETERMEE TEERMIAR
ATHMEENARERE - ETEVEE
NREmBR AR AR EREEKNATE - O
BARBERENREANREREERAAR
BERHERNERBNEEEIRR - FEH
RHEE2.4 - BEMRAARB(TARK D)
25 BRREREPIN MERELRRER
BIMTAL

GBAMERRBEARTRETAR (KB
[A&EEDHEE_FT—+tF+=-A=+—H
IFFEENBBKERR - TARAARBIEE
MEEFNER(EEEBEER) - E4%
EEAS IR E R RS mAE 2
ERMERKER A EREIR - WHBERENE
R ETHNE N (BAREBBRIGREN
FEWINEA H NEEEAIERER) &
ZEEIHRES o BIEVS R HRE -

EARAERIMERB ORI EST KRS
B FRORIBLERN - EFFEEESEHEY
RIRETORAE  AREEEEHMAER
FERER 8%

(@) HEFRETEMRREFEANGLD
7o

b) EHMEHOLHELNERN &

(€) ARBEFRRESBEIIRE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt %3 & Kt 5=

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i)
the fair value of any investment retained and (jii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.1 RBEE @)

F AR MAR IR AR AR R A R A
R WERA—BHEHERR - TARKE
RAASERGEGEE B EEEXITHE
RIEEBRILEREIIR -

BahkEt2EkaESalo HEBERARE
A AR R s - BRIt < BORE
IR R R A B R - NAEBAQRBH
PERENEBE  #m - WA FAXEAE
BREARBRSNEBRASRERGER
BB -

HAEFERIBERBT LR =TAEGRERA
—HXEN-ALREE  AREEEHF
MEETEHRRETEAENE - FRFIH
P 7E e on B B (U B R KR 4 ) IR R
PN

M AEBAREY T AR AIEHRE - BIEK L
BROZTAANEE(BEFE)REE
(i) AT FE 2 AR I SR e 2 9 BR T B M (i) A e
W8 REHRE 25 RIERFTRRE
B R RAE ~ (i) FrREEMIRE R A R E Kl
BRI ELEENARKEE o AT
Hiv 2 MmN S NERN AN ER BB EH
SEEABRNRBAEER) - FrigEE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt # Rk K s

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the
first time for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised Losses
Amendments to IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in
included in Annual Other Entities: Clarification
Improvements to of the scope of disclosure
IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle  requirements in IFRS 12

The nature and the impact of the amendments are described
below:

(@ Amendments to IAS 7 require an entity to provide
disclosures that enable users of financial statements
to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both changes arising from cash
flows and non-cash changes. Disclosure of the changes
in liabilities arising from financing activities is provided in
note 40(b) to the financial statements.

22 B HXREBRIKE

AEBCRAFENFBRRERFAUT
RIEFTBRIRM IR E LR -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt %3 & Kt 5=

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(0)

Amendments to IAS 12 clarify that an entity, when
assessing whether taxable profits will be available
against which it can utilise a deductible temporary
difference, needs to consider whether tax law restricts
the sources of taxable profits against which it may
make deductions on the reversal of that deductible
temporary difference. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance on how an entity should determine
future taxable profits and explain the circumstances
in which taxable profit may include the recovery of
some assets for more than their carrying amount.
The amendments have had no impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group as the Group has
no deductible temporary differences or assets that are
in the scope of the amendments.

Amendments to IFRS 12 clarify that the disclosure
requirements in IFRS 12, other than those disclosure
requirements in paragraphs B10 to B16 of IFRS 12,
apply to an entity’s interest in a subsidiary, a joint
venture or an associate, or a portion of its interest in a
joint venture or an associate that is classified as held
for sale or included in a disposal group classified as
held for sale. The Group has adopted the amendments
retrospectively. The Group disclosed the required
information about certain assets of Scient (China) Baby
Nourishment Co., Ltd. (“Scient China”), a 51.01%
indirectly owned subsidiary, that were classified as held
for sale as at 31 December 2017. Further details are
given in note 12.

22 B HXREBHRIEE @

(b)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt # Rk K s

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 2

Amendments to IFRS 4

IFRS 9
Amendments to IFRS 9

Amendments to
IFRS 10 and IAS 28

IFRS 15

Amendments to IFRS 15

IFRS 16
Amendments to IAS 40
IFRIC 22
IFRIC 23
Amendments to IAS 28
IFRS 17
Amendments to IAS 19

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

2018
2019
2021

adoption

Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions’

Applying IFRS 9
Financial Instruments with
IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts’

Financial Instruments’

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers'

Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers’

Leases’
Transfers of Investment Property’

Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration’

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments®

Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures

Insurance Contracts®

2

Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or Settlement®

Amendments to IFRS 1 and
IAS 28"

Amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11,
IAS 12 and IAS 232

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt %3 & Kt 5=

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STAN DARDS (continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below. The
actual impacts upon adoption could be different to those
below, depending on additional reasonable and supportable
information being made available to the Group at the time of
applying the standards.

The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 in June 2016 that
address three main areas: the effects of vesting conditions
on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment
transaction; the classification of a share-based payment
transaction with net settlement features for withholding a
certain amount in order to meet an employee’s tax obligation
associated with the share-based payment; and the accounting
where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-
based payment transaction changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendments clarify
that the approach used to account for vesting conditions
when measuring equity-settled share-based payments
also applies to cash-settled share-based payments. The
amendments introduce an exception so that a share-based
payment transaction with net share settlement features for
withholding a certain amount in order to meet the employee’s
tax obligation is classified in its entirety as an equity-settled
share-based payment transaction when certain conditions
are met. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that if the
terms and conditions of a cash-settled share-based payment
transaction are modified, with the result that it becomes
an equity-settled share-based payment transaction, the
transaction is accounted for as an equity-settled transaction
from the date of the modification. On adoption, entities are
required to apply the amendments without restating prior
periods, but retrospective application is permitted if they elect
to adopt for all three amendments and other criteria are met.
The Group will adopt the amendments from 1 January 2018.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt # Rk K s

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9
(the “IFRS 9 (2014)”), bringing together all phases of the
financial instruments project to replace IAS 39 and all
previous versions of IFRS 9. The standard introduces new
requirements for classification and measurement, impairment
and hedge accounting. The Group has early adopted IFRS 9
(2009) and IFRS 9 (2013) on 1 January 2014 and 1 July 2014,
respectively, while the Group expects to adopt the full text of
IFRS 9 (2014) from 1 January 2018. During 2017,the Group
has performed a detailed assessment of the impact of the
adoption of IFRS 9 (2014). The expect impact relates to the
impairment requirement and is summarised as follows:

IFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments
recorded at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, lease receivables, loan commitments
and financial guarantee contracts that are not accounted
for at fair value through profit or loss under IFRS 9, to be
recorded based on an expected credit loss model either on a
twelve-month basis or a lifetime basis. The Group will apply
the simplified approach and record lifetime expected losses
that are estimated based on the present values of all cash
shortfalls over the remaining life of all of its trade receivables.
Furthermore, the Group will apply the general approach and
record twelve-month expected credit losses that are estimated
based on the possible default events on its other receivables
within the next twelve months. The standard are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STAN DARDS (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and
in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in
the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and
IAS 28 was removed by the IASB in December 2015 and a
new mandatory effective date will be determined after the
completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available
for adoption now.

IFRS 15, issued in May 2014 and amended in April 2016,
establishes a new five-step model to account for revenue
arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15,
revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.
The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach
for measuring and recognising revenue. The standard also
introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure
requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in
contract asset and liability account balances between
periods and key judgements and estimates. The standard will
supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under
IFRSs. Either a full retrospective application or a modified
retrospective adoption is required on the initial application of
the standard. In April 2016, the IASB issued amendments to
IFRS 15 to address the implementation issues on identifying
performance obligations, application guidance on principal
versus agent and licences of intellectual property, and
transition. The amendments are also intended to help ensure
a more consistent application when entities adopt IFRS
15 and decrease the cost and complexity of applying the
standard. The Group will adopt IFRS 15 from 1 January 2018.
The Group plans to adopt the transitional provisions in IFRS
15 to recognize the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1
January 2018. In addition, the Group plans to apply the new
requirements only to contracts that are not complete before
1 January 2018. The Group expects that the transitional
adjustment to be made on 1 January 2018 upon initial
adoption of IFRS 15 will not be material. During 2017, the
Group has performed a detailed assessment on the impact of
the adoption of IFRS 15.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

The Group’s principal activity consists of the manufacture and
sale of dairy products. The expected impacts arising from the
adoption of IFRS 15 on the Group are summarised as follows:

The Group provides a right of return and trade discounts
for some of the sales contracts of dairy products with
customers. Currently, the Group recognises revenue
from the sale of goods measured at fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, net of returns and
allowances and trade discounts. If revenue cannot be
reliably measured, revenue recognition is deferred until
the uncertainty is resolved. Under IFRS 15, a transaction
price is considered variable if a customer is provided
with a right of return and trade discounts. The Group
is required to estimate the amount of consideration to
which it will be entitled in the sales of its dairy products
and the estimated amount of variable consideration will
be included in the transaction price only to the extent
that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in
the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will
not occur when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

The presentation and disclosure requirements in IFRS
15 are more detailed than those under the current
IAS 18. The presentation requirements represent
a significant change from current practice and will
significantly increase the volume of disclosures required
in the Group’s financial statements. Many of the
disclosure requirements in IFRS 15 are new and the
Group has assessed that these requirements are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt %3 & Kt 5=

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STAN DARDS (continued)

IFRS 16, issued in January 2016, replaces IAS 17 Leases,
IFRIC-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains
a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases — Incentives and SIC-27
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal
Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for
the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets and
liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two elective
recognition exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets
and short-term leases. At the commencement date of a lease,
a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e.,
the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use
the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-
use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition of
investment property in IAS 40, or relates to a class of property,
plant and equipment to which the revaluation model is
applied. The lease liability is subsequently increased to reflect
the interest on the lease liability and reduced for the lease
payments. Lessees will be required to separately recognise
the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation
expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be
required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence
of certain events, such as change in the lease term and
change in future lease payments resulting from a change in
an index or rate used to determine those payments. Lessees
will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged
from the accounting under IAS 17. Lessors will continue to
classify all leases using the same classification principle as in
IAS 17 and distinguish between operating leases and finance
leases. IFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make more
extensive disclosures than under IAS 17. Lessees can choose
to apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a
modified retrospective approach. The Group expects to adopt
IFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. The Group is currently assessing
the impact of IFRS 16 upon adoption and is considering
whether it will choose to take advantage of the practical
expedients available and which transition approach and reliefs
will be adopted. As disclosed in note 46(b) to the financial
statements, at 31 December 2017, the Group had future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in aggregate of approximately RMB572,206,000.
Upon adoption of IFRS 16, certain amounts included therein
may need to be recognised as new right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities. Further analysis, however, will be needed to
determine the amount of new rights of use assets and lease
liabilities to be recognised, including, but not limited to, any
amounts relating to leases of low-value assets and short-term
leases, other practical expedients and reliefs chosen, and
new leases entered into before the date of adoption.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IAS 40, issued in December 2016, clarify
when an entity should transfer property, including property
under construction or development, into or out of investment
property. The amendments state that a change in use occurs
when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition
of investment property and there is evidence of the change
in use. A mere change in management’s intentions for the
use of a property does not provide evidence of a change in
use. The amendments should be applied prospectively to the
changes in use that occur on or after the beginning of the
annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the
amendments. An entity should reassess the classification of
property held at the date that it first applies the amendments
and, if applicable, reclassify property to reflect the conditions
that exist at that date. Retrospective application is only
permitted if it is possible without the use of hindsight. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from
1 January 2018. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

IFRIC-Int 22, issued in December 2016, provides guidance on
how to determine the date of the transaction when applying
IAS 21 to the situation where an entity receives or pays
advance consideration in a foreign currency and recognises
a non-monetary asset or liability. The interpretation clarifies
that the date of the transaction for the purpose of determining
the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income (or part of it) is the date on
which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset
(such as a prepayment) or non-monetary liability (such as
deferred income) arising from the payment or receipt of the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance of recognising the related item, the entity
must determine the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration. Entities may apply the
interpretation on a full retrospective basis or on a prospective
basis, either from the beginning of the reporting period in
which the entity first applies the interpretation or the beginning
of the prior reporting period presented as comparative
information in the financial statements of the reporting period
in which the entity first applies the interpretation. The Group
expects to adopt the interpretation prospectively from 1
January 2018. The interpretation are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STAN DARDS (continued)

IFRIC-Int 23, issued in June 2017, addresses the accounting
for income taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments
involve uncertainty that affects the application of IAS
12 (often referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The
interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside the
scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements
relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain
tax treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses
(i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments
separately; (i) the assumptions an entity makes about the
examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (i) how
an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases,
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv)
how an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.
The interpretation is to be applied retrospectively, either fully
retrospectively without the use of hindsight or retrospectively
with the cumulative effect of application as an adjustment to
the opening equity at the date of initial application, without
the restatement of comparative information. The Group
expects to adopt the interpretation from 1 January 2019. The
interpretation are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee,
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint
venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates or joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the
associates or joint ventures, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or joint
ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in
associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportional
share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.
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2.4 EXSBERME @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

The Group measures its share options, certain financial
assets, biological assets and derivative financial instruments
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value
is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, construction contract assets, financial assets,
investment properties, goodwill and non-current assets/
a disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt %3 & Kt 5=

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted
for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(0

(i

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(i)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant
and equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is
part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not
depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current
assets and disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of an
item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset
to its working condition and location for its intended use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt %3 & Kt 5=

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or
losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates
them accordingly.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that
the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially
from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property,
plant and equipment are dealt with as movements in the asset
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient
to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of
the deficit is charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss to the extent of
the deficit previously charged. An annual transfer from the
asset revaluation reserve to retained profits is made for the
difference between the depreciation based on the revalued
carrying amount of an asset and the depreciation based on
the asset's original cost. On disposal of a revalued asset, the
relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve realised in
respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained profits
as a movement in reserves.

2.4 EXSEBERME @)

PRATRA] B B E A IANEEE Y% -
BB REREHNAERASREH PMELDN
Ef s EiE

WE - BERZEBERBRAEFREEN
(Pl E RRE)  —RREEEBHER
RARERIE - MABBEN A ERIF
e FFABENREEERSERRAN - F
WE  BERRBHEZFATHER
AEEHZSHHERRBINEE Ui
RrE AIE AT EEEHRITE -

AEBEEERTHEURREGEEND R
BEEFAETEAEAZR - WX B
FERBRENEEZDIFEEELFRFBED R
B o IREREEEE  HREBNERTRE
e - RlEBH e BN gA Bk
B o RREMEMBARBITAGEBRRER
UBEIIRRMEA SR - EREELERK
EEMNTEEERZAEERRRARNITE
MER  BFEeHEEEHFHRERERE
B HE—REMEBEER @ BUAEMBEER
BMEESHHEBHNARED TIE A REF
B ERFREENEFERRE -



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

Annual Report 2017 —Z—tE£F %

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # & 3% ff &

2.4 EXSBERME @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The depreciation
rates of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Freehold land
Buildings and structures

Not depreciated
2% to 7%

Plant and machinery 10% to 32%
Office equipment 10% to 32%
Motor vehicles 10% to 32%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents plant and property under
construction, which are stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and are not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on
related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties are interests in buildings held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course
of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual
value. Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of investment
properties. The estimated useful lives range from 27.5 to 50
years. Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reassessed at each reporting date.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing use.
For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group must be
available for immediate sale in its present condition subject
only to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of
such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly
probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as
a disposal group are reclassified as held for sale regardless
of whether the Group retains a non-controlling interest in its
former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than
investment properties and financial assets) classified as
held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying
amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets classified as held for sale are
not depreciated or amortised.

2.4 EXSEBERME @)

REYFEFERDESWAR,LERE
BER%  MIFAREERHEERIRBEK
EITHAR - JMERBEBBRETHERE
MEEED - ZEWENTRAA(BER
SRR E - NIEBRIE - REMELRK
BRI ERRERBEE -

WEDREEZRANBERREEE - 3
ERERERREMEZ G AIERFEHEA
RIBEMER At AIERFRN F27 56
504 - &AL - AIEAFHMRFHEER
BHEAHER -

KREMEREI L EEENTARERER
REREHHEFENIRRRER -

HIERBDEERREEANREERE2EE
—HIHER S MIEEEFEERFAKD -
ZEIRDEERBREANOBRBAR
€ Rt REEXRBEEAVAEEERE
MTERBHELBEENEEMNABT R
BRI ENA LA & - 3 B &% AR A
RERE - MEDEREEENTRAEER
BEBMBEARERE  MIARAKER
HERABREEAF AR IR AR AE

S o

E\

PERBAFENERDEERBREA(KR
EMERSREERIN) DREKEELA
RERHEERTEBENREETE - D8
REAGENYE  BELRBRETLEE
O RIN-E% =K



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

Annual Report 2017 —Z—tE£F %

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # & 3% ff &

2.4 EXSBERME @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year
end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) level.
Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an
intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to
be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment
from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 5 to 20 years.

Trademarks

Trademarks acquired separately are measured at cost.
Trademarks acquired as part of a business combination are
valued at fair value based on the royalty relief method.

Trademarks with finite useful lives are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 10
years. Trademarks with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually.

Computer software

Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis of
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
software. These costs are amortised on the straight-line basis
over its estimated useful life of 3 to 10 years.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and the ability
to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which does not meet these
criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products,
commencing from the date when the products are put into
commercial production.

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect
the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised
finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments under
finance leases, are included in property, plant and equipment,
and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over
the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
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2.4 EXSBERME @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases
net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating lease are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised as an expense
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms from 30 to 70 years.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and buildings elements, the entire lease
payments are included in the cost of the land and buildings as
a finance lease in property, plant and equipment.

Initial recognition and measurement

The Group initially recognises financial assets at which the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as debt
instruments at amortised cost, debt instruments, derivatives
and equity instruments at fair value through profit or loss and
equity instruments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (with gains and losses remaining in
other comprehensive income, without recycling).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

This classification depends on whether the financial asset is a
debt or equity investment.

A financial asset is classified as a debt instrument at
amortised cost, if:

(@) the asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

(b)  the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on
specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest.

All other financial assets are measured at fair value through
profit or loss, except for investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading where, the Group may elect
at initial recognition to present gains and losses in other
comprehensive income.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value
though profit or loss are expensed in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Debt instruments at amortised cost

A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognised in profit or loss when the
financial asset is derecognised or impaired and through the
amortisation process using the effective interest rate method.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Debt instruments, derivatives and equity instruments at
fair value through profit or loss

A gain or loss on a debt investment, derivatives and equity
instruments that are subsequently measured at fair value and
is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or
loss and presented in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss in the period in which they arise.

Equity instruments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at
fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to
present unrealised and realised fair value gains and losses
on equity investments in other comprehensive income, there
is no subsequent recycling of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss. Dividends from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as long as they represent a return
on investment.

The Group is required to reclassify all affected debt
investments when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to
the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on
a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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2.4 EXSBERME @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually for
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively
for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss s,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The
present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Interest income
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount using
the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows
for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans
and receivables together with any associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills
payables, other payables, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, other loans, derivative financial instruments, long
term payables and other financial liabilities.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in the near
term. This category includes derivative financial instruments
entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9.
Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied.
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2.4 EXSBERME @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i)
the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period; and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps, to hedge
its foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively.
Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive
and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow
hedges, which is recognised in other comprehensive income
and later reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item
affects profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)
A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting only if
all of the following criteria are met:

° the hedging relationship consists only of eligible hedging
instruments and eligible hedged items.

° At the inception of the hedging relationship there
is formal designation and documentation of the
hedging relationship and the entity's risk management
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. That
documentation shall include identification of the hedging
instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk
being hedged and how the entity will assess whether
the hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness
requirements (including its analysis of the sources of
hedge ineffectiveness and how it determines the hedge
ratio).

° the hedging relationship meets all of the following
hedge effectiveness requirements: there is an
economic relationship between the hedged item and
the hedging instrument; the effect of credit risk does
not dominate the value changes that result from that
economic relationship; and the hedge ratio of the
hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from
the quantity of the hedged item that the entity actually
hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that
the entity actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged
item. However, that designation shall not reflect an
imbalance between the weightings of the hedged item
and the hedging instrument that would create hedge
ineffectiveness (irrespective of whether recognised
or not) that could result in an accounting outcome
that would be inconsistent with the purpose of hedge
accounting.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)
For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

° fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to
changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability
or an unrecognised firm commitment; or

° cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to
variability in cash flows that is either attributable to
a particular risk associated with a recognised asset
or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction,
or a foreign currency risk in an unrecognised firm
commitment; or

° hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

Fair value hedges

The gain or loss on the hedging instrument shall be
recognised in profit or loss (or other comprehensive income, if
the hedging instrument hedges an equity instrument for which
an entity has elected to present changes in fair value in other
comprehensive income).

For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortised
cost, the adjustment to carrying value is amortised through
the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the remaining
term of the hedge using the effective interest rate method.
Effective interest rate amortisation may begin as soon as
an adjustment exists and shall begin no later than when the
hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair
value attributable to the risk being hedged. If the hedged item
is derecognised, the unamortised fair value is recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The hedging gain or loss on the hedged item shall adjust the
carrying amount of the hedged item (if applicable) and be
recognised in profit or loss. If the hedged item is a financial
asset (or a component thereof) that is measured at fair
value through profit or loss, the hedging gain or loss on the
hedged item shall be recognised in profit or loss. However,
if the hedged item is an equity instrument for which an
entity has elected to present changes in fair value in other
comprehensive income, those amounts shall remain in other
comprehensive income.

2.4 EXSEBERME @)

MmERRAEE (@)
PLEDREEME - B0 ER ¢

o NREH - A FRBERREE
HEEMNAABEERMR I EIERE
RO AGEAYE - K

e HeREYH MEHIHMREREEH
Rk ZERBRECHERAEEXR
BRRARATEZELENAARZEH
RERGE - SORMERNC A AED
SMNERER ¢ K

o HIRRNIBINEBHIREFHE

DREH

S TANKEXBERNES(HEMLE
EUE - DR TR EERIANEM
2EWREINAABERSNER T R)RER

phER IR E SHA AT BR AV TR B ARRE Y A R (B
HME - REEABRSEERABERRER
R AR AR RN ROE S o B R R AT
RERNFELBRRZERG - B NFERE
HE TBREEE D EBRABNAAEZED
B o fidl 208 B AR TER - RS RE
SHRSNFA BRRER o

$m1E B my S U e s B 1B S S B IR B
MRREE(ER) - WIMEEHER o MY

TREE(HEAKE D) - RISHIEE B8
U BRI B TR o AT - HEIIR
BREREIUREMEZERRZ2NAAE
PR TA  AZFeRBINREME
s A RERR



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

Annual Report 2017 —Z—tE£F %

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # & 3% ff &

2.4 EXSBERME @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value hedges (continued)

When a hedged item is an unrecognised firm commitment
(or a component thereof), the cumulative change in the fair
value of the hedged item subsequent to its designation is
recognised as an asset or a liability with a corresponding gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss.

Cash flow hedges

The separate component of equity associated with the
hedged item (cash flow hedge reserve) is adjusted to the
lower of the following (in absolute amounts): (i) the cumulative
gain or loss on the hedging instrument from inception of the
hedge; and (ii) the cumulative change in fair value (present
value) of the hedged item (i.e. the present value of the
cumulative change in the hedged expected future cash flows)
from inception of the hedge.

The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument
that is determined to be an effective hedge (i.e. the portion
that is offset by the change in the cash flow hedge reserve
calculated in accordance with the above mentioned) shall be
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are
transferred to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, such
as when hedged financial income or financial expense is
recognised or when a forecast sale occurs. Where the hedged
item is the cost of a non-financial asset or non-financial
liability, the amounts recognised in other comprehensive
income are transferred to the initial carrying amount of the
non-financial asset or non-financial liability.

Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset
or non-financial liability, the amounts recognised in other
comprehensive income are transferred to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the same period or periods
during which the asset acquired or liability assumed affects
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt %3 & Kt 5=

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash flow hedges (continued)

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or
exercised without replacement or rollover (as part of the
hedging strategy), or when the hedge no longer meets
the criteria for hedge accounting, the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income remain in the
hedging reserve until the forecast transaction occurs or the
foreign currency firm commitment is met.

Current versus non-current classification

Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective
hedging instruments are classified as current or non-current
or separated into current and non-current portions based
on an assessment of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the
underlying contracted cash flows).

o Where the Group expects to hold a derivative as an
economic hedge (and does not apply hedge accounting)
for a period beyond 12 months after the end of the
reporting period, the derivative is classified as non-
current (or separated into current and non-current
portions) consistently with the classification of the
underlying item.

o Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the
host contract are classified consistently with the cash
flows of the host contract.

° Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are
effective hedging instruments, are classified consistently
with the classification of the underlying hedged item.
The derivative instruments are separated into current
portions and non-current portions only if a reliable
allocation can be made.

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by
the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised
directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale,
issue or cancellation of the Group's own equity instruments.
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2.4 EXSBERME @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Dairy cows

Dairy cows, including milkable cows, heifers and calves, are
measured on initial recognition and at the end of the reporting
period at their fair value less costs to sell, with any resultant
gain or loss recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year in which it arises. Costs to sell are
the incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of
an asset, mainly transportation cost and excluding finance
costs and income taxes. The fair value of dairy cows is
determined based on their present location and condition and
is determined independently by a professional valuer.

The feeding costs and other related costs including the
depreciation charge, utilities cost and consumables incurred
for the raising of heifers and calves are capitalised, until such
time as the heifers and calves begin to produce milk.

Milk

Agricultural produce represents milk. Milk is recognised at
the point of harvest at its fair value less costs to sell. The fair
value of milk is determined based on market prices in the
local area.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location
and conditions are accounted for as follows:

Raw materials — cost on a weighted average basis;

Finished goods — cost of direct materials and labour
and a proportion of manufacturing
overheads based on the normal
operating capacity on a weighted
average basis.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt %3 & Kt 5=

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general guidance for provisions above;
and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
guidance for revenue recognition.
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2.4 EXSBERME @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current income tax

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred income tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt %3 & Kt 5=

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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2.4 EXSBERME @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Grants relating to biological assets

An unconditional government grant related to a biological asset
measured at its fair value less costs to sell is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when, and only when,
the government grant becomes receivable. If a government
grant related to a biological asset measured at its fair value
less costs to sell is conditional, the Group recognises the
government grant in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss when, and only when, the conditions attaching to the
government grant are met.

Other grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or
deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and released
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets,
the grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary
assets and released to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss over the expected useful lives of the relevant assets by
equal annual instalments.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Other grants (continued)

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial
liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and
the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and
released to the consolidated statement of profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments.

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership of the goods have been transferred to the
buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership,
nor effective control over the goods sold.

Rental income
Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Interest income

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

2.4 EXSEBERME @)

Hitb# 8 & (80
EAKERAEABREEMUIE S HE
RISMENBRFER - RIBRFERNZ
REERAERNZAEE(EXERI R
BEINSFBRTELE—TEE) - AR
T B BRI T 35 ) 2 B9 BT B 5K /0 ) (B
B E) Y] AR (B AT BRI R 28R ) R
SBAMBEYREMEENEFT I EAF
HIR > NERFABREREAEER -

U A P T 25 1R AT BE TR AN 2 [ K BE S ]
SEHbET 2R IR T 5 ERIFERAL

EmEE
E‘Euuﬁﬁﬁﬁéw BE KR & E s B

 BARBETBHMESRAGATE RN
ﬁﬁéﬁiéﬂ’]gfﬁié 745 B R 42 1) A s B
BUA

HEBRA
Y A 32 7H ER R L B RERR

FMEWA

R B ELRERRABRN A EROF
BIA - FrERL XSS T AMGFTRRK
W B RE R T AN F e E R HIRE
(MER)FRESREERTFENTA

_?_o



Annual Report 2017 —Z—tE£F %

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # & 3% ff &

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Dividends
Revenue is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive
the payment has been established.

Retirement benefits

The Group’s subsidiaries operating in the People’s Republic
of China except for Hong Kong and Macau (“Mainland
China”) participate in a central defined contribution retirement
benefit plan managed by the local municipal government in
the locations in which they operate. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the companies’ payroll costs and
are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

The Company also participates in the defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for its employees. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

Share-based payments

The Company operates share option scheme and share
award scheme for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payments, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which
they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are
given in notes 41 and 42 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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2.4 EXSBERME @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as
if they were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate
has been applied to the expenditure on the individual assets.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency based on the assessment of its specific facts and
circumstances. The Company, established in the Cayman
Islands, uses the Hong Kong dollar as its functional currency.
As the Group mainly operates in Mainland China, RMB is
used as the presentation currency of the Group. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss with the exception of monetary items that are designated
as part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment
of a foreign operation. These are recognised in other
comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed
of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Tax charges
and credits attributable to exchange differences on those
monetary items are also recorded in other comprehensive
income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # & 3% ff &

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain entities comprising the
Group are currencies other than RMB. As at the reporting
date, the assets and liabilities of companies whose functional
currency differs from the presentation currency are translated
into RMB at the rates of exchange prevailing at the end of
the reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the
reporting period.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate
component of equity. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
which arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FHZ 43I £ E5R A A

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt %3 & Kt 5=

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of
dividends

The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes arising from the distributions of dividends
from certain subsidiaries according to the relevant tax
jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing of the
payment of the dividends or on whether certain companies
of the Group is determined to be a Chinese resident
enterprise by the PRC governing tax authorities in the future.
Management considered that it is not probable that the
Group’s subsidiaries in PRC will distribute profits earned from
1 January 2008 to 31 December 2017 in the foreseeable
future, and accordingly no provision for withholding tax was
made in 2017. Where the final outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts originally determined, the
difference will impact the deferred tax provision in the period
in which the differences realise.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # & 3% ff &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continueq)

Operating lease commitments - Group as lessee

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain
machinery. The Group has determined, based on an
evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements,
that it does not bear all the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of these machinery and accounts for the contracts
as operating leases.

Non-consolidation of an entity in which the Group holds
more than a 50% equity interest

The Group considers that it has no control over China Modern
Dairy Holdings Ltd. (“China Modern Dairy”), even though it
held a 60.77% equity interest as at 31 December 2017. This
is because the Group owned less than 50% of the voting
rights. Further details are contained in note 22 to the financial
statements.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill and trademarks with indefinite
useful lives

The Group determines whether goodwill and trademarks with
indefinite useful lives are impaired at least on an annual basis.
This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) or the fair
value of a trademark to which the goodwill and trademarks
with indefinite useful lives are allocated. Estimating the value
in use and fair value requires the Group to make an estimate
of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) or a trademark and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. Details of goodwill and
trademarks with indefinite useful lives are given in note 21 to
the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt %3 & Kt 5=

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continueq)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill
and trademarks with indefinite useful lives)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Business combinations and goodwill

When the Group completes a business combination, the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are
recognised at their fair value. Management estimation is
required to determine the fair values of the assets acquired,
the liabilities assumed, and the purchase consideration,
and on the allocation of the purchase consideration to
the identifiable assets and liabilities. The fair values of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
are determined using valuation techniques including the
discounted cash flow model. The inputs to these models are
taken from observable market where possible, but where
this is not feasible, a degree of judgement and estimation is
required in establishing fair values. Management must estimate
the expected future cash flows and discount rate in order to
calculate the fair values.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # & 3% ff &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continueq)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and all unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and the unused
tax losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets
that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits, which affects the probability
of utilisation and the tax rate to be used in the calculations.
Details of deferred tax assets are contained in note 23 to the
financial statements.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group determines the provision for impairment of
trade and other receivables based on an assessment of the
recoverability of the receivables. This assessment is based
on the credit history of its customers and other debtors and
the current market condition. Management reassesses the
provisions at the end of each reporting period.

Share-based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions
with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating
fair value requires determining the most appropriate valuation
model for a grant of equity instruments, which is dependent
on the terms and conditions of the grant. This also requires
determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation
model including the expected life of the option, volatility and
dividend yield and making assumptions about them. Details
of share-based payments are contained in notes 41 and 42 to
the financial statements.

Fair value of dairy cows

The Group’s dairy cows are valued at fair value less costs
to sell. The fair value of dairy cows is determined based on
either the market-determined prices as at the end of the
reporting period adjusted with reference to the species, age,
growing condition, costs incurred and expected vyield of the
milk to reflect differences in characteristics and/or stages of
growth of the dairy cows; or the present value of expected
net cash flows from the dairy cows discounted at a current
market-determined rate, when market-determined prices
are unavailable; or the cost when appropriate. Any change
in the estimates may affect the fair value of the dairy cows
significantly. The independent qualified professional valuer
and management review the assumptions and estimates
periodically to identify any significant change in the fair value
of dairy cows. Details of assumptions used are disclosed in
note 24.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt %3 & Kt 5=

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
four reportable operating segments as follows:

° Liquid milk products segment — manufacture and
distribution of ultra-high temperature milk (“UHT milk”),
milk beverages and yogurt;

° Ice cream products segment — manufacture and
distribution of ice cream;

° Milk powder products segment — manufacture and
distribution of milk powder; and

o Others segment — principally the Group’s cheese, plant-
based nutrition products and trading business.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss
before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit/loss before tax except that
interest income, finance costs, share of losses of associates,
income tax expense, as well as head office and corporate
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude equity investments and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets
are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group
basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt 5 3R &k M 5

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2017

Liquid milk Ice cream Milk powder
products products products Others Total
BENER KHEKER MHRER Hity @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥BTR AR¥Tn AR¥Tn AR¥Tn AR%Txn
Segment revenue: DHBA
Sales to external customers HETINBEP 53,014,983 2,513,086 4,042,063 585,490 60,155,622
Intersegment sales DEEHE 711,788 116,218 - 304,507 1,132,513
53,726,771 2,629,304 4,042,063 889,997 61,288,135
Reconciliation: SR
Elimination of intersegment sales %357 2 855 (1,132,513)
Revenue A 60,155,622
Segment results DI 3,753,841 (210,645) (262,572) (93,885 3,186,739
Reconciliation: R
Interest income F 2 UA 584,011
Finance costs BB (399,872)
Share of losses of associates ERBERRER (531,587)
Corporate and other AR REMRD
unallocated expenses T H (214,330)
Profit before tax FREIFE 2,624,961
Income tax expense iy (594,283)
Profit for the year REFIE 2,030,678
Segment assets THEE 35,685,811 2,056,731 12,944,969 663,834 51,351,345
Reconciliation: SR
Elimination of intersegment Eapisbakilia
receivables MR (11,223,810)
Corporate and other AR RE A5 E
unallocated assets BE 17,813,280
Assets related to a disposal group R EEENEE 197,916
Total assets BEE 58,138,731
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(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2017

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REFIEE @

HE_Z—+tHF+-_A=+—HILFE

Liquid milk Ice cream Milk powder
products products products Others Total
BEDER KERER IHRER Hity Fob
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥Trn ARETr AR¥ETR AR¥ET:
Segment liabilities STHER 17,946,490 2,206,829 3,206,490 1,031,113 24,390,922
Reconciliation: SR
Elimination of intersegment $3H5 7 26
payables e A (11,223,810)
Corporate and other AR REAM A7
unallocated liabilities aE 17,861,632
Liabilties related to PREEHEMNEE
a disposal group 2,864
Total liabilities @afE 31,031,608
Other segment information: HivABER
Depreciation and amortisation e R 1,206,571 141,799 236,196 38,474 1,623,040
Unallocated amounts A EFE 80,810
Total depreciation and amortisation #T% K # s 4858 1,703,850
Capital expenditure BARRER 1,975,594 231,965 182,400 20,363 2,410,322
Unallocated amounts A EFE 4,240,527
Total capital expenditure® BARZ B 6,650,849
Impairment losses recognised RERRBRRERN
in the consolidated statement MEEE
of profit or loss 68,616 4,299 104,719 1,808 179,442
Impairment losses reversed Rz A BERELM
in the consolidated statement RIERE
of profit or loss (1,364) (888) (807) (20) (3,079)
Impairment losses recognised/ R R BERER
(reversed) in the consolidated (BE)HREEE
statement of profit or loss 67,252 3,411 103,912 1,788 176,363
Unallocated amounts relating T HEN
to share option scheme RE BT 2l
and share award scheme Ao EFE 56,126

Total non-cash expenses relating
to share option scheme and
share award scheme

W R B 8 MR

BEEHENIRE
dutit

56,126
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Year ended 31 December 2016
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt # Rk K s

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

N

4, REFITEE @

HE-Z—R"F+-_A=+—HLFE

Liquid milk Ice cream  Milk powder
products products products Others Total
BENER  KERER IBE R Hi Bat
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARE®TT ARETT ARETT ARETRL
Segment revenue: DB
Sales to external customers HEFITRE 48,102,872 2,179,940 3,150,895 345,632 53,779,339
Intersegment sales HEEHEE 536,786 128,143 - 274,220 939,149
48,639,658 2,308,083 3,150,895 619,852 54,718,488
Reconciliation: G
Elimination of intersegment sales %57 2 $H%E (939,149)
Revenue WA 53,779,339
Segment results DHEE 2,708,266 (258,975)  (2,724,266) (132,689) (407,664)
Reconciliation: JIE
Interest income FEWA 477,844
Finance costs BB (293,700)
Share of losses of associates FEhEE N RER (225,477)
Corporate and other NEIREMADE
unallocated expenses T (12,389)
Loss before tax TRIEE (461,386)
Income tax expense iy (351,379)
Loss for the year rEEE (812,765)
Segment assets PHEE 28,933,430 2,309,669 12,829,812 632,420 44,705,331
Reconciliation: IR
Elimination of HH D E
intersegment receivables [EWIE (8,691,755)
Corporate and other AR REAM A
unallocated assets BE 12,895,713
Assets related to a disposal group  FREREEKEE 215,138
Total assets maE 49,124,427
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt %3 & Kt 5=

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

$ £

4, RBE&EH

EE E @)

Year ended 31 December 2016 HEZZT—R"E+-A=+—HLFE
Liquid milk Ice cream  Milk powder
products products products Others Total
BENER  KERER I E R Hit Bar
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT AREFTT AREFT ARETRL
Segment liabilities THER 14,579,687 2,183,081 3,010,372 903,729 20,676,869
Reconciliation: G
Elimination of intersegment payables xﬁﬁ A EEENFE (8,691,755)
Corporate and other unallocated AR REM S
liabilities aE 11,627,733
Liabilties related to a disposal group ¥ R BAL & & 7,852
Total liabilities @afE 23,620,699
Other segment information: HipHEs
Depreciation and amortisation & R 1,178,533 130,095 195,193 34,671 1,538,492
Unallocated amounts O EhFE 63,032
Total depreciation and amortisation 7% #4858 1,601,524
Capital expenditure BRI 2422710 304224 1,453,539 4352 4,184,825
Unallocated amounts A 167,663
Total capital expenditure® EENGEE 4,352,488
Impairment losses recognised WA ERR RN
in the consolidated statement REBE
of profit or loss 102,113 5,801 2,338,850 2,129 2,448,893
Impairment losses reversed in the ? BaREEN
consolidated statement of profit  FifEEE
or loss (14,125) (6,210) (216) (189) (20,740
Impairment losses recognised/  RiRA BEXRER
(reversed) in the consolidated (BM@)HRERSE
statement of profit or loss 87,988 (409) 2,338,634 1,940 2,428,153
Unallocated amounts relatingto % R BERRIEET 21 %
share option scheme and share IR ZE #2EhEH 214
award scheme ADEFIE 40,939
Total non-cash expenses relating % &R ET 2 K
to share option scheme and RELZEEIR
share award scheme FRE T HEH 40,939
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

*

Capital expenditure consists of cash paid for the purchase
of property, plant and equipment, construction in progress,
intangible assets, land use rights, biological assets, equity
interests in subsidiaries, associates and other equity
investments.

Revenue from external customers
Over 90% of the revenue is contributed by customers in
Mainland China.

Non-current assets
Over 90% of the Group’s non-current assets are located
in Mainland China.

There was no sales to a single customer which amounted for
10% or more of the Group’s revenue for the years ended 31
December 2017 and 2016.

4.

e

*

o EE R @)

BEARXBRAEYE  BWEMERE  #
BIRE - BEE THEMRE £YWE
EARFRATE - BEQRREMBRARE
EVRIEFTS MY IR &

A E SR S A
90% bA_E # I A TR £ fiz 34 o0 B K B A
BF -

ERBEE
REE0% A LRI FERB B EM N F
B AR -

BE-_Z—tFR_FT—R"F+_A=+—
BIEFE YERAE-—RFPAEEMAEE
W A10%BE A | ©
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA > EtA K Wz
Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold,
after allowances for goods returns and trade discounts, and
after eliminations of all significant intra-group transactions.

WA EHAmNERFE  KHNBER
REBESIM  UREHEESEAMAAREE
RRB1&FTISEVEEE -

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains is REBEMIA - Ealg A R E DT a0
as follows: T
2016
—E—REF
RMB’000
ARBTT
Revenue: WA -
Sale of goods P mig e 60,155,622 53,779,339
Other income and gains: HEMUWA RUE
Government grants related to BB &
- Recognition of deferred income — EMERIRIE WA G
(note 36) (M$7£36) 85,354 37,494
— Income and biological assets —BIRAREYEERR
(note a) (MizEa) 100,262 183,308
Gain on disposal of a disposal HESEAEEFER
group classified as held for sale =L - 29,127
Promotion service income (note b) EERBEUA (F5Eb) 17,000 134,090
Gross rental income e B A 36,693 47,468
Foreign exchange gains, net P H a5 - 134,235
Net fair value gain on forward REYNESD A RE
currency contracts (note 34(b)) U 2575 58 (T 3£ 34 (b)) 1,483 =
Net fair value gain on exchangeable AIRBEFANE
bonds (note 32(e)) W58 (M 5E32(e)) 2,363 =
Net fair value gain on a convertible AMBRAREBAAE
promissory note (note 25(c)) Uz 7558 (M 5E25(c)) 3,711 =
Others HAith 91,313 136,062
338,179 701,784
60,493,801 54,481,123

Notes: BIEE -

(@)  The government grants in the form of cash donations have (8 AEERHEEMIEBREREMER @ HE
been received for the Group’s contribution to the development REBREANBAME - ZEHBE
of the local dairy industry. There are no unfulfiled conditions or P A Rl AR E AR RO IR s s A S T -
contingencies attaching to these grants.

(o)  This represented promotion service income from Danone and (o) UL BR A 5 A 2K B Danone & Arla Foods

Arla Foods Amba during the year. Ambaf) & FARFEUA ©
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6. OTHER EXPENSES 6. HMER
2016
—E-REF
RMB’000
AREFIT
Donations B 20,555 13,209
Fair value change of biological assets EMEENREES)
(note 24) (HfEF24) 63,099 05,696
Loss on disposal of items of property, BEYE  BEX
plant and equipment Bl S 28,280 20,634
Impairment of goodwill (note 21) PR A (FiTEE21) - 2,253,794
Provision for construction in progress EETIERE
(note 16) (Kizx16) 256 1,712
Provision for property, plant and equipment  #1% « = &
(note 15) RAEEE (WE15) 7,216 -
Write-down of inventories to GFEMmER
net realisable value (note 26) IR FE(H5E26) 84,998 129,857
Provision for trade receivables and e Ui BR SR K L Ath B UK
other receivables SRIEE AR 86,972 63,530
Write-back of provision for trade B fE R TR &
receivables and other receivables E At R U IE B (3,079) (20,740)
Educational surcharges, HE BN - W sEE
city construction tax and other taxes R M AR TE 439,472 235,761
Foreign exchange losses, net b 1R R 202,347 -
Net fair value loss on forward EAINE S DA EEE
currency contracts (note 34(b)) F58 (FI7E34(b)) - 2,371
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HEFRAEE 11,698 =
Loss on disposal of partial interests HE—HBE QB
in an associate (note 22) M EE (MizE22) 18,204 -
Loss on deemed disposal of REHEBE R RED
partial interests in associates (note a) s EE (fita) 125,439 -
Others Hip 97,041 124,844
1,182,498 2,850,668
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt %3 & Kt 5=

6. OTH ER EXPENSES (continued)

Note:

(@)

On 6 January 2017, due to the execution of the share award
scheme of Inner Mongolia Fuyuan International Industrial Co.,
Ltd. (“Fuyuan”), the Group’s shareholding in Fuyuan was diluted
from 43.35% to 42.30%, resulting in a loss of RMB21,320,000
recognised in profit or loss.

On 25 January 2017, China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
(“China Modern Dairy”), an associate of the Group, acquired
an additional 45% equity interest in a subsidiary at the
consideration of 338,602,205 shares in China Modern Dairy
issued to the sellers. The acquisition diluted the Group’s
shareholding in China Modern Dairy from 25.41% to 23.88%,
resulting in a loss of RMB53,381,000 recognised in profit or
loss.

On 6 February 2017, pursuant to the exercise of the
investor option granted to its investor, China Modern Dairy
issued 488,036,618 consideration shares and paid a cash
consideration of US$13,424,231 to the then investor.
The transaction diluted the Group’s shareholding in China
Modern Dairy from 23.88% to 21.98%, resulting in a loss of
RMB50,738,000 recognised in profit or loss.

6.

HiEH @

e

(@)

MRZZE—+F—ANE BRAZHER
BEBREXERAR(BR])ITHEREER
8 AEER SRR ESH43.35%EE
£42.30% - B AR 21,320,000 T 518
PIBZEFER ©

R_TB—+FE—A-+HA  NEEHY
ARREBERREERBRAR([FEIE
REZE]D)  UPEBERKRERNERET
338,602,205/% & 7 AR EWIE—HF A7
BEINB%ARIE - ZRBFEAEBMA TR
R AT HE I 25.41% #5855 23.88% @ &
BMARMS3,381,000 T EI8 A B2 FER -

R-ZZBE—+E-AXHE " REAKREE
BRYmEEEBREZTE  FEER
HE M & AR & & 3 17488,036,618 %
RERH R FR S KRE13,424,231 %
T o R S EARE BN BIR A BN R
W 23.88%# 8 £21.98% » EH AR
50,738,000 L BN B ER ©



7. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt # Rk K s

7. BAIAIE (&R)
A E OB AT (B8) g/ (G

(crediting): AN) IS IEEBFTEAS -
2016
—E—RF
RMB’000
AREFIT
Cost of inventories sold HEFEKA 38,950,047 36,157,504
Realised and unrealised fair value FHREAEEERBEEELY
loss/(gains) of commodity futures AR E/BE (W)
contracts, net (note 34(c)) E=8 (FMY3E34(c)) 22,880 (13,567)
Cost of sales 5 BN 38,972,927 36,143,937
Employee benefit expense EERAER(BIEHE
(including directors’ and chief executive’s BENESERFETH
remuneration as disclosed in note 9) ANBHH)
- Wages, salaries, housing benefits, —I% %o EFER
other allowances and performance A~ Eo Ak K B
related bonuses XEFBENESD 4,662,362 4,051,872
— Retirement benefit contributions —IRIRRE R TR 415,296 386,663
— Share option scheme expense —BERETERE
(note 41) (FI5E41) 12,582 -
— Share award scheme expense — R EEEETEIA X
(note 42) (Mt7E42) 43,544 40,939
5,133,784 4,479,474
Depreciation of items of property, VI - BERERETE
plant and equipment (note 15) (MF5£15) 1,622,015 1,536,404
Depreciation of investment properties KEMENE
(note 17) (M$3%17) 2,447 2,457
Amortisation of land use rights (note 18) b fsE AR 8K (FH7E18) 24,536 24,760
Amortisation of other intangible assets H bR L
(note 20) (M$7%20) 54,852 37,903
Research and development NEMFEFEE R
costs — current year expenditure 133,379 108,141
Outsourcing expense (note a) INBE A (MisEa) 216,987 256,752
Minimum lease payments under rEHEREHES
operating leases 247,617 230,752
Display space leasing fees PRy R EE 1,486,753 949,638
Auditor’s remuneration (note b) ZEEN £ (F3EDb) 9,400 7,695
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7. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (continued) 7. BAEIRE(8E)@m
Notes: sk -
(a)  For the purpose of promoting operation efficiency, the Group () ABRAZLEUER AEBIINBETERE

outsourced the production of certain products. The amounts
represent the total amount paid by the Group for purchasing
outsourcing services.

(b) In addition to the above fees paid or payable to the auditors, (b)
Yashili, a subsidiary of the Company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, had an amount
of RMB2,726,000 (2016: RMB3,190,000) paid/payable as
auditors’ remuneration during the year.

E - ZeREARERBEZSIINERY
S HYAREE

B EE Ak EMIZEAERIN - AR F
REBBAERGMAER AR EIR ETHF
AR RAFEBN TR EEM B S A
R#2726,000t (=T —~F : AR¥
3,190,0007T) ©

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. RMEMRA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BVERR AR DT ¢

2017 2016
—E—t& —EAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT ARMT 5

Interest on bank loans IRITERFE

Interest on US$500,000,000 3.50% BE3L50%R_ZE—NF
bonds due 2018 £I|H#5,2500,000,000% 7T

BEHZFE

Interest on long term payables REEAZIEF B

Increase in discounted amounts of ] B R 7T 8 T 38 A sl SR
contingent considerations arising REMITIRRE
from the passage of time

Net fair value gain on interest MEERBEHNNRARE
rate forward contracts (note 34(b)) o 275 58 (I 5E34(b))

Bonds issuance cost and others BH BT REAM

245,002 186,731
126,146 125,914
3,994 6,744

- 549
(907) (26,238)
25,637 =

399,872 293,700
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt 5 3R &k M 5

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:

9. EERFETHASEHM

REEASHAXSMERARES LA
(T EWRAD ~ BB R AEHFIE383(1)(a)
b) ROE  UEAB(FBEESEMFE
EOROIBoRDWENAFEEEREET
BABHMT

2017 2016
—E2—+tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T
Fees e 1,200 1,585
Other emoluments HEae
— Basic salaries, housing benefits, —HA¥H¢  EFEEA -
other allowances and benefits B2 R EY)
in kind (note (f)) Flzs (HHEE() 12,193 8,846
— Performance related bonuses —HZEEFBANES 6,498 1,149
— Retirement benefit contributions (note (f))  — iR GE R (B 3EM) 369 280
20,260 11,860
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERFETHAETM @
REMUNERATION (continued)

Basic
salaries,
housing
benefits,
other
allowances Performance Retirement
and benefits related benefit Total
in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
EXHE
EERH
HitrZHR EEERE
ik BNFE H#E BIERIHH D)
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
LM AR%Tn ARETRT AR¥TRT AR%®TR ARETR

2017 “8-tf
Executive directors HITESE
- Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu ~~ — B4 (oMa)/
(e
— Mr. Bai Ying —HEEE (@/e)
- Ms. Wu Wenting -RXBEZL (b)/
(d)/e)
Non-executive directors FRTES
- Mr. Ma Jianping -BETEE (b)
— Mr. Niu Gensheng —HIRELE
- Mr. Tim @rting Jorgensen ~ —Tim @rting JergensenZt£  (0)
- Mr. Filip Kegels —Filip Kegels £ (a)(b)
~ Mr. Pascal De Petrini —Pascal De Petrinift & (a)
Independent BUFHITES
non-executive directors
- Mr. Jiao Shuge -EBELE ()
- Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt = Julian Juul Wolhardt5e4 ()
- Mr. Zhang Xiaoya —REDEE

- Mr. Yau Ka Chi -BRERE (b)
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

9. EERFETHAEFMm@

Basic
salaries,
housing
benefits,
other
allowances  Performance  Retirement
and benefits related benefit Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions  remuneration
Er5e
EERHM -
Higa Rk REEEE
e EMila e RAENHRK el
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
M ARB®FT ARETr ARETT ARETT ARETR
2016 “E-RE
Executive directors RITES
— Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu -EEmEAE (b)/(d)/
(&) 9 1,242 827 18 2,096
- Ms. Sun Yiping —FERt (o)/e) 21 2,380 = 75 2,476
- Mr. Bai Ying —-AEEAE ) 30 4,307 322 107 4,766
- Ms. Wu Wenting -RXEZL (o)
(d)/(e) 9 557 - 18 584
Non-executive directors FaTES
- Mr. Ning Gaoning -EgELE (b) 25 - - - 25
- Mr. Ma Jianping -BRYRE (b) 125 - - - 125
~ Mr. Yu Xubo o0 it (o) 106 - - - 106
- Mr. Niu Gensheng —HRERE 150 360 - 62 572
-Ms. Liu Ding -MTzx (b) 106 - - - 106
- Mr. Finn S. Hansen —Finn S. HansenZt 4 (b) 37 - - - 37
- Mr. Christine Neu —Christine Neut £ (b) 37 - - - 37
- Mr. Tim @rting Jorgensen ~ —Tim @rting JargensentE  (0) 113 - - - 113
- Mr. Filip Kegels ~Filip Kegels#t £ (b) 113 - - - 113
Independent BUFRTES
non-executive directors
- Mr. Jiao Shuge -EEERE () - - - - -
= Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt —Julian Juul Wolhardt£ £ () - - - - -
- Mr. Zhang Xiaoya —REDLE 260 - - - 260
- Mr. Wu Kwok Keung — Bl A
Andrew (b) 195 - - - 195
- Mr. Liao Jianwen -BENEE (b) 184 - - - 184
- Mr. Yau Ka Chi -BEBEE (o) 65 - - - 65
1,585 8,846 1,149 280 11,860
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

R E M U N E RATI 0 N (continued)

Notes:

Mr. Bai Ying resigned as a director on 31 August 2017. Mr.
Filip Kegels resigned as a director on 20 December 2017. Mr.
Pascal De Petrini was appointed as a director on 20 December
2017.

Mr. Ning Gaoning resigned as a director on 19 February
2016. Mr. Finn S. Hansen and Mr. Christine Neu resigned as
directors on 1 April 2016, Ms. Sun Yiping, Mr. Yu Xubo, Ms.
Liu Ding and Mr. Liao Jianwen resigned as directors on 15
September 2016. Mr. Wu Kwok Keung Andrew resigned as a
director on 1 October 2016. Mr. Ma Jianping was appointed as
a director on 19 February 2016. Mr. Tim @rting Jergensen and
Mr. Filip Kegels were appointed as directors on 1 April 2016.
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu and Ms. Wu Wenting were appointed
as directors on 15 September 2016. Mr. Yau Ka Chi was
appointed as a director on 1 October 2016.

During 2017, the two directors agreed to waive their
entitlements to directors’ fees totalling RMB520,000 (2016:
RMB520,000) for the year. Other than the aforementioned,
there was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

As of 31 December 2017, certain directors were granted
share options in respect of their services to the Group under
the share option scheme of the Company, further details
of which are set out in note 41 to the financial statements.
In accordance with IFRS 2, share option benefits represent
the fair value at the grant date of the share options issued
under the share option scheme of the Company amortised to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year
disregarding whether the options have been vested/exercised
or not. During the year, the share option benefits relating to the
share options granted to Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu and Ms. Wu
Wenting were approximately RMB1,050,000 (2016: Nil) and
RMB289,000 (2016: Nil).

9. EERFETHBAEFM@

G

HREER-_Z—+tFN\A=+—8HT
BE—B - Filip Kegels e AN —F—+4
+-—A-—+HBEESE B - Pascal De
Petrinift £ —+F+ A=+ HEZ
TARESE-

FRBELAER S —XNF-ATHALBEE
FZE—H - Finn S. HansenE4 & Christine
Neut ER T —"FUNA—BHFHTES
—B > BN LLT  THRSE -WT X
TRBEEXEAR_TE—A"FALATER
BAEEE W HREEEN TR F
TA—HHAESE B - FEFEERS
E—RNE-_A+NBEZEAESE  Tim
@rting Jergensen 5 A& K Filip Kegels 5 A&
R-ZE—A"FUA—HEZTAEE &
BHREERRXELTN _T— R FNA
THERAEZAAES  BRBLENR=-Z
—RNE+A-BEEEAEE -

TEAHFE MUEFEREREEES
e BEAHARKS520,000T(=F
—NF : AR#¥520,0007T) © B Al E
Sh REEIEEMNEHREERELRE
HEEMM SN2k

HE-_ZT—+F+-_A=+—H &T=
EHEMAEBRENREELRRBRE
B IERT BIR TR - FBEN IR
R4 o RIREPR I TSRS ERIF 25 -
B ERAIIER AR R B AR BIFT81T
NEREAREBHNAAE  FAER
REBRRATUNEE  mMTmZSER
EREBCRB 1T - TR BTEHK
F KRB W RS K ) B A A
BAH A ANRA1,050,0007T( —F— X
F:E)R ARK289,0007T( —FE—NF :
) o
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. BEERFETHAETFM@

R E M U N E RATI 0 N (continued)

Notes: (continued) Mozt : (&)

e. As of 31 December 2017, Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu, Mr. Bai Ying e. BEE-_EZ—*t+H&F+-_A=1+—H ' EFW
and Ms. Wu Wenting were granted shares in respect of their EhE BABEEARIENEZLTHREHARE
services to the Group under the share award scheme of the BIREANREERQIREREZZE S
Company, further details of which are set out in note 42 to the BRERG  FEHRMBEHREMTI2 - R
financial statements. In accordance with IFRS 2, share-based BRI B iR R ZE25% - ARG R AR
payments benefits represent the fair value at the grant date of WX MR ERONFELEBEHHN AR
the shares amortised to the consolidated statement of profit FAERGEEZRA TSN - mTH
or loss during the year disregarding whether the shares have ZEBRNMRECHEB /11 - FRN - B
been vested/exercised or not. During the year, the share-based BFEHNELE KRR EZTHIRMD A
payments relating to the shares granted to Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang MNARERSNN KL B ARET32,0007T (=
Lu and Ms. Wu Wenting were approximately RMB732,000 T—RF:T)RARKS14,000L(=F
(2016: Nil) and RMB314,000 (2016:Nil). During the year, due —RNEFE) o FRN - ARIREEEETEIT
to the unfulfilment of vesting conditions under share award VR BIEEREETR  AEBETFABEL
sheme, there was a reversal of the share-based payment RN RN ABERAONRERELOAR
expenses relating to the shares granted to Mr. Bai Ying of #14,800,0007T(ZZF—RF : BAARK
RMB14,800,000 (2016: expense RMB4,480,000). During 4,480,0007T) e —ZT—RFE  HRKRE
2016, due to the unfulfiment of vesting conditions under the BRI EI THEBIREREETR EEE
share award scheme, there was a reversal of the share-based FRZRFEL TR ARD B ER AR
payment expenses relating to the shares granted to Ms. Sun & F# 0 AR#48,122,0007T °
Yiping of RMB48,122,000.

f. In addition to the above remuneration paid or payable to Mr. f. Fr il B sk B B SR Se AR BN & o1 -
Jeffrey, Minfang Lu, Yashili had an amount of RMB2,243,000 BRI MEFREER T —RNFEH®
paid/payable to him as its executive director and chief BEATEEREAECON EHARE
executive officer during 2016. 2,243,0007T °

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. AU EHES

One (2016: two) of the five highest paid employees were
directors whose emoluments have been shown above. Details
of emoluments paid to the remaining four (2016: three) non-
director, highest paid employees, who are neither a director

INE=SHEERE —U(ZT—XRF M

f)EE - AREKFHMESERNER EXR

B AFEXNTARAEKEM(=ZF
—ANFZADHEF - RRHFREEGEAR

nor chief executive of the Company are as follows: RIESFHAH)NMEHT

2016
—E—RF
RMB’000
ARETFTT

Basic salaries, housing benefits, EA#HE - FEEH
other allowances and benefits in kind HAhEBE N BRI 7,277 6,180
Performance related bonuses HEEFBEANES 30,378 4,759
Retirement scheme contributions RIREFET IR 387 208

38,042 11,167




10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continuea)

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:
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10. AV RS HESE @

Ban :

M AA TR &SFIFESRENH

Number of employees

EE®A
2016
—E—RF
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 723,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7T E4,000,0007 7T - =
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7T E4,500,0007 7T - =
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 725,000,000 7T - 2
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 7L 25,500,000/ 7T - =
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 7L 26,000,000/ 7T - =
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,001 78 7L 26,500,000/ 7T =
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 6,500,001 7% 7L 7,000,000 7T - =
HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 7,000,001 7L 27,500,000 7T - =
HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000 7,500,001 7L 28,000,000/ 7T - =
HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 8,000,001 7L 28,500,000/ 7T 1 =
HK$14,000,001 to HK$14,500,000 14,000,001 7T & 14,500,0007 7T 1 =
HK$14,500,001 to HK$15,000,000 14,500,001 7L & 15,000,0007 7T - =
HK$15,000,001 to HK$15,500,000 15,000,001 7L & 15,500,0007 7T - =
HK$15,500,001 to HK$16,000,000 15,500,001 7L & 16,000,0007 7T 1 =
4 3

During the year, share options were granted to four (2016:
Nil) non-director, highest paid employee in respect of their
services to the Group, further details of which are set out in
note 41 to the financial statements. During the year, the share
option benefits relating to the share options granted to the
non-director, highest paid employees were approximately
RMB1,182,000 (2016: Nil) in aggregate. The share option
benefits relating to the share options granted to these non-
director, highest paid employees are not included in the
above analysis.

During the year, shares were granted to four (2016: three)
non-director, highest paid employees in respect of their
services under the share award scheme of the Company,
further details of which are set out in note 42 to the financial
statements. During the year, the share-based payment
relating to the shares granted to non-director, highest paid
employees were approximately RMB3,192,000 (2016:
RMB3,720,000) in aggregate. The share-based payments
relating to the shares granted to these non-director, highest
paid employees are not included in the above analysis.

FROE(ZE—NF: T)ReFIEES
EERHEBAEEMNRGERERE(EH
HIEEFERRMFAIPEE) - FR A
BRZETs s EFESREERHERENE
EHERERNE XHBARE1,182,000t (=
—RNE R FHHMYESTERBRIZ
EReFEEERERLBRENBRER

FRN - WE(ZE—AF: =ZR) == HE
EREERERBGBRIERQRMNREREF
SEER M (B BN EmEMT424
WeE) - FN - BRZERaHEESE
BEERERMDNUERD AEBRNSRE LD
ARBES3 192,000 (ZZE—RF : AR
3,720,0007T) o k3l 53 AT M 45 B 35 B B M) 5%
ERaFIEEERERERONURKRG X
PR 3R -
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11.
Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Corporate Income Tax (“PRC CIT Law”), except for certain
preferential tax treatment available to certain subsidiaries of
the Group, the entities within the Group are subject to PRC
corporate income tax (“CIT”) at a rate of 25% (2016: 25%)
on the taxable income as reported in their statutory accounts
which are prepared in accordance with the PRC accounting
standards and financial regulations.

FrEBixz i
BiEFREARLMECEMEFA(THED
¥MBRE]D  BAKBEETFARERS
FRISERIN AEEETHLERREE
ERB T2 WMERTFBIZ25%(ZF—<
F:05%) 2 HEIMPBESEAMEH ([
¥R ATERE NRBRP R EL
M ERRE -

2017 2016
—2—tF —E-RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTT

Current income tax B EA FriS i

Current charge for the year ARFRNHAS

Adjustments recognised in the year for FARTFEE BTSN
current tax of prior years TR EE

Deferred income tax (note 23) EFEFTBH (FI7E23)

713,385 515,010
10,993 28,200
(130,095) (191,831)

594,283 351,379
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 11.

A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to
profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory income tax rate to the

TR H
BEENRN  BBAAE (BB IRETEFRE
BMREAENEHY L @ BRBEAEET

income tax expense at the Group’s effective income tax rate

for the year is as follows:

BRATSHR X ER SR HAHNT

2017 2016
—E—+tF —ZE-RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Profit/(loss) before tax BRTAE(EE) 2,624,961 (461,386)
At CIT rate of 25% (2016: 25%) 1#25%
(ZZ2—7"F : 25%)
PEMEHHRETE 656,240 (115,347)
Non-deductible items and TAMEIHIE B &
others, net HAth (CF5E) (a) 5,774 553,309
Adjustment recognised in the year — FRFLAFFE BIFTEH
for current tax of prior years HERH TR 10,993 28,200
Effect of lower tax rates BEHEnE (o) (271,164) (132,385)
Effect of tax exemptions M E (o) (181,050) (191,709)
Losses attributable to associates BN m B REE 132,897 56,369
Tax losses utilised from 18 FA DA HARI B 75 18
previous periods (22,612) (83,056)
Tax losses not recognised AIERTIGEE 263,205 235,998
At the effective income tax rate of  3%22.64%
22.64% (2016: (76.16%)) (ZZ—7RF 1 (76.16%))
BRAEHNERAE 594,283 351,379
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1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

12.

Notes:

(@) Included in the non-deductible items was an item relating to
the impairment provision of goodwill related to the milk powder
products CGU Group amounting to RMB563,449,000 in 2016.

(b)  Thirteen (2016: Thirteen) subsidiaries were granted lower tax
rates by the state tax bureau in accordance with the PRC CIT
law and the corresponding transitional tax concession policy
and “The notice of tax policies relating to the implementation of
the western China development strategy.”

Twenty-eight (2016: twenty-eight) subsidiaries were granted
tax exemptions in accordance with the policy of “The notice of
preferential tax policy for preliminary processing of agriculture
products”.

The total taxable profits of the subsidiaries that are
subject to tax concessions amounted to approximately
RMB2,957,934,000 (2016: RMB1,635,273,000) in aggregate.

(c) The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to
approximately RMB12,475,000 (2016: RMB7,491,000) is
included in the share of losses of associates on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS
HELD FOR SALE

As at 31 December 2015, Yashili planned to dispose, in the
next 12 months, of Scient China, which no longer operated as
at 31 December 2015. Scient China was principally engaged
in the production and sale of paediatric milk formula products.
The proposed disposal is pursued in view of the key strategic
deployment of Yashili in the next five years, with an aim to
provide a highly efficient and modern production layout through
attaining an optimised and reasonable production capacity. As
at 31 December 2016, the negotiation for the sale of Scient
China was still in process. As such, the net assets of Scient
China were classified as a disposal group held for sale as at
31 December 2016.

On 22 December 2017, Yashili entered into an agreement to
disposal a piece of land, together with the property, plant and
equipment on the land, with the local government authority.
The disposal had not been completed until Janurary 2018. As
such, as at 31 December 2017, the related assets were still
classified as a disposal group classified as held for sale while
the other assets and liabilities of Scient China were ceased
to be classified as a disposal group held for sale as at 31
December 2017.

11.

12.

FR8H % H o
MiE -

(@ FATHEKMNBEHRRE-Z—FH
MHERRESELEEUARIRBETERE
B AR #563,449,0007T °

b) T=B(ZZT—RF: +=@)FRRERH
RN RIRBERECEMEHEL - GRAHR
o3 2 B B 3R R B IR A B e 8 B0 KB

B B RE 5 B B UK R RE A B AR TR RS
KIEH o

—tNAE(ZE—ARTF: Z+/\E) T2
ERBE(AREGRZIOEMESREBRIE

YR EE A0 T8 & (A7) BB A BUR
R o

EEBRBEENTRARNERN A HELE
& HH A R#20957,934,0007T ( ZFE—X
& AR#1,635,273,0007C) °

() HEATELFEIELARK12,475,0007T
(ZZ—RF : AR¥7,491,0007T) © 25t
ANGEBRROEGHE QA TEER -

TERBFRFENEESR

—E-—RAF+ZA=1+—8 ' L HEE
RAKRI2EAHEER =T —AF+=A
=T —ATELENmBRPE - ERPRE
EREREREELD RN o EITE
E%ﬁ%‘é&%&ﬂ&iﬂﬂiXEEE’] R 1 3%
' EE%E%?&?%&AEEFA RH—
1mxﬁltﬁﬁfﬁfﬂbigﬂ‘ﬁ%° T—RF
+ZA=+— E{Eﬁiﬁ’iﬁm"?l%ﬁ °
it BEHBERNFEER_E—"F+_A
=+—A% iﬁ%?ﬂﬁ%’%ﬁ’]ﬁﬁ%ﬁo

RZB—+tF+=—A=+=H HLHEE
iﬂzBZJ*”‘ Rl ek 0 HE— R GER
ZLiH EMME  BEESRE) HEHK
RZBE-—NF—ATK - Bl - R=ZF—+
F+-—RA=+—8 HEBEEDNI>EAEAE
FENREEAMRN - E—+F+-_A=1+—
H mEFBENEMEEREETESES
BEFENESMA -
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12. A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS
HELD FOR SALE (continued)
The major classes of assets and liabilities of a disposal group
classified as held for sale as at 31 December are as follows:

12. P EAREFENEEAw

R+-B=+—BoEaREEENEEA
WEIBEEREMERIT -

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREFT
Assets EE
Property, plant and equipment VI - BB Mk 166,837 134,453
Investment properties B = 44,774
Land use rights 4 b {55 A 31,079 31,079
Other intangible assets HmEpEE = 645
Trade and bills receivables JEUBR R R i = 39
Prepayments, deposits and EAR Bek
other receivables H b B IR - 10,689
Cash and bank balances e MIRITHET = 1,080
197,916 222,659
Less: Intra-group receivables B EEARA B EERGUR - (7,521)
Assets classified as held for sale DHEAEBEFENEE 197,916 215,138
Liabilities afE
Trade and bills payables ERERRRER = 201
Other payables and accruals Hib BB RIBRE R - 6,440
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIES E 2,864 2,864
2,864 9,505
Less: Intra-group payables A EEAR BB ENFUR - (1,653)
Liabilities directly associated with the Y BARBEGENEE
assets classified as held for sale BEERABENEE 2,864 7,852

Net assets directly associated with W EAEEERN
a disposal group FEE 195,052 207,286
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13. DIVIDENDS

2017 2016
el - F
RMB’000 RMB’000
LSS ARETR

Declared and paid during the year KNEE IR AT

Equity dividends on ordinary shares  Z3@A% % B 344,816 552,697

Proposed for approval at the AGM 122K FHEX S H &

Equity dividends on ordinary shares: Z@EREIE. ¢

Proposed final - RMB0.12 (2016: ¥R RERIR B — 5%
RMBO0.089) per ordinary share TRRARK0.127T
(Z2—R%F:
AER#0.0897T) (@/(b) 471,283 349,327

Notes: FiEE -

(@)  The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the (a) BWMKFEHARKREEHARABDRREERE
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming BRRAFAS(RRBFERS DI -
Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”).

(o)  This dividend was not recognised as a liability in the b)) ZRELRRBEEZE-ZFT-—LtF+=A
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 —t+—HLEFENGANEHREREREEA
December 2017 but will be reflected as an appropriation of B - A¥RBRABEZE-_T—N\F+=A
share premium account for the year ending 31 December =+—HIEFENRMDEESE °

2018.
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14. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 14. AR EERFEEAELEBRER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY ), (E58)
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share (a) BREXRER (&EE)

The basic earnings/(loss) per share for the year is
calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year.

A reconciliation of the weighted average number of
shares used in calculating the basic earnings/(loss) per
share amount is as follows:

AEESREART (BR) YRE
LRSS N T 1) g
(B 18) B2 A 9F OB 24T BBk IR
FOBEHE -

AEEREART(BE)EMAAM
TR BB BENT

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January RN—A—HBRTEER
Effect of shares repurchase 1D BB E K SH A R 2
and cancellation
Effect of share options exercised BITFRERENTE
Effect of shares purchased RIZRE BT 2]
under share award scheme ORI E

2017 2016
—E—+F AN S
Number of Number of

shares shares
RHEE &by 4E]
’000 ’000

Sl Fix
3,925,027 3,923,977

- (5,052)

1,033 2,550

(30,994) (85,300)

Weighted average number of ordinary STEEREAREF,

shares for the purpose of the basic (E518) P AR Ay 3@ R%
earnings/(loss) per share calculation N5

3,895,066 3,886,175
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14. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (continueq)

(b)

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

The diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated
by dividing the profit/(loss) for the year attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year, as used in the basic earnings/(loss) per
share calculation, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no
consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the
reconciliation of the weighted average number of shares
used in calculating the diluted earnings per share
amount is as follows:

(b)

PN

w,

%g%ﬁﬁx@ﬁ%&ﬁ

SRBEEF,(BR)
FhEERN,(BR) DREBEFAR
REEBREES ARGENE(EE)
FRAR G EERERAT,(EH)
FRER A EARNE BT E B INEFY
2o WERFAMBARBEERNE
BRERERERTHERSEERK
EBBNEF G E -

/\n

Eﬂz?t E—tHF+-_A=1+—HLF
B - 5T E 5 REEE & F S AT A0
BB E FEIT -

2017
—E—+tF
Number of

shares

R B E
’000

TR

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for

AHEERERER R TR

the purpose of the basic earnings per share SRR INAE 8

calculation 3,895,066
Weighted average number of ordinary shares, BRRFEANTE EREETE

assuming issued at no consideration on the WIRERERTZ

deemed exercise of all share options during %%H%JD%$1’:]§A{

the year 297
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for & &RES B FTEDN

the purpose of the diluted earnings per share TR INRE T

calculation 3,895,363

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss
per share amount presented for the year ended 31
December 2016 in respect of a dilution because the
impact of the share options and shares under share
award scheme outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on
the basic loss per share amount presented.

e 0 05 77 G2 O AR T BB TR 2
BHEHRAHBRE T —AE+=

=+— I E R AT 250 TREA
FREEAAREEYE METE
251 8 I A S A & SR A
R -



198 China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEIS4 I 2GR AT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt %3 & Kt 5=

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. 1% - BERRHE

Buildings Plant
Freehold and and Office Motor
land  structures  machinery  equipment vehicles Total
KARELH EERESEY HERES PARE RE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARE®Tn ARETT AR%Tn ARETR ARET:R
At 1 January 2017 R=Z2-t%-f-A
Cost A 54513 6,671,726 14,699,828 1,017,738 158,146 22,601,951
Accumulated depreciation ZAHMERRE
and impairment - (1,805,043) (7,531,279) (452,055) (115,200)  (9,903,577)
Net carrying amount REFE 54513 4,866,683 7,168,549 565,683 42,946 12,698,374
At 1 January 2017, net of RZZ—tF
accumulated depreciation -A-8:
and impairment MRZFHTERRE 54513 4,866,683 7,168,549 565,683 42,946 12,698,374
Additions hE - 208,383 199,672 189,101 7,118 604,274
Transfers from construction BRATRTE
in progress (note 16) (Ftz£16) - 275,456 963,566 41,480 5337 1,285,839
Transfers to construction BRZERTR
in progress (note 16) (MizE16) = (25,671) (51,786) = = (77,457)
Transfers from investment BERORENE
properties (note 17) (PzE17) - 50,480 - - - 50,480
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEF A - - - 366 416 782
Impairment (note 6) RfE(f3E6) - (3,077) (3,956) (29) (154) (7,216)
Disposals & - (60,652) (48,751) (1,356) (2,110) (112,869)
Transfers from assets of BRANEAERRE
a disposal group classified HEERBE
as held for sale - 1,097 6,981 3,221 1,091 12,390
Transfers to assets of a disposal ~ EREZHBAREFEER)
group classified as held for sale ~ REAARE = (44,774) - - - (44,774)
Depreciation provided during FRTERE
the year (note 7) (M7E7) - (335,790)  (1,083,596)  (186,121) (16,508)  (1,622,015)
Disposal of a subsidiary HEFAF = (16,393) (8,028) (841) (27) (25,289)
Exchange realignment B 5 SR (2,227) (15,079) (29,704) (44) (11) (47,065)
At 31 December 2017, net of RZB—+&
accumulated depreciation +ZR=t-HB"
and impairment WRZsHrERAME 52,286 4,900,663 7,112,947 611,460 38,098 12,715,454
At 31 December 2017 i o
+-A=1+-H
Cost A 52,286 6,962,988 15465453 1,173,131 152,884 23,806,742
Accumulated depreciation ZHMERRE
and impairment - (2,062,325)  (8,352,506) (561,671) (114,786)  (11,091,288)
Net carrying amount FEFE 52,286 4,900,663 1,112,947 611,460 38,098 12,715,454
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BERKRHE@®
(continued)
Buildings Plant
Freehold and and Office Motor
land structures machinery equipment vehicles Total
KAFELH BEREEY  HRERES WARE RE it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETT
At 1 January 2016 W_E—~"E-A-H
Cost KA 37,005 6,011,772 13,362,562 776,500 159,473 20,347,402
Accumulated depreciation ZHMERAE
and impairment - (1,558,484)  (6,674,526) (363,713) (112,702)  (8,709,425)
Net carrying amount FOFE 37,095 4,453,288 6,688,036 412,787 46,771 11,637,977
At 1 January 2016, net of R F
accumulated depreciation -8
and impairment RS ERAE 37095 4453288 6683036 412,787 48,771 11,637,977
Additions nE - 197,781 431,449 247,510 9,459 886,199
Transfers from construction ERATETR
in progress (note 16) (Mi3k16) 13,625 587,802 1,150,239 47,936 433 1803934
Transfers to construction in BRSERETR
progress (note 16) (Mizk16) = (361) (74,124) = = (74,485)
Transfers to investment ERERANE
properties (note 17) (M3E17) = (50,621) = = = (50,621)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEFRA - 59,622 10,479 9,372 1,704 81,177
Disposals e - (111872 (63,451) (7,345) (4038  (186,206)
Transfers from assets of a disposal E&E 2B ABEFEL
group classified as held for sale  REAEE - 20,013 15,840 2,009 1,061 38,923
Depreciation provided FRNRERRE
during the year (note 7) (MzE7) - (307,768)  (1,065,040) (146,875) (16,721)  (1,536,404)
Exchange realignment [ A% 3,793 18,299 75,121 289 378 97,880
At 31 December 2016, RZZ—RF
net of accumulated +=A=+-R"
depreciation and impairment R ERAE 54513 4866683 7,188,549 565,683 4,046 12,698,374
At 31 December 2016 RZE—RE
+-A=1-H
Cost R 54,513 6,671,726 14,699,828 1,017,738 158,146 22,601,951
Accumulated depreciation ZAHMERAE
and impairment - (1,805,043 (7,531279)  (452,055) (1152000  (9,903,577)
Net carrying amount FEFE 54,513 4,866,683 7,168,549 565,683 42,946 12,698,374
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

(@)

Certain property, plant and equipment of the Group
with net book values of approximately RMB97,654,000
(2016: RMB184,937,000), RMB45,128,000 (2016:
RMB117,245,000) and RMB215,736,000 (2016:
RMB211,681,000) as at 31 December 2017 have been
pledged to secure the long term payables (note 35),
short term bank loans (note 32) and long term bank
loans (note 32), respectively.

The Group leases its ranch facilities included in
property, plant and equipment with a net book value of
approximately RMB29,018,000 (2016: RMB7,564,000)
to independent third parties under operating lease
arrangements, with lease terms ranging from five to
eight years (note 46(a)).

16. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

15. ¥ - BMERRE@®

(@

AEBEFR-_ZT—+tHF+ =
A=+ BEEFENARK
97,654,000 (ZF—~F : ARM
184,937,0007T) + AR #¥45,128,000
T(ZZE—RF : AR¥117,245,000
o) R AREE215,736,00070 ( —E—7~
F . AR%211,681,0007T) K943 -
BB RBHEELEDFIBIEREBIES
REAE RIB (FF5ES5) « MHARITE
A (MEE32) R REIRITE R (M sE32)
RO o

AEEREBEEEHEZERE TB
VEZHFHAEEINADE  BE R
RENPIS R ENREEFEOARE
29,018,000t ( — T —/NF : AR
7,564,0007T) c MEAHAFEN\F
(Fizx46(a)) °

16. TEITE

Movements of construction in progress are as follows: AEBMEETIEEBHUOT ¢

2016

AN

RMB’000

ARBTT

Carrying amount at beginning of year FHREE 1,271,844 900,939

Acquisition of subsidiaries g S/NC] = 130,627

Additions during the year FRNRNE 1,455,679 1,976,081
Transfers from assets of a disposal EBEESEAREREN

group classified as held for sale BEHREE = 41
Transfers from property, EBEEYE - BELERE

plant and equipment (note 15) (FtsE15) 77,457 74,485
Transfers to property, HEREYE  BE MG

plant and equipment (note 15) (M$5E15) (1,285,839) (1,803,934)

Transfers to other intangible assets ERFEHAMELEAE

(note 20) (FFE20) (155,310) (5,010)

Impairment (note 6) BUE (FisEe) (256) (1,712)

Disposal of a subsidiary HETFRQR] (41) -

Exchange realignment PE o, % (135) 327

Carrying amount at end of year FIRERE(E 1,363,399 1,271,844
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17. REWE

2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
At 1 January, net of accumulated n—A—H -
depreciation MR RsHiE 67,486 20,078
Additions during the year FARE = 550
Transfers from property, EEEYE - BENEE
plant and equipment (note 15) (FfizE15) = 50,621
Transfers to property, EEEYE  BREAR
plant and equipment (note 15) (FfizE15) (50,480) -
Disposals HE = (1,3006)
Transfers from assets of a disposal HEABEABEGEN
group classified as held for sale BEHREE 44,774 -
Depreciation provided FRITERE
during the year (note 7) (MI5E7) (2,447) (2,457)
At 31 December, R+t-—A=+—8"
net of accumulated depreciation MR E 59,333 67,486
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H
Cost AR N 73,295 75,032
Accumulated depreciation 2EHE (13,962) (7,546)
Net carrying amount REFE 59,333 67,486

WEMENAREN - E—+E+-_A=+—
Bitst4 B ARE124,721,00070 (ZF—7<
£ AR®94,566,0007T) * 3% AR EHA
ARIEBREMIS AR EHBUMENTIS
RESEHRET  WEFhEMEZE - BIYME
G REEE o

The fair value of the investment properties, as determined
by the directors of the Company, based on the market
approach with reference to market transaction prices of
similar properties, taking into account other factors, i.e.,
characteristics of the properties and locations, was estimated
to be approximately RMB124,721,000 as at 31 December
2017 (2016: RMB94,566,000).
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq) 17. REYE @)
Fair value hierarchy AARERER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TREJNEEAEBREMEN AR EGTE
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties: E&

Fair value measurements
as at 31 December 2017 using
R=B—tF+-A=+-HERANAAHEE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets

inputs
(Level 2)
EATEE
BAHE
(B=#%)
RMB’000
ARBTR

(Level 1)
ERTIEH
WE
(B—#%)
RMB’000
ARBTR

inputs
(Level 3)
BEATAEE
BAHE
(B=#)
RMB’000
ARBTR

EH
RMB’000
AR®TR

Fair value measurement for:

R TIIBRNDAEFE

Commercial properties R - - 124,721 124,721
Fair value measurements
as at 31 December 2016 using
RZE—RF+ZA=+—HEBNAREE

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

JE BT 5 BERAHRE EATIEE

RE AR A SR
(B—H) (B85 (B=8) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT

Fair value measurement for: P THIRENALBETE

Commercial properties [EEES - - 94,566 94,566

FA - BEEAZE="NAIEE=REL (=
TNFE)

During the year, there were no transfers into or out of Level 3
(2016: Nil).
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18. LAND USE RIGHTS 18. T ib{E FHAE

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARKETTT
Carrying amount at beginning of year FYIREE 1,005,310 908,368
Additions during the year FRRE 105,894 46,285
Acquisition of subsidiaries i Ea/NE] - 76,555

Transfers from assets of a disposal HEABEABAEGEN
group classified as held for sale REHEE - 2,578
Disposal k- (4,597) (3,716)
Disposal of a subsidiary HEFAR] (2,496) =

Amortisation provided during the year FREFHEEE

(note 7) (BM3E7) (24,536) (24,760)
Carrying amount at end of year FIRAREE 1,079,575 1,005,310

Current portion included in prepayments, STARBEERIENN -

deposits and other receivables under % RE MR GRIER
current assets (note 28) BNERER 9> (Bt5E28) 23,607 21,516
Non-current portion JERNERER > 1,055,968 983,794
1,079,575 1,005,310
Certain land use rights of the Group with net book values of AEEKREFEDNAR12,489,000 7T
approximately RMB12,489,000 (2016: RMB21,867,000) and (ZZE—RF : AR¥21,867,0007T) & A
RMB91,194,000 (2016: RMB93,215,000) have been pledged R#91,194000c(Z T —RNF : ARK
to secure the short term bank loans and long term bank loans 93,215,0007T ) W& T L E AEC ERA
of the Group, details of which are set out in note 32 to the SEEHBTERRRBRITERAER -
financial statements. ERAFTBEH NI BHRENES2 -
19. GOODWILL 19. BE
2017 2016
—Z2—tF —E-REF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARKETTT
Carrying amount at 1 January Rn—A—HBHERAE 4,527,518 5,850,599
Acquisition of subsidiaries /N 5,381 930,713
Impairment during the year (note 21) FRREEE21) - (2,253,794)
Carrying amount at 31 December Rt A=+—H/KREAE 4,532,899 4,527,518
At 31 December ®+=—A=+—H”
Cost [D#%N 6,786,693 6,781,312
Accumulated impairment REPRE (2,253,794) (2,253,794)

Carrying amount at 31 December R+ A=+—BMERmE 4,532,899 4,527,518
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19- GOODWILL (continued)

During 2017, the Group acquired three subsidiaries from third
parties. These subsidiaries are mainly engaged in the sale of
dairy products. The total purchase consideration for these
acquisitions were in the form of cash of RMB8,363,000 paid
at the acquisition date. These business acquisitions gave rise
to goodwill of RMB5,381,000 in total.

During 2016, Yashili, a 51.01% indirectly owned subsidiary
of the Company, acquired a 100% equity interest in Dumex
China. The business acquisition gave rise to goodwill of
RMB718,476,000. Further details of the acquisition are
included in note 44 to the financial statements.

During 2016, Linxia Yiging Muslim Food Co., Ltd. (“Linxia
Yiging”), a 70% indirectly owned subsidiary of the Company,
acquired a 70% equity interest in Inner Mongolia Yiging
Food Co., Ltd. (“Inner Mongolia Yiging”) from Fuyuan, an
associate of the Group, and acquired a 30% equity interest
in Inner Mongolia Yiging from independent third parties. The
business acquisition gave rise to goodwill of RMB48,452,000.
Further details of the acquisition are included in note 44 to the
financial statement.

During 2016, the Group acquired an additional 87% equity
interest in Shanghai Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai
Mengniu”), in which the Group originally had an equity interest
of 183%. The business acquisition gave rise to goodwill of
RMB125,212,000. Further details of the acquisition are
included in note 44 to the financial statements.

During 2016, the Group acquired nine other subsidiaries
from third parties. These subsidiaries are mainly engaged in
the sale of dairy products. The total purchase consideration
for these acquisitions were in the form of cash of
RMB40,638,000 paid at the acquisition date. These business
acquisitions gave rise to goodwill of RMB38,573,000 in total.

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the goodwill was tested
for impairment (note 21).

19.

B2 m)
—E—+tFR - AEERAE=AHAKE=MFT
NA) e ZETRREBWEHEIRGF - %
ZWENRWERBUABEEASMN Rk
BE B HI S A R#58,363,0007T ° 2 E X
WHE & HEA P E ARS5,381,0007T °

TE-RERN - ARBIMEEHEAS51.01%
EEWTARELIANKESZZZFTE2
R - REEBKRBEEFTEARY
718,476,0007T ° W HE —FEFIBE R 1
HwERMITEL4 o

TE—RER - KRR EEHEET0%ER
FTRAGESERERMAERAR(RES
BDRAERBES A ERKEARLTEE
RAARAB([ARZE])70%ME « WM
BB = HWBEASTS/E30%KE - BRI
U E A B AR ¥ 48,452,0007T © WHE
HE— T BRI ISIRERM 44 -

ZE—REFR - AEEREEESFIES
BRAEl ([ BSR4 ])EIIeT%AE(RER
FERZAREE13%AE) - RIEEBUE
EAEEARK125,212,0007T o U iEE—
FHIBHR I REMT 544 o

ZE—RFAR - AKERFE=STREEMN
MTRE  WETARZTENEHEAL
me WERBNRKEREAReFAX
- RUE B A 1 A R #40,688,0007T °
I E B E £ B £ ARM38,573,000
=

R-E—+tFR-_T-—RF+-A=+—
B - BESETRER(HE21) -
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20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. HittEFEE
Movements of other intangible assets are as follows: Hihmp E&EgsnT -
Patents and Computer
licences  Trademarks software Others Total
BRRATE (G EREH Hit -
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR AR%TR
Note a Note b
Hizta Hizth
Cost at 1 January 2017, net of R_E—+t&—f—H"
accumulated amortisation N 1,159 1,841,854 157,160 86,074 2,086,247
Additions RE = - 6,562 - 6,562
Transfer from construction in BheiEIR
progress (note 16) (HizE16) - - 155,310 - 155,310
Amortisation provided FNFHEES
during the year (note 7) (Hi5E7) (769) (480) (44,923) (8,680) (54,852)
Disposal of a subsidiary HEFRT - - (11) - (11)
Transfer from assets of a disposal ERENEAREREN
group classified as held for sale RELEE - - 645 - 645
At 31 December 2017 RZE—tF+-A=+-H 390 1,841,374 274,743 71,394 2,193,901
At 31 December 2017 R-E—+tF+-f=1-H
Cost AR 5,313 1,857,064 405,999 91,147 2,359,523
Accumulated amortisation RitEH (4,923) (15,690) (131,256) (13,753) (165,622)
Net carrying amount FEHE 390 1,841,374 274,743 77394 2,193,901
Cost at 1 January 2016, net of R-Z—7~E-f-8"
accumulated amortisation BRAME - R R5HE S 1,803 1,542,259 175,206 11,660 1,731,018
Acquisition of subsidiaries WET R - 301,155 93 75,952 377,200
Additions RE = = 10,922 - 10,922
Transfer from construction in BROERIR
progress (note 16) (MzE16) - - 5,010 - 5,010
Amortisation provided FERGHEE S
during the year (note 7) (RE7) (644) (1,560) (34,161) (1,538) (37,909)
At 31 December 2016 RZE—"F+ZA=1-H 1,159 1,841,854 157,160 86,074 2,086,247
At 31 December 2016 RZE-—RE+=A=1—H
Cost AR B3l 1,857,064 247,014 91,147 2,200,538
Accumulated amortisation Z:tE (4,154) (15,210) (89,854) (5,079) (114,091)

Net carrying amount FEFE 1,159 1,841,854 157,160 86,074 2,086,247
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20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continueq)

21.

Notes:

(@)

IMP

There were five trademarks: a trademark acquired in 2007
at a cost of RMB15,690,000, which was stated at cost less
any impairment losses and was amortised on the straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life of 10 years; four
trademarks acquired as part of business combination in 2010
at RMB174,219,000, in 2013 at RMB1,366,000,000, and in
2016 at RMB283,047,000 and RMB18,108,000 respectively,
which were regarded as having indefinite useful lives because
the trademarked products are expected to generate net cash
inflows indefinitely. As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the
four trademarks with indefinite useful lives were tested for
impairment (note 21).

Others represented the exclusive right of distribution channels
of RMB78,147,000 acquired as part of business combinations
in 2010 and 2016, and the customer relationships with an
amount of RMB13,000,000 acquired as part of a business
combination in 2014. They were stated at cost less any
impairment losses and were amortised on the straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives ranging from 10 to 15
years.

AIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE
USEFUL LIVES

Goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives acquired
through business combinations have been allocated to the
following cash-generating units (the “CGUs”) or groups of
cash-generating units (the “CGU Groups”) for impairment
testing:

liquid milk products CGU Group excluding Shijiazhuang
Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Junlebao”) CGU Group;

ice cream products CGU Group;

milk powder products CGU Group;

low temperature products CGU Group; and

Junlebao CGU Group.

20.

21.

HELEE @
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(@)
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E¥BEH—BD  DIR=ZZE—ZTFR
—E-=FYUARKE174,219,0007T & A
R #1,366,000,000 T Wi - UER ==
— N LA R #283,047,0007C & A R &
18,108,000 C W % - W iR E mIE AR Al
LERBELEFHSRAMEE AHESE
RAlERFH R_T—+tER_T—X
F+-A=+—8 LarEEREHH
AEZEEETRERH (MiE21) -

HMEIEAXBEMHN—D RZZT—
TER T — NEARBTS,147,000
TRENDEREEER  UREARXE
KA —BD R MENUARE
13,000,000 T WEN R FRIFE - Z5HA
B R AR EE B Y BRI E N F10
FEASFMEET Al A F IR E R R -

B & R F AR AR E R

BRERHAFRENERELRERFHREE
PEETIReELBU(ReELEM])
SR ELEMARN(ReEEEMAR )
TERERIH :

RENEMBELBMARN (ARE
BREAXERAR([BLEDRS
EHE BRI
KERERREELBMAR
PERRESELBMAER
KEEmMRETELBMAR &
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IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE
USEFUL LIVES (continued)

Goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives allocated
to each of the CGUs or CGU Groups are as follows:

. BERERFHEE
()

:OpERIER:EES

PREZREELSEMXREEFEMAR
MBS R AIE A F IR AR T

Ice cream Milk powder Low temperature

Liquid milk products products products products Junlehao Yiging® Total

HENER KEHER HHER EEER b1 g #t
2016 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016
3 IERE I2E ZENE IERE 3 “E5E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTR ARETT ABRETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Goodwil BE 349697 344316 72817 23865 3,685,029 3685020 142568 142,563 283,208 283293 - 48452 4532809 4507518
Trademerks [ - - 18,108 - 1,649,047 1,649,047 - - 114219 174219 - 18,108 1,841,374 1,841,374
349697 344316 90425 23865 5334076 5334076 142568 142,563 457512 457,512 - 66560 6,374218 6,368,892
f The goodwill allocated to Yiging CGU in 2016 was reallocated * ARAEENEA - T-REHEZE

to the ice cream products CGU Group due to the Group’s
reorganisation.

The recoverable amount of each CGU or CGU Group has
been determined based on value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets or forecasts
approved by senior management covering a five-year period,
except that the recoverable amount of a trademark with an
indefinite useful life allocated to the milk powder products
CGU Group amounting to RMB173,057,000 has been
determined based on a fair value calculation using the multi-
period excess earnings method based on financial forecasts
approved by senior management covering a ten-year period.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of
each CGU or CGU Group for 31 December 2017 and 2016.
The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

a) Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins
is the average gross margin achieved in the three
years immediately before the budget year, adjusted
for expected efficiency improvements and expected
increase in production costs.

ﬂ/ﬁiﬁﬁ}xiﬁflm%%é*ﬁ DB KGH
MERBESEEEMAS -

ERSELBENSBCELBMAR MR
E&HENERREBEAERENTFTY
BB TR A E%E Eﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁiﬁéfﬁiiﬂﬂﬁ
HRENERBETUNEE  EHEEDNH
ERBRESELSE u%ﬂﬁumﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
fZRy AT YL B & 58 A R #173,057,0007T ¢ 8l
NESRERA B AN T FHRIE A AE
% RAZHBBASRETENESNARE
FLAEERE ©

HE T tFER-EFEAF+ZA=1—
BEECELBMNIREEEEMMARINE
AEEREALETER TEELRRERE
TERETEERENRMEKENSEEIER
REFMN T

a) BEEMNX-ARETBREENXE
ENEENERREFEA =—FEH
B FHERME - I EEFRE R TT
N FRHAAE EE R ANIE AN T LAE 2 o
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21. IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE
LIVES (continued)

b)

Raw materials price fluctuation — Reference is made to
the actual data of the past year of countries from where
the raw materials are sourced.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGUs or
CGU Groups.

Growth rates — The growth rates used to extrapolate
the cash flows beyond the five-year period are based
on the estimated growth rate of each unit taking into
account the industry growth rate, past experience and
the medium or long term growth target of each CGU or
CGU Group.

The discount rates applied to cash flow projections and the
growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the five-
year period are as follows:

Discount rate

21. BERERFHBHFENRENS

(&)

b) RHHEBRES-2EZRAREER
EFERBUE -

o HERE-PIAFRKTIHA L RRE
BReEABMRRELEEGAN
B E LR o

d BEX-ARNEEAFHURASR
EMERE - IAREMNGEFIER
RREE  WEBTFRERE - BHE
KERERSELENSRTELS
AR REER B RAEHRT -

ARNRERERANTRERRARAF N
RIS MEMEMAIERET

Growth rate

bIEES BRE

2017 2016 2017 2016
ZE-—tF “E2RE —E-tf “2RF

Liquid mik products GGU Group RENERRSEFENAR 12.61% 11.40% 4.0% 4.0%

Ice cream products CGU Group KEMERREELBMAR 12.61% 11.27% 3.0% 3.0%

Milk powder products CGU Group ~ fihERR &£ EM AR 12.30% 12.16% 3.0% 3.0%

Low temperature products CGU Group {87 B3 ¢ & £ B4R 16.36% 16.75% 3.0% 3.0%

Junlebao CGU Group EHERSELEMAR 14.63% 14.71% 4.0% 4.0%

Yiging CGU EERSELEN n/a 13.63% n/a 3.0%
TEA TER
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IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE
LIVES (continued)

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with
external information sources.

During 2016, due to the deterioration of the performance of
the milk powder products CGU Group, the directors have
consequently determined to recognise an impairment loss of
the goodwill directly related to the milk powder products CGU
Group amounting to RMB2,253,794,000 (note 6).

The recoverable amount of the milk powder products CGU
Group exceeded the carrying amount of RMB451,978,000
as at 31 December 2017. Consequently, any adverse change
in key assumptions would, in isolation, cause an impairment
loss to be recognised. The sensitivity analysis for the milk
powder products CGU Group on the key assumptions used

21. BERERFHBERORERNSR

(&)

TERRNEEEIPBURIIR 2 -

—=EF— /\fﬁm Bﬂ?fﬁﬂﬁéuufﬁi§$$1
HRIMRIEAER  EBHBRATHREES
%ﬁﬁ%&uufﬁiéiﬁmﬂﬁuEﬁ?ﬁﬁ%mﬁ%
BARY? 253,794,0007T (fi5E6) °

R_TB—+tF+=-—A=1+—H DPERR
SEEBMAR M IE S REBAREEA
R¥451,978,0007T * Bt - WEZ/BES
BEERITFES - KHEmEDREREIE -
TEFEREERTANEERESBETHD
MPERRESEEEMARGRESITER

in the calculation of value in use, taken individually, gives the W
following results:
The amount of
Reasonably carrying amount over
possible change the recoverable amount
B T {538 38 T W [E
SEA RS E SENEE
RMB’000
ARETT
Revenue growth rate Decrease 2% 174,051
WA R 2%
Gross margin rate Decrease 1% 285,019
5 HA1%
Discount rate Increase 1% 529,042
Prif & #001%

Except for the milk powder products CGU Group, in the
opinion of the Company’s directors, any reasonably possible
change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable
amount is based would not cause the CGU’s or CGU Group’s
carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

E=ZRn BOVERRSELEMER
S - BETE AT UK [ & AR P A BRAR AV
EEAEEHITEEIRSELEUIAS
ELBVARRAERAEATKOIEE -
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

22. RIFERFIWRE

2017 2016

—E—+F AN S

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T AREFIT

Share of net assets B FEE 5,155,577 3,042,538
Goodwill on acquisition IWEEIES R 2,038,433 1,089,561
7,194,010 4,132,099

The Group’s trade receivable and payable balances
with associates are disclosed in note 48 to the financial

statements.

Particulars of the material associate are as follows:

7N £5 (B BB i N ) 2 T 0 R M BR R R AT B
TRAEERIN B 15 TR P £ 48 7P I -

BERBENRFENT

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
Particulars of registrationand interest attributable to
Name issued shares held business the Group (indirect) Principal activity
HMARL/ ERE rREEGHRE
£ BECRIRGFE EEBE B (EE) FTEEK
2017 2016
T2t NG
China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (i) Ordinary shares of Cayman Islands 60.77% 25.41%  Production and sale of milk
HK$0.1 each
PEBRBEERERAA) SREEO. 17T RERS 60.77% 64% EERNEFD

(i) Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member

firm of the Ernst & Young global network

REBEB LK GETRIVETS Pk 2ok 2R

AREE AR B R R EZ -
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq) 22, REtE N RNRE @)

China Modern Dairy, which is considered a material associate
of the Group, is a strategic partner of the Group mainly
engaged in the manufacture and distribution of raw milk and
liquid milk products.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group held 1,347,903,000
shares of China Modern Dairy, representing approximately
25.41% of the issued share capital and accounted for China
Modern Dairy as an associate using the equity method.

On 7 February 2017, the Group acquired additional
965,465,750 shares in China Modern Dairy at a cash
consideration of HK$1,873,003,555 (equivalent to
RMB1,662,834,000), which is equivalent to HK$1.94 per
share. As such, up to 7 February 2017, the Group owned an
aggregate of 2,3183,368,750 shares of China Modern Dairy,
representing approximately 37.73% of the issued share
capital. Accordingly, pursuant to the Code on Takeovers and
Mergers published by the Securities and Futures Commission
of Hong Kong, the Group was required to make a conditional
mandatory cash offer (i) for all the issued shares in China
Modern Dairy (other than those already owned or agreed to
be acquired by the Group) (the “Share Offer”), and (ii) for the
cancellation of all outstanding share options of China Modern
Dairy (the “Option Offer”, together with the Share Offer
referred to as the “Cash Offer”) on 14 February 2017. On the
final closing date of the Cash Offer on 21 March 2017, valid
acceptances of the Share Offer have been received in respect
of 1,442,400,662 shares and valid acceptances of the
Option Offer have been received in respect of 264,320,873
options, with a total cash consideration of HK$2,846,376,965
(equivalent to RMB2,526,985,000). As such, after the
completion of the Cash Offer, the Group held an aggregate
of 3,755,769,412 shares of China Modern Dairy, representing
approximately 61.25% of the issued share capital. Upon
completion of the Cash Offer, two additional directors
representing the Company were appointed to the board of
directors of China Modern Dairy. As a result, three out of a
total of nine directors of China Modern Dairy represented the
Company.

FERAHMERRSAEEEERENF
RAEEIZNERPMRENEREER
RRSH TSR SRBR IR A

MN-T—RE+-A=1+—0 x&EEEH
1,347,903,000x F BIIR R B ER 0 - 152
BT AN#25.41% » WE P EIR AR E
EB— KL A RIAEREAER -

RZE—+tF-_A+tH AEEKEHEH
IR R R 58 9M965,465,750 i 19 ¢+ IR &
K& 51,873,003,555 8 T (HHE R AR
1,662,834,0007T) * HE R BAXAR D 1.9478
TeoEM BE_E—+E-_A+H K
E B A4 ££2,313,368,750 0% F B IR R 4K
¥R - (BB BITIRAAI7.78% - Fit -
BEREEEFRPEEKERZESHM
FCARIREER A HSTRID) - AEBZAERZ
T—tF - ATMAR)KEEIEETH
BIRAKERG (AEEEHAXRRERE
BB DBRIN) (TR EH ) - K(i):EsEATE
18 AR AT B R B IR AR AR R B AR A ([ BE AR A
T4 BRBRNENEBAIESEYN])
REBRERFIERSEN - RELEYH
HEHIEAS =T —+F=A=+—
B % K 1,442,400,662 /% B 1n 2 B B4
BREEWEN - LAKR Y %264,320,87317 HE
BREZERETHEEFGREZEN KRS
KB 52,846,376,965 8 T (HHE R AR
2,526,985,0007T) ° At - RIEEZHTEK
% - REBEFHEA H£3,755,769,4120% F E
WARBERG - (hEBEITRAL61.25% o
RERRESELNE - BINMBREARE M
EERZANMATEBRERBMENESS -
bt FAENZPREBREESSEHMHESD
=ZRERARQF -
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22,

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continuea)

On 6 June 2017, the Company issued US$194,800,000 zero
coupon exchangeable bonds due 2022 (the “Exchangeable
Bonds”), which are exchangeable into 689,438,782 shares
of China Modern Dairy at the notional exchange price of
HK$2.1995 per share, representing approximately 11.24%
of the issued share capital, together with adjustment for all
cash dividends or distribution paid by China Modern Dairy
from 6 June 2017 to the exchange date. In connection with
the issuance of the Exchangeable Bonds, the Company, as
lender, lent to BOCI Financial Products Limited, as borrower,
689,438,782 shares of China Modern Dairy in aggregate
(the “Loaned Securities”), which represented approximately
11.24% of the issued share capital, of China Modern Dairy
in accordance with a securities lending agreement (the
“Securities Lending Agreement”). Upon the effectiveness of
the Securities Lending Agreement, voting rights in relation
to the loaned securities shall pass from the lender to the
borrower.

On 29 August 2017, the Group disposed of 30,000,000
shares of China Modern Dairy, representing approximately
0.49% of the issued share capital, for a cash consideration of
HK$41,400,000 (equivalent to RMB35,082,000), resulting in a
loss of RMB18,204,000 recognised in profit or loss (note 6). As
such, the Group held an aggregate of 3,725,769,412 shares
of China Modern Dairy, representing approximately 60.77% of
the issued share capital.

Aggregating the effect of the Group’s shareholdings of
60.77%, the potential voting rights of 11.24% shares
underlying the Exchangeable Bonds when exchanged and
the outstanding vested management share options (which,
when exercised, shall result in issuance of 50,930,832
ordinary shares of China Modern Dairy at the exercise price of
HK$0.86 per share, representing approximately 0.82% of the
enlarged issued share capital), management is of the opinion
that the Group has less than 50% substantive voting rights
over China Modern Dairy.

22, EAH?M/‘ AINIRE &

» = ti/\ﬂ/\a NN &) EEAT
194 800 000ETTHMN T - —FHHH T
RBEE([AIRBES]) - EAlRR

%% SHRE (SRR H2.19958 ) B A
689,438,782 1 BIIR R4 FE R () ((h B B 1T
ARAR#AI11.24%) » BRIGAHA-_ZE—tF/~AH
ANBEERA PP EEARBMENEEN
IE@H%%D%“»ME&EH*& o BREIT ] RIRME
% BE—HOERGE(TERRE]D A2
A(EAHER)RTREERSRERERA
AI(EARE T ) HifE 4 £689,438,782% 1 &
MR ERB([ELESF]) - HPBEEARK
EDBRITIRAL11.24% - BERELER
B EREFNERERERDETERETE

77_ o

R-ZE—+ENA=-+IB  xEEPE
30,000,000 % /B33 (R 4 ZE AR 10 ((h B 31T
ARAN#90.49% ) + IR E A41,400,0007%8
T(HEEMN ARES5,082,0007T) - EHAR
#18,204,000C B BN B ER(H:E6) °

At - REEFEE £3,725,769,412 % F
BUZR R AR ZE B0 (G B B TRRA#I60.77%) °

Bt AR EEAT560.77% MM - AT R IBE
FEEIAE B 11.24% B 10 BB 1R I 2 AE K2 i)
FIENERBEEEBARE(HETER
Fi%0.86 8 TMITH EEBHFHITHEIENR
W %¥50,930,832 % F M AR - (G A E B
TR AR 490.82% ) 2 A28 - %E%JE?«KE
EFENTRRAKENEE L ZED
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continuea)

When assessing whether the Group controls China Modern
Dairy, management considered all facts and circumstances,
including but not limited to the substantive voting rights over
China Modern Dairy, the voting rights attached to the Loaned
Securities and their inability to be exercised by the Group,
and the Group’s representation on the board of directors
in China Modern Dairy. Taking into account these factors,
management’s judgement is that upon completion of the
above mentioned series of linked transactions, the Group
has no control over China Modern Dairy. Accordingly, China
Modern Dairy continues to be accounted for as an associate
using the equity method.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of China Modern Dairy extracted from its financial
statements, adjusted for any differences in accounting policies
and reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements.

22. NEE N TINIRE @)

EFEAKRER S EHPRREAKER - &
BEERZTHAFELRER  8FETER
RABERRHENBEE LR ERE  BHES
PR B R ER L EGE AR ARETE - &
AEBERFERAMEESTENRE - £E
Bt EFRE - BEEHEE LR — R7EHE
RHTEKIE - KB B3R PR S
HRE o Eut - PRSI R — R
BRAIAERAANR

TRINRHBERRBMENMBERRE (F
BFREEMBERE - WIRSFTBERZEAZE5!
1ERR) M BAR & B S IR AR E Y $I5R -

2016

—E—RF

RMB’000

AREFIT

Current assets mENEE 2,704,500 3,552,655

Non-current assets EMENEE 14,013,081 14,256,049

Current liabilities mENaE (5,886,417) (7,825,119)

Non-current liabilities EmEBERE (8,742,735) (2,860,689)

Net assets FEE 7,088,429 7,122,896

Less: Non-controlling interests W IR R R (119,307) (101,383)
Attributable to owners of AR BER A EE

China Modern Dairy B AEN 6,969,122 7,021,513
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq)

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the associate:

22, REEE N TNRE @)
AREBREE N RS FAZNT ¢

2016
ZERF
RMB’000
ARBTT
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBEEE RGO 60.77% 25.41%
Group’s share of net assets attributable REE (LA A
to owners of the associate, BEABGEESE
excluding goodwill TRfEEE 4,235,135 1,784,166
Group’s share of net assets of an unlisted REFH(HEZ AR A
domestic subsidiary of the associate, —MEFELETFRFA
excluding goodwill BEFRE  TRERE 118,234 90,507
Goodwill on acquisition WESIES I E 1,998,289 1,048,421
Effect of fair value adjustments at PRIRZE—=FK
acquisition in 2013 and 2017, —E—FINERD
respectively NRERHELE (17,436) (58,014)
Exchange realignment P& 5 A2 (116,886) 301,224
Carrying amount of the investment KEREE 6,217,336 3,166,304
Revenue U A 4,783,801 4,862,311
Loss for the year RFEIE (994,847) (785,495)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FELHEEIEERE (994,847) (785,495)
Dividend received B B = -

The Group noted a significant fall in the share price of China
Modern Dairy compared to the average purchase price paid
by the Group for its shareholding and the profit warning
published on 30 January 2018 by China Modern Dairy had
constituted an indication of impairment. Accordingly, the
carrying amount of the investment in China Modern Dairy was
subject to an impairment test based on estimated future cash
flows.

The assumptions used for the discount rate and perpetual
growth rate were 11.50% and 3.00%, respectively.

AEBEEBIFERABENRERAEE
EBREM MO FOBEERE K - M
RERBERRER T N\F-A=THTI%
MENESEBBRETR - Bt - KA E
BRBENRERAEREBGOFRERER
EETRERNH -

FRERAKEREERDBIREZH11.50% R
3.00% °
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group’s all other associates, extracted
from their unaudited management accounts, that are not
individually material:

22, REEE N TINIRE @)
TREREBEREEMEZ N (ERm
SUAER)OFBER @M (EEEERE
EZEIERR) :

2016
—E-REF
RMB’000
AREFIT
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s ~ AEBENEL R AR ER
investments in the associates IREERRE 976,674 965,795
Share of the associates’: DRI E AT AT FIA ¢
Revenues WA 1,497,216 1,001,752
Profit/(Loss) for the year REFE,(E18) 30,164 (10,093)
Other comprehensive income His 2E e 3,617 =
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FE2mEmks (HE)
for the year “EE 33,781 (10,093)

All the above associates have been accounted for using the
equity method in these financial statements. The Group has
discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of certain
associates because the share of losses of the associates
exceeded the Group’s interests in these associates. The
amounts of the Group’s unrecognised share of losses of
these associates for the current year and cumulatively
were RMB24,494,000 (2016: RMB47,752,000) and
RMB138,307,000 (2016: RMB117,447,000), respectively.

AR E A R B RAERS AR YRR
NEE - AEBEERIEERERGS T
ERNRMNEE AREGEBEARMNEIAE
BEAAEENZEBRE QN ANER - RNF
A AEBEARERELZ S S QR BE
EREFTEES B A ARK24,494,000 T
ZE—RF : AR¥A47,752,0007T) A
R #138,307,0007c (ZZF—~F : AR
117,447,0007C) ©
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23. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in the deferred tax assets during the year are

as follows:

Deferred tax assets:

23. EEFHIE
ERECHEEESHNT :

BEREHAEE -

Tax losses Write-
available for ~ downof  Provision
offsetting inventories  fortrade Impairment
future tonet receivables of property, Un- Share
taxable realisable andother plantand  invoiced  Deferred award
Deferred tax arising from: profits value receivables equipment  accruals income  scheme Others
TEER% ERESR
EROAEN MAREE  HMEW 9% EE  AEBES Edd
BIEHARE - REEE WERRE FERK RRERE WERER  ELW B Ht &3t
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTZ ARMTR AR%Tn ARETz ARMTR AR%Tn ARBTn ARMTR
At1 January 2017 W=F-t5-F-H 235,202 9,486 12,835 1,163 142540 88,929 17,975 20978 529,123
Credted(charged to BRREE/ (XB)
proftt orloss (10,864) (2,382) 10,589 208 81,792 37,292 5,828 15470 137,983
Exchange alignment ExBE (1,680) {12 - - - - - - (1,69)
At 31 December 2017 R-E—+E+-A=t-H 200,678 7,09 23,424 131 24332 126221 23,808 36443 665,364
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The movements in the deferred tax assets during the year are

as follows: (continued)

Deferred tax assets: (continued)

23. ELEBIE @)
FRELERIBEEZLHHWOT : (8)

ERERAEE © (8)

Tax losses Write-
avalablefor — downof  Provision
offsetting ~ inventories ~ fortrade  Impairment
future fonet  receivables  of property, Un- Share
taxable  redisabe  andother  plantand invoiced ~ Deferred award
Deferred tax arising from: profits value  receivables  equipment  acoruals income scheme Others Total
AR EUESR
ERGMAN MAGEE  EtRN % BE  RERER #2
BEHERS : WEER WEREE ERE RRBEE OFERER  BOMA  £EE £t @it
RMB'000  RMB'OO0 ~ RMB'000  RMB'00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARBTR ARETR ARMTT ARETR
At1 January 2016 RZF-% 141435 5970 523 724 104304 38,302 3228 13048 307,534
Acquistion of subsiciares W T A F (a4
(note 44) 33,323 = = = = = = = 33,323
Credited to proft or loss BRMTE 58,744 3,516 12,312 439 38,236 50627 14,747 7925 186,546
Exchange alignment i3k 1,720 - - - - - - - 1,720
At 31 December 2016 RZF-AETZA=T-R 235,222 9,486 12,83 1163 142540 88,929 17,975 20973 529123

Management expects it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the above tax losses and deductible
temporary differences can be utilised in the coming years.

BIRE AR IRE A Al ge H IR BRI A
B AR AR b A A TR S 1R N AT HRLE B
HER-
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23. DEFERRED TAX (continueq) 23. EAEFHIE @)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of WEETIEE EW AR N8 B iR -

the following items:

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREFT
Tax losses arising in Mainland China (i) AR B ARREEER
%RIEJEﬂE(l) 2,116,670 1,362,175
Deductible temporary differences AR E R EE R 220,889 223,678
2,337,559 1,585,853
)  The above tax losses are available for a maximum of five years (i) FaiEEE A AR AR EAEER
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in BEATFERZRF -
which the losses arose.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect EAEFIE A E N M|t i R IE M T AR
of the above items as it is not considered probable that tax AR AR AR A Al Fil & I8 SRR FIEF
profits will be available against which the above items can be T o AR E B Ll o] HIR R R = R
utilised. The approval of tax authorities would also be required B ES ISR R HEE ©
to utilise the above deductible temporary differences by the
Group.
The movements in the deferred tax liabilities during the year FRELEMSHEEZSMOT :

are as follows:

Fair value
adjustments Fair value
arising from adjustments
acquisition of of financial
Deferred liabilities arising from: subsidiaries instruments
Ll SN
BEH SRMIAN
ELEaERSE ARERE AREBE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T ARBTT
At 1 January 2017 RZZE—tF—F—H 54,676 7,514 62,190
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss BREAXER/ (k) (4,066) 11,904 7,838
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+F

+=ZR=+-H 50,610 19,418 70,028
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23. DEFERRED TAX (continued) ﬁﬁﬁlﬁ(%)
Fair value
adjustments Fair value
arising from adjustments
acquisition of of financial
Deferred liabilities arising from: subsidiaries instruments Others Total
WEF A
EEH SBIAN
EILEAERE ARERE ARERE Hoth st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT ARETFT ARETFT
At 1 January 2016 m_7 ~NE-A—H 72,213 3,059 778 76,050
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss BN % &/ (RE) (17,587) 4,455 (778) (13,860)
At 31 December 2016 RIE—RE
+=A=+-H 54,676 7,514 - 62,190

Pursuant to the PRC CIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax
rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2017, no deferred tax liabilities have been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s other subsidiaries located in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled approximately RMB15,280,564,000 at 31 December
2017 (2016: RMB12,591,481,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

BIEF R EASEE - R BIREER A
INE D ERINRIEE E SR AR E AR
10% B - BEAREE S N\F— A
—BRBRER WEARN-ZEZTtF+=A
=+ —BEMELENEF o fHh R EINEE
BEEMB R AR ZEFIAREHE - B
REEENHEZR - AEBNEATEXA
5%310% » At - AEBERZENHH
AEKRZOTFARR—EEN\F—A—HR
EENRBNFS IR SFHETEIN -

—E—+tF+-A=+—8 UARALKE
5 AR B R B A B A 1 B A oK BB &R
fEMOENHERALMECHEEE - &
%i"ﬁﬁ%QEMﬂﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%ﬂm
AJRETETRIR —+tF+=-A=+—8 "
ﬁ*ﬁﬁﬂ#lﬁ@%@ﬂm&ﬁm%mﬁ
BEERAERRAECHBABEAROAR
#15,280,564,0007 L (ZE—7RF : AR
12,591,481,0007T) °

BERE AR R R HBR RS
BRER -

1T B 5 B P
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24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 24, £YEE
Certain subsidiaries of the Company are milk production ARARETFTFRRAFINEEDLE
companies that principally engaged in the production TERESTES AFETEFEAR
and sale of milk. Dairy cows are primarily held to EENZA - AEERBREHRRF
produce milk. The quantity of dairy cows owned by the NEENIFHERENSWT

Group and the output of milk at the end of the reporting
period and during the year are shown below.

2016
—T—RF
Head of
dairy cows
FL4-(58)
Milkable cows e 14,307 10,172
Heifers and calves N RN 18,935 14,602
Total dairy cows FLA- g 33,242 24,774
Milkable cows are those dairy cows that are held for MERFFEENRENILYE - NEHF
milk production. Heifers and calves are those dairy cows KN R RBEDNFREILY
that have not reached the age that can produce milk.
In general, the heifers are inseminated with semen when —RBERT  NEFERERELH141E A
the heifers reached approximately 14 months of age. AEERE - ONEAZEBBE - NF
After approximately a nine month pregnancy term, a LA - IAFBEERY - WMELAIFA
calf is born and the dairy cow begins to produce raw 15 o I EEEENLB05K - 2RE
milk and the lactation period begins. A milkable cow is AKIBOREZFLER ©
typically milked for approximately 305 days before a dry
period of approximately 60 days.
When a heifer begins to produce milk, it would be NEIEFRIRER - BIRE A N
transferred to the category of milkable cows based on BETARBEBRENFER - ZL4E
the estimated fair value on the date of transfer. The EWAEBNEZEER 22— T
sale of dairy cows is not one of the Group’s principal FTAWA o HEHENRBEEREE

activities and is not included as revenue. The sales of fMiE °
dairy cows are determined based on the actual selling
prices.
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24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 24- EWEE@E)
(A) Nature of activities (continued) (A) HEHBMHE @

2016

—ZE—RF

Tonne

Uz

Volume of sales of milk produced FTEHEE 115,517 59,808
The Group is exposed to fair value risks arising from AEBAZIEMEREDAEED
changes in price of the dairy products. The Group does ARERR - NEBIEFRA R ER
not anticipate that the price of the dairy products will IBREERTIZABBTE®K - ARFE
decline significantly in the foreseeable future and the ERA - WEAAAMNTETIAESAE
directors of the Company are of the view that there B 7] AT SZ R E Ath & %9 7] A LA I 2L

are no available derivative or other contracts which the LRERTRHER
Group can enter into to manage the risk of a decline in
the price of the dairy products.

(B) Value of dairy cows (B) H4EME
The value of dairy cows at the end of the reporting wEARMILFEE -
period was:

Heifers Milkable
and calves cows Total

NFERNE Uik #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARMT T ARBT T

At 1 January 2017 RN-Z—+F—H—H 242,078 237,308 479,386
Increases due to purchase A U B 388 hn 58,207 - 58,207
Increase due to raising AESE(FAEKA KR

(Feeding cost and others) H i) hn 190,987 - 190,987
Transfer L ] (150,199) 150,199 -
Decrease due to sales HER (1,898) (17,440) (19,338)
Loss arising from changes AR R EREEKA

in fair value less costs to sell S B)E 4 4 E51E

of dairy cows (note 6) (K3%6) (42,645) (20,454) (63,099)
At 31 December 2017 R_ZT—+F

+=-—A=+—8H 296,530 349,613 646,143
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24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continueq) 24, EYEE @)

Heifers Milkable
and calves Ccows Total
NG A RN e 5T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT ARETTT ARBTT
At 1 January 2016 R-ZE—XRF—H—H 182,488 107,335 289,823
Increases due to purchase A Uk B 482 0 69,737 = 69,737
Increase due to raising EESE (FEK A X
(Feeding cost and others) HAh ) 153,175 - 153,175
Transfer i (193,507) 193,507 -
Decrease due to sales HERL (848) (6,805) (7,653)
Gain/(loss) arising from changes #1422 £ (B $5 & A AN
in fair value less costs to sell SEE LRSS
of dairy cows (note 6) (Es18) (Ffizks) 31,033 (56,729) (25,696)
At 31 December 2016 RZZE—RF
+=-—A=+—H 242,078 237,308 479,386

The Group’s dairy cows in Mainland China were valued
by an independent qualified professional valuer. The
fair values less cost to sell of the heifers and calves are
determined with reference to the market-determined
prices of items with similar age, breed and genetic
merit, if the market-determined prices are available. Due
to the fact that the market-determined prices of milkable
cows are not available, the valuer has applied the net
present value approach to calculate the fair values less
cost to sell of these items.

Certain dairy cows of the Group with fair values less
cost to sell of approximately RMB52,748,000 (2016:
RMB51,810,000) as at 31 December 2017 have been
pledged to secure the long term bank loans of the
Group, details of which are set out in note 32 to the
financial statements.

AEERPEAENILFTHBIABERESRE
REGEE - WA RSHEEE - NNFR
PR RREROERATER2EFEK - @
BLREGEBMALONEBEENTSTEERE °
R EZERDHFOMIEER @ HEMEE
RFREE - AHEZFRBENAAERG
ERA

RZZ—+tF+=-_A=+—8 ©5H
ETIAHFHNRDAEBRBEEXRANAR
52748000 L (T —RNF : AR
51,810,000t ) E M IRIEAEE R AARITE
REER o FIBHR I REMT 32 o
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24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

The principal valuation assumptions adopted in applying
the net present value approach are as follows:

° The quantities of the existing dairy cows at the
end of the reporting period will reduce at a certain
culling rate due to the natural or unnatural factors;

o The culling rates adopted are based on the current
available breeding data of the Group and future
operating plans;

° The quantities of cows will increase as calves are
born;

° The expected average prices of milk during the
six projected lactation periods are estimated after
taking into account certain percentage growth,
future demand and inflation in the PRC for each
projected year;

° The cash flows for financing the assets and
taxation are not included in accordance with IAS
41 Agriculture;

° Costs are average costs based on historical cost
information; and

° The discount rate used was 13.34% as at 31
December 2017 (2016: 12.52%).

24. EYEE @)

&R EER R E T EMERR
ST

s RBEEPRNRENFTHEHKA
RBEARIIFB AR MR R (EE
KRR -

o  FIRMBARTERAKERA
ARG BEE R RARREES

g

o NEREBENTERE

s ERBEBAFEAETERAD
Lo~ RORFE SR e o B AR SR A T
A {E T FLE TR R B A0 TR
HISF 9 1%

o  WEREBBEREGEANFMHEL
X ABERBBEREHEESHR

T

o ARENBEKARERETFHK
ZANE

e R-T—+tHF+-_HA=+—H

FrR#IR & A513.34% (= — X
£ :12.52%) o
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25. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 25 HittEm&EE

2017 2016
—E—+F ZE—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBT T
At fair value through other RAREFEAHE
comprehensive income: FFAH M EE R
Hong Kong listed equity TARERER
investments in YuanShengTai EB_EHIREAERE 43,202 78,592
Hong Kong listed equity NS §
investments in China Shengmu B ETRAIEE 284,233 519,003
327,435 597,595
At fair value through profit or loss: NARBEFEAE
BE)FT ARG
Unlisted equity investments JEETRAIRE 31,599 38,529
Convertible promissory note AJ AR A 2 (c) 186,670 -
Short term investment deposits RERE TR (@) 9,392,108 4,139,490
9,610,377 4,178,019
At amortised cost: RESHAAS
Short term entrusted loans REZTER (e) 1,065,400 -
Long term entrusted loans RHRAER () 64,149 101,930
Long term entrusted loans due R—F A2 EH
within one year REZFEER (€) 46,361 56,247
Long term receivables RE UGB (f) 122,496 123,689
Long term time deposits REIEHTF R )/ 1,039,504 1,633,938
2,337,910 1,915,804
Total other financial assets Hitt & EERE 12,275,722 6,691,418
Current Vi) 10,690,539 4,195,737
Non-current FETRED 1,585,183 2,495,681
12,275,722 6,691,418
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25. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continueq)

Notes:

(@)

On 25 November 2013, the Company acquired 172,275,000
shares, representing a 4.41% equity interest, in YuanShengTai
Dairy Farm Limited (“YuanShengTai”), a Hong Kong listed dairy
company, with approximately HK$469,831,000, equivalent
to RMB369,396,000. Management designated the equity
investment as a financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income upon initial application of IFRS 9 (2009)
on 1 January 2014, as management considered it a strategic
investment for the purpose of securing high quality raw milk in
the long run. The fair value of the listed equity securities was
determined by reference to published quotations. A decrease
in fair value for the year ended 31 December 2017 and an
accumulated decrease in fair value as of 31 December 2017
with amounts of RMB35,390,000 (2016: RMB10,892,000)
and RMB326,194,000 (2016: RMB290,804,000), respectively,
had been recognised in other comprehensive income. In
January 2017, the Company’s shareholding in YuanShengTai
was diluted to 3.67% due to new share placement by
YuanShengTai.

On 25 May 2011, the Company acquired a 5.81% equity
interest in an unlisted dairy company with approximately
HK$125,322,000, equivalent to RMB98,531,000. Management
designated the equity investment as a financial asset at
fair value through other comprehensive income upon
initial application of IFRS 9 (2009) on 1 January 2014, as
management considered it a strategic investment for the
purpose of securing high quality raw milk in the long run.
The equity investment was subsequently converted into
269,865,600 shares in China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited
(“China Shengmu”) upon China Shengmu’s initial public offering
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited on 15 July 2014, representing approximately a 4.25%
equity interest in China Shengmu. The fair value of the listed
equity securities was determined by reference to published
quotations. A decrease in fair value for the year ended 31
December 2017 and an accumulated increase in fair value as
of 31 December 2017 with amounts of RMB234,770,000 (2016:
an increase of RMB105,263,000) and RMB185,702,000 (2016:
RMB420,472,000), respectively, had been recognised in other
comprehensive income.

25 Hit&mEE @

i

(a)

—E—=F+—A=-+HH  AXRQA
LA %9 469,831,000 B T (HHE R AR
369,396,000 ) * WE—MEFE LI
ENRREERBEARAA([RERE])
172,275,000 J& & 10 + 15 H 4.41% R% & -
M-ZE—E— A — B ERERBREITS
MELERFF(ZETAE )R BEE
BZBERANEERETEBURAENEAE
BEF A MEERENSREE 1LY
HRERERAEBEN —HRBRE 5§
ERREERDHRERE - ZS FHK
ABENAARBNRKBERMDNGREE
FeoHEZT—+FE+-A=+—BLEF
EARERDARES35390,000T(=F
—NE - AR#10,892,0007T) KR =
—+tFE+-A=Z+—BHRAABERHRL A
R#326,194,000L(Z T —/RF : AR
290,804,0007T ) + B R H b 2 M U 55 78
ReMNZT—+F—F ARREERE
G - ARRRRERENERENEE
%=3.67% °

—E——&FRA-+HHB  AEEMNU
47 125,322,000 B T (M E R AR ¥
98,531,000 T ) i — M IE LTI ERA]
581%MHE - RZE—HF—A—HHX
ERBRMBRELENEIR(ZZET N
F)R - BEESZERAEER T AN
AREFEEHEHTALBEEKED
SREE WIHTAREEERAEEBR
—BRERE  BERREEARNNE
REE RPEEREEDEFRA A
(ThEEHR )R —_Z—NELA+HEB
EEBBAERIMEBRARIERE XA
BER ZEBRAKEHZEERAETEH
B2 17 269,865,600 A% A% {5+ 1k 7 B 22 4K 49
425%FHE - ZEFTRABEFNRAAE
TIEBEMRNHHREMET - HE=-Z
—+tFE+-—A=+—BHLEEIAERD
AR #234,770,0007C ( ZZF — /N 4F - 0
AR¥105,263,0007T) ' AREHE-ZT
—+E+-A=+—BRAABEEHEMA
R¥185,702,000( ZF—RF : AR¥
420,472,0007T) © EREMEEREGRER -
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25. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continueq)

Notes: (continued)

()

On 7 September 2017, Golden Stage Holdings Limited (“Golden
Stage”), a 100% directly owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a convertible promissory note purchase agreement
(the “Agreement”) with AICE Holdings Limited (“AICE”) to
purchase the convertible promissory note in the original
principal amount (“Principal Amount”) of US$28,000,000,
equivalent to RMB182,753,000. According to the Agreement,
50% of the Principal Amount shall be automatically converted
into the ordinary shares of AICE on any day within ten months
from the closing date, which shall be a date determined by
the board of AICE, at US$1.14 per ordinary share. Golden
Stage has an option to convert part or all of the remaining 50%
Principal Amount into the ordinary shares or preferred shares
of AICE during the next round of financing notice or receive
the Principal Amount that has not been converted into shares,
together with all interests at the annual rate of 5%. The Group
classified the convertible promissory note as a financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss. During the year, a net fair value
gain of RMB3,711,000 (2016: Nil) was recognised in other
income and gains (note 5).

The Group from time to time purchases various investment
deposits from commercial banks for treasury management
purpose. As at 31 December 2017, the Group held
investment deposits of RMB9,392,108,000 (31 December
2016: RMB3,839,490,000) with principal guaranteed. As at
31 December 2016, the Group held investment deposits of
RMB300,000,000 with no principal guaranteed.

As at 31 December 2017, the investment deposits amounting
to RMB199,105,000 was pledged to secure letters of credit
and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Entrusted loans mainly represent the Group’s loans to certain
dairy farmers and China Modern Dairy via banks. The above
entrusted loans are unsecured, with annual interest rates
ranging from 4.00% to 8.96% (2016: 4.75% to 8.96%). As at
31 December 2017, these entrusted loans were neither past
due nor impaired and had no recent history of default.

Long term receivables represent the receivables arising
from disposal of certain property, plant and equipment to
independent third parties. As at 31 December 2017, those long
term receivables were neither past due nor impaired.

The effective interest rates on long term time deposits as at 31
December 2017 varied from 3.58% to 5.23% (2016: 2.94% to
5.23%) per annum and would mature in two to five years.

25. EthERMEE @)

HisE - ()
© WN=ZF—tFAALA  —H100%H

NQ A H % ¥ B 8 F 2 8 Golden Stage
Holdings Limited([ Golden Stage|)#2AICE
Holdings Limited([ AICE |) 5Tz AT # % X,
ZREERZE((ZBHED URERE ([
% |) B8 B 28,000,000 3 JT K A # i A K, 2
B (HEN AR182,753,0007T) © B1F
ZiaE o RELE B AR 1E B A E
—R(BMAICEEE=EEENRE) - X&8)
50% SR E B 14E T EBEIRA
AICEH)E A% ° Golden StageBEE K —
W Eb B A EA S R T H50% A € M E8
2 HEIRAAICER L BRKE LR - K
LCER 181 SR B R A AR 19 8 N & DA K B B 4
KE5%MFI B o RNEE K AT RRA N ZRS
BANDABEFEREEHFAEBRIZNS
MEE - RFER - DRABEREFEARE
3,711,0007C( =T — /R4  E)REARA
RS HER (FTFES) o

AEBTHAEXREEEMNMEER
TBAZEEEGTR R_ZE—+tF
+—A=+—"B AEEHEAEARE
9,392,108,000 T (= FE — X~ F + = A
=+—H : AR#3,839,490,000 7T ) &
ERASRBONBRETER - RZT—RF
+ZA=Z+—R8 AEBEEFHEAEARE
300,000,0007T & A & R BHILETF

RZZBE—+F+-A=+—H  BREEX
458 AR #199,105,000 TR IAESER
BT ERITREMBEER -

ZRAEREASERBRTANETHER
RRIRAKERENER - L ERFEEK
BEEA - FHENF4.00%E8.96%( =
T—NF  475%%£8.96%) c R=ZFT—+
FT-A=+—H ZELRFTEFRHAD
HATMERIE - ARG R AR -

REREFREREEETHE  BER
RETHBILE= MEENHEKRFR - ¥
“E—+tHF+-A=+—H ZERHEE
YR IR D e E TR SRS ©

NR-BE—+F+-_A=+—8 KHTH
FERHNBBREMNERNTF3.58%E5.23%(=
T— N 2.94%%E5.23%) © WHERRE
AEREIE -
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26. INVENTORIES 26. &
2017 2016
—E—+F —ZE—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Raw materials B 1,757,835 2,007,684
Finished goods ERK h 1,752,433 1,306,598

Total inventories at the lower of cost and A AN EL ] 43R FHE Y

net realisable value RIEEHENFERRE 3,510,268 3,314,282
The amount of write-down of inventories recognised as an BRARAXHNEEMRESERARK
expense was RMB84,998,000 (2016: RMB129,857,000), 84998000 L (ZE — RN F : AR
which was recognised in other expenses (note 6). 129,857,0007T) * WA H A B A (Hiz16)

R -

27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 27. BUWRREEE
2017 2016
=B+t i AN S
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Bills receivable S 61,897 212,780
Trade receivables FEUBR TR 2,705,969 2,198,968
Impairment BIE (121,032) (71,649)

2,646,834 2,340,099
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27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continuea)
The Group normally allows a credit limit to its customers which
is adjustable in certain circumstances. The Group closely
monitors overdue balances. In view of the aforementioned
and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a
large number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivables. The trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An aging analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and
net of provision, is as follows:

27.

AL ES AT )
AEBBRERTRFECEERE WA kE
HEBERTHAE AEEZFYBEEHRE
B o BN SCPTI N AR B A E URBR 3R
HERAETRBINEEER MU EEKNE
BEEdEE AEBETEREREWERES
AR R EMEERA - BUIRRIE
M AESF B, o

RI|ERR - RIBRBEEN R R RE
BEE B BN REOTAOT

2017 2016
—2-tF A
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT

Within 3 months =@EAN 2,439,605 2,041,533
4 to 6 months m=;51E A 125,377 224,670
7 to 12 months +ZE=+=@A 78,150 63,584
Over 1 year B —F 3,702 10,312

2,646,834 2,340,099

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

YRR EREZEZNT

2017 2016
=S =] T AF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T IN=ES

At 1 January R—HA—H 71,649 74,267
Impairment losses recognised EERBEEE 61,715 51,292
Transform from assets of a disposal group  EEB N EAFEFENE

classified as held for sale EWfEE 877 =
Amount written off as uncollectible 5| A Uk @ miis e 58 (11,211) (33,253)
Impairment losses reversed VERIEY =t 24El (1,998) (20,657)
At 31 December R+=—B=+—H 121,032 71,649
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27. BFWERF R EE @)

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of RMB104,398,000 (2016: RMB67,314,000)
with an aggregate carrying amount before provision of
RMB226,931,000 (2016: RMB215,617,000).

The individually impaired trade receivables relate to customers
that were in financial difficulties or were in default principal
payments and only a portion of the receivables is expected to
be recovered.

The aging analysis of the trade and bills receivables that are
not individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as
follows:

ot FEURR FOR B B R R B R — B B
1B JE AR 3k ) 5 48 A R 104,398,000 7T
(ZE—7"F : AR¥67,314,0007T) ' #%
BREBERAABEEIOREDAEAAR
#026,931,000 (=T —NF : AR¥
215,617,0007T) °

{18 71) A 1 M B ok 22 B A\ B 75 PR 3 3l B R 52
NAENEFER  BEHZRFREFEFR
A EIER S

118 71| 25 48 B8 25 717 1 ok 2 D B ) P M AR R B
FENEBRBRE DM T -

2016

—F—RF

RMB’000

ARET T

Neither past due nor impaired BEA @ B TR (E 2,367,895 2,132,649
Past due but not impaired BRI RERE

— Within three months —={@AR 2,644 23,365

— Over three months — =AML 9,822 5,453

2,380,361 2,161,467

Trade and bills receivables that were neither past due nor
impaired relate to a large number of diversified customers for
whom there was no recent history of default.

Trade and bills receivables that were past due but not
impaired relate to a number of independent customers that
have a good track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of
these balances as there has not been a significant change
in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable.

As at 31 December 2017, none of bills receivable was
endorsed by the Group (2016: Nil).

ARBHRAMERENEBERARRBERAE
TRBHNEP AR - RERIIHL EIER
FIARDER ©

B IR A 1B 0 2 ol (5 ) B A BR R I SRR B B
EBIEFER ZEEPRAEERNER
AR - REEBELR  ARRESER
REFHZSEHHIRERE  TEEE
B8 K H 88 B T A SR R A RN AT A
2HUME -

RZZE—+F+-A=+—H " ~EEHE
BERARKREBR(ZT—RF &)
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28. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER  28. fa{Y® ~ & R HEtEWFIE

RECEIVABLES
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREF T
Deposits e 15,778 47,601
Prepayments SEUNES 1,303,923 1,257,546
Value-added tax recoverable AR NI ER 344,749 346,978
Other receivables H fth e Y TR IE 819,047 919,953
Corporate income tax recoverable AR RS 16,021 37,624
Land use rights — current portion T {4 — BN EREE
(note 18) (FFzE18) 23,607 21,516
Long term prepayments (note a) RETB A R (FisEa) 73,067 88,959
Total prepayments, deposits and AR Ze Rk
other receivables H b fE U IR 4258 2,596,192 2,720,177
Less: Long term prepayments B REFTER K
— non-current portion (note a) —JEBNHAES o (P 7Ea) (54,769) (15,566)
2,541,423 2,704,611
Note: BIaE
(@) The Group has entered into long term raw milk supply (@ AEEEEAETHREIFATILRAR
contracts with certain milking cow raising companies. In BEMEEESH - BEZEFEH  A5H
accordance with these contracts, the Group prepaid for raw MARRME A FRE R ETE FRE -

milk supplies for the next two to five years.
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29. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND
OTHER DEPOSITS

29. HERBRITHEEFREMBER

2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFIT
Cash and cash equivalents as TRt ERERERD
stated in the consolidated ReERREEED
statement of cash flows 3,129,444 SIS 58581
Pledged deposits REBESER (a) 466,265 960,863
Time deposits TE BB 3,868,937 4,348,479
7,464,646 8,664,879
Less: Short term pledged deposits ¥ : $R1TEIEH)
for banking facilities HHREBESTX 30/32 (466,265) (960,863)
Less: Long term time deposits W RHE BT R 25 (1,039,504) (1,633,938)
Cash and bank balances as stated A4 E B IS AR R =Y
in the consolidated statement of Be RIRTTHEF
financial position 5,958,877 6,070,078
Notes: MI5E -

(@)  As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s pledged deposits were
for the following bank facilities:

@ WKR-T—tF+-—A=+—8B x%EK
BEERERRATRITREED

2017 2016

—E—+tF ZEREF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TRT AREFTT

Pledged to secure bills payable (note 30) AR A JETS FE 5 2R 4% (P 3E30) 201,612 137,136
Pledged to secure interest-bearing bank and IR LA ST S 8R1T R

other borrowings (note 32) HAib e B (H7E32) 249,276 811,271

Pledged to secure letters of credit ERAESERE 15,377 12,456

466,265 960,863
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29. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND

OTHER DEPOSITS (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
RMB5,655,060,000 (2016: RMB5,196,478,000). The RMB is
not freely convertible into other currencies. However, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at the prevailing market interest
rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods of between
one day and five years depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group and earn interest at the respective
time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history
of default.

30. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An aging analysis of the trade and bills payables of the Group,
based on the invoice date, is as follows:

29. RERBITHEFREMBER@

MREHR » REBUAARKE AEMNES
MR ETF 2 B AN ARKS5,655,060,000
T(ZZE—RF : AR 5196,478,000
TL) c ARBUWIEAERABRAHME -
SR AR IR AR B K B A SR B R R S A
B EENMNESERTE  ~AEEEEEB
EREEITINEEISMIRTT BARKER
BHEMEE -

RITFEFRBETISF R R o ERFHRTIR
FAKENNSREFRMENF—BER
FHNRRFRAFR - LARIRIEE BT RH
KR - ROTEEFERFRESFRDFRRE
BRI B BT R RERAIRTT

30. BN ERMRRE
7 g B R R R SR R R 5 L RO ARG
o :

2016

—ZE—RF

RMB’000

AREET T

Within 3 months =@EAN 5,569,969 4,733,321
4 to 6 months m=;51E A 633,662 638,773
7 to 12 months +Z=+={@A 116,853 23,768
Over 1 year B —F 21,789 9,758
6,342,273 5,405,620

The Group’s trade payables are unsecured, non-interest-
bearing and payable on demand.

AEENENEASEERA LS LERRE

SKEERFER
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TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (continueq) 30.

Included in the above balances, bills payable with an
aggregate balance of approximately RMB397,660,000
(2016: RMB345,704,000) were secured by the pledge of
certain of the Group’s deposits amounting to approximately
RMB201,612,000 (2016: RMB137,136,000) (note 29). Except
for the above, bills payable were unsecured, non-interest-
bearing and payable when due ranging from 3 to 6 months.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 31. &

EAERARR ZE @
Frh&mP BEHBEHOARE
397,660,000 L (ZFE — RN F : AR
345,704,0007T) KM N RIB AR KBS T15
RBEBHHARME201,612,0007T ( ZF— X
£ AR¥137,136,0007T ) (Hts£29) fEHE
o EltEN  BNEREAERITERS
B UER==2EAREIE -

HttENFRERARERN

2017 2016
—2—tF A
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT

Advances from customers KEBRFER 1,843,166 1,717,628
Salary and welfare payables R Fe kENE 1,279,031 911,725
Other payables H{th FEAS FRIE 4,202,026 3,881,533
7,324,223 6,510,886
The Group’s other payables are non-interest-bearing and REBEREMENKIB AR S RAREZREE
payable on demand. RFEE -

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 32.

BORROWINGS
2017 2016
E-tf 1%
Maturity ~ Fixed rate Floating rate Maturity Fixedrate  Floating rate
)i ik FEF%E Elil= (Ehailks ER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR¥ETR ARBTT ARETR
Current Gk
Short term bank loans, secured BERTES 588 2018 79,421 280,276 2017 135,000 768,091
“E-NF “Tt%
Short term bank loans, unsecured ~ BHIFITED BT 2018 1,255,929 2,789,500 2017 1,558,061 444,000
= “FtF
Current portion of long term RHFTERNADD 2018 8,188 36,660 2017 7,566 32,400
bank loans - secured -EE#A —E-0\% —E+F
Current portion of long term RRSTEZNSL 2018 156,230 69,100 2017 - 100,299
bank loans - unsecured —EEA —E-0\% —E—+F
US$500,000,000 3.5% bonds RZZ-=F%{1H 2018 3,259,723 - = = =
issued in 2013 500 000 OOO%E BN\
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32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

32. iTERTREMEE@®

BORROWINGS (continued)
2017 2016
“B-tf ZERE
Maturity ~ Fixed rate Floating rate Maturity Fixedrate  Floating rate
F%A BER=E RETI= gl Ehaik FEFIE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARMTR ARBTR  ARETR
Non-current FEH
Long term bank loans, secured RAROET  BHA 2019 5,830 20,000 2019 14,018 40,000
“E-NF —Z-NE
Long term bank loans, secured RARTET HHA 2020 - 13,340 = = =
bt 23
Long term bank loans, secured REBITER  HEA 2021 - 205,200 2021 = 117,600
B —T--F
Long term bank loans, unsecured ~~ REJR{TEZ - KA 2030 62,770 - 2030 68,000 =
“EZEE “EIZFE
Long term bank loans, unsecured ~~ REIRTED - A 2023 - 157,550 2023 = 179,650
—E-=fF “E_-F
Long term bank loans, unsecured ~~ REIRTEZ - KA 2020 - 2,780,807 2020 = 130,000
b S 23 223
Long term bank loans, unsecured ~ REIRTED - B 2019 99,000 1,400,025 2019 - 1,390,903
—8-hf -
Long term bank loans, unsecured ~~ REIRTEZ - KA 2018 - - 2018 150,000 =
—E-0\% —2-N\E
US$500,000,000 3.5% bonds RZZ—-=F%{7H = - - 2018 3,451,992 -
issued in 2013 500,000,000% 7 —T)\E
Z 8 K3 5%MEH
US$194,800,000 zero coupon BB ER{TH 2022 1,270,575 = = = =
exchangeable bonds issued 194,800,000 T - et
in 2017 (note (¢) and note 22) TR ER
(Ftt(e) Ritt2)
6,197,666 7,752,458 5,384,637 3,202,943
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32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER  32. B8 {TR EME S @
BORROWINGS (continued)
The repayment schedule of the interest-bearing bank and HESTREMEENERBHOT -
other borrowings is as follows:

2017 2016
—2—tF A
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT

Within 1 year —FR 7,935,027 3,045,417
1 to 2 years —ZEME 1,524,855 3,601,992
2 to 5 years MERF 4,269,922 1,692,521
Over 5 years RFLAE 220,320 247,650
Total interest-bearing bank and FPEIRITREMER
other borrowings Rk 13,950,124 8,587,580
Less: Amount due within one year B EFARBAED
included in current liabilities —F R BB F0E (7,935,027) (8,045,417)
6,015,097 5,642,163
Notes: BIsE -
(a) As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group’s interest- (8 RZE—tFRZZF—R"F+ZA=+-—
bearing bank and other borrowings were secured as follows: A AEEOF ERITREMEERKRIS
o

2017 2016
—g—t& et SN2
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBT

Secured by pledged deposits AR & 17 s A7 213,392 699,317
Secured by investment deposits LAY & 17 2K 3 49,421 =
Secured by dairy cows, land use rights and DAL « AR R

property, plant and equipment Y - BB KRR 319,219 415,358
Secured by all present after acquired IPNE Vil Eoilic) e Ky v

property of Yashili New Zealand PR A Y E IR 66,883 -
Unsecured IR 13,301,209 7,472,905

13,950,124 8,687,580
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32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(o)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-bearing bank and

32.

STEHRITREMEE @
BisE : ()

(o) AEBEATIEEHENF SR REAM

other borrowings were denominated in the following currencies: EEMEmENT
2016
ZT—REF
RMB’000
ARBT T
Hong Kong dollars BT 3,207,497 69,325
United States dollars e 5,941,819 5,605,820
New Zealand dollars b3wisl S 74,426 -
Australian dollars JRIT 12,053 -
Euro B 52,197 14,899
RMB AR 4,662,132 2,897,536
13,950,124 8,587,580

The floating annual interest rates of the short term bank loans
and long term bank loans varied from 1.35% to 6.72% (2016:
from 1.50% to 7.18%), which were determined based on the
interest rates announced by the People’s Bank of China, Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate and the London Interbank Offered
Rate.

The fixed annual interest rates of the short term bank loans
varied from 1.15% to 6.09% (2016: from 1.15% to 6.63%). The
fixed annual interest rates of the long term bank loans varied
from 1.20% to 7.93% (2016: from 1.20% to 7.93%).

On 27 November 2013, the Company issued five-year
bonds due 2018 with an aggregate principal amount of
USD500,000,000 at 99.456% of the face value. The bonds
bear interest from and including 27 November 2013 at the rate
of 3.56% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on 27
May and 27 November each year.

On 6 June 2017, the Company issued US$194,800,000
zero coupon exchangeable bonds due 2022, which are
exchangeable into 689,438,782 shares at the initial notional
exchange price of HK$2.1995 per share. The Group classified
the Exchangeable Bonds as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss. During the year, a net fair value gain of
RMB2,363,000 was recognised in other income and gains (note
5).

() HHRTEXRERRHBRITERNZBEF
RIFFEARBITAMAFE - HERT
AEFRERGBRRITRAZFEEEAN T
1.35% E6.72% ( —ZF — N F : 1.50% &
7.18%) °

EHRTEFRNEEFFNENF115%E
6.09%(=—Z—7"F : 1.156% £6.63%) °
RHRITERNEEFFEN T1.20%E
7.93%(—ZF—7N4F : 1.20%%E7.93%) °

@) R-FB-—=%F1+—A=+tH K{EH
TE-N\FIHNDFES  F288
75 99.456% M {8 £ 500,000,000 2 7, ° &
FHR_F-—=F+—-—A-+tH(BE
EH)REFNEISNTE REFAA
T+ BERtT—AZTtHHEFFRE—

R o

e RZE—+FEXNAARB - ARAIET
194,800,000 LR = - —F R HHNZ
BRIRBES  HAlRRBRIS 28 IBE
(SR 2.19957%8 T ) 88 5689,438,782
R - AEBAOEAIRBRESABANRR
EffEEEEHTABENEHEAE - K
FR - AAEREFEARE2363,0007T
REAUA RSP RER(HIEES) -
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33. OTHER LOANS

3. Htt &M

2017 2016
el - F
RMB’000 RMB’000
LSS ARETR

Short term loans HHIE®

22,912 52,559

Other loans are unsecured and interest-free. There were no
repayment terms for the Group’s other loans.

Other loans were all granted by local government authorities
in the PRC for the purpose of supporting the Group’s
establishment of production plants in various locations in the
PRC.

HWERAEEMAR LS - REBEMER
I R -

Hip &R 2P E S BAE R AR
SEETRZEw T RELEREMEDL
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34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

34.

A=

T

ATMIA

2017 2016
—E—tF —T—RF
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE =L BE afE
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
M ARETRT AR¥ETH NGNS S
Interest rate swap FEEHRED (@) 30,617 - = =
Forward currency contracts = HIIMNES 4 (b) 4,301 178 2,640 -
Interest rate forward contracts F|&izHIE 49 (b) 23,985 - 23,078 -
Commodity futures contracts 7 REIEA 4 (© 1,283 1,044 10,783 =
60,186 1,222 36,501 -
Portion classified as DERIERBEH
non-current:
Interest rate swap FERGHRAEY 30,617 - = =
Interest rate forward contracts Fl|ZiEHIA 47 23,985 = = =
54,602 - - -
Current portion RENEE S 5,584 1,222 36,501 -
Notes: BIsE -
(@  The fair value of these derivative financial instruments are @ WETLEERIANAABERKEE TR

determined by the counterparty of these hedge arrangements,
and reviewed by the directors of the Company, based on
contract value with reference to their forecasted HIBOR.

Interest rate swap contracts — cash flow hedge:

Interest rate swap contracts, taking effect in June 2017 with
expiration date in June 2020, are designated as hedging
instruments in respect of future interest of certain bank loans
with a floating rate of one-month HIBOR.

Since the notional amount and the terms of the interest swap
contracts match those of the bank loan agreements, the cash
flow hedges were assessed to be effective and a fair value gain
of RMB30,617,000 was included in the hedging reserve as
other comprehensive income.

PR ZEFETE  YRARRESFTERN
SHEERZRKENIIHBORETSE
B e

NMEEMEN—REREBEH

REZTF—tFNAER WRZT=TF
NABENFRERELN  WIEEARE
F#&— @ AHIBORKZ BN A K51 BR1TE
HHOARRFERBENEHFTE -

HRFMEEBRENONBESHERIGERE
BRTERBENEE B RIEREMRET
it - HEREHPWIEAERIAEARY
30,617,000t AR ENEEEREME
EUR S 5T A SR o
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34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

35.

(o)

In addition to the above interest rate swap designated as
hedging instruments, the Group has also entered into various
forward currency contracts and interest rate forward contracts
to manage its exchange rate and floating interest rate
exposures. These forward contracts are not designated for
hedging purposes and are measured at fair value through profit
or loss. A net fair value gain on forward currency contracts
of RMB1,4883,000 (2016: net fair value loss RMB2,371,000)
was recognised in other income and gains during the year
(note 5). A net fair value gain on interest rate forward contracts
of RMB907,000 (2016: RMB26,238,000) was recognised in
finance costs during the year (note 8).

To manage its price exposure to future purchase of raw
materials, such as white sugar, palm oil and raw milk powder,
the Group has entered into various commodity futures
contracts. The Group accounted for these commodity futures
contracts at fair value with changes recognised in profit or loss.
During the year, a net fair value loss of RMB22,880,000 (2016:
net fair value gain RMB13,567,000) was debited to cost of
sales (note 7).

LONG TERM PAYABLES

The Group’s long term payables represent the amortised
costs of the outstanding instalments payable for the purchase
of production equipment. The effective interest rate used for
the amortisation is the prevailing market interest rate. The
balances are repayable as follows:

35.

4. TEEM T A
fifsE « (4

b) BUEETAHETTEMFRERIN - &K
E@INET N ZIERINE S K R F R ixH
BHUNERHEERRZHFNEAR - %5
IRHIANWIEEEEE AR WIEAR
fﬁ.ﬁ)@a SEPE c BEHINEAS YR AENR

5% 58 A 51,483,000 ( —ZF — /N 4F ¢
NAEREFEARK2371,0007T) RE
RRER B E A RIS (i 3E5) © FIRiR
,Hﬁ/\i’]/&fc@%m;%% A R #907,0007T

— N4+ AR#26,238,0007T ) A F
W:Eu BB E A (FIFES) o

) AEBAREEERERBERME(HlNA
BE SRR R REN) MERRRE - A%
EEFVZEEREESYH - AEEBIL
#Pﬁuuﬁﬂﬂﬂ/\m&@ﬁfﬁﬁuﬁﬁ mARE
H B )RR B NEER o CRAREE
%a@rgﬁ/\la%mzeeoooo;z(f? NI
AR EWREFEARE13,567,0007T) E &
SHE AN (FTE7) ©

REEN R
ZIK%IE’JEHHF‘H%\IET ARBELERRE

XA RIRR SRR - BEFTERNE
RAMERDRITHIGNEX - FRABKRERD
e

2016

—E—RF

RMB’000

ARETT

Within 1 year —FR 27,345 57,111

110 2 years —EWF 10,894 25,773

2 1o 5 years MERE _ 11,141

Total long term payables K HAfE N S IB4ARE 38,239 94,025
Less: Amount due within one year W ETARBIEEREM
included in current liabilities JEN IR —FA

under other payables B HAZRIB (27,345) (67,111)

10,894 36,914

Long term payables are secured by the Group’s property,
plant and equipment (note 15(a)).

REEMNZFEARNEBNDE  BE L& E
VEIEHR (BI5E15(@)) ©
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36. DEFERRED INCOME

Various local government authorities have granted
certain property, plant and equipment to the Group for nil
consideration, have provided finance to the Group for the
purchase of certain property, plant and equipment, and/
or have financed the Group by way of a cash donation with
certain conditions attaching to these cash donations. Both
the property, plant and equipment and grants are recorded
initially at fair value. These grants are initially recorded as
deferred income. The grants relate to certain property, plant
and equipment are amortised to match the depreciation
charge of the property, plant and equipment granted or
purchased in accordance with their estimated useful lives. The
cash donations with unfulfilled conditions or contingencies are
only recognised in profit or loss when the Group satisfied the
attached conditions. Movements of the balances during the
year are as follows:

36. IEEWA

ZEBTERNEREERNAKERTETY
X BELRE REEETYE BER
REALAEERHES R HEBRELBR
ARAMFRSBRMNEE TIHRE) AASE
RERE - W% - BELMRBLBBERE
BARAES - L EMB S H SRR
A - BETYR - BB RRIBA B
ek A BRABANYE - BE&RE
M EFH RN TR - RIBEMG AMERFH
BH - REEZEDIFTMI S A IR REARE Y
BRI R @R AR BIED M & e R
RAEER AR - FAZERNEEHIT

2016

ZEREF

RMB’000

AREET T

At beginning of year F7] 668,478 348,768
Received during the year F R Y ER 316,614 357,204
Amortisation during the year (note 5) F R (HIEE5) (85,354) (37,494)
At end of year FE R 899,738 668,478
Current portion BNEAZE > 160,279 135,093
Non-current portion JERNEAEE 739,459 533,385

899,738 668,478
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37. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

37. HtE@mAE

2016
—E-RF
Notes RMB’000
B = AREFTT
Present value of redemption AIRE B RDLE
amount for potential acquisition 3H A& R AEZE A
of puttable non-controlling interests B[R £ %8R (B (a)/(b) 2,175,431 2,148,378
Portion classified as current SELAINHEREE
financial liabilities op=itSay (@ (545,594) -
Non-current portion JEBNERER > 1,629,837 2,143,378
Notes: Mot
(@) According to the equity purchase agreement entered (a) MWMEBEAEBR - BLERBLBENEER
into among the Group, Junlebao and the non-controlling PREFI SRR EREE B ZJSE & ) #
shareholders of Junlebao, the Group granted a put option AR AR 55 BB HE o TJ% i BHE-F

to the non-controlling shareholders under which the non-
controlling shareholders have the right to sell, and the Group
has an obligation to buy 16.33% equity interest in Junlebao
in each year ended 31 December 2016, 2017 and 2018
respectively, totalling 49% shareholding in Junlebao. During
2016 and 2017, the non-controlling shareholders of Junlebao
did not exercise their right to sell 32.67% in total equity interest
in Junlebao to the Group. At 31 December 2017, the Group
derecognised the carrying amount of the non-controlling
interests of RMB217,919,000 (2016: RMB186,425,000)
and recognised the present value of the amount payable
upon exercise of the option of RMB545,594,000 (2016:
RMB312,705,000) as a financial liability and accounted for the
difference in equity.

Under the equity joint venture contract entered into between
Inner Mongolia Mengniu and Danone Asia Pte Ltd. (“Danone
Asia Pte”) dated 9 August 2013, an option was granted to
Danone Asia Pte to terminate the equity joint venture contract
and sell the entire Danone Asia Pte’s equity interests in
the equity joint venture to Inner Mongolia Mengniu at the
exercise price within a 15-day period at the beginning of each
biennial (2-year) period from the seventh (7th) anniversary of
the relevant closing date under the amended and restated
framework agreement, subject to compliance with the then
applicable laws and regulations (including the Listing Rules)
by the Company, including the then relevant Listing Rules in
connection with connected transactions. As at 31 December
2017, the Group derecognised a non-controlling interest of
RMB601,541,000 (2016: RMB581,912,000) and recognised
a present value of the amount payable upon exercise of the
option of RMB1,629,837,000 (2016: RMB1,830,673,000) as a
financial liability and accounted for the difference in equity.

—"NF B —LtFRZET-N\F+=A
=+ HULEFESF  FEBRBESRE
BEEAAEEDEETHERLE
1633%5’]1&% AHAELEIONHI
HE o E-—RNER_ZE—L+FRN B
améﬁ BEREHATEERNAEELE
ELBLHROTHRENEN R T
—tFE+-A=+—8  AEEKRILER
FEFERR AR R R AR E(E A R #217,919,000
T(ZE—RF : AR¥186,425,0007T) °
WHERZRTERLERENOSRARER
BEARB45594,0007T (ZF—7R4F : A
R#312,705,0007T) * WG =B ARERS ©

B A 5 5 4 B Danone Asia Pte Ltd.
([Danone Asia Pte )FsISZHH IA=-F—=
FNANLEHEELE AR '+ Danone Asia

PlefE iy —THR B A& BIIREL
MIER S M B BER - &
W) FHEMAREIGARNRIEABEES

[ - ]I?izTTﬁFﬁW““ﬁF:ﬁjﬁDanone
Asia PteRA & B AR Z EPAHE - AR
WAJEE ST E AR A & >‘£%ﬁ(@%ﬁﬁﬁ
MADKRE - BIEER LA RIRENAREE
RBHRE - R=ZF— tiJr—H*Jr*
A AEBEKRIEERIETRRES
#601,541,000C( =& — X F : }\Eﬁ%‘
581,912,0007T) + I MERIRIT I8 B RER
EHemaEREAARK1,629,837,000
T(ZZT—XF : AR¥1,830,673,000
gL WS E AT ARER o



242 China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEIZ 4 I 2E5R AT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt %3 & Kt 5=

38. SHARE CAPITAL 38. R4
2017 2016
—E—+tF —ZE—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREF T
Authorised: JERE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each FIREEO.B T L @A 565,022 565,022
Number of
ordinary shares
ZEREE
Note ’000 RMB’000
MiEE TR ARET T
Issued and fully paid: BEITRET
At 1 January 2017 N_ZE—+tF—H—H 3,925,027 357,374
Shares issued under the equity- RIE AR 2T EY
settled share option scheme BERCRE ST 2127 T IR D (a) 2,334 198
At 31 December 2017 R-E—+tF
+—A=+—H 3,927,361 357,572
Number of
ordinary shares
EZiEREE
Notes ’000 RMB’000
Mz TR ARET T
Issued and fully paid: BETRETE
At 1 January 2016 RZZE—RF—HF—H 3,923,977 357,262
Shares issued under the RIE AR SZ A9
equity-settled share option scheme BERCRE R 21287 T IR D (a) 7,166 635
Shares repurchased and cancelled f& ) BE |l K i SE (o) (6,116) (523)
At 31 December 2016 RNZE—N
+=-A= 3,925,027 357,374

Notes: FisE -

(@)  Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share (@ AAFEBRERERBRIRZTEEITHE
options issued under the scheme are included in note 41 to the IRERFHIE IR I RER A E41 -
financial statements.

(o) During 2016, an aggregate of 6,116,000 shares were ) RZZT—ARFARN - AQAEERFHEHL

repurchased and cancelled by the Company, resulting in the
decrease in share capital of RMB523,000 and share premium

of RMB57,619,000.

6,116,000 A% i% 7

CEEUR O BRAARE

523,000 7T X & 17 % fB A R # 57,619,000

JT °©
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39. OTHER RESERVES
The movements of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 114 to
115 of the financial statements.

On 25 January 2017, China Modern Dairy acquired
an additional 45% equity interest in a subsidiary at a
consideration of 338,602,205 shares issued to the
sellers. The acquisition was accounted for as an equity
transaction, and as a consequence RMB555,297,000,
representing the difference of the fair value of the
consideration shares over the amount by which the non-
controlling interests were adjusted, was charged directly
in the equity of China Modern Dairy. Accordingly, an
amount of RMB132,631,000, representing the Group’s
share of the change of interest in the equity of China
Modern Dairy, was accounted for directly in the Group’s
other reserves.

On 14 February 2017, the Group made a conditional
mandatory Option Offer for the cancellation of all
outstanding share options of China Modern Dairy
(note 22). On the final closing date of the Option Offer
on 21 March 2017, 264,320,873 options of China
Modern Dairy were acquired and cancelled. The
cancellation of share options of China Modern Dairy
resulted in transferring an amount of RMB204,543,000
accumulated share option reserve in respect of
these cancelled share options to retained earnings
of China Modern Dairy. Accordingly, an amount of
RMB125,283,000 was accounted for directly in the
Group’s other reserves.

Inner Mongolia Mengniu, an indirectly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into an equity interest transfer
agreement to acquire a 48% equity interest in Beijing
Mengniu Hongda Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Hongda”)
from an independent third party at an aggregate
consideration of RMB264,000,000 in the form of cash.
On 26 December 2016, the transaction was completed,
which resulted in the increase of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu’s interest in Beijing Hongda from 52% to
100%. This acquisition was accounted for as an equity
transaction, and as a consequence the difference of
RMB185,494,000, representing the amount of the fair
value of the consideration over the amount by which the
non-controlling interests were adjusted, was charged
directly in equity.

39.

H e
AEERNRERTEFERBAFENRZEBS
) HREEHRERFI14BZE115HNE
AEREBHRNA -

R-ZE—+E—F-+HB  7ER
REEWE —RFRA)EINSY [
# - R{E AR E X 17338,602,205
et - BREEKIEET BIRER S - i
it + AR #555,297,0007T ( BRERK
M EVA o BB FEE IR AR R 2 A8 78
BRENEBZEZF)EEENPEHE
REEZEETNR - Bl - AR
132,631,0007T ( A& 7~ & [ fE 1 R B3R
REEREZERED) CEERTS
B H A ER IR -

R-ZZE—tF-_A+MA  AEBEIR
A R M B AR E L AR E AT
P BIR AR K IR BB AR (B 5E
22) c REBREZ M ZEE LB
T—+F=H-+—H 264,320,873
19 P B IR 3 B AR R W R I 5T
o AHPRBRAREZ BRIEERK
MZFOTHBRENRABRER
#H A R # 204,543,000 T ZE Fh H
RARMENREB RS - Bt - AR
125,283,000 B R A B H b 1
FRZIER o

AABEBEREENTRARIRNREER]
SRR E R MBS = SRR
ERSERENFREREA QA
(Tt RE=E|)48% A HE - RBERE
A AR #264,000,0007T © LEEL X
ffoeZFB—XRF+ZA=+B R
SRR RESFERIERRENED
F52%18 2= 100% ° WL IEWE AR B
—IERERS At Z2EARKE
185,494,0007L ( BREM AR BB D
SRR R ESCHAENSRE) DER
MR P IORR o
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39. OTHER RESERVES (ontinueq) 39. Hfthf# M

(d) In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and (d) BEFREEEEZRERNRE  +
regulations, the PRC domestic companies are required WA BB KRS EFE D
to transfer 10% of their profit after income tax, as 10% (RIEFESFHERRFBUAR
determined under the PRC accounting standards and BE)EBE LT AES - BEAEEA
financial regulations, to the statutory common reserve. A ENMERTEA TRSNSETE
Subject to certain restrictions as set out in the relevant REABS OB ZEE (N
PRC laws and regulations, the statutory common H) o
reserve may be used to offset against the accumulated
losses, if any.

40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 40. RERERERKRMHE

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions (@) EXRFRERS
During 2016, the Group purchased property, plant RIE—RNFAN - AEFREBRAE
and equipment by means of long term payables with a NERIE » BIA #)FRIE AR R SE P AR
total contractual amount and a total amortised cost of @ =E 5 Bl 49 A R #30,697,0007T K& A
approximately RMB30,697,000 and RMB29,338,000, R #29,338,0007T W) T A IEE W% -
respectively. 5 K 7%

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) REBMETBHNEBESH
activities

US$194,800,000
Z€ro coupon
US$500,000,000 exchangeable
3.5% bonds  bonds issued Long term
Bank loans issued in 2013 in 2017 payables

R-B-=§

BOM  RIE-tE
500,000,000% T RO
E8% 194,800,000%

BOER  35%MEF BETREES REEMR HER

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE  ARMTR  ARWTR  ARMTZ  ARWTR

At 1 January 2017 RIZ—t5
—A—A 5,135,588 3,451,992 - 94,025 52,559

Changes from financing BERERE

cash flows 4,479,290 - 1,317,061 (59,780) (18,323)
Interest expense HERY - 8,330 - 3,994 =
Net fair value gain on ke Sanbnt:3

zero coupon exchangeable TEARSER

bonds due 2022 INEL Gt - = (2,363) = -
Other changes Ath &) - = = = (11,324)
Foreign exchange movement [ 5 25 (195,052) (200,599) (44,123) - -
At 31 December 2017 NSt o2

=+-H 9,419,826 3,259,723 1,270,575 38,239 22,912
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41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 41, BIRESTE

The Company operated two share option schemes (the “Share
Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of the Share
Option Scheme include the Company’s directors, including
independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the Group, suppliers of goods or services to the Group,
customers and any person or entity that provides research,
development or technological support to the Group. The
share option scheme adopted by the Company on 28 June
2005 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) had expired on 27
June 2015. On 3 June 2016, the Company adopted another
share option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”),
and the New Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a
period of 10 years from the date of adoption.

The maximum number of shares in respect of share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise,
to 10% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval and adoption of the Share
Option Scheme provided that the Group may at any time
seek approval from its shareholders to refresh the limit to
10% of the shares in issue as at the date of approval by
the shareholders in a general meeting where such limit is
refreshed. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Share Option
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the
total shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further
grant of share options in excess of these limits is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

2R B R ST R B B A At U ([ B8 et
2 BNAMBHAKREEEXIIEL
BERMEER2EE  WRARF(FHEER -
BREENAERFTE2EEREARQT
EX(BREUIFNTES)  AKEZH
WER ARBZEmIRGHER TP
AR A S B AT - %%ﬁ&ﬁi%%
EAALHER - ARBR_ZTZTHFRA
—tN\BRARERE S ([ BB
ENER-_ZT—AFAA-TLHIH - R
“E-RFRNAZR ARFRASBR
RT3 ([Fr BT )) - ATt &l
B%EAAMETFRBR -

B RIBB AR B TR O OBRELTT

ERATHRTHNRNEE ZZHERNLAF
FEHL/E MR BB AR 812 B E BTN 42
B10% » MEAEH A] BE R BURBURHL/EHS
REHEE RBRNE B LREEHRER
RELROERILEE AERITRMI10% °
PER+ @A RER - RIRBIRER 1T
TREREAIANELS ERSEENRN

B RZANEMNREARR S HTRMNAR
1% o LR B ERBE G ERABE

PBERBRRNBERAS L -
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41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or
to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares
at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options under the Old Share
Option Scheme may be accepted within 20 business days
from the date of offer, upon payment of a consideration of
HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the
share options granted is determinable by the directors, and
commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a date
which is not later than seven years from the date of offer of
the share options.

The offer of a grant of share options under the New Share
Option Scheme may be accepted upon payment of a
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and
ends on a date which is not later than five years from the date
of offer of the share options.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
closing price of the Company’s shares on the offer date of the
share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of
the Company’s shares for the five business days immediately
preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of the
shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

41.

AERR RE ST 3 ()

AARARESR  TETHRAEREEAREK
1% S AIEE A R BB A AE A B A B S FF
BITESFEAAE - o - BNEA+ =@ A
ERRS P - MLIAAA A E B EE SkBT IEEAT
BRI ME 2 T AR AT RIEEIRAE
BENEAEEAR R D BT’ 0.1%K
BEEREDEBEARRRGOKMmETE

#45,000,00078 7T + M BLRERREA
g LESHE -

ERAREBBAER S T AR LB
ZHAR0MEEXAAUIMNREEHKTVET
B ROBRENTEDRHESS
RTE - TEHBE - RERRET RETE
RIRLBREZZR F 2 AL -

ERARFERE S TR AREEH
1B TR AL ER - REBRENITENR
EEQRE  TEHEX -—BBHRESR
ENERELBREEZZAAFZAKLE -

BRBITEERESETE @ ENAMER)A
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(AR ROV EZEZR L AT A@ES
KRBT RA Y TE ¢ KB
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continueq) 41. BRETTE m)

Exercise period of

share options Exercise price Weighted average fair value
Date of grant (both dates inclusive) per share option (note d) per share option
ERENTEIM BHBRED BHBRED
BB (BfFERE™A) THEE (M) MERHARE
(HK$) (HK$) (HKS) (HK$)
(B7) (B7) (B7) (B)
Before After Before After

bonus issue bonus issue bonus issue  bonus issue

BATALR A BITALRE BATALIR A BITAR®E

10 October 2011 10 October 2015 to

9 October 2018

(note a) 2410 12.05 8.37 419
—E—%+A+H “E-AFTtA

TRHEZZE-N\F

+ANA (HzFa)

13 July 2017 13 July 2018 to
12 July 2022 (note b) 14.812 n/a 3.99 n/a
—T—tFLA+=H —Z—-\FtH TE M TNEH
T=EZE
T F
+ A+ =B (HzFb)
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41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Notes:

(@)

The share options will be vested in two equal batches with
50% of the share options granted vesting on the fourth and fifth
anniversaries of the date of grant. In addition, the share options
will only be vested if and when the pre-set performance targets
of the Group, the division of the grantee and the grantee are
achieved. Unless all of these targets are met, the share options
will lapse. The share options have a contractual life of seven
years.

The share options will be vested in two equal batches with
50% of the share options granted vesting on the first and
second anniversaries of the date of grant. In addition, the share
options will only be vested if and when the pre-set performance
targets of both the Group and the participants are achieved.
Unless all of these targets are met, the share options will lapse.
The share options have a contractual life of five years.

The exercise price per share option was the average closing
share price for the five business days immediately preceding
the grant date or the closing price of the shares on the grant
date.

As at 30 October 2015, bonus shares were issued by the
Company on the basis of one share for every one existing share
held as of 19 October 2015. As a result, the exercise price for
share option granted on 10 October 2011 was adjusted.

All the above options granted have no cash alternatives.

41. BBRAETTE )

G

(@)

BREBSR_ENHEE  50%ERH
BRERAELBREFOEAEBSE
B o b MEEIAKE  ARARE
BRERARANBEERBRBE  MERE
BREDERRB - WAEER LR2EE
1% BIA B AR Rk - R R 2 2249
HRHLSF -

BREBSOA_SNEE  50%E&RH
BREXNARHN AR — M [EAFH

B o ptoh - MEEIAEERZ2ERENT
EXRFBFRE RBEMERELDERE - 4

REEEH LM 2B R - AAEBERES
R - BB RO MMBHTE -

BOBRENTEEDEERRE RS R
1% 2 B 80 F 1 B in e B s iR B A
RRAP YT E -

R-ZE-—RAF+A=1+H XRFER
Z-AETATABERE—KREBKRD
BT IR B ERERAITAMR - Eit - &
“E—F+ATERONBRENITE
BEIFHE -

LRAERENBRES Y EREERM
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. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continueq) 41. BBRAETTE )
Movements of outstanding share options WARTERRESS)
Forfeited/ Exercisable
As at Granted Exercised Lapsed As at at
1 January during during during 31 December 31 December
2017 the year the year the year 2017
R=E-t%
R=2-t%# R : T=B=+-H
Date of grant RHAH -A-H FRRH FRTE R/ &R AT
10 October 2011 “T—%+A+A 2,333,946 - (2,333,946) - - -
18 July 2017 “Z—+E+A+=H - 10,930,005 - (480,790) 10,449,215 -
Total @z 2,333,946 10,930,005 (2,333,946) (480,790) 10,449,215 -
Forfeited/ Exercisable
0As at Granted Exercised Lapsed As at at
1 January during during during 31 December 31 December
2016 the year the year the year 2016 2016
RZB—RF
RZE—RE TZA
RZE—7%E R +-A =t-A
Date of grant =) -fA-H EREH FRE BK/KR =1+-H A1

100ctober 2011 —E——%+A+H 41,199,682 - (7,165,736)  (31,700,000) 2,333,946 2,333,946
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41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continueq) 41. BRETE @

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, out of the total R-E—+F+-_A=+—BEARTE

outstanding share options of 10,449,215 (2016: 2,333,946) as B BB A% #E $£10,449,215 ( —Z & — ;X F -

at 31 December 2017, 22,500 (2016: Nil) share options had 2,333,946) (B EE M - 22,500( = F

lapsed due to the unfulfilment of vesting conditions. —RE B )VHAXREIEBIEEMARS

HARIB R -

The fair value of the share options granted during the year RERNBRTFTERENAALAEECRTHHG

was estimated to be RMB43,621,000 (RMB3.46 each) A ARA43,621,00070 (515D ARES.46

at the grant date. The Group recognised an expense of TT) c REBRFRNERBEBEREALE

RMB12,582,000 (note 7) relating to the fair value amortisation BT ARE12,582,000T (=& —<

of share options during the year (2016: Nil). F ) (MFET7) -

The average fair value of equity-settled share options granted REREHARD M EIREZ FH9 A 1

during the year was estimated to as at the date of grant BIOARABFLAEFER BB ENETE

using a binomial model, taking into account the terms and T WEZRBBAEREZE DGR RGE

conditions upon which the options were granted. o

The following table lists the significant inputs to the model TREDFAEED ~ & K ASE -

used:
Dividend yield (%) REE(%) 0.65
Expected volatility (%) TEEE B R (%) 32.18
Historical volatility (%) FE LR (%) 32.18
Risk-free interest rate (%) ERRFIE(%) 0.97
Option life (years) FEAREF HA(F) 5
Spot price (HK$ per share) WEEBGERL/E8K) 14.62
Exercise price (HK$ per share) TEEGET,/ 8%) 14.812

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may
also not necessarily be the actual outcome. The spot price is
the closing price of the Company’s shares at the grant date.
The exercise price is the average closing price per share as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the grant date.

TEHIR B R IR AR FE LR B R A] R AR R B2
MER BT —ERERER - REER/A
RARMPRE L BT E - TEERR
BB AEE R AR HERESR
PrOIER A (D P YT {E -
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The 2,333,946 share options (2016: 7,165,736) exercised
during the year resulted in the issue of 2,333,946 (2016:
7,165,736) ordinary shares of the Company and new share
capital of RMB198,000 (2016: RMB635,000) and share
premium of RMB23,683,000 (2016: RMB75,829,000), as
further detailed in note 38 to the financial statements. The
weighted average share price at the date of exercise of these
options was HK$17.71 (2016: HK$14.58).

At the end of the reporting period of 2017, the Company had
no vested share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The share award scheme of the Company was adopted by
the board on 26 March 2013 (the “Adoption Date”). The
purpose of the share award scheme is to provide an incentive
to encourage the participants for the continual operation and
development of the Group.

Subject to the terms of the share award scheme and the
Listing Rules, the board may at any time make an offer to any
eligible person whom it may in its absolute discretion select to
accept the grant of an award over such a number of shares
as it may determine (the “Participants”). Existing shares of
the Company will be purchased by an independent trustee
(the “Trustee”) of the share award scheme from the market
out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for
the relevant Participants until such shares are vested with the
relevant Participants in accordance with the provisions of the
share award scheme. The shares of the Company granted
and held by the trustee until vesting are referred to as the
treasury shares and each treasury share shall represent one
ordinary share of the Company.

41.

42.

AERRREST 8 ()

2,333,94617 (= ZT — /< : 7,165,7361%
BRENFRNITE - A #172,333,946
B (ZF—7N%F 7,165,736/ ) A A T L@
fg - EEFKRANAARK198,000L(=ZF
—NEF  AR¥635,0005T) 0 BMHHEEBEA
R#23,68300L(=ZF—/~F : AR¥
75,829,000 T ) + #F 1B N B3R K W &
38 o WEBBRENITEBNMETIRES
17. 7187 (ZZF—7RF 1 14.5887T) °

R-ZFB—tFHREHK - ARBAEERE
AEETHERBARITREERE -

BEREREE
AARREEMHF BN -"T—=F= A
—+AR(MRME ) REERRM - BF
B S ERD S RE BE AT EENE
ERBERIEHES -

RERRRZRTIGRELTRA  EFE
AEERAEAEERALERELN  BHAE
RALTRBENBERERAEZTSRERON
BREBRMNHBE ZZ/([28E]) - KEER
AEBLRAEA(ZFADAREELE
MRENMHE LBEARRREGRN - KA
ERARER2EERE  BEZEFRD
RERRRERFTINGEXEENERSEE
Bl - ERHEAXTEAREEERBENAN
RABMEASEEFRD - MEEFRD &R
RAF]—REBER -
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42. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continueq) 42. RERBHE w0

No shares shall be purchased pursuant to the share award BHER D IR AN R R TEERBE - JhE
scheme, nor any amounts paid to the Trustee for the ATEASINEMBTEAELEBEE -
purpose of making such a purchase, if as a result of such WAEBEEE  BEAREEBTEIEED
purchase, the number of shares administered under the share R EBBEANT D ETIRAE% - WNMF
award scheme shall exceed 5% of the issued capital of the AR ATREIR T B8 —REEMRESE LR
Company. The maximum number of shares which may be AT SHBARM A HAQREBITRA
granted to a Participant at any one time or in aggregate may 0.5% °

not exceed 0.5% of the issued capital of the Company at the
Adoption Date.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the RN EES LB FENTARERIE K
board, the share award scheme shall be valid and effective =SB TSR B R ST R IR N —
for a period of 5 years commencing on the Adoption Date. BEEMBREHR AR E—+F+A+=H"
On 13 July 2017, the directors of the Company approved AR ESZRELERRZEETENAN
to extend the validity period of the share award scheme for O RFE T -_=F=A_1+/,"H-

approximately another five years to 26 March 2023.

Particulars and movements of share award BRERETEFEFELESH
scheme
Asat  Granted Vesting  Forfeited As at
1 January during during during 31 December
Notes Fair value per share 2017  theyear  theyear  theyear 2017
R
i 2-tF
Z8-tF 128
(i SRARE -A-R ==k
(HKS) (HKS)
(m) (%7
Before Agter
bonus bonus
issue issue
Date of grant RiLAH ROAkE ROAR%
2 April 2015 “2-R%NAZH (b) 40.10 205 2,131,822 - - (2,131,822 -
11 April 2016 “5—\FNAT-A n/a
©) 1242 FER 17,656,008 - (6,379,066) (1,277,837) -
18 July 2017 “EtELATER n/a
e) 14.62 TER - 6,998,575 - (228,560) 6,770,015

9,788,725 6,998,575 (6,379,066) (3,638,219 6,770,015
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42. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continueq) 42, RERBE @
Particulars and movements of share award scheme REZETZFERET (@)

(continued)

Asat Granted Vesting  Forfeited Asat
1 January during during during 31 December
Notes Fair value per share 2016 the year the year the year 2016
R
I Y3
IRE t=A
i BRAAE -A-R  EARE  ERBEE  EREK =1-A
(HKS) (HKS)
(A7) (1)
Before After
bonus bonus
iSSue issue
Date of grant RiLA% BmE Bk
26 April 2013 “E-=ENA-15A (a) 21.65 1083 9,345,600 - - (9,345,600) -
2 April 2015 “E-R%NA-H (o) 40.10 2005 3738210 - - (1606388 2,131,822
11 April 2016 ZE-"¥mAT-A a
() 1242 TR - 14492753 (5,104,602 (1,731,248 7,656,903
21 September 2016 ZE-7FARZTH n/a
(] 13.96 Byl - 10,653,825 - (10,653,825) -

13,083,810 25146578 (5,104,602 (23337,061) 9,788,725
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42. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

Notes:

(@)

On 26 April 2013, a total number of 17,569,400 shares,
representing 0.99% of the issued capital of the Company as
at the adoption date, were granted to the Participants. Out of
the total shares granted, 8,425,800 shares were granted to
the Chief Executive Officer, who is also an executive Director
of the Company (resigned as the Chief Executive Officer and
executive Directors on 15 September 2016), which would
vest in five tranches each on the first, second, third, fourth
and fifth anniversaries of the grant date in accordance with
certain vesting conditions (including the Group’s performance
targets), subject to the publication of the full-year results of the
Company for the financial years ended 31 December 2013,
2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017. The grant of the shares to other
directors, senior management, heads of departments and
other employees of the Group would vest in full on 31 March
2014 in accordance with the vesting conditions (including the
Group’s performance targets), subject to the publication of the
full-year results of the Company for the financial year ended 31
December 2013.

On 2 April 2015, the Company granted 8,725,000 shares
under share award scheme to the Participants, representing
approximately 0.49% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the adoption date. Out of the total shares
granted, 2,472,700 shares would vest in three tranches each
on the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date in
accordance with the vesting conditions (including the Group’s
performance targets) subject to the publication of the full-
year results of the Company for the financial years ended
31 December 2015, 2016 and 2017, respectively. The other
shares would vest in full on 31 March 2016 in accordance with
the vesting conditions (including the Group’s performance
targets) subject to the publication of the full-year results of the
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

42, RERBE @

i

(@)

—E—=FMNA=+XH  ARRMAZH
ERHA 17,569,400 %1+ 15 AR 7
RER# B HR B 31T 18 40.99% - RE &
R 4 Brh - 8,425,800 B B 17 Th 4% T
BENARARRITES R —A~F
NATHEABFREERRITES) ZER
NEBEETHEBRE(BREASERRE
=) s AMEMREE  mEREBBEHS 5
AERERSPREE— - = HEARE
RERE > WAFARARBE=-Z—=
F E—NWF - _FT—HF - ZF—R
ER-_T—+tF+-_A=+—HIYKRE
EREE2FEEEER  HARB - AASH
HWEE  SABEEAS  FMPEERE
fbfg B IR EHMARY - BRIEEBIEG(RER
EERFEAE)N-_E—NE=A=+—H
BEEE  BEAFARRRBEE=—Z—=
E+-A=+t-HUYBREETR2FE
Bk HRIREB o

—E—RFNAZH ARABREREE
Bt &M 2 EE R 18,725,000 8% 17+ 16
A RN B BIR) B 31 TR AN 490.49% ©
BRI EEP - 2,472,700 B B 17 15
BIEFBET(BEAEEREBR) o
“EHARE MEBEHS B AARE
AEfEE— R ={AEF  WESARQ
AMEBEE—_T—RF  —E—RFK=-FT
—+tEF+ - A=+—HITBREES BT
BrFEBER FARB - EHAEEHE
tHhE=  SREEAS - FMPAEEREM
EEREHMRRY  RERBEGE(BIERSE
EREFEE)  EMBROENR=ZZ—X F=
A=1+—BRHYEE  HAFARARE
E-E-AF+-_A=+—BIHMBEE
T2 FEEE% - HAIREB -
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42. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

Notes: (continued)

()

On 11 April 2016, the Company granted 14,492,753 shares
under share award scheme to the participants, representing
approximately 0.37% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the adoption date. These granted shares
would vest in two tranches each on 31 December 2016 and
2017 in accordance with the vesting conditions (including the
Participants’ performance targets), subject to the Participants’
performance results for the financial years ended 31 December
2016 and 2017, respectively.

On 21 September 2016, the Company granted 10,653,825
shares under share award scheme to the Participants,
representing approximately 0.3% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the adoption date. These granted shares
would vest in full by 31 March 2017 in accordance with the
vesting conditions (which include the Group’s performance
targets in 2016), subject to the publication of the full-year
results of the Company for the financial year ended 31
December 2016.

On 13 July 2017, the Company granted 6,998,575 shares
under share award scheme to the Participants, representing
approximately 0.2% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the adoption date. These granted shares would vest in
two equal batches on the first and second anniversaries of the
date of grant in accordance with certain vesting conditions.

42, RERBFHE =

BEE

()

(&)

Z—XRFENA+—8  ARRRERE
éﬁb FT &R 2 8 A K 14,492,753 iR A%

CEARRRREMA B BB BITRALD
0.37% o ZEREHRMNO KER T —RF
EZZE—+tF+ZA=+—HoMARIE
BBKE(RREL2HEENKEER)EE
TE’EX‘E?//\% PRIREE—_ZT—RNFEN

—+tF+-A=+—HLEVREEN
i‘%iﬂ%%ﬁﬂﬁﬁc

—E-ANEAA=+—8  ARRBRER
ﬁﬁmim/,\%kmoasss%%ﬁﬁ
AEARR RN B BB EITRAY
0.3% c HWERHHBRHONR _E—+F=A
=+ —HRERBEG(REAEERZZ
—ANENRBBR)REEE HAFEAA
AMBE_T—NFE+-_A=+—HI1tH
BEETEE2FX£ER  HFAHB -

ZE—tFt+tA+=H " AQARER
EAE) AT 8 2 B % 16,998,575 % iR
3 EARRRRERN B BB BITRAL
02% ° WEERENBRDEDB_EHH
B BEETEBRGHERLBEEE—
&—1.5@@%: °
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42. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

During the year, 3,638,219 (2016: 23,337,061) shares lapsed
due to the unfufiment of vesting condition under the share
award scheme.

The fair value of the shares granted was calculated based on
the market prices of the Company’s shares at the respective
grant dates. No dividend will be considered. The fair value
of the shares granted on 13 July 2017 was HK$14.62 per
share (2016: HK$12.42 per share and HK$13.96 per share
respectively). During 2017, there was an expense relating
to the share award scheme of RMB75,584,000 (2016:
RMB202,243,000), and a reversal of expense due to the
unfufilment of vesting condition under the share award
scheme of RMB32,040,000 (2016:RMB161,304,000). The
Group accordingly recognised a net expense relating to the
share award scheme of approximately RMB43,544,000 (2016:
RMB40,939,000) in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss during the year (note 7).

During 2016, the Company acquired 2,094,000 of the
Company’s shares through purchases on the market under
the share award scheme. The total amount paid to acquire
the shares during the year was HK$19,786,000, equivalent to
RMB16,916,000. No treasury shares were purchased by the
Company in 2017.

During the year, 6,379,066 (2016: 5,104,602) shares with
a total amount of RMB91,480,000 (2016: RMB78,269,000)
were vested and exercised under the share award scheme,
resulting in the transfer out of RMB66,216,000 (2016:
RMB53,562,000) from the share award reserve, with the
difference of RMB25,264,000 (2016: RMB24,707,000)
debited to the share premium account. The weighted average
share price at the date of exercise of these shares was
HK$16.92 (2016: HK$17.14).

42.

MNER » #£3638219 (=T — N F
23,337,061 1% ) f& 19 B oK At 2 Bl % 2 42 B 5t
SR EFRB IR MR -

ERHEBOHHAABIERRABBRDRE
REBHOMERNE BRI RERE -
T+ FLATZARBOBRONAAE
BER14.62B (2 —XF : DRlAEKR
12428 T R ER13.96/87L) o —T—+4F
W REEEET IS A ARET5,584,000
TT(ZE—RF : AR¥202,243,0007T)
I B ok B 32 B A% 22 SR B = 8 A9 57 BB {1 T 788
@ 3 H A R#32,040,0007T( Z 8 — /N4 ¢
AR #161,304,0007T) © AEERE P RFR
RERABERPERARZRE TS F I HY
AR #43,544,00070( =T —"F : AR
40,939,0007T) (FFE7) ©

—T—REFR - ARAREBERZEEREIR
58 B A QX 7]2,094,0000% %1 - FRE
EZERMHE (T EREA19,786,000
BT HMERARE16,916,0007T ° A4 A
WARZZE—FELOEREFRD °

FRN - BEEAEARKI,480,00T(=F
—NEE - AR¥78,269,0007T ) 96,379,066
(=T —NE :5104,602) BMH 2R
B ERETERBRITE  BEHERE
426 18 8 A R # 66,216,000 T ( =
—NEF : AR¥S53562,0007T) © Z8EA
R#25264,000c(ZF—R"F : AR
24,707,00070) B B R BRI o hE
BB AT B B I 39 RR (B A 16.9278
TE(ZE—NE - 17.1487T) »
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43. A PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY 43. FEEARFERRREZNET D
WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING BEFAT
INTERESTS
Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non- AEBEAE AR ERESZN TN
controlling interests are set out below: HEWT

2017 2016
Sl - ~F
RMB’000 RMB’000
LSS ARETR

Percentage of equity interest held IR R SIFE R

by non-controlling interests: REBDL

Yashili L7 48.96% 48.96%
Loss for the year allocated to FEFE AR A ZS D 8

non-controlling interests: REEE

Yashili L7 (91,773) (176,637)
Dividends paid to non-controlling BEE S T Fay g nl:y)

interests: B

Yashili T4 = 16,194
Accumulated balances of non-controlling KRR B EAFEEA%

interest at the reporting dates: IR B RET 4R

Yashili HELFI 3,768,460 3,874,555
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43. A PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY 43. BEERFEBRBRAERNI S

WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

I NTE R ESTS (continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the above subsidiary. The amounts disclosed

are before any inter-company eliminations:

BEF AR @m)

TRAR LT ARG BRABER - Frif
B S EASHIAEE A RIS -

Yashili Yashili
L F He1FI
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Revenue g A 2,254,716 2,203,315
Total expenses s e (2,434,527) (2,523,533)
Loss for the year REF 58 (179,811) (320,218)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) AFEMEE
for the year Wz, (B518) (33,250) 76,667
Total comprehensive loss for the year FAREEEGEERE (213,061) (243,551)
Current assets MENVEE 4,025,850 4,099,891
Non-current assets ERBEE 3,404,726 3,866,100
Current liabilities mEIBE (1,917,986) (2,258,535)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (21,663) (10,842)
Net cash flows used in operating activities KEEBFTAR
WEmEFEE (254,858) (477,239)
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing wEESEEE(FTA)H
activities ReneFHE 287,322 (366,891)
Net cash flows from financing activities RMEEHELERN
REenEFHA 50,380 94,607
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash EERHRES R
and cash equivalents REeFEMHTE 4,627 23,458
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReERBESEFEY
cash equivalents #mn () FaE 87,471 (726,065)
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATION 44. EKE Bt

During 2017, the Group acquired three subsidiaries from
third parties. These three subsidiaries are mainly engaged in
the sale of dairy products. These acquisition were made as
part of the Group’s strategy to expand its market share of
liquid milk products in Mainland China. The total purchase
considerations for these acquisition were in the form of
cash of RMB8,363,000 paid at the acquisition date. These
business acquisition gave rise to goodwill of RMB5,381,000
in total.

Acquisition of Dumex China

On 31 May 2016, Yashili, a 51.01% indirectly owned
subsidiary of the Company, acquired a 100% equity interest
in Dumex China from Danone. Dumex China is mainly
engaged in the manufacture and sale of infant milk formula
products of Dumex brand. The acquisition was made as part
of the Group’s strategy to expand its market share of infant
milk formula products in Mainland China.

The purchase consideration for the acquisition was in the
form of cash, with RMB1,099,695,000 paid at the acquisition
date and RMB72,437,000 of purchase price adjustments
received from Danone after the closing of the transaction.

ZE—tFR - AEEME=AKE=HTF
NAE e Z=EF AR EBENEHEILRSM -
I EWEE AR EBREAE A AR

mMSHERNRERN—IR - LFWENHER
WIERENRSEAZM  RIkER B
AR #8,363,0007T M EXMMBLESE
2 AR%5,381,0007T ©

WL EE T E

—E-XFERA=Z+—8  AARKEEEA
51.01% %4 89T A A HE £ F m Danone J BE
ZEBF R ERE - LXUBHPEEZEHRE
B RIHESEAMENEHTEF PN -
ZBEWEAAEEFEALTBREAMAEL T
B M ISHRERREEM—IR -

WERENRE A - RUkEE BB
AR #1,099,695,0007T * BEEEBRAEA
R #72,437,000 7072 R 5 FE X 1% [A) Danone
UG ER o
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 44. %i‘%é‘{#(%)
Acquisition of Dumex China (continued) W Z X% E (E)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of RUBEBE 2% BIMASEENE
Dumex China as at the date of acquisition were as follows: BEBARBWT :
Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
A UK B B SR A
ARfE
Note RMB’000
MisE ARBTIT
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 68,290
Construction in progress HREIR 7,473
Land use rights b s A 41,527
Other intangible assets HitnmEEE 283,120
Inventories FE 64,945
Trade and bills receivables FEWERFR R FE 63,887
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables B ~ 124 & Hth fE i 78 14,116
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTHER 112,071
Total assets BEE 655,429
Liabilities aE
Trade and bills payables R R EE (43,626)
Other payables and accruals HEEA R RBIRER (302,909)
Current tax payable & B IE (112)
Total liabilities BEE (346,647)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value ZAAEFECABAIFEELSE 308,782
Add: Goodwill arising on acquisition N B E AR R 19 718,476
Purchase consideration at fair value BAAREBETENREBRE 1,027,258

The fair values of the trade receivables and other receivables
as at the date of acquisition were the same as the gross
contractual amounts of trade receivables and other
receivables, which amounted to RMB63,887,000 and
RMB14,116,000, respectively.

RUE R - USRS H i EURIA A
R 1ED B A AR ¥63,887,0007T & A R
14,116,0007T * £ & U AR 31 K E At e U s I8
AHEFEAER o
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continueq) 44, ¥ & 6t@)

Acquisition of Dumex China (continued)
The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB5,510,000
for this acquisition. These transaction costs have been
expensed and are included in administrative expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
Dumex China for the year ended 31 December 2016 was as
follows:

W BB % 25 5% vP B (40
AEBBRZERBEER IR AARE
5,5610,0007T - BEAR HN A RErG 185
KX Wt ATTHRERA -

WBZXETBERBE_T - F+_H
=t—BLEFENRSRESNET

RMB’000

AR®ET T

Cash consideration RWERE 1,099,695

Receipt of purchase price adjustments WEE B B (72,437)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired WEEATSRE MRS EEY (112,071)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents FIAREERBREREN

included in cash flows from investing activities B4 MBS EBYRH FEE 915,187
Transaction costs of the acquisition included SFAREEESESREN

in cash flows from operating activities WEE R SN 5,510

920,697

Since the acquisition, Dumex China contributed
RMB101,089,000 to the Group’s revenue and caused net
loss of RMB55,905,000 to the consolidated loss for the year
ended 31 December 2016.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of
2016, the revenue of the Group and net loss of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2016 would have been
RMB53,908,797,000 and RMB961,984,000 respectively.

BUWEBNR Z2EZFPEAREEHE-Z
—ANE+_A=Z+—HLEFERNKRATRA
R #101,089,0007T & I BirE BB R F
518 A R#55,905,0007T °

WEBEHR T —NEFHET - BIE
E_T-RNF+_A=+—HLEFEAXRE
EHRARAEEZEEESIAARE
53,908,797,0007T % A R#961,984,0007T °
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Acquisition of Inner Mongolia Yiqing

On 26 September 2016, Linxia Yiging, a 70% indirectly
owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired a 70% and 30%
equity interest in Inner Mongolia Yiging from an associate of
the Group and independent third parties, respectively. Inner
Mongolia Yiging is mainly engaged in the sale of ice cream
products of Yiging brand. The acquisition was made as part
of the Group’s strategy to expand its market share of ice
cream products in Mainland China.

The purchase consideration for the acquisition was in the
form of cash, with RMB5,600,000 and RMB2,400,000 paid
at the acquisition date to the associate and independent third
parties, respectively.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Inner
Mongolia Yiging as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

44, ¥ & 6t@

WEASEEE

ZE-RNFENAZFB  ARRHEESR
70%MEHFREIREZFED Rl MALEN
BERBRBIE=THBEARZE70% K%
BN - AIRS EFENFHES FmE
BKEMNER - REKEAREEEARS
B A B K OEDIR T 35 10 BE A SRR ) — 3R o

RBWENKEREUIREEAIT - Bk
BEABORIREBE AR MBI E=ZFA
R #5,600,0007T & A R #2,400,0007T °

RWERE  ARSENAHIEERERE
NABEMT

Fair value

recognised on

acquisition

U B B R

EOMNINE]

Notes RMB’000

B & AREET T

Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB K& 9,763
Other intangible assets HEthmEEaE 24,371
Deferred tax assets FEIERRIAE B 23 7,614
Inventories FE 11,461
Trade and bills receivables LGS E 5,886
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables B3 ~ 124 & H th fe i k8 8,391
Cash and bank balances He MIRITET 389
Total assets MEE 67,875
Liabilities =N

Trade and bills payables ERERRERE (67,914)
Other payables and accruals HEmpEpakiEeER (40,413)
Total liabilities Bafl (108,327)
Total identifiable net liabilities at fair value EAABETEN ORI FEEREE (40,452)
Add: Goodwill arising on acquisition o WEEEREE 19 48,452
Purchase consideration at fair value BARBEFENRERE 8,000
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 44. %i‘%éﬁ(%)
Acquisition of Inner Mongolia Yiqing (continued) - NESS A€ )
The fair values of the trade receivables and other receivables RUWEBE - FEWERR N EMEWIERN
as at the date of acquisition were the same as the gross ARED R A ARKS5,886,0007T & AR
contractual amounts of trade receivables and other 379,0007T - £ & W AR 51 K L i i UL SR IE Y
receivables, which amounted to RMB5,886,000 and B EEEFER o
RMB379,000, respectively.
The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB54,000 for this AREBHRRBERBEELER IR AARE
acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed and 54,0007T - BEAR HKAE R EBRRX
are included in administrative expenses in the consolidated 8 WEt ATIEH -
statement of profit or loss.
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of WEAFS EREE_ZE—XFE+ A
Inner Mongolia Yiging for the year ended 31 December 2016 =t+—HIEFENBRERESNET :
was as follows:
RMB’000
ARBTT
Cash consideration RENRE 8,000
Cash and cash equivalents acquired WEEATSRE MRS EEY (389)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents FFAREEBERERENHR S
included in cash flows from investing activities LESEEBY R F5E 7,611
Transaction costs of the acquisition included FIAREERBHRESREN
in cash flows from operating activities WEE R SN 54
7,665

Since the acquisition, Inner Mongolia Yiging contributed
RMB5,417,000 to the Group’s revenue and caused net loss
of RMB6,033,000 to the consolidated loss for the year ended
31 December 2016.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of
2016, the revenue of the Group and net loss of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2016 would have been
RMB53,877,738,000 and RMB867,276,000 respectively.

Acquisition of Shanghai Mengniu

On 26 December 2016, the Group acquired an 83% equity
interest in Shanghai Mengniu from independent third parties,
in which the Group originally had an equity interest of 13%.
Shanghai Mengniu is mainly engaged in the sale of liquid milk
products. The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s
strategy to expand its market share of liquid milk products in
Mainland China.

BRENAR  AXSEAAEEHEZE-F
—ANE+TAZ+—HLEFERNKRATRA
R#5,417,0007C * W AGE BEE R FEE
B AR¥6,033,0007T °

WEBAHR - NEEMET  BIE
E-E—RNE+-A=t+—BHILFEAE
ERRARAEEFEEESNIAARKE
53,877,738,0007T &2 A R#867,276,0007T °

Wig LB 54

“E-RFETZAZHRE  AEERBZ
E=7 W LBRT83%KIE - REEKT)
FALBRT13%MIE - LERFTEENS
HERBER - RRUBANEEENHE
B A R R BB A EE T A5 1D BR AV SRR Y —

B o
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 44. %i%é{#(,@g)
Wiig BS54 (|)
RERENRBAREARSEAIMN B
Ur B8 B 83 X 1+ A R # 77,400,000 © &
FRBEFRETREBARESIHBTAR
#8,600,0007C ° o - WERENBE
B EBEFRERUERBREEARK
119,312,0007T °

Acquisition of Shanghai Mengniu (continued)

The purchase consideration for the acquisition was in the form
of cash, with RMB77,400,000 paid at the acquisition date and
the remaining RMB8,600,000 of cash to be paid when certain
transaction terms are completed. Besides, the purchase
consideration also consisted an effective settlement of trade
receivables due from Shanghai Mengniu of RMB119,312,000.
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of

RERH - EERFHAIBRIEERAE

Shanghai Mengniu as at the date of acquisition were as NAEMT
follows:
Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
U B B T R
ARE
Notes RMB’000
B & ARET T
Assets EE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB M 452
Other intangible assets HthmEEE 69,721
Deferred tax assets FEEFRIAE E 23 25,709
Inventories FE 16,812
Trade and bills receivables R R & 38,828
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 813k - &4 R H 40 EUGRIE 1,339
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTTHER 9,314
Total assets BEE 162,175
Liabilities =V
Trade and bills payables BRI R E R (36,587)
Other payables and accruals HEEARERBERER (32,637)
Total liabilities wak (69,224)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value RAREBEENAHBIEEELLE 92,951
Less: Trade receivables due from Shanghai W B R EIRAR R
Mengniu (119,312)
Less: Acquisition-date fair value of the Group’s i : NEEZ¥EE LE54
initial 13% equity interest in Shanghai 13% MR R i B A
Mengniu BARE (12,851)
Add: Goodwill arising on acquisition o IR E R R 19 125,212
Add: Effective settlement of trade receivables Al : fEUL i85 4 fEURBRE 7k
due from Shanghai Mengniu BREE 119,312
Purchase consideration at fair value BRAREBEFTENWEBRE 205,312
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44, ¥ & 6t@)

Acquisition of Shanghai Mengniu (continued)

The fair values of the trade receivables and other receivables
as at the date of acquisition were the same as the gross
contractual amounts of trade receivables and other
receivables, which amounted to RMB38,828,000 and
RMB1,339,000, respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB340,000 for this
acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed and
are included in administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

A fair value gain of RMB9,489,000 arising from re-measuring
the Group’s initial equity interest in Shanghai Mengniu at
acquisition date was recognised in other income and gains.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
Shanghai Mengniu for the year ended 31 December 2016
was as follows:

Wiis L5544 (@)
RUEE AR - EUGER R R M EUGRIER A
AED B A AR 38,828,000t & A R
1,339,000 T - £ & W AR 51 & H th & Uy 5k I8
R & #4aEEAER) o

AEERRBEURBEERIRAARE
340,0007T - EEARFRACREAEBERRK
S WERFATTHRER -

B tEAEBRRRE B ESRTEEN LS
SR tEE £ ARQ,480,0007 AR 1E
Iz - EREMRA RSP IER ©

WELERFTRBE_ZT—RF+_A
=t+—HUEFERSRENFTNOT :

RMB’000

ARBFIT

Cash consideration BeRE 77,400

Cash and cash equivalents acquired WEEFTIS IR & MIRTTEEY (9,314)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included SAKREESSESREN

in cash flows from investing activities ReERFSEEYRLFE 68,086
Transaction costs of the acquisition included SAREEFSESREN

in cash flows from operating activities WEE R SR AN 340

68,426
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Acquisition of Shanghai Mengniu (continued)

Since the acquisition, Shanghai Mengniu did not contribute
any revenue and profit or loss to the Group’s consolidated
loss for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of
2016, the revenue of the Group and net loss of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2016 would have been
RMB53,951,695,000 and RMB898,218,000 respectively.

Acquisition of other subsidiaries

During 2016, the Group acquired twelve subsidiaries from
third parties. These subsidiaries are mainly engaged in the
sale of dairy products. These acquisitions were made as
part of the Group’s strategy to expand its market share of
liquid milk products in Mainland China. The total purchase
consideration for these acquisitions were in the form of cash
of RMB146,497,000 paid at the acquisition date. These
business acquisitions gave rise to goodwill of RMB38,573,000
in total. During 2016, these business acquisitions gave rise to
gains on bargain purchase of RMB9,213,000 in total.

44, ¥ & 6t@

Whs BSR4 ()

BREBUAR  EERFREBEE_T—AF
ToA=+—ALFEYEHAKEELT
A - TR EAR & B IRAE AR -

WEBAEHNR T —NEFHET - BIE
ET-RNF+_A=+—HLEFEAXRE
ENRARAEEZEELES R AARKE
53,951,695,0007T & A R #898,218,000T °

W H T A F

ZE—RFRN - AEERE=-FRET=ME
TRE - WETARTENEHEARR -
I R B o 7 SR B IR K L R B i A TR B
EMTEHHENREN—IR - L FWHENR
WHEREUARESHATM  RIREB XA
AR #146,497,0007T ° It FEFUE KL E
4R A R#38,573,0007T ° —EF —/NF
RN WEEBRBEAEEZREEAMSZAR
#9,213,0007T °
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46.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s bills payable, bank loans and long term
payables, which are secured by the assets of the Group, are
included in notes 30, 32 and 35, respectively, to the financial
statements.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(@) As lessor
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total
future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

45. EEEF
EHREAEBMNEEFERENAERENE
& RIOTERERERHEMZKIEFE @ 25H
BT FRZRMIFE30 ~ 3235 ©

46. AREHE R
(a) fERHAA
RIRE AR - AR BIRET o 4
EHE - AR BBECEES 8 RIK
BEEENT

2017 2016
—2—tF A
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTT

Within one year —FR 2,222 3,550
In the second to fifth years, inclusive MEAF(BIEEEMT) 4,389 3,360
Over five years HE L 762 1,400

7,373 8,310

(b) As lessee
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of buildings and certain
production equipment as follows:

(b) 1EAEEA
RMEHAR  AEBEZRBEERET
EEXENTIFELCEHEANA
BIEHMRERSERENT

2017 2016
S e
RMB’000 RMB’000
LSS ARKTR

Within one year —FR 213,907 178,989
In the second to fifth years, inclusive MEAF(BEEEMS) 314,247 324,605
Over five years HE 44,052 59,115

572,206 562,709
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47. COMMITMENTS
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in
note 46, the Group had the following outstanding capital
commitments in respect of the purchase and construction of
property, plant and equipment as at the end of the reporting

48.

47.

3]
PRGN E BT BRI

K AEBEEFHBEREEYE  BEKRK
HBRREEERAENT

period:
2017 2016
—E—+F —T—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Contracted, but not provided for BRT4BERBE 921,832 643,196

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any
significant commitments.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

HERR - NEEY BT EAADE

48. A LR B

o

(a) In addition to the transactions and balances which are (a) BRAFERREMEERENRS
disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the RN AEBEREERE T RE
Group had the following significant transactions with its fhEEEEA TH#EIT R EARR S ©
associates and other related parties.

2017 2016
—e-tf —ERF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
R AR%T T ARETT

() Salesof liquid mik productsto ()  [AEAS A RISHE TR AL
associates FE (i 1,547,881 2,136,086

() Salesofice creamproductsto ()  [FEEZ A RISEEAGEM
associates Em 0] 29,887 29,055

() Sales of other dairy products to ~ (lll) FEEEARIHEEMIL
associates BEMm 0] 233 837

(V) Sales of products . affiliates V) mMARE]—BREERR

of a major shareholder of the MBBARLEER
Company (i) 14,958 15,884

(V) Provision of outsourcing services (V) [l—FEESE A BRASN
to an associate Bk (i - 8,970

(V) Purchases of raw materials from (V) AIARAF—BZTZHE

affiliates of a major shareholder B ARIBERN
of the Company # (i 798,045 405,348

(VI Purchases of raw materials from ~ (VI) [[EEZARIEE B
associates (i) 4,415,213 3,273,880

(VIl) - Purchases of liquid milk products ~ (VIll) [F—R#AAREER
from an associate BEAEE (i 236,635 -

(X)  Purchases of milk powder (X) m—HHBELREE

products from an associate MHER () 3,957 -

(X)  Purchases of outsourcing services (X) [F—fEE R FTEE I
from an associate BIRE (i 3,497 3,270

Note: ffzE -

U

The considerations were determined with reference to
the prevailing market prices/rates and the prices charged

to third parties.

) EREE2EZERTHERBXR

WERE =TT ERETE
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48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continuea)

(i)

(i

)

During 2017, the Group acquired a 20% and
25% equity interest in Mengniu Meirixian Dairy
(Hubei) Co., Ltd., which is a 55% indirectly
owned subsidiary of the Group, from Fuyuan, an
associate of the Group, and independent third
parties, respectively. The purchase consideration
for the acquisition was in the form of cash, with
RMB2,000,000 and RMB3,300,000 paid at the
acquisition date to the associate and independent
third parties, respectively.

During 2016, the Group acquired a 70% equity
interest in Linxia Yiging from Fuyuan, an associate
of the Group. The transaction was an asset
acquisition. The purchase consideration for
the acquisition was in the form of cash, with
RMB37,580,000 in total paid at the acquisition
date. Linxia Yiqging is mainly engaged in the
manufacture of ice cream products of Yiging
brand and was still in the process of construction
as at the acquisition date.

During 2016, Linxia Yiqging, a 70% indirectly
owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired a
70% and 30% equity interest in Inner Mongolia
Yiging from Fuyuan, an associate of the Group,
and independent third parties, respectively. The
purchase consideration for the acquisition was
in the form of cash, with RMB5,600,000 and
RMB2,400,000 paid at the acquisition date to
the associate and independent third parties,
respectively. Further details of the acquisition are
included in note 44 to the financial statements.

Key management compensation is detailed in notes 9
and 10 to the financial statements.

The related party transactions in respect of items (a) (IV) and
(@) (VI) above also constitute continuing transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

48. BB A XX 5 )

(i)

(i

(i)

ZE—tFR - AEBHREA
EEBENRERMENE=H
Uiz B 7~ 4 ) R 4 ¥ B 55% IR 1E
NTFRARSRFSABEIZECHL)
EREMERER20% K% 25% %
o ZWENEBREDRINE
& AR #2,000,0007T & AR
3,300,000 7T 7 Uk 8 B B A B 2
NGIDSE AV s b

ZE-RNEFER AEERAE
EEE N R ERKERESTER
T0% R - ZBERHHBEAEW
B WENBEREUNERESAR
#:37,580,0007T 7AW B B HAZE 2K
T RESEETENRELES
B MR ACERE R - RUREE R
HADSRTERE -

—ZT—RER - ARREEES
70% M ERN T RARIBRESIED 7
MAEBEENREREBILE
= HRERREIEMNT70%&30%
REtE - WEEMBEBNRED IR
& AR #5,600,0007T & AR
2,400,000 7T A UK B8 B B A B 2
NEIRBIE=H It - g
— S HBHR I REMT 44 o

FTEEEABRMAFBHRTBERE
PHEE9 K10 °

(@) (V)R (@) (VB ROBIEE 75 32 5 TRAB AR
FHRAIEAAE BRI ER S -
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48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continueq) 48. BEEA TR Z @)
(d) Year-end balances arising from related party (d BHRALIXRZELENFEREHRU
transactions are as follows: T

2017 2016

—E—+F —ERF

Trade and bills receivables from: RMB’000 RMB’000

FEWER R R ARYET T ARBT T

Associates G NN 553,443 526,848
Affiliates of a major shareholder of AEE—ZET BRI

the Group ] PEp/NG| 2,721 3,491

556,164 530,339

2017 2016

—E—+tF ZE-RF

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables from: RMB’000 RMB’000

AN - Re REMEWKEIE AR¥T R ARETT

Associates /NG| 235,110 199,240
Affiliates of a major shareholder of AEE—BEERRMN

the Company i) /NG - 564

235,110 199,804

2017 2016

e —E—REF

Trade and bills payables to: RMB’000 RMB’000

EREER R RE - ARBTR ARETT

Associates /NG| 259,097 163,011
Affiliates of a major shareholder of AEB—ZEFERED

the Group BB A R 133,118 47,196

392,215 210,207
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48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continuea)

48. BB A XX 5 )

2016

—E-RF

Other payables and accruals to: RMB’000
HfEFIERTERER - ARETT
Associates /NG 14,459 11,371
14,459 11,371

Except for certain prepayments, deposits and
other receivables from associates of approximately
RMB129,167,000 with a fixed interest rate of 2.5%
per annum, the above balances are unsecured, non-
interest-bearing and repayable on credit terms similar to
those offered to or by independent third parties.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had entrusted
loans of RMB44,590,000 (31 December 2016:
RMB33,086,000) due to certain associates included
in “Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings”. The
Group obtained those loans from certain associates
via banks. The balances are unsecured, with an annual
interest rate of 1.15% (31 December 2016: 1.15%).

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had entrusted
loans of RMB1,065,400,000 (31 December 2016:
Nil) due from China Modern Dairy included in “Other
financial assets”. The Group loaned out the money
via banks. The entrusted loans are unsecured, with
annual interest rates ranging from 4.00% to 4.35% (31
December 2016: Nil).

BRETIEMNIE - Re A RE U
2R RIELH AR 129,167,000 7T
%2.5%M EEFF R BEIN - Eili s
BHAEEE T EREREREE
B EERRESTREBBILES
TSRS o

RZZE—tF+=-—A=+—8" &
SERERNETHERAZRE
AR # 44,590,000 (= F— N
+=—A=+—H : AR#¥33,086,000
J0)  WERAGBRITREMEE -
REBEFB/PITHE THE QARG
ZEER - B AEIER FRXA
1.15%(ZE—XR"F+-_A=+—H":
1.15%) °

RZE—tF+_A=+—0 K&
EHEERRTBERARKEZLER
AR #1,065,400,00070 ( = ZF — /N
+-A=+—8: &) WEFHAHAMWD
CEEE - AEBEFEBBITEHZRK
o ZETERAERT - FFEN
F4.00%%E4.35%(ZF—~F+=H
=+—8 &)
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49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 49. RERIEITHNEMIA
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RERR  SHoBEMNER T ENREELN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as o
follows:
Financial assets SREE

2017 2016
ZE-tF I35E
Fair value Fair value Fair value Fair value
through  through other through  through other
Amortised profitor comprehensive Amortised profitor — comprehensive
cost loss income cost loss income Total
BRAME BOA
BRARE HEEE &% HERE
FEEE  #EiA HERE BHEHA
BEna  28BiARE HAt2EkE AN BERA REEHAER  Ap2EkE g3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
IGL AU DN SO PN SN Sl ARETT  ARMTT  ARMTR  ARETR

Trade and bils receivables ERETRER 2,646,834 = - 24683 2340099 - - 23000
Financial assets included n HABRR - ek
prepayments, deposits and HfoENEES

other receivables SHAE 785,845 - - 785,845 859,682 - - 859,682
Eauity investments RARE - 31,599 327,43 350,034 - 38,529 597 5% 636,124
Convertiole promissorynote~~ JIARANER - 186,670 - 186,670 = = = =
Entrusted loans FHER 1,175,910 - - 1175910 158,177 - - 158,177
Derivative financial instruments 47448 TA - 29,569 30,617 60,186 - 36,501 - 36,501
Investment deposits RERR - 9,392,108 - 9,392,108 - 4,139,490 - 4,139,490
Pledged depostts RELER 466,265 - - 466,265 960,863 - - 960,863
Long tem receivables REENEE 155,698 - - 155,698 183,960 - - 183,960
Cash and cash equivalents ReRALEEN 3129444 - - 3109444 3355597 - - 3BT
Time deposits THER 3,868,937 - - 3,868,937 4,348,479 - - 4,348,479

12228933 9,639,046 368,052 22226931 12206797 4214520 597,59 17018912
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49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 49. REHE TN T B @)
CATEGORY (continued)
Financial liabilities =R

2017 2016

E-+F 3

Fair value Fair value

through through

Amortised profit or Amortised profit or
cost loss cost loss Total

RARE BARE

stEAH irERE

28 E8:tA
L ET & A5t I B st
SR SO 0 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTE ARBTE ARNTE BN RPPN: Sw RPN S w

Trade and bills payables EAERREE 6,342,273 - 6,342,273 5405620 - 5405620
Financial liabilities included in SEAEAMERFER

other payables and accruals EREANEHAR 4,174,681 - 4,174,681 3824422 - 3824422
Interest-bearing bank and other SERIREEE

borrowings excluding zero (TEHEZE

coupon exchangeable bonds REES) 12,679,549 - 12,679,549 8,587,580 - 8,587,580
Zero coupon exchangeable bonds ZEARBES - 1270575 1,270,575
Other loans Hi &R 22,912 - 22,912 52,559 - 52,559
Derivative financial instruments fTASRTIA - 1,222 1,222 = = =
Long term payables REERZE 38,239 - 38,239 94,025 - 94,025
Other financial liabilities Hhepafk 2,175,431 - 2175481 2,143,378 - 2,143,378

25,433,085 1,271,797 26,704,882 20,107,584 - 20,107,584
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50. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is the
amount at which the asset could be sold or the liability
transferred in a current transaction between market
participants, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate
the fair values:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, the current
portion of pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables, trade
and bills payables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals, current interest-bearing bank
loans and other loans approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portion of other financial
assets, long term time deposits, long term receivable, the
non-current portion of interest-bearing bank loans and long
term payables and other non-current financial liabilities have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The fair
value of other borrowings are measured using valuation
technical methods and by reference to quoted prices. The fair
value of the convertible promissory note is measured using
valuation technical methods.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on
quoted market prices.

50. TRITAMNAARERAAERBH

TREERBBNAABRMELEENR
RETTRR 5 (BB BIHERIN) Al
EEEXERRENDSE

TXHEINAREARAENTDERRR

RehkBReFEY RESTFRDAHE
7 RUEREER - BRNERRRE - &
ABNK e REORKRENSBRE
ZE AR MENFEREREANEHE
& BB ERTERMEMCERNRAE
REHAR MR REERS -

HiteMEENFERD LY  RPEHE
R REIEWFIE - StRRTERLKHE
MRIEHERBE DA REMIER B C R A
BERRAETRARLERK - EERR MR
TEIHI & T AR A &G RN R IR B
ARREREHN T AFE - RBENLRR
BERBERMTDERE2ERENE -
ARBEEE BN AR ETMERGERM T
ERTE -

LHARAERENAABIERTISRE -
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50. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with
various counterparties, principally established commodity
trading exchanges or financial institutions with good credit
ratings. Derivative financial instruments, including commodity
futures contracts, an interest rate swap, forward currency
contracts and interest rate forward contracts, are measured
using quoted prices from financial institutions with which
the interest rate swap, forward currency contracts and
interest rate forward contracts are entered into. The carrying
amounts of the commodity futures contracts, interest rate
swap, forward currency contracts and interest rate forward
contracts are the same as their fair values.

The following table shows the valuation technique used in
the determination of fair values of investment deposits, which
falls within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, as well as the
significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation.

50.

TMTANARERAARERER
()

AEBRZEZHFHRILNMESHTA - =
ERERINEAREZIRBAREETR
REMEEEE - BmBEARL  MXE#H
BH - BEHSNES O RMNEEMENENTLE
SRMTE  DERERFIVERNXERS
% BHINER M RFIREH S NS B
BHRETE - BmPEAD  MXEHRE
% BHINER M RFIREH S NREE
BERQAERER -

TREEBEREFARAAEMANMGER
M(BRAABEEBRNE=H) REEMAN
BEATNABREARE -

Sensitivity of fair value to the input

BABBHANENTE

2.00% 0 5.10% (2016: 0.13%

Significant
Valuation technique unobservable input  Range
fhEH EXTUBERARE &BE
Investment deposits  Discounted cash flow Expected yield
REFR method kil t0 4.00%)
RRRAEREE 2.00%%5.10%

(Z2—7E 1 0.13%%24.00%)

Discount rate

fia%

2.00% to 5.10% (2016: 0.13%
10 4.00%)

2.00%%5.10%

(Z2—7E 1 0.13%%24.00%)

10% (2016: 10%) increase (decreass) in expected
yield would result in increase (decrease) in fair
value by RMB10,142,000 (2016: RMB2,807,000)

TR (R D) 10%( =T —78E : 10%) 15
EYRAEEMOES) ARH10,142,0007T(=
T AR2,807,0007)

10% (2016: 10%) increase (decreass) in discount
rate would result in decrease (increase) in fair
value by RMB10,124,000 (2016: RMB2,803,000)

FREEMOAD)10%(ZF—7RF : 10%) 88
BRAERD (B AKH10,124,0007(=F
—~E - AR%2,803,0007)
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50. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 50. €@ TENARERAAEBERER
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL ()
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value (continued) Qﬁ:ﬁ(%g)
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial AEBSHTE(BREDEEALESIEM
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that HENSRITEINOETERALBEHET -

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
REE DMAE
2017 2016 2017 2016
—E—tF —TRF “E-tf ZTRE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBTT AR¥TL ARBFTL

Financial assets SREE
Long term entrusted loans REZAER 64,149 101,930 63,060 99,324
Long term receivables REEW A 122,496 123,689 119,786 132,182
Long term time deposits RETHER 1,039,504 1,633,938 1,037,814 1,630,006
1,226,149 1,859,557 1,220,660 1,861,512
Carrying amounts Fair values
REE ARE
2017 2016 2017 2016
“E—tF NS “E—tfF “E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETTT ARET T ARETTT
Financial liabilities cmeE
Other non-current financial HivdEroemas
liabilities 1,629,837 2,143,378 1,629,837 2,143,378
Interest-bearing bank and TERITRAMEE
other borrowings —ERBEN (TRES
— non-current portion BAIRBESR)
excluding zero coupon
exchangeable bonds 4,744,522 5,542,163 4,673,111 5,751,298
Long term payables REENFIE 10,894 36,914 9,666 35,260

6,385,253 7,722,455 6,312,614 7,929,936
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50. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

50. TR TANARERAARERER

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL ()

INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy AREER

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and AREEHANUNTEREEAFEESHT AN

disclosing the fair value of financial instruments: DA

Level 1:  fair values measured based on quoted prices F—5 BIEEREESABENERTS
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets BRE(REHAR)GFEARE
or liabilities

Level 2:  fair values measured based on valuation FZH . AREBERGERMFE B2
techniques for which all inputs which have a HHMEEN AR EREERATE
significant effect on the recorded fair value are B A BRI EESEEHER
observable, either directly or indirectly =k

Level 3:  fair values measured based on valuation FE=H: AREERGERMGE - B

techniques for which any inputs which have a
significant effect on the recorded fair value are not
based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs)

Assets measured at fair value:

AN AR EEEARE
M ABURE W FFER AT BRN
mEEIEGERBREARE)

—E—tF

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

RiERT 7 EXTERE EATHEE

H3R{E BAYE BAYE
(E—14) (E=4R) (=) At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T ARET T

Hong Kong listed equity R LRARE

investments 327,435 - - 327,435
Unlisted equity investments FELETRAZRE - - 31,599 31,599
Convertible promissory note AR E 2 = - 186,670 186,670
Investment deposits BERER - - 9,392,108 9,392,108
Derivative financial instruments {144 ®T A 1,283 58,903 - 60,186
328,718 58,903 9,610,377 9,997,998
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50. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 50. TRITENAARAEBERAAREBEER
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL ()
I NSTR U M ENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continueq) AREEBRE
Assets measured at fair value: (continued) BARBIENEE (&)
2016
—T-RE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
NI EXTHE  EATAUEER
HMRE BAHE BAHE
(5—1) (E=H) (F=8R) Bt
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETTT ARETT ARETT
Hong Kong listed equity BELRARE
investments 597,595 - - 597,595
Unlisted equity investments FEMRARE - - 38,529 38,529
Investment deposits REFR - - 4,139,490 4,139,490
Derivative financial instruments T4 &FTE 10,783 25,718 - 36,501
608,378 25,718 4,178,019 4,812,115
Liabilities measured at fair value: BAREFENEAE

2017
“E-—tF

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

RIEBT S EXTHE BEATABE

HRE BARE BARE
(B—%) (B=&) (B=1) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR AR¥TR
Derivative financial instruments ~ #T44&fTE 1,044 178 - 1,222
Zero coupon exchangeable bonds B 8 A X#fE% - 1,270,575 - 1,270,575
1,044 1,270,753 - 1,271,797




Annual Report 2017 —ZE—tE &3 279

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt 5 3R &k M 5

50. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 50. TR T AN LAABERAAEBEEBR
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL (#)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continueq) ARERERE
Assets for which fair values are disclosed: BRBEALBENEE :

2017
—E—+F
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

RERTS EXTHE EXFUEE

HRE BWARE WARE
(B-%) (B=8R) (B=R) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBT T ARBTT

Long term entrusted loans RHZEER - 63,060 - 63,060
Long term receivables REENGIE = 119,786 = 119,786
Long term time deposits REEHER - 1,037,814 - 1,037,814
- 1,220,660 - 1,220,660
2016
“ERF

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

iNEY ik EXAHE  EXTAEHE

HHRE AR AR
(E—8) (B5=8) (E=8) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Long term entrusted loans RAZTAER - 99,324 - 99,324
Long term receivables REENGIR - 132,182 - 132,182
Long term time deposits REEHER - 1,630,006 - 1,630,006

= 1,861,512

1,861,512
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50. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

2017
—E—+F

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

RER TS EXTHE EXFUEE

HRE BWARE BWARE
(5—R) (E=8R) (B=8) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBT R ARBTT ARBTT

Other non-current financial HibEmBeRARE
liabilities - 1,629,837 - 1,629,837
Interest-bearing bank and ARRITRAMEE
other borrowings
- non-current portion —ERBHH (TBEE
excluding zero coupon BRI HES)
exchangeable bonds - 4,673,111 - 4,673,111
Long term payables REEMTE - 9,666 = 9,666
- 6,312,614 - 6,312,614
2016
—TRF
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RERTS ERABR EATAER
H$R{E BAE BAHE
(B—8) (B=H) (B=#) @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETL ARETTL ARETTL ARETT
Other non-current financial HitERBemaE
liabilities - 2,143,378 - 2,143,378
Interest-bearing bank and ARRITRAMER
other borrowings
— non-current portion — RS - 5,751,298 - 5,751,298
Long term payables REENTE - 35,260 = 35,260

7,929,936

7,929,936
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade
and bills receivables and payables, other receivables and
payables, long term receivables balances with related parties,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, other loans and
long term payables. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such
as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The Group also entered into derivative transactions, mainly
commodity futures contracts, interest rate swap, forward
currency contracts and interest rate forward contracts. The
purpose is to manage the commodity risk, the exchange
rate and floating rate exposures arising from the Group’s
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and equity price risk. The board of directors and senior
management meet periodically to analyse and formulate
measures to manage the Group’s exposure to these risks.
Generally, the Group adopts prudent strategies on its risk
management.

(i) Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s borrowings
with floating interest rates. The Group closely monitors
its interest rate risk by performing periodic reviews and
evaluations of its debt portfolio and gearing ratio. The
interest rates and terms of repayment of the bank loans
of the Group are disclosed in note 32 to the financial
statements. The Group enters into interest rate swaps,
in which the Group agrees to exchange, at a specified
intervals, the difference between fixed and variable rate
interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed-
upon notional principal amount. In the opinion of the
directors, the Group has no significant interest rate risk.

51.

MEREREERERBE

AEBEHNTESRMTAGTEIARMN B
RREMREFEY  BRENENERREE
7 HtEM RN IR - EEBA TR
Hie sy - SHERITREMER - HWE
AEERHENFE ZEERTASERAE
SENEEERES - AREHASASK
ERRBEEBHHEMEREERAE  fl
40 78 Y AR R B FE A R AR

AEBETRIUNTERD - TERBMBES
- FEEBAH BHREESHRFIRE
Ha4)  BNRERAEEXEBHELND
mEE - EXRFIFEMREE

REAEESRTIANFTEZERRAFXR
b SNERR - EERR - REBERER KRR
AEREAR EFERSREEASTHE
T8%  SMASBEMAZNER - XHIE
RAEERRNEE - NEE—RERAEE
BRI B IR A -

i) FE@ER
AEEAZNMSMNEESAR TR
BERAASENTZERE - AEEEH
BEMFEEEEEE RNERBELL
o HEMKRBETEDEIR - K
KB RTE R R KR KR
WRME2WE - NAEERILFEE
BAEK Bt AEEREREE S
B BRWHEREATCBETENE
ERFHNESENZRETHE -
EERR AREYESAMEXER
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 51. BIBREBREEBERBE@®

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Financial risk management (continued) B % b S R ()

(i) Interest rate risk (continued) (i) FI=mEBSE(E)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a TRINTKEFMBHMESEFTED
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all BRT » FEage IR A BB E)
other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit/ HAEEBAFE(BE)(BRZEE
(loss) before tax (through the impact on floating rate EBENSFE)NTE
borrowings):

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in  in profit/(loss)
basis points before tax

E3higm, BATRE (&8)
(B2) g, (GR4)

RMB’000
ARET T

2017 —E— i
RMB ARM 50 (12,282)
RMB ARM (50) 12,282
Hong Kong dollars BT 50 (11,819)
Hong Kong dollars BT (50) 11,819
United States dollars EY 50 (13,117)
United States dollars EY (50) 13,117
Euro BT 50 (93)
Euro BT (50) 93
New Zealand dollars HEEmT 50 (20)
New Zealand dollars T (50) 20
2016 ZE—RF
RMB AR 50 (9,640)
RMB AR (50) 9,640
Hong Kong dollars BT 50 (78)
Hong Kong dollars BIT (50) 78
United States dollars e 50 (17,861)
United States dollars T (50) 17,861
Euro BT 50 (139)

Euro BT (50) 139
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s businesses are principally located in
Mainland China and substantially all transactions
are conducted in RMB, except for the purchases
of imported machinery and equipment and sales
of dairy products to Hong Kong and Macau. As at
31 December 2017, substantially all of the Group’s
assets and liabilities were denominated in RMB except
for the cash and bank balances of approximately
RMB102,558,000 (2016: RMB204,524,000),
RMB139,753,000 (2016: RMB611,330,000),
RMB1,057,000 (2016: RMB33,649,000), RMB6,000
(2016: RMB8,083,000) and RMB60,443,000 (2016:
RMB16,014,000) which were denominated in United
States dollars, Hong Kong dollars, Euro, New Zealand
dollars and Danish Krone, respectively, pledged
deposits of approximately RMB14,545,000 (2016:
RMB11,366,000) which was denominated in United
States dollars, an investment deposit of approximately
RMB51,412,000 (2016: Nil) which was denominated in
United States dollars, and the interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of approximately RMB3,207,497,000
(2016: RMB69,325,000), RMB5,941,819,000 (2016:
RMB5,605,820,000), RMB52,197,000 (2016:
RMB14,899,000), RMB74,426,000 (2016: Nil) and
RMB12,053,000 (2016: Nil) which were denominated
in Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars, Euro, New
Zealand dollars and Australian dollars, respectively.
As at 31 December 2016, an investment deposit of
approximately RMB4,473,000 was denominated in
Hong Kong dollars. The fluctuation of the exchange
rates of RMB against foreign currencies could affect the
Group’s results of operations. However, in the opinion
of the directors, the foreign currency risk exposure is
under management’s control.

51. EEBEEHERBE@®

(i)

NS I B

NEBEBNERE SR PR KRE:
BriE B O M R ERERAER D
EARMIN  BRB DX HHIUA
REBAUEE R_Z—tF+=
A=+—H A&EEMNEERARE
FOBRTRERBITETHARE
102,558,000 (= —RF : AR
204,524,0007t) + AR¥139,753,000
TL(ZFE—RF : AR%611,330,000
L)~ AR#1,057,000C( —Z T — X
F: AR #33,649,0007L) * AR
BB00 (=T —RF: ARK
8,083,0007T ) & A R # 60,443,000 70
ZZE—RF : AR¥16,014,0007T)
DRIAZETT BT BUT ~ FEEHE T
MAERBRAE BEEAFEIHOA
R#14,645000L (ZZF—7"F : A
R #11,366,00070) LAEJTETE © &
BERHARES1,412,000L (==
— N E)LAEJTEME C T RRTT
K H A& B 4 A R #3,207,497,000
T(ZZT—RF : AR¥69,325000
7T) © AR ¥ 5941,819,000 7t ( —
T —NF : AR ¥ 5605820,000
7T) - AR#¥52197,0007T (ZZ— X
£ ANR#14,899,0007T) « AR
74,426,0007C(ZF—RF : E)RA
R#12,053,00070 (= —/~F : &)
DRIAETT  FEJT - BUT ~ FEBH T
FMBILEHEZI REBRBRIHE
ERBBEHUAREAEEMN - KT
—RNFT+_A=Z1+—8 BEEFZD
AR ¥E4,473,0007C AETTEHE - AR
EEINEREBER RS @ Al E
AEENELES  BEERAINE
BB EEERIESZF -
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Financial risk management (continued)

(ii) Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in the RMB exchange
rates as compared to United States dollars, Hong Kong
dollars, Euro, New Zealand dollars and Danish Krone
with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
profit/(loss) before tax (due to changes in the fair value
of monetary assets and liabilities) and equity:

51. BIEREERERBE @
BERBERE)

(i)

NS B ()

TRIVRIERA EME BB TR
BRT - ARBEXT BT K
T FTEM T RS R B R R
RRLEBRMAEAEEB(REBEER
BENAARERBEB) HAEETA

T/ (B8R ks E

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit/(loss) (decrease)
RMB rate before tax in equity
ARMEZLR/ BARE/ (B8) EREm/
(TFB8) i,/ (AD) (HD)
RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARETR ARETT
2017 “B-tf 5 209,128 (161,130)
(5) (209,128) 161,130
2016 ZEE 5 150,872 (122,773)
(5) (150,872) 122,773

(iii) Credit risk (i) =EEE

The cash and bank balances, as well as the pledged
deposits, of the Group are mainly deposited with state-
owned commercial banks in Mainland China.

The majority of the Group’s sales are conducted on
a cash basis. The Group has implemented policies to
ensure that sales of products are made to distributors,
who wish to trade on credit terms, with an appropriate
credit history which is subject to periodic reviews.
Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets,
which comprise deposits and other receivables, arises
from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these assets.

Except for the above, the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spreading
over a number of counterparties.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements.

AEENRE MRTEFLRESF
Fo EEFRFERENEARRR

7 o

AEBAHOHHED KRS EEE
17 ° AR BB B BUR A R E mn =
ETHEEEEECHRLEEUREE
FRETXZNEHEE  YHEEE
FUSRETTEHIMNER - AKRE—EHF
BERBUGIRN AR AEEYE
BEAZERRER

HRXZTENELRRE REME
YRR TR A A AN SR T L At 2 R B Y
FERRREREESNILFEEN
ARE(E -

BrEdiEN  REENRRIEZ S
HFG - UEBRBANEHEERR -

B A 5 B A FE U AR R T 2 T T RO 1S
ERBHEMELEIE  BERME
WRMIEE27 ©
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 51. BIBREBREEBERBE@®

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Financial risk management (continued) B 7% | B FE ()

(iv) Liquidity risk (iv) REMERE
The Group closely monitors its liquidity risk by NEFTHSEETERSD - miER
performing periodic reviews and evaluations of its ¥ 3 - SN S S s ok
liquidity with regard to the industry characteristics, It HEEMRDEETRT RE
market conditions, business strategies and changes in B EEYREARAEEGELE
the Group’s state of affairs and adjusting the current KIBHEA R SEBNHAER 75+ LABSIE R EN 1
and non-current portions of the Group’s debt portfolio BB o trsh - AREEJREAF A AE
on a proper and timely basis. In addition, the Group HEE A NRRE—ENAHEEERE
aims to ensure a continuity of funds and flexibility BEUBRESCHBEEERETH

through the use of various means of financing and by
keeping committed credit lines available.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the TREIR-_BE—+F+_A=+—
Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2017 based ARBEENENENINEASE S
on contractual undiscounted payments. BEMNDEER -

2017
“E-tf
Less than More than

On demand 1year 1tob5years 5 years Total
REX —FHR —-E5f EENE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR%®Tn AR%Trn AR%Trn AR%Tn

Interest-bearing bank and S EBTRAMES
other borrowings

8,143,598 5,957,416 269,928 14,370,942

Other loans HiE® 22,912 S - - 22912
Trade and bills payables ERERERRER - 6,342,273 - - 6342273
Financial liabilities included ~ sF AEL S FE

in other payables and BIZE AN

accruals, excluding SHEE-

current portion of TEEREEN

long term payables SBHENEE D - 4,174,681 = - 4174681
Long term payables REEMZ0E = 28,797 11,244 - 40,041

Other financial liabilities HEthemaE 586,355 1,926,896 2,513,251
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 51. IR BEEBEERBEK @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq)
Financial risk management (continued) B R EE (®)
(iv) Liquidity risk (continued) (iv) REMRREE)
2016
—ERF
Less than More than
On demand 1year 1to5years 5 years Total
"EK —FUR —E8F AFMNE Bt

RVB'O00  RMB'000  RVMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETL ARETE ARETR ARETL

Interest-bearing bank and AERITRAMEE
other borrowings - 3,107,443 5,337,436 257,718 8,702,597
Other loans HthER 52,559 - - - 52,559

Trade and bills payables ERERREE - 5,405,620 = - 5,405,620
Financial liabilities included ~ sF AEHE(TFB ) 78

in other payables and RERN

accruals, excluding SREE

current portion of TREREEN

long term payables TUBHENEAE D - 3824422 - - 3824422
Long term payables REERZE = 60,733 39,088 - 99,821

Other financial liabilities HihepaE - - 388,157 2,216,730 2,604,887
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

v)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels
of equity indices and the value of individual securities.
The Group was exposed to equity price risk arising
from individual equity investments classified as equity
investments (note 25) as at 31 December 2017.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
5% change in the fair values of the equity investments,
with all other variables held constant and before any
impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at
the end of the reporting period. For the purpose of
this analysis, for the equity investments, the impact is
deemed to be on the financial assets revaluation reserve
and no account is given for factors such as impairment
which might impact the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

. ERREEEERBE @

B 7 B B B ()
(v) BXE®RER
me?‘ﬁﬁﬂ R A R = e BUK T K E R

ERBEEHERRAZLSAAE

TMWHRX"E/\\—‘T t¥+=-A
=t—HB  ARERHORAERER
Rk E D BB ARE (i E25) W fE
/”ulJHx$$xéf

TRETHEREMABAZEZERT
FRARFTAEABRBEZENEBERT -
B E R R ETEEE F5%H A H
BE - DB ERRE R R
EEFE - LADHME - BRRA

BE GRESHEEEGBREEX
FE UEFSIAEZESARRR
MEE - fIERME

Carrying
amount
of equity Change in
2017 investments equity
—E—+F RA R E K AREE BRAEE)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T T
Hong Kong listed equity investments BB LEWRAEE 327,435 16,372
Carrying
amount
of equity Change in
2016 investments equity
—ERF IR A& ) BRE A AR A &
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Hong Kong listed equity investments BB EMRARE 597,595 29,880
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December
2016.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by the capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade and bills
payables, other payables and accruals, other loans, long term
payables and other financial liabilities, less cash and bank
balances and long term time deposits, and excludes disposal
groups. Capital represents equity attributable to owners of
the Company. The gearing ratios as at the end of reporting
periods were as follows:

1. BERREEEERBEKR @

AEBEAEERNERBREFAEEE
BRENENRRFBENERLE - X
FEEXEMESRRERE -

AEBEREEAREE  WHEBLEREN
B RBABEENRERBBIELAZE - A
W AR EARE  AEBARESHER
N FREMRE  BREAE AL Rk HITH
IReRBEZTE—+tF+A=F+—HEKZ=
T RF+-_A=+—BULFEEBRELRE
BEHEEZ - BURSRFIEES -

AEBNERBELRERER BAAE
LEEFAGBRAEAEBENEFAGBLZ
M FRERRE RRITREMES - BN
R kRE  HtENFAREBRER - £
ER  REEMNKE UREMESERE
& BASMRTEFRRAEHRESR X
TERREEMR - ENEARRAEE ARGE
@ RBEMRNEABFELFWT
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OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management (continued)

EAREE(®)

51. BIRREEEERBE @

2017 2016
—E—+tF —F—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AREFTT
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t 2 R{1T R EMEE 13,950,124 8,587,580
Trade and bills payables FEM BRI N ZE 6,342,273 5,405,620
Other payables and accruals HEmEMZBELTEIRE R 7,324,223 6,510,886
Other loans HEMER 22,912 52,559
Long term payables REFEN B 10,894 36,914
Other financial liabilities Hihsmaid 2,175,431 2,143,378
Less: Cash and bank balances B RE RIBTTEF (5,958,877) (6,070,078)
Less: Long term time deposits B REAEETER (1,039,504) (1,633,938)
Net debt FEE 22,827,476 15,032,921
Equity attributable to owners of RABEE AEREDS
the Company 22,604,273 20,844,913
Adjusted capital RSN 22,604,273 20,844,913
Capital and net debt BAREEEE 45,431,749 35,877,834
Gearing ratio EABMRLR 50.25% 41.90%
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52. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 22 December 2017, Scient China, Guangzhou
Development District Land Development and Reserve
Exchange (“GDD”) and its agents entered into an expropriation
and compensation agreement pursuant to which certain
properties of Scient China will be expropriated by GDD for a
compensation amount of RMB253,000,000. The transaction
was completed in January 2018.

On 22 January 2018, the Group and Modern Farming (Group)
Co., Ltd. (“Modern Farming”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of China Modern Dariy, entered into a share transfer
agreement, pursuant to which the Group agreed to purchase
50% of the equity interests in Modern Dairy (Bengbu) Co.,
Ltd. and Modern Dairy (Feidong) Co., Ltd., two wholly-owned
subsidiaries of Modern Farming, for an aggregate cash
consideration of RMB56,040,000. Modern Dairy (Bengbu)
Co., Ltd. and Modern Dairy (Feidong) Co., Ltd. are engaged
in the production and distribution of milk products. Upon
completion, the two companies will become subsidiaries
of the Group. As at the reporting date, the purchase price
allocation appraisal of this acquisition is not completed.

52, MEHEREE

RZE—tF+_A=+=H  EE(F
B) EMEZELHHEREEISH L
(TEMAEHRL]) RENREBITZ —IAE
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Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

53. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 53. &2 7] B ik R 3=

HBERREBARBF BRI E RN

N

2016
ZE-RF
RMB’000
ARETTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ER NG 159 288
Loans to a subsidiary W —FEFRRIER - 1,941,087
Investments in subsidiaries RFRARIIRE 12,555,023 13,410,180
Investment in an associate R—EEE AR MIRE 2,732,636 2,980,538
Derivative financial instruments TESMIA 54,602 =
Non-current financial assets EnREERMEE 43,202 78,592
Total non-current assets BIEREEE 15,385,622 18,410,685
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Derivative financial instruments PTHESRIA 5,584 32,935
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BNR - e REMERTIE 473,829 3,909,106
Loans to subsidiaries ERTFRA 7,156,189 =
Pledged deposits REEFEK 14,545 11,366
Cash and bank balances RE RRITHER 569,574 1,178,735
Total current assets BRBEE 8,219,721 5,132,142
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEAE
Loans from subsidiaries REFARNER 509,204 2,996,934
Other payables and accruals HipERZIERTERER 265,436 265,624
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SERITNEMES 3,760,684 =
Total current liabilities BRBARE 4,535,324 3,262,558
NET CURRENT ASSETS BERBEE 3,684,397 1,869,584
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 2&EERAEBER 19,070,019 20,280,269
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREEE ‘
Loans from a subsidiary RE—BTFARNER 2,181,484 2,272,856
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SERTREMER 5,148,407 4,827,997
Total non-current liabilities BIERBAE 7,329,891 7,100,853
NET ASSETS REE 11,740,128 13,179,416
EQUITY R
Issued capital B 357,572 357,374
Treasury shares held under share IREREEI AN
award scheme EFR, (262,929) (432,678)
Reserves i 11,645,485 13,254,720
TOTAL EQUITY MR 11,740,128 13,179,416
Ma Jianping Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
BE¥ E S
Director Director
EZE EZE
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53. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 53. Zx/2 5] B # iR i 3% ()

TH E COM PANY (continued)

Note: MisE
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: NAREEIT ¢
Foreign Financial Share
currency assets option reserve/
Share Contributed translation revaluation Retained Share award
premium surplus differences reserve eamings reserve Total
Rip&E ESRas BEREE BtGE REME  ROZEEE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT AREFT
Note (a)
Miit(a)
At1 January 2016 RZE—~5-A-H 13,638,816 387,574 (660,418) (279,912 (142,983) 104,560 13,047,637
Loss for the year TEER - - - - (32,116) - (32,116)
Other comprehensive loss TEEMEAEE
for the year: - = = = = = =
Changes infairvalue of equity ~ 1EEBMNAA B EEH
investments designated BHH AL 2 ENE
at fair value through other HRARENDAES
comprehensive income, B RHE
net of tax - - - (10,892) - - (10,892)
Exchange differences between M EM L 2RERAES
functional currency and 8
presentation currency = = 846,285 = = = 846,285
Total comprehensive income/ A2 EE/ (B518) B8
(loss) for the year - - 846,285 (10,892) (32,116) - 808,277
Shares issued under equity-settled 1B IAIRIA S S HEEIRIEZ B
share option arrangements Bkl 75,829 - - - - - 75,829
Transfer of share option reserve {7 BERIES ELERERE
upon exercise of share options 10,194 - - - - (10,194) -
Share award scheme hEgmia - - - - - (61,707) (61,707)
Shares repurchased and cancelled R R H# (57,619) - - - - - (57,619)
Dividends paid to owners BRARAEE ARRRE
of the Company (652,697) - - - - - (652,697)
At 31 December 2016 RZE-—~E+ZA=1-H 13,114,523 387,574 185,867 (290,804) (175,099) 32,659 13,254,720
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53. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 53. Z&A BB AR &R (80
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: (continued) Pt : (48)
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: (continued) AARFEBOT - (8)

Share
option
Foreign Financial reserve/
currency assets share
Share  Contributed translation  revaluation Retained award Hedging
premium surplus  differences reserve earnings reserve reserve Total

g% cREE RERE/
BHEE  EAB® @ AERE  ERRR  REWE ROREEE  HMER &5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEMTR  ARBTR ARBTR  ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR  ARWTR  ARETR

Note (a)

Kiz(a)
At1 January 2017 R=E-tF-A-A 13,114,523 387,574 185,867 (290,804) (175,099) 32,659 - 13,254,720
Loss for the year TEER - - - - (461,310) - - (461,310)

Other comprehensive loss for the year:  IEEf 2 EEE :
Changes in fair value of an equity EERANABHERE

nvestment designated at fair L2 ENED

value through other RARENDLERS -

comprehensive incore, netoftax  HIREE - - - (35,390) = = = (35,300)
Exchange differences between MEER2RERE

functional currency and EfER

presentation currency - - (836,327) - - - - (836,327)
Cash flow hedlges, net of tax Reisin - MRk = o S - - - 30617 30617

Total comprehensive income/loss)  EE2EYE/ (BE)EE

fo th year - - @3N (B0 (461310 - 6T (1302410)
Shares issued under equity-setfled BRI X MMBERERHE

share option arrangements f1lktp 23,683 - - - - - - 23,683
Equity-settied share option DR TR ER

arrangements - - - - - 12,582 - 12,582
Transfer of share option reserve ERRERELERERE

upon exercise of share options 7,895 - - - - (7,895) - -
Share award scheme REREE - - - - - 1,726 - 1,726
Dividends paid to owners BRARARAARARE

of the Company (344,816) - - - - - - (344,816)
At 31 December 2017 RZE-+F+-f=1-8 12,801,285 381,574 (650,460) (326,194) (636,409) 39,072 30617 11,645,485

Note: MiEE -

(@)  The contributed surplus of the Company represents the (a) ARAFMEBHRBIEREEESAMKE
difference between the then combined net asset value of the FRAIMNEREGHEEFELART AKR
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation B EiteHEEFEMBITROOEER
and the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued in K =58 ©

exchange therefor.
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54. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 54. #tEMERE
STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for EEe R - \E=A=-++tRHH#LER

issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2018. PRI ESB TS 3R 3% o



FINANCIAL SUMMARY
BB

The following is a summary of the published audited financial
statements of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries for the respective years.
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TIRPERFAXARQB(ARF ) REF
RANTIIEFREEMNEERZIHTRERME -

RESULTS ¥E
Year ended
BEILFE
2016 2015 2014 2013
—E-RE —T-hF —T-NF —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETT AREBTT ARETT AR%®TRT
Revenue WA 60,155,622 53,779,339 49,026,516 50,049,243 43,356,908
Profit/(loss) before tax from REFEL S EBH
continuing operations BETFIE, (B5E) 2,624,961 (461,386) 3,030,170 3,150,008 2,204,503
Income tax expense PSR sz (594,283)  (351,379)  (510,038)  (459,292)  (366,713)
Profit/(loss) for the year from REFEL S EBH
continuing operations AEFIE,/(B8) 2,030,678  (812,765) 2,520,132 2,690,716 1,837,790
Profit/(loss) for the year from RECKIEEEBD
discontinued operation AEFE,/(EE) - = 122 (63) 24,198
Profit/(loss) for the year AEFIE/ (BE) 2,030,678  (812,765) 2,520,254 2,690,653 1,861,988
Attributable to: AT & 77 FE A
Owners of the Company ZA/NCIE PN 2,047,839  (751,155) 2,367,291 2,350,803 1,630,925
Non-controlling interests FEIERR AR R i (17,161) (61,610) 152,963 339,850 231,063
Proposed dividend BRI S 471,283 349,327 549,357 548,406 367,053
Earnings/(loss) per share KA EBRERA
attributable to ordinary equity [EEBRER,
holders of the Company (B1E)(ARE)
(RMB) (note (i) (B EEG) Restated Restated
For profit/(loss) for the year AEFE,(EE) feE mER
— Basic —HAK 0.526 (0.193) 0.609 0.605 0.452
- Diluted —#F 0.526 (0.193) 0.607 0.602 0.448
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ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY EE BERER

At 31 December

Wt+ZA=+—8
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
L CTR X —T-RHF —T-F —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Nesim | ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT

Total assets BEE 58,138,731 49,124,427 50,652,541 47,080,792 40,339,396
Total liabilities BEE 31,031,608 23,620,699 24,037,387 22,587,919 22,328,258
Equity attributable to owners of RABERA

the Company el 22,604,273 20,844,913 22,136,239 21,489,400 15,360,918
Non-controlling interests FEERR AR A 4,502,850 4,658,815 4,478,915 3,003,473 2,650,220
Note: FftsE -

()  The calculation basis for the earnings/(loss) per share attributable to (i) RNAREBRES ARESTREF,(BE)WT
ordinary equity holders of the Company is set out in note 14 to the HEEH NGB RENE14 -
consolidated financial statements.
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